
TOWN OF FLORENCE 
REGULAR MEETING AGENDA 

 
Mayor Tara Walter 
Vice-Mayor John Anderson 
Councilmember Bill Hawkins 
Councilmember Kristen Larsen 
Councilmember Karen Wall 
Councilmember Michelle Cordes 
Councilmember Judy Hughes 
 
 
Monday, April 15, 2019 
 

Florence Town Hall
775 N. Main Street

Florence, AZ 85132
(520) 868-7500

www.florenceaz.gov
Meet 1st and 3rd Mondays

6:00 PM

____________________________________________________________________________ 
Pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-431.02, notice is hereby given to the Town of Florence Council and to 
the general public that a Regular Meeting of the Florence Town Council will be held on Monday, 
April 15, 2019, at 6:00 p.m., in the Florence Town Council Chambers, located at 775 N. Main 
Street, Florence, Arizona.  The agenda for this meeting is as follows:    
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
2. ROLL CALL:     Tara Walter __, John Anderson__, Bill Hawkins__, Karen Wall____, 

Kristen Larsen___, Michelle Cordes__, Judy Hughes___. 
 
3. MOMENT OF SILENCE 

 
4. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 

 
5. CALL TO THE PUBLIC  

Call to the Public for public comment on issues within the jurisdiction of the Town Council.  
Council rules limit public comment to three minutes.  Individual Councilmembers may respond 
to criticism made by those commenting, may ask staff to review a matter raised or may ask 
that a matter be put on a future agenda.  However, members of the Council shall not discuss 
or take action on any matter during an open call to the public unless the matters are properly 
noticed for discussion and legal action. 
 

6. PRESENTATIONS 
 

a. Women’s Club Presentation (Mayor Walter) 
 

b. Presentation on and Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of Accepting the Comprehensive 
Annual Financial Statement and Expenditure Limitation Report. (Rebecca Jimenez) 

 
7. ADJOURN TO COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT. NO. 1. 
 

a. Discussion/Approval/Disapproval to accept the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District 
No. 1 Audit. (Rebecca Jimenez) 

 

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight



8. ADJOURN FROM COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT NO. 1. 
 
9. ADJOURN TO COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT NO. 2. 

 
a. Discussion/Approval/Disapproval to accept the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District 

No. 2 Audit. (Rebecca Jimenez) 
 

10. ADJOURN FROM COMMUNITY FACILITIES DISTRICT NO 2. 
 

11. CONSENT: All items on the consent agenda will be handled by a single vote as part of 
the consent agenda, unless a Councilmember or a member of the public objects at the 
time the agenda item is called.  

 
a. Proclamation declaring April 26, 2019 as Arbor Day. (Bryan Hughes) 

 
b. Motion to approve and ratify an Engagement and Representation Agreement with Sims 

Mackin, LTD.  and Cathy Bowman for legal representation of the Town of Florence in legal 
matters in connection with Town of Florence v. ADEQ, No. LC2017-000466-001 DT; Town 
of Florence v. Florence Copper, Inc. CV 2015-000325; Town of Florence v. ADEQ, No. 1 
CA-CV 19-01222 (Arizona Court of Appeals), including post-trial motions, appeals and 
authorization to enter into related common interest agreements (the “appellate 
proceedings”). (Cliff Mattice) 
 

c. Authorization for the Town Attorney to execute a Consent to Withdrawal on behalf of the 
Town consenting to the withdrawal of Christopher Kramer and Laura Curry and the firm of 
Jennings, Strouss & Salmon, P.L.C. as counsel of record for the Town in the matter of Town 
of Florence vs. Florence Copper, Inc., et al No. CV2015-000325. (Cliff Mattice) 

 
d. Approval of the March 4, March 11, March 18, and March 25, 2019 Town Council Meeting 

minutes. 
 

e. Receive and file the following board and commission minutes: 
 
1. February 14, 2019 Arts and Culture Commission Meeting minutes 
2. February 27, 2019 Florence Youth Commission Meeting minutes 
3. February 27, 2019 Historic District Advisory Commission Meeting minutes 

 
12. UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
a. Ordinance No. 667-19: Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of AN ORDINANCE OF THE 

TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV “LAND USAGE” CHAPTER 150: 
DEVELOPMENT CODE, SECTION 150.031 “DEFINITIONS” AND REPEALING AND 
REPLACING “PART 3 SIGN REGULATIONS,” SECTIONS 150.092 TO 150.130 (CASE PZ 
18-33 ORD).   (Public hearing and first reading held February 19, 2019, second reading 
held March 4, 2019, Work Session held March 25, 2019). (Dana Burkhardt) 

 
b. Ordinance No. 668-19: Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of AN ORDINANCE OF THE 

TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV “LAND USAGE” CHAPTER 150: 

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight



DEVELOPMENT CODE, SECTION 150.031 “DEFINITIONS” AND “PART 7 PARKING; 
LOADING AND UNLOADING,” SECTIONS 150.156 TO 150.167 (CASE PZ 18-34 ORD).  
(Public hearing and first reading held February 19, 2019, second reading held March 4, 
2019, Work Session held March 25, 2019). (Dana Burkhardt) 

 
c. Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of rescinding the order for demolition of the Cuen Building 

and instructing the Town Manager to take all action necessary to advertise the Cuen 
Building for public auction in accordance with A.R.S. § 36-1480 Disposal of Property in 
redevelopment project area. (Lisa Garcia)  

 
13. NEW BUSINESS 

 
a. Resolution No. 1694-19: Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of A RESOLUTION OF THE 

TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, ACCEPTING STREETS WITHIN 
VISTA HERMOSA COMMUNITY, ARIZONA BOULEVARD FROM THE TOWN’S WEST 
PROPERTY LINE TO THE INTERSECTION OF IOWA AVENUE, IOWA AVENUE FROM 
THE ARIZONA BOULEVARD INTERSECTION TO THE NORTH EDGE OF THE ROAD 
INTO THE TOWN OWN WATER FACILITY FOR PUBLIC ACCESS, CIRCULATION, 
ROADWAY AND PUBLIC UTILITY PURPOSES AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION BY 
THE TOWN MANAGER OF SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS. (Chris Salas) 
 

b. Resolution No. 1695-19: Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of A RESOLUTION OF THE 
TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF 
CERTAIN LANDS BELONGING TO DAVID MARTIN AND JANE GEAMPA, LOCATED AT 
525 E. RUGGLES STREET, FLORENCE, ARIZONA, TO BE DEDICATED FOR 
EXCLUSIVE USE BY THE TOWN OF FLORENCE PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT AND 
OTHER MUNICIPAL PROJECTS AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. (Chris Salas) 

 
c. Resolution No.  1696-19: Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of A RESOLUTION OF THE 

TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF 
CERTAIN LANDS BELONGING TO DARRELL PETERSON, LOCATED AT 575 E. 
RUGGLES STREET, FLORENCE, ARIZONA, TO BE DEDICATED FOR EXCLUSIVE USE 
BY THE TOWN OF FLORENCE PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT AND OTHER 
MUNICIPAL PROJECTS AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. (Chris Salas) 
 

d. Resolution No. 1693-19:  Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of A RESOLUTION OF THE 
TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, DECLARING AS A PUBLIC 
RECORD CERTAIN TECHNICAL CODE DOCUMENTS FILED WITH THE TOWN CLERK 
AND ENTITLED “2012 INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL 
EXISTING BUILDING CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE”, “2012 
INTERNATIONAL FUEL GAS CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL MECHANICAL CODE”, 
“2012 INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY 
MAINTENANCE CODE”,   “2012 INTERNATIONAL RESIDENTIAL CODE”, “2012 
INTERNATIONAL SWIMMING POOL AND SPA CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL 
ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE” “2011 NATIONAL ELECTRIC CODE”, AND THE 2009 
“ACCESSIBLE AND USABLE BUILDINGS & FACILITIES CODE” (Lisa Garcia) 
 

e. Ordinance No.  674-19: First reading of AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, 
PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA ADOPTING THE FOLLOWING PUBLICATIONS WITH 
APPENDICES AND TOWN OF FLORENCE AMENDMENTS AS LISTED HEREIN ARE 

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight



ADOPTED BY REFERENCE. REGULATING AND GOVERNING THE CONDITIONS AND 
MAINTENANCE OF ALL PROPERTY, BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES; BY PROVIDING 
THE STANDARDS FOR SUPPLIED UTILITIES AND FACILITIES AND OTHER PHYSICAL 
THINGS AND CONDITIONS ESSENTIAL TO ENSURE THAT STRUCTURES ARE SAFE, 
SANITARY AND FIT FOR OCCUPATION AND USE; AND CONDEMNATION OF 
BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES UNFIT FOR HUMAN OCCUPANCY AND USE AND 
DEMOLITION OF SUCH STRUCTURES IN THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA; 
PROVIDING FOR THE ISSUANCE OF PERMITS AND COLLECTION OF FEES 
THEREFORE; REPEALING SECTION 150.300 OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES AND ALL OTHER ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF LAWS IN CONFLICT 
THEREWITH. (Lisa Garcia)  
 

f. Ordinance No. 675-19; First reading of AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, 
PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF FLORENCE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES BY MODIFYING SECTION 150.301; TITLED BOARD OF APPEALS; BY 
INSERTING NEW TEXT AS UNDERLINED AND DELETING TEXT BY 
STRIKETHROUGH.  (Lisa Garcia) 
 

g. Ordinance No. 673-19: First reading of AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, 
PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCE, ARIZONA, TITLE 
XI BUSINESS REGULATIONS, BY ADOPTING A NEW CHAPTER 111 RELATING TO 
THE REGULATION OF MOBILE FOOD UNITS; ESTABLISHING A PURPOSE; SETTING 
FORTH DEFINITIONS; PROVIDING FOR PERMIT REQUIREMENTS; ESTABLISHING 
OPERATIONAL REQUIREMENTS; SETTING FORTH VIOLATIONS; ESTABLISHING 
PENALTIES; AND SETTING FORTH AN EFFECTIVE DATE. (Lisa Garcia) 
 

h. Discussion/Approval/Disapproval of the Professional Services Agreement with PLAN/et 
Communities LLC, to update the Town of Florence Redevelopment Plan Update 2019, in 
an amount not to exceed $113,115. (Larry Harmer) 
 

14. LEGISLATIVE UPDATE  

15. MANAGER’S REPORT 

16. CALL TO THE PUBLIC  
 
17. CALL TO THE COUNCIL – CURRENT EVENTS ONLY 

 
18. ADJOURNMENT TO EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 

For the purposes of discussions or consultations with designated representatives of the public 
body and/or legal counsel pursuant to A.R.S. Sections 38-431.03 (A)(1)(A)(3), (A)(4) and 
(A)(7) to consider its position and instruct its representatives and/or attorneys regarding: 
 

a. Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding Arizona Department of Environmental 
Quality proceedings, related to Water Quality Appeals Board Case No. 16-002, including 
appellate proceedings to reviewing courts. 

  
b. Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding pending litigation in Maricopa County 

Superior Court: Town of Florence v. Florence Copper, Inc. CV2015-000325. 

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight



c. Discussion or consultations regarding the Town of Florence intervention in the matter of 
the Arizona Corporation Commission’s investigation into the billing practices and water 
quality issues of Johnson Utilities, LLC before the Commission or in regard to any matters 
involving the Commission’s review, public participation, investigations into the operations 
of Johnson Utilities, LLC and its affiliates including but not limited to Southwest 
Environmental Utilities and Case Numbers: WS-02987A-17-0392; WS-02987A-18-0151; 
WS-0987A-18-0050; WS-20878A-18-0330; WS-02987A-18-0329; WS-02987A-06-0667. 

 
d. Possible discussions with government agencies and private entities involving the 

purchase, sale or lease of real property and other property related to the Town of Florence’s 
water and wastewater systems, including upgrades, expansions, contracts, and/or 
settlement discussions related thereto. 

 
19.  ADJOURNMENT FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION  

 
20. ADJOURNMENT 

 
Council may go into Executive Session at any time during the meeting for the purpose of obtaining 
legal advice from the Town’s Attorney(s) on any of the agenda items pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-
431.03(A)(3).  One or more members of Council may appear for part or all of the meeting including 
Executive Session telephonically.  
 
POSTED ON APRIL 11, 2019 BY LISA GARCIA, TOWN CLERK, AT 775 NORTH MAIN 
STREET, FLORENCE, ARIZONA, AND AT WWW.FLORENCEAZ.GOV. 
 
*** PURSUANT TO TITLE II OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA), THE 
TOWN OF FLORENCE DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF DISABILITY 
REGARDING ADMISSION TO PUBLIC MEETINGS.  PERSONS WITH A DISABILITY MAY 
REQUEST REASONABLE ACCOMMODATIONS BY CONTACTING THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE ADA COORDINATOR, AT (520) 868-7574 OR (520) 868-7502 TDD. REQUESTS 
SHOULD BE MADE AS EARLY AS POSSIBLE TO ALLOW TIME TO ARRANGE THE 
ACCOMMODATION. ***  



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
6a.  

MEETING DATE:  April 15, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Mayor and Council 
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   
Subject:  Woman’s Club Certificate of Appreciation   Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 

Page 1  

STAFF PRESENTER:   Mayor Walter 
 
SUBJECT:  Certificate of Appreciation  

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Presentation only, no action required. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
The Florence Woman’s Club will be providing the Town Council with an update on the 
2018 and 2019 activities of the Club.  
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

Not applicable 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

Not applicable 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Not applicable 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Backup Material provided by the Florence Woman’s Club 























 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
6b.  

MEETING DATE:  April 15, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Finance 
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
Subject:  Annual Audit  Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

STAFF PRESENTER:  Rebecca Jimenez, Interim Finance 
Director 
  
Kevin Camberg, Fester Chapman, PLLC, Certified Public 
Accountants 
 
SUBJECT:  Acceptance of the 2017-2018 Annual Audit-
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR), Expenditure 
Limitation Report (ELR) 

 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Accept the Comprehensive Annual Financial Statement and Expenditure Limitation 
Report 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
The Annual Audit, Comprehensive Annual Finance Report, and Expenditure Limitation 
report has been completed.  These reports are sent to various agencies for review that 
affects our ability to obtain grants, financing and to monitor the Town’s financial position 
and the current and future financial strength for bonding and the ability to repay bonds.  
It is also a document that investors may use when considering projects or developments 
within the municipal boundaries.  The Annual Audit is incorporated into the 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report.    
 
The Expenditure Limitation Report is a report that determines if the Town has stayed 
within the expenditures set during the budget process that is reported to the State of 
Arizona, Auditor General.  Going over budgeted expenditures without authorization will 
result in a portion of our allocated state income tax withheld and redistributed to the 
other incorporated communities in the state.  The penalty will be imposed in the fiscal 



Subject:  Annual Audit  Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

year subsequent to the hearing held by the Auditor General on such a violation. The 
penalty is calculated by a formula.   
 
The auditors are engaged to evaluate the financial information and verify that the 
accounting systems, staff and organization are following the guidelines of Generally 
Accepted Accounting Principals (GAAP) and Government Accounting Standards Board 
(GASB).  
 
The auditors issue a letter to the Mayor and Town Council and an Internal Control and 
Compliance Report.  Within both documents, recommendations are made to improve 
the internal financial functions of the Town. These were provided to you two week prior 
to the presentation.  
 
The audit this year took longer than anticipated due to several factors.  During this time 
and audit of the Community Facilities Districts (CFD) was commissioned.  This took 
longer than anticipated and the regular audit could not be completed until the CFD audit 
was done. 
 
We have filed our reports with the Municipal Security Exchange (MSRB) and the State 
of Arizona Auditor Generals Office.  We will file with other agencies, as requested. 
 
The audit for Fiscal Year 2018-2019 will be completed in a timelier manner. 
 
Kevin Camberg of Fester Chapman will present the financial audit and answer 
questions from the Mayor and Town Council. 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 
 
Not accepting the annual audit. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 
 
Accepting the annual audit. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The cost of the annual audit is $30,650. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report and Expenditure Limitation Report 
Power Point Presentation 



TOWN of FLORENCE, ARIZONA 

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report 

Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2018 



Town of Florence, Arizona

Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018

Prepared by:
Finance Department

Joan Miller
Accounting Manager

Joe Jarvis
Finance Director



Town of Florence, Arizona
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

Year ended June 30, 2018

Table of Contents

I.    INTRODUCTORY SECTION Page

Letter of Transmittal.....................................................................................................................i

GFOA Certificate of Achievement...........................................................................................vii

Town of Florence Officials......................................................................................................viii

Organizational Chart..................................................................................................................ix

Town of Florence Map................................................................................................................x

II.   FINANCIAL SECTION

Independent Auditors' Report......................................................................................................1

Management's Discussion & Analysis........................................................................................5

Basic Financial Statements

Government-wide Financial Statements

Statement of Net Position.....................................................................................................17

Statement of Activities.........................................................................................................18

Fund Financial Statements

Governmental Fund Financial Statements

Balance Sheet.......................................................................................................................22

Reconciliation of the Governmental Fund Balance Sheet to the Governmental-wide
Statement of Net Position.................................................................................................25

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances...............................26

Reconciliation of the Governmental Fund Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balances  to the Governmental-wide Statement of Activities.............28

Budgetary Comparison Statements - General Fund.............................................................29

Budgetary Comparison Statements - Highway User Fund..................................................30

       Proprietary Fund Financial Statements

Statement of Net Position.....................................................................................................32

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Net Position........................................33

Statement of Cash Flows......................................................................................................34

        Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements

Statement of Fiduciary Net Position....................................................................................37

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position.................................................................38

        Notes to Financial Statements..................................................................................................39

          



Town of Florence, Arizona
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

Year ended June 30, 2018

Table of Contents

  Required Supplementary Information

Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension/OPEB Liability

                Cost-Sharing Plan............................................................................................................73

Schedule of Changes in Net Pension/OPEB Liability (Asset) 

and Related Ratios Agent PlanS.......................................................................................74

Schedule of Pension/OPEB Contributions...........................................................................76

Notes to Required Supplementary Information...................................................................77

Other Supplementary Information

Combining Fund Financial Statements - Non-Major Governmental Funds

Combining Balance Sheet................................................................................................80

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances .......82

             Budgetary Comparison Schedules - Other Major Governmental Funds

                  Community Facilities Districts Debt Service Fund.......................................................85

                  Community Facilities Districts Capital Improvements Fund........................................86

                  Impact Fees Fund...........................................................................................................87

                  Capital Improvement Fund............................................................................................88

             Budgetary Comparison Schedules - Non-Major Governmental Funds

                   Grants............................................................................................................................89

                   Economic Development................................................................................................90

                   Community Services.....................................................................................................91

                   Community Facilities District.......................................................................................92

                   Debt Service Fund.........................................................................................................93

                   Construction Tax...........................................................................................................94

                   Food Tax.......................................................................................................................95



Town of Florence, Arizona
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report

Year ended June 30, 2018

Table of Contents

III. STASTICAL SECTION Table                  Page

        Net position..................................................................................................1                          98

        Changes in Net Position...............................................................................2                        100

        Fund Balances of Governmental Funds.......................................................3                        106

        Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds....................................4                        108

        Sales Tax Revenue by Industry ...................................................................5                        110

        Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates.....................................................6                        111

        Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type...........................................................7                        112

        Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt...............................8                        113

        Pledged Revenue Coverage.........................................................................9                        114

        Demographic and Economical Statistics...................................................10                        115

        Principal Employers...................................................................................11                        116

        Full-time Equivalent Town Government Employees by Function............12                        117

        Operating Indicators by Function..............................................................13                        118

        Capital Asset Statistics by Function..........................................................14                        120





INTRODUCTORY SECTION





i 

Town of Florence
P.O. Box 2670, Florence, AZ 85132, (520) 868-7500, (520) 868-7501 Fax, (520) 868-7502 TDD

March 29, 2019

To the Honorable Mayor, Members of the Town Council and Citizens of the Town of
Florence:

We are pleased to submit for your information and review, the Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report (CAFR) of the Town of Florence, Arizona (the Town) for the year ended
June 30, 2018. State law requires that the Town publishes, within six months of the close
of each fiscal year, a complete set of financial statements presented in conformity with
Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) and audited in accordance with
generally accepted auditing standards by a firm of licensed certified public accountants.
Pursuant to this requirement, Fester & Chapman, PLLC a firm of licensed certified public
accountants, has audited the Town’s financial statements. The independent auditor has
issued an unmodified opinion on the Town’s financial statements for the year ended June
30, 2018. Their report is presented as the first component of the financial section of this
CAFR.

This report consists of management’s representations concerning the finances of the
Town. Responsibility for both the accuracy of the prepared data and the completeness
and fairness of the presentation, including all disclosures, rests with the Town. To provide
a reasonable basis for making those representations, management of the Town has
established an internal control framework that is designed to both protect the assets of
the Town from loss, theft or misuse. In addition, the framework allows for the compiling
of sufficient reliable information for the preparation of the Town’s financial statements in
conformity with GAAP. Because the cost of internal controls should not outweigh their
benefits, the Town’s comprehensive framework of internal controls has been designed to
provide reasonable, rather than absolute, assurance that the financial statements are free
from material misstatement. As management, we assert that, to the best of our knowledge
and belief, this financial report is complete and reliable in all material respects.

Management’s discussion and analysis (MD&A) immediately follows the independent
auditors’ report and provides a narrative introduction, overview and analysis of the basic
financial statements. The MD&A complements this letter of transmittal and they should
be read in conjunction with it.



ii 

PROFILE OF THE TOWN

The Town of Florence, Arizona is in Pinal County and is located between Phoenix and
Tucson. Colonel Levi Ruggles, an Indian Agent, staked and platted the Town in 1866 and
by the mid-1920s the area had become the agricultural center of Pinal County. Florence
is the sixth oldest European settlement in the State of Arizona. The Town was
incorporated in 1900.Its downtown is designated as an official “Historic District”. Florence
is the county seat and has been since its formation in 1875.

Florence, elevation 1,493 feet, was built along the
Gila River surrounded by the beautiful Sonoran
Desert and the Superstition and Pinal Mountains,
which provide scenic views for the enjoyment of life
in a peaceful community. Additionally, Florence
enjoys year-round sunshine, which provides an
ideal place for retirement.

The Town currently encompasses an area of 62.7
square miles and an estimated population of
26,221. State statutes empower the Town to levy a property tax on real and personal
property within its boundaries. The Town also has the power by state statute to extend its
corporate limits by annexation, which is done periodically when deemed appropriate by
the Town Council.

The Town of Florence operates under a council-manager form of government. The Mayor
is elected, and all members of Town Council are elected at large on a nonpartisan basis.
The Mayor is elected every four years and Town Council members are elected to
staggered four-year terms, with three members elected every two years. The Town
Council is responsible for setting public policy, approving the Town’s annual budget,
approving agreements, providing policy leadership, approving planning and development
decisions and adopting new codes and ordinances. The Town Council appoints the Town
Manager, who implements policy and directs daily operations. The Town Council also
appoints the Town Attorney, Town Clerk, and Town Magistrate.

The financial reporting entity of the Town includes all its funds and its blended component
units, Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 and Merrill Ranch Community
Facilities District No. 2 (CFDs). Component units are legally separate entities that the
primary government is financially accountable.

The CFDs were formed in 2005 by the Town pursuant to the Community Facilities District
Act of 1988, constituting Title 48, Chapter 4, Article 6 of the Arizona Revised Statutes and
in response to a petition by the owners of land within the district area. The districts were
formed to provide a method of financing (including the issuance of general obligation
bonds and special assessment bonds) certain public infrastructure within the district.
These component units are included in the Town’s financial statements because the
Town Council members serve as the Board of Directors for each district.



iii

For more information on these legally separate entities, please refer to Note 1A in the
notes to the financial statements.

The Town provides a full range of services, including police and fire protection,
construction and maintenance of highways, streets and other infrastructure; cultural and
recreational activities; and water and wastewater utilities.

State law requires that on or before the third Monday in July of each fiscal year, the Town
Council must adopt a tentative budget. Once the tentative budget has been adopted, the
expenditures may not be increased upon final adoption; however, they may be
decreased. The tentative budget sets the Town’s maximum limits for expenditure. There
is no specific date set by state law for adoption of the budget; however, due to the state
law required deadline for the adoption of the property tax levy, the deadline for adoption
of the final budget effectively becomes the first Monday in August.

LOCAL ECONOMY

Since 1909, the corrections industry has been a source of employment for people in
Florence. This industry alone provides employment opportunities and consists of Arizona
State Prison facilities, Core Civic and GEO Group. Florence is also home to several local,
county, state and federal agencies, which provide full-time employment opportunities.
These agencies include the Town of Florence, Pinal County, the Florence Unified School
District, the Arizona National Guard and the United States Immigration and Customs
Enforcement.

Florence is a major employment area with approximately 75 percent of its work force
commuting into the area daily. It is estimated that over 5,000 commuters travel to Florence
for work daily. Additionally, many agricultural products, including cotton, alfalfa, cattle,
grains and grapes are cultivated in the area and the Town’s primary business district still
resides on Main Street.

The annexation of Merrill Ranch in 2004, added
8,970 acres of land, which is planned to be
developed as a mixed use, master-planned
community. Anthem at Merrill Ranch is one of the
State’s largest master-planned communities. To
date, there are over 2,000 single-family homes
including other amenities, such as two community
centers, an 18-hole golf course, as well as, an
outdoor swimming pool and water park. With
commercial expansion and another 6,500 homes
planned, Anthem is sure to add to the Town’s
economy.



iv

The Town’s unemployment rate is 5.4%. This is what has been recorded in the previous
fiscal year. The makeup of Town’s general fund revenue has remained relatively
consistent over the past ten years, with state-shared revenue, local sales tax, property
tax and charges for services being the largest sources. State-shared revenue is primarily
based on population and represented approximately 44 percent of the total 2018 fiscal 
year revenue.

STRATEGIC PLAN

The Town Council approved the Strategic Plan during the fiscal year 2017-2018. The
priorities of the plan included:

Community Vitality
Economic Prosperity
Leadership and Governance
Partnership and Relationships
Transportation and Infrastructure

MAJOR INITIATIVES

Investment in Capital Assets: During the 2017-2018 fiscal year, the Town of Florence
focused on completing existing capital improvement projects. These projects included
roadway improvements and utility upgrades that improve the quality of life for the
residents.

Wastewater Treatment Facility: The Town’s wastewater treatment facility is
undergoing upgrades to facilitate higher grade effluent water which includes
chlorine and filtration systems.

Water Utility: The Town continues to work on improving existing infrastructure
that needs immediate attention. Efforts include expansion and recharge permitting
efforts.

Alternative Expenditure Limitation (Home Rule Option) The Town voters approved
Home Rule in August of 2016 which allowed the Town Council the ability to set the
expenditure annually for the next four fiscal years beginning in fiscal year 2017-2018.

RELEVANT FINANCIAL POLICIES

The Town’s fund balance policy covers the General Fund, Highway User Revenue Fund,
and enterprise funds. The fund balance in the General Fund must retain $500,000 for
emergencies, 10 percent of revenues for operational reserves, of which 20 percent is for
facility maintenance. The fund balance in the Highway User Revenue Fund must be
reserved for operational reserves in the amount of 15 percent of the operating revenues,
and the fund balances in the enterprise funds are reserved as recommended in the most
recent rate study completed and as required by debt covenants. If no recommendation is







vii



Town Council, Appointed Officials and 
 Senior Management Staff 

Town Council 
Tara Walter – Mayor

Vallarie Woolridge – Vice Mayor John Anderson – Councilmember
Rebecca Guilin – Councilmember Kristen Larsen – Councilmember
William Hawkins – Councilmember Karen Wall – Councilmember 

Appointed Officials 
Brent Billingsley – Town Manager Lisa Garcia – Town Clerk
Clifford Mattice – Town Attorney Roger Valdez – Town Magistrate

Senior Management 
Lisa Garcia – Deputy Town Manager/Town Clerk

Benjamin Bitter – Assistant Town Manager
Scott Barber – Human Resources Director

Chris Salas – Public Works Director
Chris Salas – Community Development Director

Bryan Hughes – Library Director
Bryan Hughes – Parks & Recreation Director

Joe Jarvis – Finance Director
Daniel Hughes – Police Chief

David Strayer – Fire Chief

viii



ix



TOWN OF FLORENCETOWN OF FLORENCE
PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONAPINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA

LOCATION MAPLOCATION MAP

Town of Florence IT/GISvc

Tucson
!H

!H

!H

!H

!H
!H!H

Casa Grande
Coolidge

Maricopa

Mesa

Glendale
Globe

!H

Florence

_
Phoenix

0 20 4010
Miles

μ
ARIZONA

x



FINANCIAL SECTION





Address • 9019 East Bahia Drive Suite 100 • Scottsdale, AZ 85260    Phone • (602) 264-3077      Fax • (602) 265-6241 

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Honorable Mayor and Town Council of
Town of Florence
Florence, Arizona

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, business-type activities,
each major fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the Town of Florence, Arizona (the Town), as
of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively
comprise the Town’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents. 

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express opinions on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit
in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the standards
applicable to financial audits contained in Governmental Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller General
of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditors consider internal control relevant to the Town’s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no
such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinions.

1



Opinions

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective
financial position of the governmental activities, business-type activities, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the Town as of June 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position and,
where applicable, cash flows thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the Management’s
Discussion and Analysis and the required supplementary information, as listed in the table of contents, be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information, although not a part of the basic financial
statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part
of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or
historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in
accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America, which consisted of
inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing the information for
consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we
obtained during our audit of the basic financial statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any
assurance on the information because the limited procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express
an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary and Other Information

Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming opinions on the financial statements that collectively
comprise the Town’s basic financial statements. The combining and individual fund financial statements and
schedules and the introductory and statistical sections listed in the table of contents are presented for purposes of
additional analysis and are not a required part of the basic financial statements. 

The combining and individual fund statements and schedules are management's responsibility and were derived
from and relate directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial
statements. Such information has been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic
financial statements and certain additional procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information
directly to the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the
basic financial statements themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards
generally accepted in the United States of America. In our opinion, the combining and individual fund statements
and schedules are fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial statements as a whole. 

The introductory and statistical sections have not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of
the basic financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on them. 

2



Compliance over the Use of Highway User Revenue Fund and Other Dedicated State Transportation Revenue
Monies

In connection with our audit, nothing came to our attention that caused us to believe that the Town failed to use
highway user revenue fund monies the Town received pursuant to Arizona Revised Statutes, Title 28, Chapter 18,
Article 2, and any other dedicated state transportation revenues the Town received solely for the authorized
transportation purposes, insofar as they relate to accounting matters. However, our audit was not directed
primarily toward obtaining knowledge of such noncompliance. Accordingly, had we performed additional
procedures, other matters may have come to our attention regarding the Town's noncompliance with the use of
highway user revenue fund monies and other dedicated state transportation revenues, insofar as they relate to
accounting matters.

The communication related to compliance over the use of highway user revenue fund and other dedicated state
transportation revenue monies in the preceding paragraph is intended solely for the information and use of the
members of the Arizona State Legislature, the Town Council, management, and other responsible parties within
the Town and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified parties. 

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have issued our report dated March 29, 2019 on our
consideration of the Town’s internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance with
certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters at future date. The
purpose of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the Town's
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in
accordance with Governmental Auditing Standards in considering the Town's internal control over financial
reporting and compliance.

March 29, 2019

3





FINANCIAL SECTION

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (MD&A) 

(Required Supplementary Information)





Town of Florence, Arizona 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) 

Year ended June 30, 2018 
 

5 
 

 
INTRODUCTION 
 
As management of the Town of Florence, we offer readers of the Town of Florence’s financial 
statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the Town of Florence for the 
fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in 
conjunction with additional information that we have furnished in our letter of transmittal, which can be 
found on pages i - v of this report. 
 
FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 
 The assets and deferred outflows of the Town exceeded its liabilities and deferred outflows at the 

close of the most recent fiscal year by $143.9 million (net position). Of this amount, $26.2 million 
(unrestricted net position) may be used to meet the Town's ongoing obligations to citizens and 
creditors.  

 
 The Town’s total net position increased $4.7 million, from $139.1 million to $143.9 million, which 

represents a 3 percent increase from the prior fiscal year. Net position in governmental activities 
increased $3.4 million as the Town spent money to improve roadway infrastructure and net 
position in business-type activities increased $1.4 million with assets increasing due to investment 
in infrastructure and an increase in both personnel costs. 

 
 At the close of the current fiscal year, the Town’s governmental funds reported combined fund 

balances of $42.3 million, an increase of $4.3 million in comparison with the prior year. This is 
primarily due to an investment in infrastructure and impact fee revenue, as well as, Community 
Facilities District (CFD) receivables and CFD infrastructure. 

 
 Approximately 24 percent or $10.2 million of the combined ending fund balances constitutes 

unassigned fund balance, which is available for spending at the Town’s discretion.   
 
 The Town's investment in capital assets (net of depreciation) decreased $163,685. 
 
 At the end of the current fiscal year, the Town had $27.4 million in debt outstanding compared to 

$25.9 million last year. The Town issued $3.2 million in bond proceeds for CFD. Unassigned fund 
balance for the General Fund was $10.2 million, or approximately 73 percent of total General Fund 
expenditures. 

 
 The Town’s total outstanding long-term debt increased by $1.5 million during the current fiscal 

year primarily due to CFD financing of infrastructure. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Town of Florence, Arizona 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) 

Year ended June 30, 2018 
 

6 
 

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
The discussion and analysis provided here are intended to serve as an introduction to the Town’s basic 
financial statements. The Town’s basic financial statements consist of three components: 1) 
government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) the notes to financial 
statements. This report also includes required supplementary information intended to furnish additional 
detail to support the basic financial statements themselves. 
 
Government-wide financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the 
Town of Florence’s finances, in a manner that is similar to a private-sector business.   
 
The Statement of Net Position presents information on the Town’s assets, liabilities and deferred 
inflows/outflows of resources with the difference between the two reported as net position. Over time, 
increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the financial position of 
the Town is improving or deteriorating. However, it is important to consider other non-financial factors 
such as changes in the Town’s privilege tax or property tax base or the condition of roads, parks and 
libraries to accurately assess the overall health of the Town. 
 
The Statement of Activities presents information showing how the Town’s net position changed during 
the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the underlying event 
giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.  Thus, revenues and 
expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will result in cash flows in a future period 
(e.g. uncollected taxes and earned but unused vacation leave). 
 
The government-wide financial statements differentiate functions of the Town that are primarily 
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities) from those functions that 
are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through user fees and charges 
(business-type activities). The governmental activities of the Town include general government, public 
safety, highways and streets, culture and recreation, and community development. The business-type 
activities of the Town include water, sewer and sanitation utility services. 
 
The government-wide financial statements include the Town itself and the Merrill Ranch Community 
Facilities District No. 1 and Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 blended component 
units. 
 
The government-wide financial statements can be found on pages 17 - 19 of this report. 
 
Fund financial statements follow the government-wide statements. A fund is a grouping of related 
accounts that is used to maintain control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities 
or objectives. The Town, like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and 
demonstrate compliance with finance-related legal requirements. The funds of the Town can be divided 
into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds and fiduciary funds. 
 
Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions that are reported as 
governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike the 
government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on near-term 



Town of Florence, Arizona 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) 

Year ended June 30, 2018 
 

7 
 

inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources available at 
the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating the Town’s near-term financing 
requirements. 
 
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial 
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar 
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.  By 
doing so, readers may better understand the impact of the Town’s near-term financing decisions. Both 
the governmental funds balance sheet and governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures and 
changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to facilitate this comparison between governmental 
funds and governmental activities. 
 
The Town maintains 13 individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately in the 
governmental funds balance sheet and in the governmental funds statement of revenues, expenditures 
and changes in fund balances for the General Fund, Highway User Revenue Fund, Community Facilities 
District Debt Service Fund, Community Facilities District Capital Improvements Fund, Impact Fees 
Fund and the Capital Improvements Fund, all of which are major funds. Data from the remaining 7 
governmental funds are aggregated into a single “non-major governmental funds” column. Individual 
fund data for each of these non-major governmental funds is provided in the form of combining 
statements elsewhere in this report. 

 
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found on pages 22 - 23 and 26 - 27 of this 
report. 

 
The Town adopts an annual appropriated budget for all funds, except fiduciary funds. To demonstrate 
compliance, a budgetary comparison statement is provided for the General Fund and the Highway User 
Revenue Fund. Similar budgetary compliance schedules are provided for the other funds elsewhere in 
this report. 
 
Proprietary funds are used to report the same functions as presented in the business-type activities in the 
government-wide financial statements. The Town uses enterprise funds, a type of proprietary fund, to 
account for the water, sewer and sanitation utility functions. Proprietary fund financial statements 
provide information on the Water Utility Fund, Sewer Utility Fund and Sanitation Utility Fund and with 
the same type of information as the government-wide financial statements, only in more detail. 

 
The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found on pages 32 - 35 of this report. 
 
Fiduciary funds are used to account for resources held for the benefit of parties outside of the Town. 
Fiduciary funds are not reflected in the government-wide financial statements because the resources of 
those funds are not available to support the Town’s own programs. The accounting used for fiduciary 
funds is much like that used for proprietary funds. 
 
The fiduciary fund financial statements can be found on pages 37 - 38 of this report. 
 
 
 



Town of Florence, Arizona 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) 

Year ended June 30, 2018 
 

8 
 

Notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding 
of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements. The notes to the financial 
statements can be found on pages 39-72 of this report. 
 
Combining statements (referred to earlier as with non-major governmental funds) are presented 
immediately following the notes to the financial statements. Combining statements and individual fund 
schedules can be found on pages 80-83 of this report. 
 
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL ANALYSIS 
 
Net position - As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government’s 
financial position. In the case of the Town, assets and deferred outflows exceeded liabilities and deferred 
inflows by $143.9 million at the close of the most recent fiscal year. 
 
The following table presents a summary of the Town’s net position for the fiscal years ended June 30, 
2018 and 2017. 
 

 Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total Government 

 2018 2017 restated 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Current and other assets $ 52,432,455  $ 46,111,438  $ 20,905,336  $ 20,579,032  $ 73,337,791  $ 66,690,470  

Capital assets, net  91,694,703   91,930,205   19,429,846   19,358,029   111,124,549   111,288,234  

Total assets, net  144,127,158   138,041,643   40,335,182   39,937,061   184,462,340   177,978,704  

       

Deferred outflows of resources  2,993,518   3,893,876   174,587   290,161   3,168,105   4,184,037  
       
Long-term liabilities outstanding  32,977,802   31,890,373   4,827,541   4,805,098   37,805,343   36,695,471  

Other liabilities  3,729,573   1,915,678   328,228   1,326,346   4,057,801   3,242,024  

Total liabilities  36,707,375   33,806,051   5,155,769   6,131,444   41,863,144   39,937,495  

       

Deferred inflows of resources  1,713,956   1,915,741   172,641   266,017   1,886,597   2,181,758  
        
Net investment in capital assets  72,398,506   73,657,354   15,973,435   15,416,500   88,371,941   89,073,854  

Restricted  31,839,643   29,399,230   3,206,134   3,057,946   35,045,777   32,457,176  

Unrestricted  4,461,196   2,262,889   16,001,790   15,355,315   20,462,986   17,618,204  

Total net position $ 108,699,345  $ 105,319,473  $ 35,181,359  $ 33,829,761  $ 143,880,704  $ 139,149,234  

 
*Net position classifications were restated for comparability purpose. 

 
The largest portion of the Town’s net position reflects its investment in capital assets (e.g., land, 
buildings, improvements, machinery, equipment, and construction in progress), less any related 
outstanding debt that was used to acquire those assets. The Town uses these capital assets to provide a 
variety of services to its citizens. Accordingly, these assets are not available for future spending.  
 
Although the Town’s investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted 
that the resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets 
themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities. 
 



Town of Florence, Arizona 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) 

Year ended June 30, 2018 
 

9 
 

An additional portion of the Town’s net position represents resources that are subject to external 
restrictions on how they may be used.  
 
Total governmental activities liabilities had a net increase of $2.9 million primarily due to notes payable 
and CFD infrastructure financing. 
 
As illustrated in both the table above and table below, the Town’s overall financial position showed an 
increase in net position during this fiscal year as reflected by increased fiscal conservativeness by the 
Town.  
 
The Town’s total net position increased $4.7 million from $139.1 million to $143.9 million. Net position 
in governmental activities increased $3.4 million going from $105.3 million to $108.7 million. Net 
position in business-type activities increased $1.4 million from $33.8 million to $35.2 million.  

 
Net Position - Comparison 

June 30, 2018 and 2017 

 
During the fiscal year, net position increased $4.7 million from the prior fiscal year for an ending 
balance of $143.9 million. 
 
The Town’s financial position is the product of several financial transactions including the net result of 
activities, the acquisition and payment of debt, the acquisition and disposal of capital assets, and the 
depreciation of capital assets.  
 
Changes in net position - The Town’s total revenues for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018 were $31.3 
million. The total cost of all programs and services was $26.6 million. The following table presents a 
summary of the changes in net position for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2018 and 2017. 
 
 
 
 



Town of Florence, Arizona 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) 

Year ended June 30, 2018 
 

10 
 

 Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total Government 

 Year Ended June 30, Year Ended June 30, Year Ended June 30, 

 2018 2017 restated 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Revenues:       

Program revenues:       

Charges for services $ 4,352,718  $ 2,144,756  $ 7,737,962  $ 7,935,661  $ 12,090,680  $ 10,080,417  

Operating grants and contributions  3,355,713   3,671,227         3,355,713   3,671,227  

Capital grants and contributions  512,720   1,883,838   4,120   24,238   516,840   1,908,076  

General revenues:       

Property taxes  2,446,349   2,133,736         2,446,349   2,133,736  

Town sales taxes for general purposes  4,611,413   4,392,219         4,611,413   4,392,219  

Other taxes  631,107   617,196         631,107   617,196  

Share of state sales taxes  2,478,688   2,805,600         2,478,688   2,805,600  

Share of state urban revenue sharing  3,192,974   3,806,084         3,192,974   3,806,084  

Share of state vehicle license tax  1,498,824   1,664,532         1,498,824   1,664,532  

Investment income  154,851   46,699   66,060   44,885   220,911   91,584  

Other  233,113   166,374   49,151   57,223   282,264   223,597  

Total revenues  23,468,470   23,332,261   7,857,293   8,062,007   31,325,763   31,394,268  

       

Expenses:       

General government  3,349,953   4,048,228         3,349,953   4,048,228  

Public safety  7,731,003   9,109,350         7,731,003   9,109,350  

Highways and streets  4,038,910   4,148,226         4,038,910   4,148,226  

Public works  567,470   827,149         567,470   827,149  

Culture and recreation  2,409,680   2,358,257         2,409,680   2,358,257  

Community development  1,865,240   873,892         1,865,240   873,892 

Interest on long-term debt  1,134,030   1,333,967     1,134,030   1,333,967  

Water    2,350,125   1,441,641   2,350,125   1,441,641  

Sewer    2,263,515   2,094,994   2,263,515   2,094,994  

Sanitation        884,367   863,346   884,367   863,346  

Total expenses  21,096,286   22,699,069   5,498,007   4,399,981   26,594,293   27,099,050  

Increase in net position before transfers  2,372,184   633,192   2,359,286   3,662,026   4,731,470   4,295,218  

Transfers  1,007,688   1,050,588   (1,007,688)   (1,050,588)        

Change in net position  3,379,872   1,683,780   1,351,598   2,611,438   4,731,470   4,295,218  

Net position, beginning, restated   105,319,473   103,635,693   33,829,761   31,218,323   139,149,234   134,854,016  

Net position, ending $ 108,699,345  $ 105,319,473  $ 35,181,359  $ 33,829,761  $ 143,880,704  $ 139,149,234  

 
*Net position classifications were restated for comparability purpose. 

 
The following are significant transactions that have had an impact on the change in net position during 
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018. 
 Charges for services increased $2.0 million primarily due Community Facilities District (CFD) 

collections for Assessments prepayments. 

 Operating grants and contributions decreased by $315,514 primarily due to a non-funding year 
related to CDBG. 

 Property taxes increased $312,613 due to the primary property tax levy impacted by property values 
increasing and CFD General Obligation (GO) levy.   



Town of Florence, Arizona 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) 

Year ended June 30, 2018 
 

11 
 

 Town sales taxes for general purposes increased $219,194 due to an increase in construction. 

 State shared sales tax decreased by $326,912 due to a decrease in the correction of population count 
for Florence at the State level. 

 Grants and contributions not restricted for specific programs decreased by $1.4 million primarily due 
to census corrections. 

 The decrease of $1.4 million in the public safety expenditures primarily was due to schedule change 
in fire and unfilled positions.  

The following table presents the cost of the Town’s major functional activities. The table also shows 
each function’s net cost (total cost less charges for services generated by the activities and 
intergovernmental aid and contributions provided for specific programs). The net cost shows the 
financial burden that was placed on the state and Town’s taxpayers by each of these functions. 
 
 
 2018 2017   

 
Governmental Activities 

 
Total Expenses 

Net (Expense)/ 
Revenue 

 
Total Expenses 

Net (Expense)/ 
Revenue 

  

General government $ 3,349,953  $ (951,714)  $ 4,048,228  $ (2,612,252)    

Public safety  7,731,003   (7,300,305)   9,109,350   (8,666,368)    

Highway and streets  4,038,910   (4,038,910)   4,148,226   (756,908)    

Public works  567,470          3,798,819   827,149   557,726    

Culture and recreation  2,409,680   (1,957,396)   2,358,257   (2,345,687)    

Community development  1,865,240   (1,291,599)   873,892   158,208    

Interest on long-term debt  1,134,030   (1,134,030)   1,333,967   (1,333,967)    

Total $ 21,096,286  $ (12,875,135)  $ 22,699,069  $ (14,999,248)    

 
 

Expenses and Program Revenues - by category (in millions) 
Year ended June 30, 2018 

 



Town of Florence, Arizona 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) 

Year ended June 30, 2018 
 

12 
 

 The cost of all governmental activities this year was $21.1 million.  
 

 Federal and state governments and charges for services subsidized certain programs with grants and 
contributions and other local revenues of $7.7 million.  
 

 Net cost of governmental activities of $12.9 million was financed by general revenues, which are 
made up primarily of taxes of $8 million, shared state tax revenues of $2.5 million, and grants and 
contributions not restricted to specific programs of $0.1 million. 

 
FINANCIAL ANALYSIS OF THE TOWN’S FUNDS 
 
As noted earlier, the Town uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with 
finance-related legal requirements. 
 
Governmental funds - The focus of the Town’s governmental funds is to provide information on 
near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful in 
assessing the Town’s financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may serve as a 
useful measure of the Town’s net resources available for discretionary use as they represent the portion 
of fund balance which has not yet been limited to use for a particular purpose by either an external party, 
the Town itself, or a group or individual that has been delegated authority to assign resources for use for 
particular purposes by the Town Council. 
 
At June 30, 2018, the Town’s governmental funds reported a combined fund balance of $42.3 million, 
an increase of $4.4 million in comparison with the prior year. Approximately 24 percent of this amount 
($10.2 million) constitutes unassigned fund balance, which is available for spending at the Town’s 
discretion. The remainder of fund balance is (1) not in spendable form ($473,940) and (2) restricted for 
particular purposes ($31.6 million). 
 

Components of Fund Balance - General Fund 
June 30, 2018 and 2017 

 
 
 



Town of Florence, Arizona 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) 

Year ended June 30, 2018 
 

13 
 

The General Fund is the chief operating fund of the Town. At the end of the current fiscal year, 
unassigned fund balance of the General Fund was $10.2 million, while total fund balance increased to 
$10.5 million. As a measure of the General Fund’s liquidity, it may be useful to compare both 
unassigned fund balance and total fund balance to total General Fund expenditures. Unassigned fund 
balance represents approximately 74 percent of total General Fund expenditures, while total fund 
balance represents approximately 76 percent of that same amount. 
 
The fund balance of the Town’s General Fund increased $603,126 during the current fiscal year. The 
increase was due primarily to an increase in intergovernmental revenues. 
 
Highway User Revenue Fund.  The Highway User Revenue Fund, a major fund, ended the current year 
with a total fund balance of $10.3 million, fund balance. Revenues must be used for streets and highway 
purposes.  
 
Impact Fees Fund.  The Impact Fees Fund, a major fund, ended the current year with a total fund 
balance of $1.9 million, an increase of $483,071. This increase is primarily due to residential 
construction. 
 
Capital Improvements Fund.  The Capital Improvements Fund, a major fund, ended the current year 
with a total fund balance of $6.7 million, an increase of $2.0 million over the prior year. This increase is 
primarily due to the Town did not complete significant capital projects.    
 
Proprietary funds - The Town of Florence’s proprietary funds provide the same type of information 
found in the government-wide financial statements, but in more detail. 
 
Unrestricted net position for each fund at the end of the year is as follows:  Water  ($7.7 million), Sewer  
($9.5 million) and Sanitation ($1.2 million). The unrestricted net position of each fund consists of a 
majority of their respective total net positions.  
 
Total net position in the Water Utility Fund grew by $893,652. Although operating revenue decreased 
by $41,233, operating expenses increased $908,484.  
 
The total net position in the Sewer Utility fund grew by $513,841. Although operating revenue 
decreased by $220,441, operating expenses, increased by $174,535.  
 
Total net position decreased in the Sanitation Fund by $55,895 mainly due to a transfer out of $52,344.  
The Town of Florence outsourced the operation several years ago and is phasing out of this proprietary 
operation, as the operation is liquidated the net position will decrease.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Town of Florence, Arizona 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) 

Year ended June 30, 2018 
 

14 
 

GENERAL FUND BUDGETARY HIGHLIGHTS 
 
The significant difference between estimated revenues and expenditures and actual revenues and 
expenditures for the General Fund were as follows: 
 
 Intergovernmental revenues exceeded estimates by $119,391 due to the increase in state shared sales 

tax revenues. 
 

 Charge for service revenues exceeded estimates by $287,729 due to Community Facilities Districts 
(CFD) collections for Assessment’s prepayments. 
 

 The decrease of $705,551 in the general government expenditures was mainly due to Public safety 
and Community development expenditures in the General Fund. 

 
 Public safety (police expenditures) were $422,795 less than budgeted due to unfilled positions.  
 
CAPITAL ASSETS AND DEBT ADMINISTRATION 
 
Capital assets - The Town’s investment in capital assets as of June 30, 2018 totaled $111.1 million (net 
of accumulated depreciation). This investment includes land, infrastructure, buildings, improvements, 
machinery, equipment, and construction in progress. The total increase in capital assets for the current 
fiscal year was approximately 18 percent. 
 
The following schedule presents a summary of capital asset balances (net of accumulated depreciation) 
as of June 30, 2018 and 2017. 
 

 Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total Government 

 2018 2017 restated 2018 2017 2018 2017 

Land $ 32,546,409  $ 32,546,409  $ 394,073  $ 394,073  $ 32,940,482  $ 32,940,482  

Buildings, infrastructure and improvements  55,104,306   56,699,859   17,268,452   17,944,989   72,372,758   74,644,848  

Vehicles, furniture and equipment  2,275,875   2,511,566   561,560   575,850   2,837,435   3,087,416  

Construction in progress  1,768,113   172,371   1,205,761   443,117   2,973,874   615,488  

Total capital assets, net $ 91,694,703  $ 91,930,205  $ 19,429,846  $ 19,358,029  $ 111,124,549  $ 111,288,234  

       

Major capital asset events during the current fiscal year included a decrease in buildings, infrastructure, 
and improvements of $2.3 million. In addition, a decrease in vehicles, furniture and equipment.  
However, an increase of $2.4 million in construction in progress. 
 
Additional information on the Town’s capital assets can be found in Note 4 in the notes to the financial 
statements. 
 
Long-term debt - At the end of the current fiscal year, the Town had $27.4 million in debt outstanding 
compared to $25.9 million last fiscal year end. A large portion of the debt listed below consists of 
general obligation bonds - CFDs ($11.2 million) and special assessment bonds ($8.0 million) of the 
Town’s component units, Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2. The Town has 
notes outstanding of $3.7 million at fiscal year-end. 



Town of Florence, Arizona 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis (MD&A) 

Year ended June 30, 2018 

15 

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities Total Government 

2018 2017 restated 2018 2017 2018 2017 

General obligation bonds - CFDs $ 11,225,000  $ 10,125,000  $ - $ - $ 11,225,000  $ 10,125,000 

Excise tax revenue obligation 4,436,000  4,740,000  - - 4,436,000  4,740,000  

Special assessment debt - CFDs 8,048,566  6,616,113  - - 8,048,566  6,616,113  

Special assessment debt - Town - 154,000 - - - 154,000  

Notes payable 236,715   289,116 3,456,411  3,941,530  3,693,126  4,230,646  

Total long-term debt $ 23,946,281  $ 21,924,229  $ 3,456,411  $ 3,941,530  $ 27,402,692  $ 25,865,759  

Additional information on the Town’s long-term debt can be found in Notes 6 - 7 in the notes to the 
financial statements. 

ECONOMIC FACTORS AND NEXT YEAR’S BUDGETS AND RATES 

The Town’s unemployment rate is 5.4 percent.  This is what has been recorded in the previous fiscal 
year.  Most of the General Fund’s resources come from state-shared revenues (52%). As with all 
Arizona municipalities, the Town receives those revenues based on population. More than half of the 
Town’s population is comprised of prisoners in correctional facilities located within Town limits. Local 
sales tax is the next largest source of revenue in General Fund (21%). Budgetary estimates for the 
Town’s state-shared revenues are provided by the League of Arizona Cities and Towns, which are based 
on estimates obtained from the state. 

A water and sewer rate study, which provides recommended rates are to be escalated annually. The 
initial water and sewer rate study is to be in July 2018. It should be noted that the Town Council did not 
raise rates the past two fiscal years. A water and sewer rate study will be updated in April 2019-2022. 

The Town’s total budget for FY2018 is $38.1 million, which includes expenditures within the 
Community Facilities District. 

REQUESTS FOR INFORMATION 

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the Town of Florence’s finances for 
all those with an interest in the government’s finances.  Questions concerning any of the information 
provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to Town of 
Florence - Finance Department, P.O. Box 2670, Florence Arizona 85132 or by email at 
finance@florenceaz.gov. 





FINANCIAL SECTION
BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS





FINANCIAL SECTION
GOVERNMENT-WIDE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS





Town of Florence, Arizona
Statement of Net Position

June 30, 2018

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 36,115,853 $ 19,912,873 $ 56,028,726
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles) 308,700 876,149 1,184,849
Special assessment receivable 6,907,180 - 6,907,180
Due from other governments 920,790 - 920,790
Internal balances (116,314) 116,314 -
Prepaids 473,940 - 473,940
Restricted cash equivalents 7,822,306 - 7,822,306
Capital assets, not being depreciated 34,314,522 1,599,834 35,914,356
Capital assets, being depreciated, net 57,380,181 17,830,012 75,210,193

Total assets 144,127,158 40,335,182 184,462,340

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related pensions 2,993,518 174,587 3,168,105

Total deferred outflows of resources 2,993,518 174,587 3,168,105

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other current liabilities 1,347,650 99,949 1,447,599
Accrued wages and benefits 528,210 27,463 555,673
Customer deposits 5,624 133,767 139,391
Accrued interest payable 564,814 55,303 620,117
Other accrued liabilities 1,283,275 11,746 1,295,021
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within 1 year 2,448,754 534,423 2,983,177
Due in more than 1 year 30,529,048 4,293,118 34,822,166

Total liabilities 36,707,375 5,155,769 41,863,144

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to pensions 1,713,956 172,641 1,886,597

Total deferred inflows of resources 1,713,956 172,641 1,886,597

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 72,398,506 15,973,435 88,371,941
Restricted for:

Debt service 4,005,956 3,050,008 7,055,964
Highways and streets 10,307,195 - 10,307,195
Capital projects 16,667,457 156,126 16,823,583
Community development 428,334 - 428,334
Community facilities 339,423 - 339,423
Public safety 91,278 - 91,278

Unrestricted 4,461,196 16,001,790 20,462,986
Total net position $ 108,699,345 $ 35,181,359 $ 143,880,704

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
17



Town of Florence, Arizona
Statement of Activities

 Year ended June 30, 2018

Program Revenues

Charges for
Operating
Grants and Capital Grants and

Functions/Programs Expenses Services Contributions Contributions
Primary government
Governmental activities:

General government $ 3,349,953 $ 2,398,239 $ - $ -
Public safety 7,731,003 241,362 189,336 -
Highways and streets 4,038,910 - - -
Public works 567,470 1,200,201 3,166,088 -
Culture and recreation 2,409,680 451,995 289 -
Community development 1,865,240 60,921 - 512,720
Interest on long-term debt 1,134,030 - - -

Total governmental activities 21,096,286 4,352,718 3,355,713 512,720

Business-type activities:
Water 2,350,125 2,914,294 - 1,980
Sewer 2,263,515 3,943,049 - 2,140
Sanitation 884,367 854,067 - -

Total business-type activities 5,498,007 7,711,410 - 4,120
Total primary government $ 26,594,293 $ 12,064,128 $ 3,355,713 $ 516,840

General revenues:
Property taxes
Sales and use taxes
Franchise taxes
Shared revenues

State sales taxes
Urban revenue sharing
Auto-in-lieu

Investment income
Miscellaneous

Transfers in (out)
Total general revenues and

transfers

Change in net position
Net position, beginning of year, as

restated
Net position, end of year

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
18



Net (Expense) Revenue and Changes in Net Position

Governmental Business-type
Activities Activities Total

$ (951,714) $ - $ (951,714)
(7,300,305) - (7,300,305)
(4,038,910) - (4,038,910)
3,798,819 - 3,798,819

(1,957,396) - (1,957,396)
(1,291,599) - (1,291,599)
(1,134,030) - (1,134,030)

(12,875,135) (12,875,135)

- (566,149) 566,149
- 1,681,674 1,681,674
- (30,300) (30,300)
- 2,217,523 2,217,523

(12,875,135) 2,217,523 (10,657,612)

2,446,349 - 2,446,349
4,611,413 - 4,611,413

631,107 - 631,107

2,478,688 - 2,478,688
3,192,974 - 3,192,974
1,498,824 - 1,498,824

154,851 71,048 225,899
233,113 70,715 303,828

1,007,688 (1,007,688) -

16,255,007 (865,925) 15,389,082

3,379,872 1,351,598 4,731,470

105,319,473 33,829,761 139,149,234
$ 108,699,345 $ 35,181,359 $ 143,880,704

19





FINANCIAL SECTION
FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Governmental Fund Financial Statements



Town of Florence, Arizona
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds

 June 30, 2018

General Highway user

Community
Facilities

Districts - Debt
Service

Fund Fund Fund
ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 11,231,377 $ 6,670,554 $ 4,314,022
Receivables (net of allowance for uncollectibles) 235,120 1,078 6,908,069
Due from other governments 640,372 279,529 -
Due from other funds 169,917 671,738 54,652
Prepaids 273,960 - 199,980
Restricted cash and cash equivalents - 3,547,720 636,662

Total assets $ 12,550,746 $ 11,170,619 12,113,385

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other current liabilities $ 668,157 $ 671,738 $ -
Accrued wages and benefits 503,164 24,640 -
Customer deposits 5,624 - -
Due to other funds 843,495 - 183,100
Other liabilities 30,250 165,968 1,084,482

Total liabilities 2,050,690 862,346 1,267,582

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred revenue - 1,078 6,906,206

Total deferred inflows of resources - 1,078 6,906,206

FUND BALANCES 
Nonspendable:

Prepaid items 273,960 - 199,980
Restricted:

Public safety - - -
Debt service - - 3,739,617
Capital projects - 3,547,720 -
Highways and streets - 6,759,475 -
Economic development - - -
Community Facilities Districts operations - - -

Unassigned 10,226,096 - -
Total fund balances 10,500,056 10,307,195 3,939,597
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of
  resources, and fund balances $ 12,550,746 $ 11,170,619 $ 12,113,385

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
22



Community
Facilities
Districts -

Capital
Improvements Impact Fees

Capital
Improvements

Non-Major
Governmental 

Total
Governmental

Fund Fund Fund Funds Funds

$ 497,874 $ 1,846,831 $ 6,699,354 $ 4,855,841 $ 36,115,853
- 199 652 71,651 7,216,769
- - - - 919,901
61,469 5,020 - 69,941 1,032,737
- - - - 473,940

3,637,924 - - - 7,822,306
$ 4,197,267 $ 1,852,050 $ 6,700,006 $ 4,997,433 $ 53,581,506

$ - $ 5,020 $ - $ 2,735 $ 1,347,650
- - - 406 528,210
- - - - 5,624
- - - 122,456 1,149,051
- - - - 1,280,700
- 5,020 - 125,597 4,311,235

- 199 652 71,391 6,979,526
- 199 652 71,391 6,979,526

- - - - 473,940

- - - 91,278 91,278
- - - 66,359 3,805,976

4,197,267 1,846,831 6,699,354 3,924,005 20,215,177
- - - - 6,759,475
- - - 428,334 428,334
- - - 339,423 339,423
- - - (48,954) 10,177,142

4,197,267 1,846,831 6,699,354 4,800,445 42,290,745

$ 4,197,267 $ 1,852,050 $ 6,700,006 $ 4,997,433 $ 53,581,506

23





Town of Florence, Arizona
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet

 to the Government-wide Statement of Net Position
 June 30, 2018

Fund balances - total governmental funds balance sheet $ 42,290,745

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net
Position are different because:

Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and therefore, are not reported in the governmental funds funds. 

Governmental capital assets
Less accumulated depreciation

$ 127,211,901
(35,517,198) 91,694,703

Deferred revenue is shown on the governmental funds, but is not deferred
on the Statement of Net Position.

Special assessments 6,979,526

Long-term liabilities, including net pension liabilities, bonds payable, and
their related costs, are not due and payable in the current period and,
therefore, are not reported in the funds.

Net pension liability
Compensated absences
Bonds payables 
Notes payable
Premiums

(8,312,861)
(451,258)

(23,709,566)
(236,715)
(267,402) (32,977,802)

Deferred outflows and inflows of resources related to pensions are
applicable to future reporting periods and, therefore, are not reported in
the funds.

Deferred outflows of resources related to pensions
Deferred inflows of resources related to pensions

2,993,518
(1,713,956) 1,279,562

Interest payable on long-term debt is not reported in the governmental
funds (567,389)

Net position of governmental activities $ 108,699,345

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
25



Town of Florence, Arizona
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Year ended June 30, 2018

General Highway User

Community
Facilities

Districts - Debt
Service

Community
Facilities

Districts - Capital
Improvements

Fund Fund Fund Fund
REVENUES

Sales taxes $ 2,965,739 $ - $ - $ -
Property taxes 1,009,480 - 1,315,409 -
Franchise fees 631,107 - - -
Licenses and permits 768,691 - - -
Intergovernmental revenues 7,170,486 3,166,088 - -
Charges for services 975,119 - - -
Fines and forfeits 160,251 - - -
Special assessments - - 1,242,454 -
Investment income 49,177 27,550 16,370 15,224
Contribution and donations 17,478 - - -
Miscellaneous 128,092 16,929 - -

Total revenues 13,875,620 3,210,567 2,574,233 15,224

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 3,637,529 - 71,420 386,454
Public safety 6,802,996 - - -
Highways and streets - 2,291,343 - -
Public works 548,481 - - -
Culture and recreation 2,255,606 - - -
Community development 617,458 - - -

Capital outlay - 1,744,551 - 1,081,765
Debt service:

Principal - 385,000 645,884 -
Interest and fiscal charges - 100,955 902,655 -

Total expenditures 13,862,070 4,521,849 1,619,959 1,468,219
Excess (deficiency) of

revenues over (under)
expenditures 13,550 (1,311,282) 954,274 (1,452,995)

OTHER FINANCING
SOURCES (USES)

Transfer in 1,327,283 9,900 172,610 58,678
Transfers out (737,707) (261,996) - (147,396)
General obligation bonds

issued - - - 1,440,000
Premium on general

obligation bonds - - - 98,437
Special assessment bonds

issued - - - 1,723,950
Sales of capital assets - 1,624 - -

Total other financing
sources (uses) 589,576 (250,472) 172,610 3,173,669

Net change in fund
balances 603,126 (1,561,754) 1,126,884 1,720,674

Fund balances, beginning of
year, as restated 9,896,930 11,868,949 2,812,713 2,476,593

Fund balances, end of year $ 10,500,056 $ 10,307,195 $ 3,939,597 $ 4,197,267

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
26



Impact Fees
Capital

Improvements
Non-Major

Governmental
Total

Governmental
Fund Fund Funds Funds

$ - $ 1,522,358 $ 123,316 $ 4,611,413
- - 121,460 2,446,349
- - - 631,107
- - - 768,691
- - 189,625 10,526,199
512,720 - - 1,487,839
- - 15,981 176,232
- - 60,921 1,303,375

6,536 20,156 19,838 154,851
- - - 17,478
- - 118,965 263,986
519,256 1,542,514 650,106 22,387,520

- 4,586 130,443 4,230,432
- 61,878 227,150 7,092,024
- - - 2,291,343
- - 18,989 567,470
- 5,277 8,275 2,269,158
36,185 69,750 92,743 816,136

- - - 2,826,316

- - 125,401 1,156,285
- - 30,360 1,033,970
36,185 141,491 633,361 22,283,134

483,071 1,401,023 16,745 104,386

- 680,350 102,605 2,351,426
- (69,748) (126,891) (1,343,738)

- - - 1,440,000

- - - 98,437

- - - 1,723,950
- - - 1,624

- 610,602 (24,286) 4,271,699

483,071 2,011,625 (7,541) 4,376,085

1,363,760 4,687,729 4,807,986 37,914,660
$ 1,846,831 $ 6,699,354 $ 4,800,445 $ 42,290,745

27



Town of Florence, Arizona
Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances 
to the Government-wide Statement of Activities

Year ended June 30, 2018

 Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ 4,376,085

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities are
different because:

Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the
Statement of Activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated
useful lives and reported as depreciation expense. Also, assets contributed to the
Town are not reported in the fund statements but are reported in the Statement of
Activities.

Capital outlay
Depreciation expense

$ 2,913,363
(3,127,215) (213,852)

Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial
resources are not reported as revenues in the funds and revenues received in the
current year that were accrued in the Statement of Activities in the prior years are
reported as revenues in the funds. 

Special assessments
Sale of property

1,125,351
(21,650) 1,103,701

Interest expense in the Statement of Activities differs from the amount reported in
governmental funds because accrued interest was calculated for outstanding debt
for the Statement of Activities, but is expensed when due for the governmental
fund statements. (100,060)

Pension contributions are reported as expenditures in the governmental funds when
made. However, they are reported as deferred outflows of resources in the
Statement of Net Position because the reported net pension liability is measured a
year before the Town's report date. Pension expense, which is the change in the net
pension liability adjusted for changes in deferred outflows and inflows of
resources related to pension, is reported in the Statement of Activities. 

Town pension contributions
Pension expense

1,127,637
(831,439) 296,198

Repayment of long-term debt are expenditures in the governmental funds, but the
repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the Statement of Net Position.

Issuance of bond debt
Note payable principal retirement
Bond principal retirement
Amortization of bond premium

(3,277,937)
52,401

1,105,047
11,537 (2,108,952)

Compensated absences expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not
require the use of current financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as
expenditures in governmental funds. 26,752

Change in net position of governmental activities $ 3,379,872

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
28



Town of Florence, Arizona
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance- Budget to Actual

General Fund
Year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

Variance with
Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Actual amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Sales taxes $ 2,975,000 $ 2,975,000 $ 2,965,739 $ (9,261)
Property taxes 1,017,439 1,017,439 1,009,480 (7,959)
Franchise fees 589,000 589,000 631,107 42,107
Licenses and permits 529,500 529,500 768,691 239,191
Intergovernmental revenues 7,051,095 7,051,095 7,170,486 119,391
Charges for services 687,390 687,390 975,119 287,729
Fines and forfeits 166,100 166,100 160,251 (5,849)
Investment income 100,000 100,000 49,177 (50,823)
Contribution and donations 17,478 17,478
Miscellaneous 47,950 47,950 128,092 80,142

Total revenues 13,163,474 13,163,474 13,875,620 712,146

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government:
Town council 95,747 95,747 95,493 254
Administration 1,777,063 1,777,063 1,315,607 461,456
Legal 473,844 473,844 888,145 (414,301)
Finance 676,281 676,281 662,691 13,590
Human resources 246,472 246,472 247,856 (1,384)
Information technology 391,974 391,974 427,737 (35,763)

Public safety:
Courts 198,606 198,606 216,666 (18,060)
Police 3,974,134 3,974,134 3,551,339 422,795
Fire 3,042,730 3,042,730 3,034,991 7,739

Public works
Engineering 140,130 140,130 88,465 51,665
Facilities maintenance 517,007 517,007 460,016 56,991

Culture and recreation:
Parks and recreation 2,001,501 2,001,501 1,985,131 16,370
Library 272,568 272,568 261,759 10,809
Cemetery 8,900 8,900 8,716 184

Community development:
Planning 595,580 595,580 485,617 109,963
Economic development 134,495 134,495 131,841 2,654

Total expenditures 14,547,032 14,547,032 13,862,070 684,962
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

(under) expenditures (1,383,558) (1,383,558) 13,550 (1,370,008)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 1,384,009 1,384,009 1,327,283 (56,726)
Transfers out (737,707) (737,707)

Total other financing sources
(uses) 1,384,009 1,384,009 589,576 (794,433)

Net change in fund balances 451 451 603,126 602,675
Fund balances, beginning of year 9,896,930 9,896,930 9,896,930 -
Fund balances, end of year $ 9,897,381 $ 9,897,381 $ 10,500,056 $ 602,675

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
29



Town of Florence, Arizona
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance- Budget to Actual

Highway User Fund
Year ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts

Variance with
Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Actual amounts  (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental $ 3,006,882 $ 3,006,882 $ 3,166,088 $ 159,206
Investment income 85,460 85,460 27,550 (57,910)
Miscellaneous 37,664 37,664 16,929 (20,735)

Total revenues 3,130,006 3,130,006 3,210,567 80,561

EXPENDITURES
Current:

Highways and streets 7,575,949 7,575,949 2,291,343 5,284,606
Capital outlay 1,744,551 (1,744,551)
Debt service:

Principal 385,000 (385,000)
Interest and fiscal charges 100,955 (100,955)

Total expenditures 7,575,949 7,575,949 4,521,849 3,054,100
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

(under) expenditures (4,445,943) (4,445,943) (1,311,282) 3,134,661

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 9,900 9,900
Transfers out (261,997) (261,997) (261,996) 1
Sale of capital assets 1,624 1,624

Total other financing sources
(uses) (261,997) (261,997) (250,472) 11,525

Net change in fund balances (4,707,940) (4,707,940) (1,561,754) 3,146,186
Fund balances, beginning of year 11,868,949 11,868,949 11,868,949
Fund balances, end of year $ 7,161,009 $ 7,161,009 $ 10,307,195 $ 3,146,186

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
30



FINANCIAL SECTION
FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Proprietary Fund Financial Statements



Town of Florence, Arizona
Statement of Net Position

Proprietary Funds
 June 30, 2018

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds
Water Sewer Sanitation Total

ASSETS
Current assets 

Cash and investments $ 8,259,206 $ 10,333,692 $ 1,319,975 $ 19,912,873
Receivables, net of uncollectibles 362,758 458,186 55,205 876,149
Due from other funds 63,614 2,008 50,692 116,314

Total current assets 8,685,578 10,793,886 1,425,872 20,905,336
Noncurrent assets

Capital assets:
Land 120,100 273,973 - 394,073
Buildings and improvements 11,615,837 13,256,484 - 24,872,321
Machinery and equipment 975,165 609,124 52,351 1,636,640
Construction in progress 412,785 792,976 - 1,205,761
Less accumulated depreciation (4,542,042) (4,106,259) (30,648) (8,678,949)

Total capital assets, net 8,581,845 10,826,298 21,703 19,429,846
Total assets 17,267,423 21,620,184 1,447,575 40,335,182

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows related to pensions 88,262 70,825 15,500 174,587

Total deferred outflows of resources 88,262 70,825 15,500 174,587

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities

Accounts payable 86,340 2,008 11,601 99,949
Accrued wages and benefits 12,883 11,558 3,022 27,463
Customer deposits 75,130 - 58,637 133,767
Accrued interest payable - 55,303 - 55,303
Other accrued liabilities 11,700 6 40 11,746
Compensated absences 18,071 9,548 5,821 33,440
Notes payable - 500,983 - 500,983

Total current liabilities 204,124 579,406 79,121 862,651
Noncurrent liabilities

Compensated absences 3,189 1,685 1,029 5,903
Notes payable - 2,955,428 - 2,955,428
Net pension liability 673,283 540,269 118,235 1,331,787

Total noncurrent liabilities 676,472 3,497,382 119,264 4,293,118
Total liabilities 880,596 4,076,788 198,385 5,155,769

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows related to pensions 87,278 70,035 15,328 172,641

Total deferred inflows of resources 87,278 70,035 15,328 172,641

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets 8,581,845 7,369,887 21,703 15,973,435
Restricted for:

Debt service - 3,050,008 - 3,050,008
Capital projects 67,396 88,730 - 156,126

Unrestricted 7,738,570 7,035,561 1,227,659 16,001,790
Total net position $ 16,387,811 $ 17,544,186 $ 1,249,362 $ 35,181,359

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
32



Town of Florence, Arizona
Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Position

Proprietary Fund
Year Ended June 30, 2018

Business-type Activities - Enterprise Funds
Water Sewer Sanitation Total

OPERATING REVENUES
Water sales $ 2,774,041 $ - $ - $ 2,774,041
Water connection fees 8,026 - - 8,026
Service establishment fees 23,550 - - 23,550
Sewer service fees - 2,824,187 - 2,824,187
Sewer connection fees - 6,230 - 6,230
DOC usage fees - 1,112,632 - 1,112,632
Water standpiper 6,220 - - 6,220
Hydro-sprinkler fees 1,310 - - 1,310
Central Arizona Project 67,215 - - 67,215
Refuse collection fees - - 854,067 854,067
Effluent charges 33,932 - - 33,932
Miscellaneous 27,096 22,055 21,564 70,715

Total operating revenues 2,941,390 3,965,104 875,631 7,782,125

OPERATING EXPENSES
Personnel services 788,930 347,462 128,797 1,265,189
Supplies 55,730 214,650 2,278 272,658
Contractual services and maintenance 1,120,165 991,401 697,433 2,808,999
Depreciation 381,503 422,081 1,113 804,697
Miscellaneous 3,797 176,385 54,746 234,928

Total operating expenditures 2,350,125 2,151,979 884,367 5,386,471

Operating income (loss) 591,265 1,813,125 (8,736) 2,395,654

NONOPERATING REVENUES (EXPENSE)
Interest income 29,229 36,634 5,185 71,048
Interest expense - (111,536) - (111,536)

Total nonoperating revenues (expenses) 29,229 (74,902) 5,185 29,229
Income before development fees and

transfers 620,494 1,738,223 (3,551) 2,355,166

Development fees 1,980 2,140 - 4,120
Transfers in 737,789 - - 737,789
Transfers out (466,611) (1,226,522) (52,344) (1,745,477)

Change in net position 893,652 513,841 (55,895) 1,351,598

Net position, beginning of year 15,494,159 17,030,345 1,305,257 33,829,761
Net position, end of year $ 16,387,811 $ 17,544,186 $ 1,249,362 $ 35,181,359

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
33



Town of Florence, Arizona
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Fund
 June 30, 2018

Business-type Activities
Enterprise Funds

Water Sewer Sanitation
Fund  Fund  Fund Totals

Cash flows from operating activities: 
Receipts from customers $ 2,913,625 $ 3,928,306 $ 880,635 $ 7,722,566
Payments to suppliers (1,276,742) (1,783,418) (746,064) (3,806,224)
Payments to employees (637,670) (562,259) (122,355) (1,322,284)

Net cash provided by operating activities 999,213 1,582,629 12,216 2,594,058

Cash flows from noncapital financing activities: 
Cash (paid)/received from other funds for

interfund borrowing 98,265 403,399 (8,394) 493,270
Transfer to other funds (466,611) (1,226,522) (52,344) (1,745,477)
Transfers from other funds 737,789 - - 737,789

Net cash provided (used) by noncapital
financing activities 369,443 (823,123) (60,738) (514,418)

Cash flows from capital and related financing
activities: 

Purchase of capital assets (337,455) (503,687) (15,032) (856,174)
Interest paid on capital debt - (56,233) - (56,233)
Principal paid on capital debt - (485,119) - (485,119)
Development fees received 1,980 2,140 - 4,120

Net cash used by capital and related
financing activities (335,475) (1,042,899) (15,032) (1,393,406)

Cash flows from investing activities:
Interest received 29,229 36,634 5,185 71,048

Net cash provided by investing activities 29,229 36,634 5,185 71,048

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents 1,062,410 (246,759) (58,369) 757,282

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 7,196,796 10,580,451 1,378,344 19,155,591

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year $ 8,259,206 $ 10,333,692 $ 1,319,975 $ 19,912,873

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
34



Town of Florence, Arizona
Statement of Cash Flows

Proprietary Fund
 June 30, 2018

(Continued)

Business-type Activities
Enterprise Funds

Water Sewer Sanitation
Fund Fund Fund Totals

Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by operating activities:

Operating income (loss) $ 591,265 $ 1,813,125 $ (8,736) $ 2,395,654
Adjustments to reconcile operating (loss)

income to net cash provided by operations:
Depreciation 381,503 422,081 1,113 804,697

Changes in assets, deferred outflows of
resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of
resources:

Net pension liability 155,629 (178,513) 7,823 (15,061)
Deferred outflows of resources related to

pensions (8,241) 40,625 3,061 35,445
Deferred inflows of resources related to

pensions (14,718) (70,343) (8,280) (93,341)
Accounts receivable, net (25,962) (34,939) (1,391) (62,292)
Accounts payable (97,050) (400,981) 8,393 (489,638)
Accrued wages and benefits 7,131 3,578 1,659 12,368
Customer deposits (12,853) - 6,742 (6,111)
Other accrued liabilities 11,050 (1,859) (347) 8,844
Compensated absences 11,459 (10,145) 2,179 3,493

Net cash provided by operating activities $ 999,213 $ 1,582,629 $ 12,216 $ 2,594,058

Cash and investments:
Unrestricted cash and investments $ 8,259,206 $ 10,333,692 $ 1,319,975 $ 19,912,873

Total cash and investments at June 30,
2018 $ 8,259,206 $ 10,333,692 $ 1,319,975 $ 19,912,873

Non-cash financing transactions:
Capital contributions $ $ $ $

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
35





FINANCIAL SECTION
FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Fiduciary Fund Financial Statements





Town of Florence, Arizona
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Fund
 June 30, 2018

Pension Trust
ASSETS

Money market funds $ 2,675
U.S. Government bonds 222,598
Equities 74,071

Total assets 299,344

LIABILITIES
Accounts payable 348

Total liabilities 348

NET POSITION
Net pension restricted for pensions $ 298,996

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
37



Town of Florence, Arizona
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Fiduciary Fund
Year ended June 30, 2018

Pension Trust
ADDITIONS:

Contributions $ 9,685
Investment income 10,717

Total additions 20,402

DEDUCTIONS:
Pension withdrawals 56,775

Total deductions 56,775

Change in net position (36,373)

Net position, beginning of year 335,369
Net position, end of year $ 298,996

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
38



FINANCIAL SECTION
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS





Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the Town of Florence, Arizona (Town) have been prepared in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America as
applied to government units. The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is the
accepted standard-setting body for establishing governmental accounting and financial reporting
principles.

For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Town implemented the provisions of GASB Statement No.
75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions, as
amended by GASB Statement No. 85, Omnibus 2017. GASB Statement No. 75 established
standards for measuring and recognizing net assets or liabilities, deferred outflows of resources,
deferred inflows of resources, and expenses/expenditures related to other postemployment
benefits (OPEB) provided through defined benefit OPEB plans. In addition, Statement No. 75
requires disclosure of information related to OPEB.

A. Reporting Entity

The Town is a municipal entity governed by an elected Mayor and council. The basic financial
statements of the Town include the funds of all organizational entities for which the Town
Council has oversight responsibility or financial accountability and are consequently determined
to be included in the Town’s financial reporting entity in accordance with Governmental
Accounting Standards Board, Accounting Standards Codification. The Town provides basic
government services to its citizens including roads, water, sewer, sanitation, parks and recreation
facilities, police and fire.

Individual Component Units – Blended

The Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District #1 and Merrill Ranch Community Facilities
District #2 were formed by petition to the Town Council on December 19, 2005 and November
21, 2005, respectively. The purpose of the Districts is to acquire or construct public
infrastructure in specified areas of the Town. As special purpose districts and separate political
subdivisions under the Arizona Constitution, the Districts may levy taxes and issue bonds
independently of the Town.  Property owned in the designated areas is assessed for the Districts’
property taxes, and thus for the costs of operating the Districts. The Town Council serves as the
Board of Directors of the Districts. The Town has no liability for the District’s debt. For
reporting purposes, the transactions of the Districts are included as governmental type funds as if
they were part of the Town’s operations. Separate financial statements were prepared for the
Districts and available at the Town of Florence's Finance Department. 

B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements present financial information about the primary
government (the Town) and its component units. The statement includes a statement of net
position and a statement of activities. These statements report the overall government financial
activities, except for fiduciary activities. These statements are to distinguish between the
governmental and business-type activities of the Town. Governmental activities normally are
supported by taxes and intergovernmental revenues, and are reported separately from business-
type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and charges for support.

39



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given
function or segment is offset by program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly
identifiable with a specific function or segment. Program revenues include 1) charges to
customers or applicants who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services, or privileges
provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and contributions that are restricted to
meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes, state-
shared revenues, investment income and other items not included among program revenues are
reported instead as general revenues.

Generally, the effect of interfund activity has been eliminated from the government-wide
financial statement to minimize the double-counting of internal activities. However, charges for
interfund service provided and used are not eliminated if the prices approximate their external
exchange values. 

Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and
fiduciary funds, even though the latter are excluded from the government-wide financial
statements. Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are
reported as separate columns in the fund financial statements.

C. Fund Balances – Governmental Funds

As of June 30, 2018, fund balances of the governmental funds are classified as follows:

Nonspendable - amounts that cannot be spent either because they are in nonspendable form or
because they are legally or contractually required to be maintained intact.

Restricted - amounts that can be spent only for specific purposes because of constitutional
provisions or enabling legislation or because of constraints that are externally imposed by
creditors, grantors, contributors, or the laws or regulations of other governments.

Committed - amounts that can be used only for specific purposes determined by a formal action
of Town Council. Town Council is the highest level of decision-making authority for the Town.
Commitments may be established, modified, or rescinded only through resolutions approved by
Town Council.

Assigned - amounts that do not meet the criteria to be classified as restricted or committed but
that are intended to be used for specific purposes. Under the Town’s adopted policy, only Town
Council, the Town’s Manager or the Town’s Finance Director may assign amounts for specific
purposes.

Unassigned - all other spendable amounts. The General Fund is the only fund that reports a
positive unassigned fund balance amount.

When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund
balance is available, the Town considers restricted funds to have been spent first. When an
expenditure is incurred for which committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balances are
available, the Town considers amounts to have been spent first out of committed funds, then
assigned funds, and finally unassigned funds, as needed, unless Town Council, the Town’s

40



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Manager or the Town’s Finance Director has provided otherwise in its commitment or
assignment actions.

The General Fund has Unassigned Funds consisting of a Stabilization Arrangement in the
amount of $1,885,132. The Stabilization Arrangement was legislated by the Town Council to set
aside resources to cover unanticipated deficits or revenue reductions that may be caused by
adverse economic conditions or public emergency. The amount of the Stabilization Arrangement
is equal to at least $500,000 plus 10% of the operating revenues.

D. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

Governmental-wide Financial Statements - The government-wide financial statements are
reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting as
are the proprietary fund financial statements. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses
are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property
taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items
are recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the grantor or
provider have been met. As a general rule the effect of internal activity has been eliminated from
the government-wide financial statements.

Fund Financial Statements - Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the
current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are
considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough
thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the Town considers revenues
to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.
However, debt services expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences
and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.

Property taxes, sales taxes, franchise taxes, licenses and permits, charges for service, special
assessments and investment income associated with the current fiscal period are considered to be
susceptible to accrual and have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. Grants
and similar awards are recognized as revenues as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by
the grantor or provider have been met. Miscellaneous revenue is not susceptible to accrual
because generally they are not measurable until received in cash. Deferred revenues also arise
when the Town receives resources before it has legal claim to them, as when grant monies are
received prior to meeting all eligibility requirements imposed by the provider.

Delinquent property taxes have been recorded as deferred revenue. Receivables that will not be
collected within the available period have also been reported as deferred revenue on the
governmental fund financial statements.

41



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Proprietary funds distinguish operating revenues and expenses from nonoperating items.
Operating revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and
delivering goods in connection with a proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. The
principal operating revenues of the Town’s enterprise funds are charges to customers for water,
wastewater, and sanitation services and the Town’s internal service funds are charges for fleet
maintenance and facilities maintenance. Operating expenses for these funds include the cost of
sales and services, administrative expenses and depreciation. All revenues and expenses not
meeting this definition are reported as nonoperating revenues and expenses.

The Town reports the following major governmental funds:

General Fund - This fund is the general operating fund of the Town. It accounts for all financial
resources of the Town, except those required to be accounted for in other funds.

Highway User Fund – Special Revenue Fund - This fund is used to account for the Town’s share
of tax revenues that are legally restricted to the maintenance of highways within the Town’s
boundaries.

Community Facilities Districts - Debt Service Fund - This fund accounts for the debt portion of
the Town’s Community Facilities Districts which are component units that provide general
infrastructure and capital assets for the property within each District’s boundaries.

Community Facilities Districts - Capital Improvements Fund - This fund accounts for all the
acquisition and construction portion of the Town’s Community Facilities Districts which are
component units that provide general infrastructure and capital assets for the property within
each District’s boundaries.

Impact Fees Fund - This fund collects fees to help defray the costs of development of
infrastructure.

Capital Improvements Fund - This fund accounts for all the acquisition and construction of
major capital facilities other than those financed by proprietary funds.

Enterprise funds account for the operations, including debt service, 1) that are financed and
operated in a manner similar to private business enterprises where the intent of the Town
Council is that the costs (including depreciation) of providing goods and services to the general
public on a continuing basis be financed primarily through user charges and fees, or 2) where the
Town Council has decided that periodic determination of revenues earned, expenses incurred,
and net income is appropriate for capital maintenance, public policy, management control,
accountability, or other purposes. The Town currently operates the following enterprise funds:

Water Fund - This fund is used to account for the Town’s water related operations.

Sewer Fund - This fund is used to account for the Town’s sewer related operations.

Sanitation Fund - This fund is used to account for the activities of the Town’s sanitation
operations.

42



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

The Town reports the following fiduciary fund:

Pension Trust Fund - This Pension Trust Fund is used to account for the Town’s Volunteer
Firefighter’s Pension Fund, a defined contribution plan for which the assets are held by the Town
in a trustee account. The Town as well as the Town’s firefighters make contributions to the fund.
The Town’s matching contribution is based on revenue received from the Firefighters Relief
Fund but cannot be less than 1/2% of total compensation of all participants. If a participant
terminates employment before being fully vested, then the non-vested portion of the terminated
participant’s account balance remains in the plan as a forfeiture. Forfeitures will be first used to
pay any administrative expenses with the remaining used to reduce any the Town’s contribution.

E. Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash represents amounts in demand deposits and amounts held in trust by financial institutions.
The funds held in trust are available to the Town upon demand. Cash equivalents are defined as
short-term (original maturities of three months or less), highly liquid investments that are 1)
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 2) so near maturity that they present
insignificant risk of changes in value because of changes in interest rates.

F. Investments

Arizona Revised Statutes (A.R.S.) authorize the Town to invest public monies in the State
Treasurer’s Local Government Investment Pool, interest-bearing savings account, certificates of
deposit, and repurchase agreements in eligible depositories; bonds or other obligations of the
U.S. government that are guaranteed as to principal and interest by the U.S. government; and
bonds of the State of Arizona counties, cities, school districts, and special districts as specified
by statute.

The Town’s investments are reported at fair value. The State’s investment pool is managed by
the State Treasurer’s office with no regulatory oversight. The pool is not required to register with
the Securities and Exchange Commission under the 1940 Investments Advisors Act. The activity
and performance of the pool is reviewed monthly by the State Board of Investment in accordance
with A.R.S. §35-311. The Arizona State Treasurer issues a publicly available financial report
that includes financial statements and required supplementary information. Copies may be
obtained by contacting the Arizona State Treasurer, 1700 West Washington, Phoenix, Arizona
85007. The fair value of a participant’s position in the pool approximates the value of that
participant’s pool share.

G. Receivables and Payables

Activity between funds that are representative of lending/borrowing arrangements outstanding at
the end of the fiscal year are referred to as either “due to/from other funds” (i.e., the current
portion of interfund loans) or “advances to/from other funds” (i.e., the non-current portion of the
interfund loans).

43



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

All trade and property tax receivables are shown net of allowance for uncollectibles. Trade
accounts receivable in excess of 180 days comprise the trade accounts receivables allowance for
uncollectibles.

Property taxes are levied by the Town and collected by the Pinal County Treasurer. Property
taxes are levied no later than the third Monday in August and are payable in two installments due
October 1 of the current year and March 1 of the subsequent year. Taxes become delinquent after
the first business day of November and May, respectively. Interest attaches on installments after
the delinquent date.  Pursuant to A.R.S., a lien against assessed real and personal property
attaches on the first day of January preceding assessment and levy; however according to case
law, an enforceable legal claim to the asset does not arise.

H. Prepaid Items

Certain payments to vendors reflect the cost applicable to future accounting periods and are
recorded as prepaid items in both the government-wide and fund financial statements. The cost
of prepaid items is recorded as expenditures/expenses when consumed (consumption method).

I. Capital Assets

Capital assets, which include land, buildings, improvements other than buildings, vehicles,
machinery, equipment, construction in progress, and infrastructure assets (e.g., roads, bridges,
sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type
activities columns in the government-wide financial statements. The Town defines capital assets
as assets with an initial, individual cost of $5,000 or more and an estimated useful life of more
than three years. Such assets are recorded at historical cost. However, donated capital assets are
reported at their acquisition value.

The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or
materially extend assets’ lives are not capitalized. Major outlays for capital assets and
improvements are capitalized as projects are constructed. Interest incurred during the
construction phase of capital assets of business-type activities is included as part of the
capitalized value of the assets constructed.

Certain capital assets of the Town are depreciated using the straight-line method over the
following estimated useful lives:

Asset
Estimated

Useful Life
Buildings 40 years
Improvements 20-70 years
Vehicles, machinery, and equipment 3-10 years

J. Compensated Absences

The Town’s employee vacation and sick leave policies provide for granting vacation and sick
leave with pay. Sick leave and vacation benefits accrue at the employee’s current rate of pay.
The current and long-term liabilities for accumulated vacation are reported on the government-

44



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

wide financial statements and in the proprietary fund financial statements. A liability for these
amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have matured, for example, as a result of
employee leave, resignation and retirements. Resources from the General Fund are generally
used to liquidate the governmental funds liabilities for compensated absences.

K. Long-term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund financial statements, long-
term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the statement of net
position.

L. Interfund Activity

Flows of cash from one fund to another without a requirement for repayment are reported as
interfund transfers. Interfund transfers between governmental funds are eliminated in the
Statement of Activities. Interfund transfers in the fund statements are reported as other financing
sources/uses in governmental funds and after nonoperating revenues/expenses in proprietary
funds.

M.  Estimates

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying
notes. Actual results may differ from those estimates.

N.  Budgetary Data

According to the laws of the State of Arizona, all operating budgets must be approved by their
governing board on or before the second Monday in August to allow sufficient time for legal
announcements and hearings required for the adoption of the property tax levy on the third
Monday in August.

In April, the proposed budget for the following fiscal year is presented by the Town Manager to
the Town Council.  The budget includes proposed expenditures and the means of financing them.
Public meetings are held to obtain citizen comment.

Prior to June 30, the Town Council legally enacts the budget, through the passage of an
ordinance.  The ordinance sets the limit for expenditures for the year, within the voter mandated
state expenditure limitation. However, on May 17, 2016, the Town held a special election to
approve an amount in excess of the State imposed expenditure limitation for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2018 in which the voters approved the measure. Additional expenditures may be
authorized if directly necessitated by a natural or man-made disaster as prescribed in the state
constitution.  The Town did not exceed their one-time approved expenditure override during the
year ended June 30, 2018.

45



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

The maximum legal expenditure permitted for the year is the total budget as adopted. All funds
of the Town have legally adopted budgets. The initial budget for the fiscal year may be amended
during the year in a legally permissible manner. The Town adopts the budget by departments for
the General Fund and by fund for all others.

The Town Manager is generally authorized to transfer budgeted amounts within any specific
department’s expenditure appropriation. Any budget revisions requiring a transfer between
departments in the General Fund or a transfer between any other fund must be approved by the
Town Council.

All unencumbered expenditure appropriations lapse at the end of the fiscal year.

Encumbered amounts are re-appropriated in the following year as deemed appropriate and
necessary after review by the Budget Office. Budgetary carry forwards are approved by the
Town Council.

The Town approves its annual budget consistent with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles
(GAAP). GAAP requires that budgetary comparison statements for the General Fund and major
governmental funds be presented in the annual financial statements. These statements must
display original budget, amended budget and actual results (on a budgetary basis). The Town has
also shown this information as supplementary schedules for other non-major governmental funds
as well as enterprise funds.

O. Excess of Expenditures over Appropriations and Deficit Fund Balance

For the year ended June 30, 2018, expenditures exceeded appropriations in the following
General Fund departments (the legal level of budgetary control):

Fund Deficit
General Fund:

General government:
Legal $ 414,301
Human resources 1,384
Information technology 35,763

Public safety:
Courts 18,060

Total $ 469,508

At year end, the grant fund reported a deficit net position of $48,954. The deficit was due to
additional costs incurred not covered by the grant. 

46



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS

A. Deposits

Custodial Credit Risk – In the case of deposits, this is the risk that in the event of bank failure,
the Town’s deposits may not be returned. As of June 30, 2018, the carrying amount of deposits
was $7,751,293 and the bank balance was $8,624,137. As of June 30, 2018, the Town's deposits
were fully insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation or covered by collateral held by
the pledging financial institution's trust department in the Town's name.

Restricted cash consists of the required debt service reserve fund and cash held by an outside
agency for restricted use. Its future use will be for the repayments on outstanding revenue bonds
payable and capital improvements. 

B. Investments

The Town’s investments at June 30, 2018, categorized within the fair value hierarchy established
by generally accepted accounting principles, were as follows: 

Fair Value Measurement Using
Investment by Fair Value Level Total Level 1 Level 2

U.S. Treasury securities $ 5,362,242 $ 5,362,242 $ -
U.S. agency securities 25,041,730 25,041,730 -
Corporate bonds 7,374,984 - 7,374,984
Total investments by Fair Value Level 37,778,956 $ 30,403,972 $ 7,374,984

External Investment Pool Measured at Fair Value
Equity 74,071
State Investment Pool (LGIP) 737,662
Total Investments Measured at Fair Value 38,590,689

Investments Measured at Amortized Costs
Repurchase Agreement 16,938,628
Money Market Funds 869,766
Investments Measured at Amortized Costs 17,808,394
Total Investments $ 56,399,083

Investments are categorized as Level 1 inputs are valued using prices quoted in active markets
for those investments. The investment categorized at Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy are
valued using a conservative methodology based on multiple criteria, including asset class and
observability of price. Inputs are observable but do not solely rely on quoted market prices to
establish fair value. Investment in the State Treasurer's investment pools are valued at the pool's
share price multiplied by the number of shares the Town held. The fair value of a participant's
position in the pools approximates the value of the participant's pool shares. The State Board of
Investment provides oversight for the State Treasurer's investment pools.   

 
The Town utilizes a pooled investment concept for all its funds to maximize its investment
program. Investment income from this internal pooling is allocated to the respective funds based
upon the sources of funds invested.

47



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS - Continued

Other investments that the Town owns belong to the Town’s Volunteer Fire Department. Funds
totaling $299,344 are held by Securian Retirement Services and consist of a money market fund,
government bonds and equity securities.

Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will
adversely affect the fair value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an
investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates.
Information about the sensitivity of the fair values of the Town’s investments to market interest
rate fluctuations is provided by the following table that shows the distribution of Town’s
investments by maturity:

Remaining maturity (in months)

Investment type Total
12 months or

less
13 to 24
months

25 to 60
months

Not
applicable

Primary Government
Repurchase Agreement $16,938,628 $16,938,628 $ - $ - $ -
Money Market Funds 867,091 867,091 - - -
LGIP Pool 5 499,641 499,641 - - -
LGIP Pool 7 238,021 238,021 - - -
Corporate bonds 7,374,984 - 2,093,171 5,281,813 -
U.S. Treasury securities 5,362,242 2,637,163 2,725,079 - -
U.S. agency securities 24,819,132 2,981,621 2,594,316 19,243,195 -

56,099,739 24,162,165 7,412,566 24,525,008 -
Fiduciary Fund

Money Market Funds 2,675 2,675 - - -
U.S. Government  Bonds 222,598 - - 222,598 -
Equities 74,071 - - - 74,071

299,344 2,675 - 222,598 74,071
Total $56,399,083 $24,164,840 $ 7,412,566 $24,747,606 $ 74,071

The Town has no policy regarding interest rate risk. State law limits investments into securities
having maturities no greater than five (5) years. The maximum maturity for investments in
repurchase agreements is 180 days.

Credit risk – Custodial credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its
obligation to the holder of the investment. This is measured by the assignment of a rating by a
nationally recognized statistical rating organization.  The Town does not have a formal
investment policy regarding credit risk. However, the Town is prohibited by State law from
investing in investments other than obligations of the U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies,
certificates of deposit in eligible depositories, repurchase agreements, obligations of the State of
Arizona or any of its counties or incorporated cities, towns or duly organized school districts,
improvement districts in this state and the State Treasurer’s Local Investment Pool. Presented
below is the actual rating as of year-end for each investment type.

48



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 2 - CASH AND INVESTMENTS - Continued

Investment Total Rating Agency
Primary Government

Repurchase Agreement $ 16,938,628 Unrated N/A
Money Market Funds 867,091 Unrated N/A
LGIP Pool 5 499,641 AAAf/S1+ Standard and Poor's
LGIP Pool 7 238,021 Unrated N/A
Corporate bonds 1,642,765 AAA Standard and Poor's
Corporate bonds 566,340 AA+ Standard and Poor's
Corporate bonds 717,331 AA- Standard and Poor's
Corporate bonds 544,118 A+ Standard and Poor's
Corporate bonds 1,702,008 A Standard and Poor's
Corporate bonds 928,791 A- Standard and Poor's
Corporate bonds 737,719 BBB+ Standard and Poor's
Corporate bonds 535,912 Unrated Standard and Poor's
U.S. Treasury securities 5,362,242 AA+ Standard and Poor's
U.S. agency securities 24,819,132 AA+ Standard and Poor's

56,099,739

Fiduciary Fund
Money Market Funds 2,675 Unrated N/A
U.S. Government  Bonds 222,598 AA+ Standard and Poor's
Equities 74,071 Unrated N/A

299,344
Total $ 56,399,083

Concentration of Credit Risk - At June 30, 2018, the Town’s investments are included as
follows:

Investment type Total Concentration

Repurchase Agreement $ 16,938,628 30.03%
Money Market Funds 869,766 1.54%
LGIP 737,662 1.31%
U.S. Treasury securities 5,362,242 9.51%
U.S. agency securities 25,041,730 44.40%
Corporate bonds 7,374,984 13.08%
Equity 74,071 0.13%

$ 56,399,083 100.00%

Custodial credit risk-investments - For an investment, this is the risk that, in the event of the
failure of the counterparty, the Town will not be able to recover the value of its investments or
collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party. Of the investment in U.S.
Government Bonds of $38,423,452 and equities of $74,071, the Town has a custodial credit risk
exposure of $38,497,523 because the related instruments are uninsured, unregistered, and held
by  the  Town’s  brokerage  firm.  The  Town  held  repurchase  agreement  investments  of
$16,938,628 of which the underlying securities are held by the investments’ counterparty, not in
the name of the Town. The Town does not have a formal investment policy regarding custodial
credit risk.

49



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 3 - RECEIVABLES

The Pinal County Treasurer (County) is responsible for collecting property taxes and special
assessments for all governmental entities within the County. The County levies property taxes
due to the Districts. In addition, the Districts provide the County with the special assessments to
be billed. These taxes and assessments are billed to the property owners by the County in
September. Two equal installments, payable in October and March, become delinquent after the
first business days in November and May.

Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the fiscal year they are levied in the government-
wide financial statements and represent a reconciling item between the government-wide and
fund financial statements. In the fund financial statements, property taxes are recognized as
revenues in the fiscal year they are levied and collected or if they are collected within 60 days
subsequent to fiscal year-end. Property taxes not collected within 60 days subsequent to fiscal
year-end or collected in advance of the fiscal year for which they are levied are reported as
unavailable revenues.

Special Assessments are recognized as revenue only to the extent that the individual installments
are considered current assets. Annual installments not currently receivable are reflected as
deferred inflow of resources.

The following table summarizes the Town’s receivables for the enterprise funds as of June 30,
2018.

Receivables: Water Fund Sewer Fund
Sanitation

Fund Total 
Interest $ 1,063 $ 1,579 $ 203 $ 2,845
Accounts 384,813 471,893 61,655 918,361

385,876 473,472 61,858 921,206
Less: Allowance (23,118) (15,286) (6,653) (45,057)

$ 362,758 $ 458,186 $ 55,205 $ 876,149

50



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS

Capital asset activity for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2018, was as follows.

Governmental activities:
July 1, 2017,

as restated Increases Decreases June 30, 2018
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land $ 32,546,409 $ - $ - $ 32,546,409
Construction in progress 172,371 1,595,742 - 1,768,113

Total capital assets not being depreciated 32,718,780 1,595,742 - 34,314,522

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings, infrastructure, and

improvements 81,593,042 1,114,426 (156,331) 82,551,137
Vehicles, furniture, and equipment 10,433,713 203,195 (290,666) 10,346,242

Total 92,026,755 1,317,621 (446,997) 92,897,379

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings, infrastructure, and

improvements (24,893,183) (2,688,364) 134,716 (27,446,831)
Vehicles, furniture, and equipment (7,922,147) (438,851) 290,631 (8,070,367)

Total (32,815,330) (3,127,215) 425,347 (35,517,198)

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 59,211,425 (1,809,594) (21,650) 57,380,181

Governmental activities capital assets, net $ 91,930,205 $ (213,852) $ (21,650) $ 91,694,703

Business-type activities: July 1, 2017 Increases Decreases June 30, 2018
Capital assets not being depreciated:

Land $ 394,073 $ - $ - $ 394,073
Construction in progress 443,117 762,644 - 1,205,761

Total capital assets not being depreciated 837,190 762,644 - 1,599,834

Capital assets being depreciated:
Buildings, infrastructure, and

improvements 24,865,741 6,580 - 24,872,321
Vehicles, machinery, and equipment 1,758,755 107,290 (229,405) 1,636,640

Total 26,624,496 113,870 (229,405) 26,508,961

Less accumulated depreciation for:
Buildings and improvements (6,920,752) (683,117) - (7,603,869)
Vehicles, machinery, and equipment (1,182,905) (121,580) 229,405 (1,075,080)

Total (8,103,657) (804,697) 229,405 (8,678,949)

Total capital assets being depreciated, net 18,520,839 (690,827) - 17,830,012

Business-type capital assets, net $ 19,358,029 $ 71,817 $ - $ 19,429,846

51



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 4 - CAPITAL ASSETS (continued)

Depreciation expense was charged to functions as follows:

Governmental activities:
General government $ 700,683
Public safety 605,985
Highways and streets 1,680,025
Culture and recreations 140,522

Total $ 3,127,215

Business-type activities:
Water $ 381,503
Sewer 422,081
Sanitation 1,113

Total $ 804,697

NOTE 5 - NOTES PAYABLE

The Town has a note payable to a private party for the purchase of land. The note is payable in
annual installments of $69,748 including interest at 6%. The note is secured by a deed of trust,
assignments of rents, security agreement and fixture. The balance was $236,715 at June 30,
2018.

The Town signed a promissory note from Water Infrastructure Finance Authority (WIFA) to be
used for construction of a new sewer plant in the amount of $7,500,000. As of June 30, 2018, the
Town has an outstanding balance of $2,592,834. Payments are due semi- annually including
interest at 3.339%.

The Town signed a promissory note from the Water Infrastructure Finance Authority (WIFA) to
be used for construction of sewer plant improvements in the amount of $1,300,000. As of June
30, 2018, the Town has an outstanding balance of $863,577. Payments are due semi- annually
including interest at 3.750%.

The annual debt service requirements to maturity as of June 30, 2018, are as follows:

Governmental Activities Business-type Activities
Year ending June 30: Principal Interest Principal Interest

2019 $ 55,545 $ 14,203 $ 500,983 $ 66,818
2020 58,877 10,870 517,368 56,865
2021 62,410 7,338 534,291 46,589
2022 59,883 3,593 551,769 35,980
2023 - - 814,067 22,781

Thereafter - - 537,933 54,039
Total $ 236,715 $ 36,004 $ 3,456,411 $ 283,072

52



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 6 - BONDS PAYABLE

Bonds payable from the Town at June 30, 2018, consisted of the outstanding special assessment
and excise tax revenue obligation bonds presented below.

The bonds issued in 1994 to acquire Arizona Sierra Utility have an outstanding principal of
$81,000. The bonds are secured and payable from special assessments levied against the real
property benefited by said improvements. If the assessments are not paid, the properties subject
to such assessments are sold at auction. If there is no purchaser for any property offered for
sale, the Town will get ownership of the property subject to any tax liens and will be liable for
the remaining debt. The Town Council is required to appropriate from the General Fund of the
Town the amount of the total unpaid assessments or the amount of each semiannual assessment
until the total debt is paid.

In December 2015 the Town issued $4,740,000 of pledged excise tax revenue obligation series
2015 bonds at a stated interest rate of 2.22% to finance transportation capital projects within
the Town. The bonds are secured and payable from pledged excise tax revenues. The bonds
mature in July 2027.

Bonds payable from Community Facilities Districts (CFDs), special purpose districts created
specifically to acquire or construct public infrastructure within specified areas of the Town, are
authorized under state law to issue General Obligation (GO) and Special Assessment bonds to be
repaid by property taxes levied on property within the districts. CFDs are created by petition of
the Town Council by property owners within the area to be covered by the district and debt may
be issued only after approval of the voters within the district.

General obligation bonds:
In November 2010 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment issued
$3,560,000 of Series 2010 GO bonds to finance capital improvements within the District.
Interest rate is 5.86%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 15 and January 15.
Principal payments are due annually on July 15 with final maturities on July 15, 2035.

In December 2013 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 issued $1,850,000 of
GO Series 2013 bonds at a premium to pay costs of acquiring certain public infrastructure
within the boundaries of the District. Interest rates are 1.50% to 6.75%; semi-annual interest
payments are due on July 15 and January 15. Principal payments are due annually on July 15
with final maturities on July 15, 2038.

In June 2016 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 issued $2,000,000 of GO
Series 2016 bonds at a premium to pay costs of acquiring certain public infrastructure within
the boundaries of the District. Interest rates are 2.0% to 5.25%; semi-annual interest payments
are due on July 15 and January 15. Principal payments are due annually on July 15 with final
maturities on July 15, 2040.

In February 2017 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 issued $3,245,000 of
GO Series 2017 refunding bonds to advance refund a portion of outstanding GO 2008 Series A
bonds. The net proceeds of $3,245,000 together with a debt service contribution of $300,000
were deposited in an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to provide funds for the future debt
service payments on the refunded bonds in three payments ending July 15, 2018. As a result, a

53



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 6 - BONDS PAYABLE - Continued

portion of those GO 2008 Series A bonds are considered defeased and the liability for those
bonds has been removed from the statement of net position. Interest rate is 2.97%; semi-annual
interest payments are due on July 15 and January 15. Principal payments are due annually on
July 15 with final maturities on July 15, 2029.

In November 2017 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 issued $1,440,000 of
GO Series 2017 bonds to pay costs of acquiring certain public infrastructure within the
boundaries of the District. Interest rates are 2.0% to 5.0%; semi-annual interest payments are
due on July 15 and January 15. Principal payments are due annually on July 15 with final
maturities on July 15, 2042.

Special assessments bonds:
In June 2006 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area one issued
$2,464,000 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.  Interest rates are 4.3% to
5.3%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are
due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2030.

In June 2006 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment area one issued
$2,555,000 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.  Interest rates are 4.3% to
5.3%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are
due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2030.

In September 2009 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area two
issued $353,500 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the
district. Interest rate is 9.0%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1.
Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2034.

In September 2009 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment areas
two and three issued $829,500 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements
within the district. Interest rates is 9.0%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and
January 1. Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2034.

In February 2010 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment area four
issued $203,000 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the
district. Interest rates is 7.5%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1.
Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2035.

In October 2010 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area three
issued $290,500 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the
district. Interest rates is 7.75%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1.
Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2035.

In July 2012 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area five issued
$189,000 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
Interest rates is 6.88%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1.
Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2037.

In July 2016 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area eight

54



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 6 - BONDS PAYABLE - Continued

issued $987,000 of special assessment bonds to pay costs of acquiring certain public
infrastructure within the boundaries of the District. Interest rates is 5.75%; semi-annual interest
payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with
final maturities on July 1, 2040.

In January 2018 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment area seven
issued $262,500 of special assessment bonds to pay costs of acquiring certain public
infrastructure within the boundaries of the District. Interest rates is 6%; semi-annual interest
payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with
final maturities on July 1, 2042.

In April 2018 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area nine
issued $1,477,000 of special assessment bonds to pay costs of acquiring certain public
infrastructure within the boundaries of the District. Interest rates is 6%; semi-annual interest
payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with
final maturities on July 1, 2042.

Special assessments lien bonds:
In January 2012, the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area four
issued $318,500 of special assessment lien bonds to finance capital improvements within the
district. These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.   Interest rate is
7.5%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are
due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2036.

In July 2013, the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area six issued
$413,000 of special assessment lien bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.   Interest rate is 7.25%;
semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due
annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2038.

In October 2014, the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area seven
issued $728,000 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the
district. These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.   Interest rate is
6.875%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are
due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2039.

In May 2013, the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment area one
issued $556,500 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the
district. These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.   Interest rate is
6.750%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are
due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2038.

In July 2016, the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment area six issued
$241,500 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.   Interest rate is 6.0%;
semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due
annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2040.

55



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 6 - BONDS PAYABLE - Continued

Bonds payable at year end consisted of the following outstanding bonds. The bonds are both
callable and noncallable with interest payable semiannually.

A summary of long-term bond debt payable at June 30, 2018, follows:

Description

Original
Amount
Issued

Interest
Rate Maturity

Outstanding
Principal -

End of Year
Due Within
One Year

Revenue bonds:
Utility Improvement District #1 Revenue Bonds

1994 $ 1,525,000 8.45% 01/01/2019 $ 81,000 $ 81,000
Town of Florence Pledge Excise Tax Revenue

Obligation, Series 2015 4,740,000 2.22% 07/01/2027 4,355,000 394,000

General obligation bonds:
CFD No.1 General Obligation Bonds 2008A 4,390,000 6.00-7.40% 07/15/2033 395,000 125,000
CFD No.1 General Obligation Bonds 2010 3,560,000 5.86% 07/15/2035 2,645,000 90,000
CFD No.2 General Obligation Bonds 2013 1,850,000 1.50-6.75% 07/15/2038 1,705,000 25,000
CFD No.2 General Obligation Bonds 2016 2,000,000 2.00-5.25% 07/15/2040 1,860,000 35,000
CFD No.1 General Obligation Bonds 2017 3,245,000 2.97% 07/15/2029 3,180,000 340,000
CFD No.1 General Obligation Bonds 2018 1,440,000 2.00-5.00% 07/15/2042 1,440,000 690,000

Special assessment bonds:
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2006 2,464,000 4.30-5.30% 07/01/2030 1,053,000 58,000
CFD No.2 Special Assessment Bonds 2006 2,555,000 4.30-5.30% 07/01/2030 1,177,000 66,000
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2009 353,500 9.00% 07/01/2034 248,150 6,420
CFD No.2 Special Assessment Bonds 2009 829,500 9.00% 07/01/2034 581,120 15,750
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2010 290,500 7.5% 07/01/2035 245,730 7,200
CFD No.2 Special Assessment Bonds 2010 203,000 7.75% 07/01/2035 157,170 3,900
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2012 189,000 6.88% 07/01/2037 161,000 4,000
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2016 987,000 5.75% 07/01/2040 967,000 21,000
CFD No.2 Special Assessment Bonds 2018 262,500 6% 07/01/2042 262,500 -
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2018 1,477,000 6% 07/01/2042 1,477,000 -

Special assessment lien bonds:
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Lien Bonds 2012 318,500 7.5% 07/01/2036 195,191 7,290
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Lien Bonds 2013 413,000 7.25% 07/01/2038 340,588 8,460
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Lien  Bonds 2014 728,000 6.875% 07/01/2039 558,053 14,540
CFD No.2  Special Assessment Lien Bonds 2013 556,500 6.75% 07/01/2038 415,392 12,040
CFD No.2  Special Assessment Lien Bonds 2016 241,500 6% 07/01/2040 209,672 5,040

Total $ 34,618,500 $ 23,709,566 $ 2,009,640

56



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 6 - BONDS PAYABLE - Continued

The annual debt service requirements to maturity on governmental bonds payable at June 30,
2018, are summarized as follows:

Governmental Activities
Year ending June 30: Principal Interest

2019 $ 2,009,640 $ 1,039,071
2020 1,050,857 1,092,949
2021 1,121,624 1,032,084
2022 1,160,446 986,104
2023 1,208,885 940,909

Thereafter 17,158,114 8,236,114
Total $ 23,709,566 $ 13,327,231

NOTE 7 - CHANGES IN LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

The following schedule details the Town’s long-term liability and obligation activity for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2018:

Balance at
July 1, 2017,

restated Additions Reductions
Balance at

June 30, 2018
Due Within
One Year

Governmental activities:
Bonds payable $ 21,635,113 $ 3,179,500 $ (1,105,047) $ 23,709,566 $ 2,009,640
Notes payable 289,116 - (52,401) 236,715 55,545
Compensated absences 478,010 413,657 (440,409) 451,258 383,569
Net pension liability 9,307,632 - (994,771) 8,312,861 -
Premiums 180,502 98,437 (11,537) 267,402 -

Governmental activities
long-term liabilities $ 31,890,373 $ 3,691,594 $ (2,604,165) $ 32,977,802 $ 2,448,754

Balance at
July 1, 2017 Additions Reductions

Balance at
June 30, 2018

Due Within
One Year

Business-type activities
Notes payable $ 3,941,530 $ - $ (485,119) $ 3,456,411 $ 500,983
Compensated absences 35,249 29,855 (25,761) 39,343 33,440
Net pension liability 1,346,848 - (15,061) 1,331,787 -

Business-type activities
long-term liabilities $ 5,323,627 $ 29,855 $ (525,941) $ 4,827,541 $ 534,423

57



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 8 - INTERFUND RECEIVABLES, PAYABLES, AND TRANSFERS

At June 30, 2018, all interfund balances consisted of short term loans made to cover operating
cash deficits by the General Fund. At June 30, 2018, interfund receivables/payables consisted of
the following:

Fund
Receivable
Amounts

Payable
Amounts

General Fund $ 169,917 $ 843,495
Highway User 671,738 -
CFD Debt Service 54,652 183,100
CFD Capital Improvements 61,469 -
Impact Fees 5,020 -
Non-Major Governmental Funds 69,941 122,456
Water 63,614 -
Sewer 2,008 -
Sanitation 50,692 -

Total $ 1,149,051 $ 1,149,051

At June 30, 2018, there were the following interfund transfers:

Fund
Transfers

 In
Transfers

out
General Fund $ 1,327,283 $ 737,707
Highway User 9,900 261,996
CFD Debt Service 172,610 -
CFD Capital Improvements 58,678 147,396
Capital Improvements 680,350 69,748
Non-Major Governmental Funds 102,605 126,891
Water 737,789 466,611
Sewer - 1,226,522
Sanitation - 52,344

Total $ 3,089,215 $ 3,089,215

All transfers made during the year were to cover operations or debt service as approved during
budget development, or were necessary for grant matching purposes. 

58



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 9 - RISK MANAGEMENT

The Town is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; theft of, damage to and destruction
of assets; errors and omissions; and natural disasters. The Town’s insurance protection is
provided by the Arizona Municipal Risk Retention Pool, of which the Town is a participating
member.

The Arizona Municipal Risk Retention Pool is structured such that member premiums are based
on an actuarial review that will provide adequate reserves to allow the pool to meet its expected
financial obligations. The pool has authority to assess its members additional premiums should
reserve and annual premiums be insufficient to meet the pool’s obligations. The Town has no
known claims in excess of $250,000 for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018.

The maximum liability for the Town for the fiscal year is $500,000 and the deductible is
$250,000 per occurrence. The Town is insured by the Workers’ Compensation Insurance Fund
for potential worker-related accidents.

NOTE 10 - CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Federal and State grants and loans – The Town has received a number of grants and loans from
both the Federal and State governments. Although the programs have been audited, not all audits
have been approved as of June 30, 2018; however, the Town expects no material disallowances
of expenditures.

NOTE 11 - PENSIONS AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS

The Town contributes to the pension plans described below. The plans are component units of
the State of Arizona.

At June 30, 2018, the Town reported the following aggregate amounts related to pensions for all
plans to which it contributes:

Statement of Net Position and Statement of
Activities

Governmental
Activities

Business-type
Activities Total

Net pension liabilities $ 8,312,861 $ 1,331,787 $ 9,644,648
Deferred outflows of resources 2,993,518 174,587 3,168,105
Deferred inflows of resources (1,713,956) (172,641) (1,886,597)
Pension expense 831,439 110,076 941,515

The Town did not disclose the OPEB plan separately because of its insignificance to the City's
financial statements. The Town’s accrued payroll and employee benefits includes $76,747 of
outstanding pension and OPEB contribution amounts payable to all plans for the year ended
June 30, 2018.

The Town reported $1,127,637 of pension and OPEB contributions as expenditures in the
governmental funds related to all pension plans to which it contributes.

59



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 11 - PENSIONS AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - Continued

A. Arizona State Retirement System

Plan Description - The Town's employees that are not covered by the other pension plans
described after this section participate in the Arizona State Retirement System (ASRS). The
ASRS administers a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan, a cost-
sharing multiple-employer defined benefit health insurance premium benefit (OPEB) plan, and a
cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit long-term disability (OPEB) plan. The Arizona
State Retirement System Board governs the ASRS according to the provisions of A.R.S. Title
38, Chapter 5, Articles 2 and 2.1. The ASRS issues a publicly available financial report that
includes its financial statements and required supplementary information. The report is available
on the ASRS website at www.azasrs.gov. 

Benefits Provided - The ASRS provides retirement, health insurance premium supplement, long-
term disability, and survivor benefits. State statute establishes benefit terms. Retirement benefits
are calculated on the basis of age, average monthly compensation, and service credit as follows:

ASRS Retirement 
Initial membership date: 

Before July 1, 2011 On or after July 1, 2011
Years of service Sum of years and age equals 80 30 years, age 55

and age required 10 years, age 62 25 years, age 60
to receive benefit   5 years, age 50* 10 years, age 62

any years, age 65   5 years, age 50*
any years, age 65

Final average salary is
based on 

Highest 36 consecutive months
of last 120 months

Highest 60 consecutive
months

of last 120 months

Benefit percent per year
of service 2.1% to 2.3% 2.1% to 2.3%

*With actuarially reduced benefits.

Retirement benefits for members who joined the ASRS prior to September 13, 2013, are subject
to automatic cost-of-living adjustments based on excess investment earnings. Members with a
membership date on or after September 13, 2013, are not eligible for cost-of-living adjustments.
Survivor benefits are payable upon a member’s death. For retired members, the retirement
benefit option chosen determines the survivor benefit. For all other members, the beneficiary is
entitled to the member’s account balance that includes the member’s contributions and
employer’s contributions, plus interest earned.

Health insurance premium benefits are available to retired or disabled members with 5 years of
credited services. The benefits are payable only with respect to allowable health insurance
premiums for which the member is responsible. For members with 10 or more years of service,

60



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 11 - PENSIONS AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - Continued

benefits range from $150 per month to $260 per month depending on the age of the member and
dependents. For members with 5 to 9 years of service, the benefits are the same dollar amounts
as above, multiplied by a vesting fraction based on completed years of service.

Active members are eligible for a monthly long-term disability benefit equal to two-thirds of
monthly earnings. Members receiving benefits continue to earn service credit up to their normal
retirement dates. Members with long-term disability commencement dates after June 30, 1999,
are limited to 30 years of service or the service on record as of the effective disability date if
their service is greater than 30 years.

Contributions - In accordance with state statutes, annual actuarial valuations determine active
member and employer contribution requirements. The combined active member and employer
contribution rates are expected to finance the costs of benefits employees earn during the year,
with an additional amount to finance any unfunded accrued liability. For the year ended, June
30, 2018, statutes required active ASRS members to contribute at the actuarially determined rate
of 11.5 percent (11.34 percent for retirement and 0.16 percent for long-term disability) of the
members’ annual covered payroll and statutes required the Town to contribute at the actuarially
determined rate of 11.5 percent (10.9 percent for retirement, 0.44 percent for health insurance
premium benefit, and 0.16 percent for long-term disability) of the active members’ annual
covered payroll. The Town’s contributions to the pension, health insurance premium benefit,
and long-term disability plans for the year ended June 30, 2018 were $596,551, $29,459, and
$8,417, respectively.

During fiscal year 2018, the Town paid for ASRS pension and OPEB contributions as follows:
69 percent from the General Fund, 15 percent from Highway User Fund, 8 percent from the
Water Fund, 7 percent from Sewer Fund, and 1 percent from the Sanitation Fund.

Liability - At June 30, 2018, the Town reported a liability of  for its proportionate share of the
ASRS' net pension/OPEB liability. The net asset and liabilities were measured as of June 30,
2017. The total liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined using update
procedures to roll forward the total liability from an actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2016, to
the measurement date of June 30, 2017. The total pension liability as of June 30, 2017 reflects a
change in the actuarial assumption for a decrease in loads for future potential permanent benefit
increases. 

The Town's proportion of the net asset or net liability was based on the Town's actual
contributions to the plan relative to the total of all participating employers’ contributions for the
year ended June 30, 2017. The Town's proportion measured as of June 30, 2017 was 0.05
percent, which was the same proportion as in the prior year.

The net asset and net liabilities measured as of June 30, 2018, will reflect changes of actuarial
assumptions based on the results of an actuarial experience study for the 5-year period ended
June 30, 2016. The change in the Town's net asset and net liabilities as a result of these changes
is not known.

61



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 11 - PENSIONS AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - Continued

Expense and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources - For the year ended June 30, 2018, the
Town recognized pension and OPEB expense for ASRS of $190,479 and reported deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB from the
following sources:

ASRS Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows of
Resources

Differences between expected and actual experience $ - $ 246,497
Changes of assumptions or other inputs 357,037 245,809
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on

pension plan investments 59,018 35,399
Changes in proportion and differences between Town

contributions and proportionate share of contributions 25,896 536,664
Town contributions subsequent to the measurement date 634,427
Total $ 1,076,378 $ 1,064,369

The amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources related to ASRS pensions and OPEB
resulting from contributions subsequent to the measurement date, as reported in the table above,
will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension liability in the year ended June 30, 2019.
Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources
related to ASRS pension and OPEB will be recognized as expenses as follows:

Year ending June 30, Pension/OPEB
2019 $ (621,846)
2020 138,696
2021 58,690
2022 (197,958)

Actuarial Assumptions - The significant actuarial assumptions used to measure the total ASRS
pension/OPEB liability are as follows:

ASRS
Actuarial valuation date June 30, 2016
Actuarial roll forward date June 30, 2017
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal
Investment rate of return 8%
Projected salary increases 3–6.75% for pensions/not

applicable for OPEB
Inflation 3%
Permanent benefit increase Included for pensions/not

applicable for OPEB
Mortality rates 1994 GAM Scale BB
Healthcare cost trend rate Not applicable

62



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 11 - PENSIONS AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - Continued

The actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2016 valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the five-year period ended June 30, 2012.

The long-term expected rate of return on ASRS plan investments was determined to be 8.7
percent using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real
rates of return (expected returns, net of plan investment expense and inflation) are developed for
each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of
return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset allocation
percentage and by adding expected inflation.

The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic real rates of return for each major asset
class of ASRS are summarized in the following table:

ASRS

Asset Class
Target 

Allocation

Long-Term
Arithmetic Real
Rate of Return

Equity 58% 6.73%
Fixed income 25% 3.70%
Real estate 10% 4.25%
Multi asset 5% 3.41%
Commodities 2% 3.84%
Total 100%

Discount Rate - The discount rate used to measure the ASRS total pension/OPEB liability was
8.0 percent, which is less than the long-term expected rate of return of 8.7 percent. The
projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that contributions from
participating employers will be made based on the actuarially determined rates based on the
ASRS Board’s funding policy, which establishes the contractually required rate under Arizona
statute. Based on those assumptions, the plans' fiduciary net position was projected to be
available to make all projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the
long-term expected rate of return on plan investments was applied to all periods of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension/OPEB liability.

Sensitivity of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension/OPEB (Asset) Liability to Changes in
the Discount Rate - The following presents Town of Florence, Arizona’s proportionate share of
the net pension/OPEB (asset) liability calculated using the discount rate of 8.0 percent, as well
as what the proportionate share of the net pension/OPEB (asset) liability would be if it were
calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (7 percent) or 1-percentage-
point higher (9 percent) than the current rate:

ASRS
1% Decrease (7%)

Current Discount
Rate (8%) 1% Increase (9%)

Town's proportionate share of the
net pension/OPEB liability $ 10,622,073 $ 8,210,775 $ 6,194,789

63



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 11 - PENSIONS AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - Continued

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about the plans’ fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued ASRS financial report. 

B. Public Safety Personnel Retirement System

Plan Descriptions - Town police department employees who are regularly assigned hazardous
duty participate in the Public Safety Personnel Retirement System (PSPRS). The PSPRS
administers agent and cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension plan and agent
and cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit health insurance premium benefit (OPEB)
plans. A nine-member board known as the Board of Trustees and the participating local boards
govern the PSPRS according to the provisions of A.R.S. Title 38, Chapter 5, and Article 4.

The PSPRS issues publicly available financial reports that include financial statements and
required supplementary information for the PSPRS plans. The report is available on the PSPRS
website at www.psprs.com.

Benefits Provided - The PSPRS provides retirement, health insurance premium supplement,
disability, and survivor benefits. State statute establishes benefits terms. Retirement, disability,
and survivor benefits are calculated on the basis of age, average monthly compensation, and
service credit as follows:
PSPRS Initial membership date:

Before January 1, 2012
On or after January 1, 2012 and

before July 1, 2017
Retirement and Disability:

Years of service and age required to
receive benefit

20 years of service, any age
15 years of service, age 62

25 years of service or 15 years of
credited service, age 52.5

Final average salary is based on Highest 36 consecutive months of
last 20 years

Highest 60 consecutive months of
last 20 years

Benefit percent
Normal Retirement 50% less 2.0% for each year of

credited service less than 20 years
OR plus 2.0% to 2.5% for each year

of credited service over 20 years,
not to exceed 80%

1.5% to 2.5% per year of credited
service, not to exceed 80%

Accidental Disability Retirement 50% or normal retirement, whichever is greater

Catastrophic Disability Retirement 90% for the first 60 months then reduced to either 62.5%
or normal retirement, whichever is greater

Ordinary Disability Retirement Normal retirement calculated with actual years of credited service or 20
years of credited service, whichever is greater, multiplied by years of

credited service (not to exceed 20 years) divided by 20
Survivor Benefit:

Retired Members 80% to 100% of retired member’s pension benefit

Active Members 80% to 100% of accidental disability retirement benefit or 100% of
average monthly compensation if death was the result of injuries received

on the job

64



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 11 - PENSIONS AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - Continued

Retirement and survivor benefits are subject to automatic cost-of-living adjustments. The
adjustments are based on inflation for PSPRS. In addition, the Legislature may enact permanent
one-time benefit increases after a Joint Legislative Budget Committee analysis of the increase's
effect on the plan. PSPRS also provides temporary disability benefits of 50 percent of the
member's compensation for up to 12 months

Health insurance premium benefits are available to retired or disabled members with 5 years of
credited service. The benefits are payable only with respect to allowable health insurance
premiums for which the member is responsible. Benefits range from $150 per month to $260 per
month depending on the age of the member and dependents.

Employees Covered by Benefit Terms - At June 30, 2018, the following employees were covered
by the agent plans’ benefit terms:

PSPRS -
Police

PSPRS -
Fire

Inactive employees or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 7 1
Inactive employees entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 6 2
Active employees 27 26
Total 40 29

Contributions and Annual OPEB Cost - State statutes establish the pension contribution
requirements for active PSPRS employees. In accordance with state statutes, annual actuarial
valuations determine employer contribution requirements for PSPRS and health insurance
premium benefits. The combined active member and employer contribution rates are expected to
finance the costs of benefits employees earn during the year, with an additional amount to
finance any unfunded accrued liability. Contributions rates for the year ended June 30, 2018, are
indicated below. Rates are a percentage of active members’ annual covered payroll.

PSPRS -
Police

PSPRS -
Fire

Active members – pension:
PSPRS members with an initial date on or before July 19, 2011 7.65% 7.65%

Town of Florence
Pension 19.70% 15.47%
Health insurance premium benefit 0.22% 0.41%

For the agent plan, the contributions to the pension plan for the year ended June 30, 2018 were:

PSPRS-
Police

PSPRS-
Fire

Contributions made $ 301,945 $ 294,169

During the fiscal year 2018, the Town paid for PSPRS and OPEB contributions from the General
Fund.

65



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 11 - PENSIONS AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - Continued

Liability - At June 30, 2018, Town of Florence, Arizona reported the following net pension
liabilities:

Net pension
liability

PSPRS - Police $ 936,931
PSPRS - Fire 496,942

The net liabilities were measured as of June 30, 2017, and the total liability used to calculate the
net liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date.

The net liabilities were measured as of June 30, 2017, and the total liability used to calculate the
net liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of that date. The total liabilities as of
June 30, 2017, reflect changes of actuarial assumptions based on the results of an actuarial
experience study for the 5-year period ended June 30, 2016, including decreasing the investment
rate of return from 7.5 percent to 7.4 percent, decreasing the wage inflation from 4 percent to 3.5
percent, and updating mortality, withdrawal, disability, and retirement assumptions. The total
pension liabilities for PSPRS also reflect changes of benefit terms for legislation that changed
benefit eligibility and multipliers for employees who became members on or after January 1,
2012, and before July 1, 2017, and a court decision that decreased the contribution rates for
employees who became members before July 20, 2011.

Actuarial Assumptions - The significant actuarial assumptions used to measure the total
pension/OPEB liability are as follows:
PSPRS
Actuarial valuation date June 30, 2017
Actuarial cost method Entry age normal
Investment rate of return 7.4%
Wage inflation 3.5% for pensions/not applicable for OPEB
Price inflation 2.5% for pensions/not applicable for OPEB
Permanent benefit increase Included for pensions/not applicable for OPEB
Mortality rates RP-2014 tables using MP-2016 improvement scale with

adjustments to match current experience.
Healthcare cost trend rate Not applicable

Actuarial assumptions used in the June 30, 2017, valuation were based on the results of an
actuarial experience study for the five-year period ended June 30, 2016.

66



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 11 - PENSIONS AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - Continued

The long-term expected rate of return on PSPRS pension plan investments was determined to be
7.4 percent using a building-block method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future real
rates of return (expected returns, net of plan investment expenses and inflation) are developed
for each major asset class. The target allocation and best estimates of geometric real rates of
return for each major asset class are summarized in the following table:

PSPRS and CORP
Asset Class

Target
Allocation

Long-term expected geometric
real rate of return

Short term investments 2% 0.25%
Absolute return 2% 3.75%
Risk parity 4% 5.00%
Fixed income 5% 1.25%
Real assets 9% 4.52%
GTAA 10% 3.96%
Private credit 12% 6.75%
Real estate 10% 3.75%
Credit opportunities 16% 5.83%
Non-U.S. equity 14% 8.70%
U.S.equity 16% 7.60%

Total 100%

Discount Rates - At June 30, 2017, the discount rate used to measure the PSPRS total
pension/OPEB liabilities was 7.4 percent, which was a decrease of 0.1 from the discount rate
used as of June 30, 2016. The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rates
assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution rate and that
employer contributions will be made at rates equal to the difference between the actuarially
determined contribution rates and the member rate. Based on those assumptions, the plans’
fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit
payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on plan
investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total
pension/OPEB liability.

67



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 11 - PENSIONS AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - Continued

Changes in the Agent Plan's Net Pension/OPEB Liability:

PSPRS - Police Increase (decrease)
Total

pension/OPEB
liability 

(a)

Plan fiduciary 
net position 

(b)

Net
pension/OPEB
(asset) liability

(a) - (b)
Balances at June 30, 2017 $ 6,590,335 $ 5,383,643 $ 1,206,692
Changes for the year:

Service cost 384,568 - 384,568
Interest on the total liability 491,657 - 491,657
Changes of benefit terms 102,492 - 102,492
Differences between expected and

actual experience in the measurement
of the liability (291,736) - (291,736)

Changes of assumptions or other inputs 125,108 - 125,108
Contributions - employer - 256,748 (256,748)
Contributions - employee - 195,543 (195,543)
Net investment income - 635,515 (635,515)
Benefit payments, including refunds or

employee contributions (454,388) (454,388) -
Administrative expense - (6,023) 6,023
Other changes - 67 (67)

Net changes 357,701 627,462 (269,761)
Balances at June 30, 2018 $ 6,948,036 $ 6,011,105 $ 936,931

68



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 11 - PENSIONS AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - Continued

PSPRS - Fire Increase (decrease)
Total

pension/OPEB
liability 

(a)

Plan fiduciary 
net position 

(b)

Net
pension/OPEB
(asset) liability

(a) - (b)
Balances at June 30, 2017 $ 4,456,467 $ 4,090,509 $ 365,958
Changes for the year:

Service cost 372,082 - 372,082
Interest on the total liability 347,018 - 347,018
Changes of benefit terms 72,237 - 72,237
Differences between expected and

actual experience in the measurement
of the liability 75,199 - 75,199

Changes of assumptions or other inputs 147,470 - 147,470
Contributions - employer - 204,107 (204,107)
Contributions - employee - 184,243 (184,243)
Net investment income - 499,446 (499,446)
Benefit payments, including refunds or

employee contributions (31,219) (31,219) -
Administrative expense - (4,820) 4,820
Other changes - 46 (46)

Net changes 982,787 851,803 130,984
Balances at June 30, 2018 $ 5,439,254 $ 4,942,312 $ 496,942

Sensitivity of the Net Pension/OPEB (asset) Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate - The
following table presents the Town’s net pension/OPEB (asset) liabilities calculated using the
discount rate of 7.4 percent, as well as what the Town's net pension/OPEB (asset) liability
would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage-point lower (6.4
percent) or 1-percentage-point higher (8.4 percent) than the current rate:

1% Decrease
(6.40%)

Current Discount
Rate (7.40%)

1% Increase
(8.40%)

PSPRS - Police
Net pension/OPEB liability $ 1,983,586 $ 936,931 $ 89,191

PSPRS - Fire
Net pension/OPEB (asset) liability 1,570,389 496,942 (355,819)

Plan Fiduciary Net Position - Detailed information about the plans’ fiduciary net position is
available in the separately issued PSPRS financial report.

69



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 11 - PENSIONS AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - Continued

Expense - For the year ended June 30, 2018, the Town recognized the following pension and
OPEB expense:

Pension
expense

PSPRS - Police $ 389,776
PSPRS - Fire 361,260

Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources - At June 30, 2018, Town of Florence, Arizona
reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions
from the following sources:

PSPRS - Police Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows 

of Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience $ 11,589 $ 506,016
Changes of assumptions or other inputs 568,141 7,593
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on

pension plan investments 67,060 -
Town contributions subsequent to the measurement date 301,945 -

Total $ 948,735 $ 513,609

PSPRS - Fire Deferred
Outflows of
Resources

Deferred
Inflows 

of Resources
Differences between expected and actual experience $ 456,524 $ 302,658
Changes of assumptions or other inputs 340,104 5,961
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on

pension plan investments 52,195 -
Town contributions subsequent to the measurement date 294,169 -

Total $ 1,142,992 $ 308,619

The amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources related to pensions and OPEB resulting
from contributions subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the
net liability in the year ending June 30, 2019. Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of
resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions will be recognized in pension
and OPEB as expenses as follows:

Year ending June 30,
PSPRS -
Police

PSPRS -
Fire

2019 $ 58,721 $ 69,028
2020 101,501 95,703
2021 63,051 68,285
2022 (18,667) 12,423
2023 (29,859) 48,311

Thereafter (41,566) 246,454

70



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 11 - PENSIONS AND OTHER POSTEMPLOYMENT BENEFITS - Continued

C. Florence Volunteer Firefighter Retirement Profit Sharing Plan and Trust Fund

The Florence Volunteer Firefighter Retirement Profit Sharing Plan and Trust Fund is a profit
sharing thrift plan, which was approved by the Town Council on January 1, 1992, under Arizona
Revised Statutes Section §9-981. The authority to establish and amend benefit provisions rests
with the Town Council. In January, 2009, the council revised the pension and benefit program
for the part-time firefighters.

The assets of the plan are valued annually and the earnings or loss is distributed among the
participant's accounts in the plan. The only expenditures being made from this fund are
administration fees, benefit payments, and refunds to those firefighters who leave the service of
the Fire Department before becoming eligible for pension benefits. The cost of administering the
plan is financed from the plans assets. Retirement with full benefits can be through termination
of employment for reasons other than death, disability, or normal retirement. This plan was fully
vested as of June 30, 2018. The Town's required matching contributions for the plan were
covered by the accumulated forfeited funds for the year ended June 30, 2018. As of June 30,
2018, there were seven eligible employees participating in the plan. The plan is administered by
Securian Financial.

The plan has never had an actuarial valuation; however, benefits cannot exceed plan assets. The
fair values of mutual funds are determined from readily available market quotations. The fund
uses the accrual basis of accounting. Contributions are recognized when earned; benefits and
refunds are expensed when incurred. Separate audited financial statements of this employee
benefit plan are not available.

NOTE 12 - CONSTRUCTION AND OTHER SIGNIFICANT COMMITMENTS

Construction commitments - The Town has active construction projects as of June 30, 2018. As
discussed earlier in Note 1, part N, Budgetary Data, the encumbrances and related appropriation
lapse at the end of the year, but are re-appropriated and become part of the subsequent year’s
budget because performance under the executory contract is expected in the next fiscal year.

Encumbrances - As discussed in Note 1, part N, Budgetary Data, encumbrance accounting is
utilized to the extent necessary to assure effective budgetary control and accountability and to
facilitate effective cash planning and control.

At year end the Town did not have commitments with contractors or any amount of
encumbrances expected to be honored upon performance by the vendor in the next year.

71



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Financial Statements

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 13 - BEGINNING BALANCES RESTATED

The beginning net position of the governmental activities in the government-wide Statement of
Activities was restated by $132,065. The adjustment affected the Community Facilities District -
Debt Service fund. An increase to capital assets was made to record $2,614,062 for
infrastructure. An increase to long-term liabilities was made to record $1,851,873 for the
corresponding Special Assessment Lien Bonds that were issued for infrastructure constructed.
In addition, $827,776 was recorded as current portion of long-term debt.  

Statement of Activities Governmental
activities

Net position, June 30, 2017 $ 105,451,538
Prior period correction (132,065)
Net position, July 1, 2017, as restated $ 105,319,473

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Debt service fund

Community Facility
District - 

Debt service fund
Fund balances, June 30, 2017 $ 3,640,489
Prior period correction (827,776)
Fund balance, July 1, 2017, as restated $ 2,812,713

72



OTHER REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION





Town of Florence, Arizona
Schedule of the Proportionate Share of the Net Pension/OPEB Liability 

Cost Sharing Plan 
 June 30, 2018

ASRS Reporting Fiscal Year
(Measurement Date)

2018
(2017)

2017
(2016)

2016
(2015)

2015
(2014)

2014
through

2009
Town's proportion of the net pension/OPEB liability %0.05 %0.06 %0.06 %0.06
Town's proportionate share of the net pension/OPEB liability 

$ 8,220,537 $ 9,043,805 $ 9,160,327 $ 8,332,184
Information
not available

Town’s covered payroll $ 5,347,532 $ 5,369,134 $ 5,439,862 $ 5,072,813
Town’s proportionate share of the net pension/OPEB liability as a

percentage of its covered payroll

%153.73 %168.44 %168.39 %164.25
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total pension/OPEB

liability
%69.92 %67.06 %68.35 %69.49

See the accompanying notes to this schedule.
73



Town of Florence, Arizona
Schedule of Changes in the Pension/OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

Agent Plans
 June 30, 2018

PSPRS - Police Pension/OPEB Reporting Fiscal Year
(Measurement Date)

2018
 (2017)

2017
 (2016)

2016
 (2015)

2015
 (2014)

2014 
through 2009

Total pension/OPEB liability:
Service cost $ 376,697 $ 365,808 $ 342,618 $ 318,072 Information
Interest on the total pension/OPEB liability 479,673 439,533 400,319 316,736 not
Changes of benefit terms 97,667 325,653 - 69,287 available
Differences between expected and actual

experience in the measurement of the pension
liability (266,712) (282,127) (65,501) 23,569

Changes of assumptions or other inputs 133,724 271,137 - 506,321
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee

contributions (450,068) (207,846) (171,147) (191,863)
Net change in total pension liability 370,981 912,158 506,289 1,042,122
Total pension liability—beginning 6,432,321 5,520,163 5,013,874 3,971,752
Total pension liability—ending (a) $ 6,803,302 $ 6,432,321 $ 5,520,163 $ 5,013,874

Plan fiduciary net position:
Contributions—employer $ 253,029 $ 278,284 $ 225,441 $ 221,399
Contributions—employee 195,543 215,558 208,870 192,212
Net investment income 610,314 29,001 167,656 518,949
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee

contributions (450,068) (207,846) (171,147) (191,863)
Administrative expense (5,800) (4,574) (4,474) -
Other changes 67 (20,975) (3,606) (117,115)

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 603,085 289,448 422,740 623,582
Plan fiduciary net position—beginning 5,169,408 4,879,960 4,457,220 3,833,638
Plan fiduciary net position—ending (b) $ 5,772,493 $ 5,169,408 $ 4,879,960 $ 4,457,220

Town’s net pension/OPEB liability - ending (a) – (b) $ 1,030,809 $ 1,262,913 $ 640,203 $ 556,654
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total

pension liability %84.85 %80.37 %88.40 %88.90
Covered payroll $ 1,011,019 $ 1,011,019 $ 940,239 $ 846,389
Town’s net pension/OPEB liability as a percentage

of covered payroll %101.96 %124.91 %68.09 %65.77

See the accompanying notes to this schedule.
74



Town of Florence, Arizona
Schedule of Changes in the Pension/OPEB Liability and Related Ratios

Agent Plans
 June 30, 2018

PSPRS - Fire Pension/OPEB Reporting Fiscal Year
(Measurement Date)

2018
 (2017)

2017
 (2016)

2016
 (2015)

2015
 (2014)

2014
through 2009

Total pension/OPEB liability:
Service cost $ 365,809 $ 286,511 $ 334,719 $ 256,499 Information
Interest on the total pension/OPEB liability 336,941 282,339 217,485 164,612 not
Changes of benefit terms 70,842 452,222 - (9,051) available
Differences between expected and actual

experience in the measurement of the pension
liability 76,466 (357,287) 312,802 204,613

Changes of assumptions or other inputs 153,962 213,139 - 27,389
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee

contributions (31,219) (10,192) (19,275) -
Net change in total pension/OPEB liability 972,801 866,732 845,731 644,062
Total pension liability—beginning 4,325,248 3,458,516 2,612,785 1,968,723
Total pension liability—ending (a) $ 5,298,049 $ 4,325,248 $ 3,458,516 $ 2,612,785

Plan fiduciary net position:
Contributions—employer $ 196,677 $ 204,006 $ 182,645 $ 176,996
Contributions—employee 184,243 189,829 213,250 161,991
Net investment income 485,799 22,354 122,465 323,597
Benefit payments, including refunds of employee

contributions (31,219) (10,192) (19,275) -
Administrative expense (4,699) (3,617) (3,377) (2,627)
Other changes 46 (155,705) 230,497 179,386

Net change in plan fiduciary net position 830,847 246,675 726,205 839,343
Plan fiduciary net position—beginning 3,977,486 3,730,811 3,004,606 2,165,263
Plan fiduciary net position—ending (b) $ 4,808,333 $ 3,977,486 $ 3,730,811 $ 3,004,606

Town’s net pension/OPEB liability - ending (a) – (b) $ 489,716 $ 347,762 $ (272,295) $ (391,821)
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total

pension/OPEB liability %90.76 %91.96 %107.87 %115.00
Covered payroll $ 1,650,763 $ 1,547,035 $ 1,671,510 $ 1,770,958
Town’s net pension/OPEB liability as a percentage

of covered payroll %29.67 %22.48 %(16.29) %(22.12)

See the accompanying notes to this schedule.
75



Town of Florence, Arizona
Schedule of Pension/OPEB Contributions

All Pension Plans
 June 30, 2018

ASRS - Pension/OPEB

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

2013
through

2009
Statutorily required contribution $ 634,427 $ 576,464 $ 582,551 $ 591,857 $ 542,791
Contribution in relation to the statutorily required

contribution 634,427 576,464 582,551 591,857 542,791
Information

not 
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - available
Town’s covered payroll $ 5,516,752 $ 5,347,532 $ 5,369,134 $ 5,439,862 $ 5,072,813
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll %11.50 %10.78 %10.85 %10.88 %10.70

PSPRS - Police Pension/OPEB

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

2013
through

2009
Actuarially required contribution $ 301,945 $ 260,050 $ 280,703 $ 219,027 $ 221,399
Contribution in relation to the actuarially required

contribution 301,945 260,050 280,703 219,027 221,399
Information

not 
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - available
Town’s covered payroll $ 1,515,788 $ 1,737,141 $ 1,866,376 $ 1,846,771 $ 1,713,615
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll %19.92 %14.97 %15.04 %11.86 %12.92

PSPRS - Fire Pension/OPEB

2018 2017 2016 2015 2014

2013
through

2009
Actuarially required contribution $ 294,169 $ 187,326 $ 185,246 $ 185,997 $ 176,996
Contribution in relation to the actuarially required

contribution 294,169 187,326 185,246 185,997 176,996
Information

not 
Contribution deficiency (excess) $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - available
Town’s covered payroll $ 1,852,449 $ 1,631,760 $ 1,643,709 $ 1,761,335 $ 1,594,559
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll %15.88 %11.48 %11.27 %10.56 %11.10

See the accompanying notes to this schedule.
76



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Required Supplementary Information

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - ACTUARIALLY DETERMINED CONTRIBUTION RATES

Actuarial determined contribution rates for PSPRS are calculated as of June 30 two years prior to
the end of the fiscal year in which contributions are made. The actuarial methods and
assumptions used to establish the contribution requirement are as follows:

Actuarial cost method Entry age normal

Amortization method Level percent closed for unfunded actuarial accrued liability, open for
excess

Remaining amortization
period as of the 2015
actuarial valuation

21 years for unfunded actuarial accrued liability, 20 years for excess

Asset valuation method 7-year smoothed market value; 80%/120% market corridor

Actuarial assumptions:
Investment rate of return In the 2013 actuarial valuation, the investment rate of return was

decreased from 8.0% to 7.85%

Projected salary increases In the 2014 actuarial valuation, projected salary increases were
decreased from 4.5%–8.5% to 4.0%–8.0%. In the 2013 actuarial
valuation, projected salary increases were decreased from 5.0%–9.0%
to 4.5%–8.5%. 

Wage growth In the 2014 actuarial valuation, wage growth was decreased from 4.5%
to 4.0%. In the 2013 actuarial valuation, wage growth was decreased
from 5.0% to 4.5%.

Retirement age Experience-based table of rates that is specific to the type of eligibility
condition. Last updated for the 2012 valuation pursuant to an
experience study of the period July 1, 2006 - June 30, 2011.

Mortality RP-2000 mortality table (adjusted by 105% for both males and
females)

77



Town of Florence, Arizona
Notes to Required Supplementary Information

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 2 - FACTORS THAT AFFECT TRENDS

Arizona courts have ruled that provision of a 2011 law that changes the mechanism for funding
permanent pension benefit increases and increased employee pension contributions rates were
unconstitutional or a breach of contract because those provisions apply to individuals who were
members as of the law’s effective date. As a result, the PSPRS changed benefits terms to reflect
the prior mechanism for funding permanent benefit increases for those members and revise
actuarial assumptions to explicitly value future permanent benefit increases. PSPRS also reduced
those members’ employee contribution rates. These charges are reflected in the plans’ pension
liabilities for fiscal year 2015 (measurement date 2014) for members who were retired as of the
law’s effective date and fiscal year 2018 (measurement date 2017) for members who retired or
will retire after the law’s effective date. These changes also increased the PSPRS required
pension contributions beginning in fiscal year 2016 for members who were retired as of the law’s
effective date. These changes will increase the PSPRS required contributions beginning in fiscal
year 2019 for members who retired or will retire after law’s effective date.

NOTE 3 - OPEB DISCLOSURE

No OPEB pension plan schedules were provided separately as it was considered insignificant to
the financial statements. 

78



OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
COMBINING NON-MAJOR FUNDS FINANCIAL STATEMENTS





NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENT FUNDS

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Special Revenue Funds

 Grants Fund - accounts for revenues and expenditures of grants received by the Town from
various federal, state, and other agencies.

 Economic Development Fund - accounts for ad valorem property tax collected to pay for the
operation of the Streetlight Improvement Districts.

 Community Services Fund - accounts for fines and fee revenue collected by the municipal
court. These funds are to be spent for purposes authorized by the Arizona Supreme Court or
Arizona Revised Statutes.

 Community Facilities Districts Fund - accounts for ad valorem property tax collected to pay for
the administration costs of these special districts, which were formed for the purpose of
financing the acquisition, construction, operation, and maintenance of the public infrastructure
benefiting the community.

Debt Service Fund

 This fund accounts for the accumulation of resources and the servicing of long-term debt not
financed by proprietary funds. Revenues are transferred from the Capital Improvements Fund.

Capital Projects Funds

 Construction Tax Fund - accounts for Town sale tax collected for governmental construction
projects. Funds are transferred to the Capital Improvements Fund for specific projects and must
be used for improvements to Town recreational grounds and facilities.

 Food Tax - accounts for town sales tax collected on sales of food for home consumption. Funds
are transferred to the Capital Improvement Fund for specific projects and must be used for
improvements to Town recreational grounds and facilities.

79



TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA

Combining Balance Sheet - Nonmajor Governmental Funds

June 30, 2018

Special Revenue

Economic Community
Community

Facilities
Grants Development Services  Districts

ASSETS
Cash and investments $ 4,013 $ 428,334 $ 91,278 $ 340,896
Receivables (net of allowance for

uncollectibles) - 74 12 181
Due from other funds 2,735 - - 67,206

Total assets $ 6,748 $ 428,408 $ 91,290 $ 408,283

LIABILITIES AND FUND BALANCES
Liabilities:

Accounts payable $ 2,735 $ - $ - $ -
Accrued wages and benefits - - - 406
Due to other funds 52,967 - - 68,433

Total liabilities 55,702 - - 68,839

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES
Deferred revenues - 74 12 21

Total deferred inflows of resources - 74 12 21

Fund balances: 
Restricted:

Public safety 91,278
Debt service
Capital projects
Economic development 428,334
District operations 339,423

Unassigned (48,954) - - -
Total fund balances (48,954) 428,334 91,278 339,423
Total liabilities, deferred inflows of

resources and fund balances $ 6,748 $ 428,408 $ 91,290 $ 408,283

80



Capital Projects

Debt Construction Food
Service Tax Tax Totals

$ 67,315 $ 3,271,076 $ 652,929 $ 4,855,841

70,845 454 85 71,651
- - - 69,941

$ 138,160 $ 3,271,530 $ 653,014 $ 4,997,433

$ - $ - $ - $ 2,735
- - - 406

1,056 - - 122,456
1,056 - - 125,597

70,745 454 85 71,391
70,745 454 85 71,391

91,278
66,359 66,359

3,271,076 652,929 3,924,005
428,334
339,423

- - - (48,954)
66,359 3,271,076 652,929 4,800,445

$ 138,160 $ 3,271,530 $ 653,014 $ 4,997,433

81



TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA

Combining Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances

Nonmajor Governmental Funds

Year Ended June 30, 2018

Special Revenue

Economic Community
Community

Facilities
Grants Development Services Districts

REVENUES
Sales taxes $ - $ - $ - $ -
Property taxes - - - 121,460
Intergovernmental 189,625 - - -
Fines and forfeits - - 15,981 -
Special assessment - - - -
Investment income - 2,031 363 1,406
Miscellaneous - 51,288 - 67,206

Total revenues 189,625 53,319 16,344 190,072

EXPENDITURES
General government - - - 130,443
Public safety 219,847 - 7,303 -
Public works 18,989 - - -
Culture and recreation 8,275 - - -
Community development 8,575 84,168 - -
Principal - - - -
Interest and other charges - - - -

Total expenditures 255,686 84,168 7,303 130,443

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures (66,061) (30,849) 9,041 59,629

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 14,192 - - -
Transfers out - (67,499) - (71,392)

Total other financing sources (uses) 14,192 (67,499) - (71,392)

Net change in fund balances (51,869) (98,348) 9,041 (11,763)

Fund balances, July 1, 2017 2,915 526,682 82,237 351,186
Fund balances, June 30, 2018 $ (48,954) $ 428,334 $ 91,278 $ 339,423

82



Capital Projects

Debt Construction Food
Service Tax Tax Totals

$ - $ 123,316 $ - $ 123,316
- - - 121,460
- - - 189,625
- - - 15,981
60,921 - - 60,921

331 13,336 2,371 19,838
- - 471 118,965
61,252 136,652 2,842 650,106

- - - 130,443
- - - 227,150
- - - 18,989
- - - 8,275
- - - 92,743

125,401 - - 125,401
30,360 - - 30,360

155,761 - - 633,361

(94,509) 136,652 2,842 16,745

69,748 4,017 20,648 108,605
6,000 - - (132,891)

75,748 4,017 20,648 (24,286)

(18,761) 140,669 23,490 (7,541)

85,120 3,130,407 629,439 4,807,986
$ 66,359 $ 3,271,076 $ 652,929 $ 4,800,445

83



84



OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULES

MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS





TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Community Facilities Districts Debt Service Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts Actual

Variance with
Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Property taxes $ 1,439,397 $ 1,439,397 $ 1,315,409 $ (123,988)
Special assessment 899,954 899,954 1,242,454 342,500
Investment income 15,000 15,000 16,370 1,370

Total revenues 2,354,351 2,354,351 2,574,233 219,882

EXPENDITURES
General government - - 71,420 (71,420)
Principal 1,846,215 1,846,215 645,884 1,200,331
Interest and other charges - - 902,655 (902,655)

Total expenditures 1,846,215 1,846,215 1,619,959 (974,075)

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures 508,136 508,136 954,274 446,138

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in 72,384 72,384 172,610 100,226

Total other financing sources 72,384 72,384 172,610 100,226

Net change in fund balances 580,520 580,520 1,126,884 546,364

Fund balances, July 1, 2017, as
restated 2,812,713 2,812,713 2,812,713 -

Fund balances, June 30, 2018 $ 3,393,233 $ 3,393,233 $ 3,939,597 $ 546,364

85



TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Community Facilities Districts Capital Improvements Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts Actual

Variance with
Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Investment income $ 9,581 $ 9,581 $ 15,224 $ 5,643

Total revenues 9,581 9,581 15,224 5,643

EXPENDITURES
General government - - 386,454 (386,454)
Capital outlay 4,679,581 4,679,581 1,081,765 3,597,816

Total expenditures 4,679,581 4,679,581 1,468,219 3,211,362

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures (4,670,000) (4,670,000) (1,452,995) (3,217,005)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in - - 58,678 58,678
Transfers out - - (147,396) (147,396)
Other financing sources - bonds (4,678,500) (4,678,500) 3,262,387 7,940,887

Total other financing sources (4,678,500) (4,678,500) 3,173,669 7,852,169

Net change in fund balance (9,348,500) (9,348,500) 1,720,674 11,069,174

Fund balances, July 1, 2017 2,476,593 2,476,593 2,476,593 -
Fund balances, June 30, 2018 $ (6,871,907) $ (6,871,907) $ 4,197,267 $ 11,069,174

86



TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Impact Fees Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts Actual

Variance with
Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Charges for service $ 398,159 $ 398,159 $ 512,720 $ 114,561
Investment income 1,900 1,900 6,536 4,636

Total revenues 400,059 400,059 519,256 119,197

EXPENDITURES
Community development 603,750 603,750 36,185 567,565

Total expenditures 603,750 603,750 36,185 567,565

Net change in fund balance (203,691) (203,691) 483,071 686,762

Fund balances, July 1, 2017 1,363,760 1,363,760 1,363,760 -
Fund balances, June 30, 2018 $ 1,160,069 $ 1,160,069 $ 1,846,831 $ 686,762

87



TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Capital Improvements Fund

Year Ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts Actual

Variance with
Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Sales taxes $ 1,200,000 $ 1,200,000 $ 1,522,358 $ 322,358
Investment income 26,441 26,441 20,156 (6,285)

Total revenues 1,226,441 1,226,441 1,542,514 316,073

EXPENDITURES
General government 417,278 417,278 4,586 412,692
Public safety - - 61,878 (61,878)
Culture and recreation - - 5,277 (5,277)
Community development 20,000 20,000 69,750 (49,750)

Total expenditures 437,278 437,278 141,491 295,787

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures 789,163 789,163 1,401,023 611,860

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in 609,150 609,150 680,350 71,200
Transfers out (115,078) (115,078) (69,748) 45,330

Total other financing sources 494,072 494,072 610,602 116,530

Net change in fund balance 1,283,235 1,283,235 2,011,625 728,390

Fund balances, July 1, 2017 4,687,729 4,687,729 4,687,729 -
Fund balances, June 30, 2018 $ 5,970,964 $ 5,970,964 $ 6,699,354 $ 728,390

88



OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
BUDGETARY COMPARISON SCHEDULES

NON-MAJOR GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS





TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Grants

Year Ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts Actual

Variance with
Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental $ 2,500,000 $ 2,500,000 $ 189,625 $ (2,310,375)

Total revenues 2,500,000 2,500,000 189,625 (2,310,375)

EXPENDITURES
Public safety 2,500,000 2,500,000 219,847 2,280,153
Public works - - 18,989 (18,989)
Culture and recreation - - 8,275 (8,275)
Community development - - 8,575 (8,575)

Total expenditures 2,500,000 2,500,000 255,686 2,244,314

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures - - (66,061) (66,061)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in - - 14,192 14,192

Total other financing sources - - 14,192 14,192

Net change in fund balance - - (51,869) (51,869)

Fund balances, July 1, 2017 2,915 2,915 2,915 -
Fund balances, June 30, 2018 $ 2,915 $ 2,915 $ (48,954) $ (51,869)

89



TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Economic Development

Year Ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts Actual

Variance with
Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Investment income $ 7,349 $ 7,349 $ 2,031 $ (5,318)
Miscellaneous - - 51,288 51,288

Total revenues 7,349 7,349 53,319 45,970

EXPENDITURES
Community development 74,800 74,800 84,168 (9,368)

Total expenditures 74,800 74,800 84,168 (9,368)

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures (67,451) (67,451) (30,849) 36,602

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers out - - (67,499) (67,499)

Total other financing sources - - (67,499) (67,499)

Net change in fund balance (67,451) (67,451) (98,348) (30,897)

Fund balances, July 1, 2017 526,682 526,682 526,682 -
Fund balances, June 30, 2018 $ 459,231 $ 459,231 $ 428,334 $ (30,897)

90



TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Community Services

Year Ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts Actual

Variance with
Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Fines and forfeits $ 12,088 $ 12,088 $ 15,981 $ 3,893
Investment income - - 363 363

Total revenues 12,088 12,088 16,344 4,256

EXPENDITURES
Public safety 6,698 6,698 7,303 (605)

Total expenditures 6,698 6,698 7,303 (605)

Net change in fund balance 5,390 5,390 9,041 3,651

Fund balances, July 1, 2017 82,237 82,237 82,237 -
Fund balances, June 30, 2018 $ 87,627 $ 87,627 $ 91,278 $ 3,651

91



TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Community Facilities Districts

Year Ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts Actual

Variance with
Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Intergovernmental $ - $ - $ 121,460 $ 121,460
Investment income 1,900 1,900 1,406 (494)
Miscellaneous 6,000 6,000 67,206 61,206

Total revenues 7,900 7,900 190,072 182,172

EXPENDITURES
General government 106,922 106,922 130,443 (23,521)

Total expenditures 106,922 106,922 130,443 (23,521)

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures (99,022) (99,022) 59,629 158,651

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in 72,384 72,384 - (72,384)
Transfers out - - (71,392) (71,392)

Total other financing sources 72,384 72,384 (71,392) (143,776)

Net change in fund balance (26,638) (26,638) (11,763) 14,875

Fund balances, July 1, 2017 351,186 351,186 351,186 -
Fund balances, June 30, 2018 $ 324,548 $ 324,548 $ 339,423 $ 14,875

92



TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Debt Services

Year Ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts Actual

Variance with
Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Special assessment $ 50,286 $ 50,286 $ 60,921 $ 10,635
Investment income - - 331 331

Total revenues 50,286 50,286 61,252 10,966

EXPENDITURES
Principal 163,261 163,261 125,401 37,860
Interest and other charges - - 30,360 (30,360)

Total expenditures 163,261 163,261 155,761 7,500

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures (112,975) (112,975) (94,509) 18,466

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in 69,748 69,748 69,748 -
Transfers out - - 6,000 6,000

Total other financing sources 69,748 69,748 75,748 6,000

Net change in fund balance (43,227) (43,227) (18,761) 24,466

Fund balances, July 1, 2017 85,120 85,120 85,120 -
Fund balances, June 30, 2018 $ 41,893 $ 41,893 $ 66,359 $ 24,466

93



TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Construction Tax

Year Ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts Actual

Variance with
Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Sales taxes $ 130,000 $ 130,000 $ 123,316 $ (6,684)
Investment income 30,253 30,253 13,336 (16,917)
Miscellaneous 5,204 5,204 - (5,204)

Total revenues 165,457 165,457 136,652 (28,805)

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures 165,457 165,457 136,652 (28,805)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in - - 4,017 4,017

Total other financing sources - - 4,017 4,017

Net change in fund balance 165,457 165,457 140,669 (24,788)

Fund balances, July 1, 2017 3,130,407 3,130,407 3,130,407 -
Fund balances, June 30, 2018 $ 3,295,864 $ 3,295,864 $ 3,271,076 $ (24,788)

94



TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA

Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual

Food Tax

Year Ended June 30, 2018

Budgeted Amounts Actual

Variance with
Final Budget -

Positive
Original Final Amounts (Negative)

REVENUES
Investment income $ 1,700 $ 1,700 $ 2,371 $ 671
Miscellaneous - - 471 471

Total revenues 1,700 1,700 2,842 1,142

Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
(under) expenditures 1,700 1,700 2,842 1,142

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
Transfers in - - 20,648 20,648

Total other financing sources - - 20,648 20,648

Net change in fund balance 1,700 1,700 23,490 21,790

Fund balances, July 1, 2017 629,439 629,439 629,439 -
Fund balances, June 30, 2018 $ 631,139 $ 631,139 $ 652,929 $ 21,790

95



96



STATISTICAL SECTION

This part of the Town of Florence's Comprehensive Annual Financial Report give detailed
information to help readers better understand what the information in the financial statements,
note disclosures and required supplemental information says about the Town's overall financial
health. 

Contents Page
Financial Trends 98-109

These schedules contain trend information to help the reader understand
how the Town's financial performance and well-being have changed over
time.

Revenue Capacity 110-111
These schedules contain information to help the reader assess the Town's
most significant local revenue sources, sales tax.

Debt Capacity 112-114
These schedules present information to help the reader assess the
affordability of the Town's current levels of outstanding debt and the
Town's ability to issue additional debt in the future.   

Demographics and Economics Information 115-117
These schedules offer demographic and economic indicators to help the
reader understand the environment within the Town's financial activities
take palace and to help make comparisons over time and with other
governments.  

Operations 118-120
These schedules contain service and infrastructure data to help the reader
understand how the information in the Town's financial report relates to the
services the Town provides and the activities it performs. 

        

97



2009 2010 2011 2012

GOVERNMENTAL ACTIVITIES
Net investment in capital assets 57,868,000$    58,303,000$    54,390,000$   56,527,095$   
Restricted 22,567,000      25,772,000      33,045,000     22,880,295     
Unrestricted 18,077,000      18,248,000      14,628,000     26,882,692     

Total governmental activities net position 98,512,000      102,323,000    102,063,000   106,290,082   

BUSINESS-TYPE ACTIVITIES
Net investment in capital assets 6,007,000        6,012,000        6,053,000       6,032,112       
Restricted 1,042,000        987,000           1,047,000       2,162,035       
Unrestricted 8,392,000        10,290,000      13,206,000     15,156,389     

Total business-type activities net position 15,441,000      17,289,000      20,306,000     23,350,536     

PRIMARY GOVERNMENT
Net investment in capital assets 63,875,000      64,315,000      60,443,000     62,559,207     
Restricted 23,609,000      26,759,000      34,092,000     25,042,330     
Unrestricted 26,469,000      28,538,000      27,834,000     42,039,081     

Total primary government net position 113,953,000$  119,612,000$  122,369,000$ 129,640,618$ 

* Net position has been restated.

Net Position
(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Town of Florence, Arizona
Table 1

Government-wide

Page 98



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017* 2018

55,769,932$   61,395,040$   75,421,775$   69,337,465$   73,657,354$   72,398,506$   
23,628,884     28,844,637     26,798,037     31,503,936     29,399,230     31,839,643     
26,821,517     21,371,306     1,885,480       2,795,259       2,262,889       4,461,196       

106,220,333   111,610,983   104,105,292   103,636,660   105,319,473   108,699,345   

6,199,045       6,375,459       13,129,903     15,097,040     15,416,500     15,973,435     
2,208,022       2,677,331       2,903,176       2,816,813       3,057,946       3,206,134       

18,071,833     19,085,727     12,394,686     13,304,470     15,355,315     16,001,790     
26,478,900     28,138,517     28,427,765     31,218,323     33,829,761     35,181,359     

61,968,977     67,770,499     88,551,678     84,434,505     89,073,854     88,371,941     
25,836,906     31,521,968     29,701,213     34,320,749     32,457,176     35,045,777     
44,893,350     40,457,033     14,280,166     16,099,729     17,618,204     20,462,986     

132,699,233$ 139,749,500$ 132,533,057$ 134,854,983$ 139,149,234$ 143,880,704$ 

Page 99



2009 2010 2011 2012

EXPENSES
Governmental activities   

General government 6,284,516$    6,683,000$    6,932,444$    3,452,054$    
Public safety 5,970,645      5,571,657      5,313,251      4,008,506      
Highways and streets 2,356,534      3,478,242      2,960,896      3,064,386      
Public works 25,893           28,195           41,693           202,167         
Culture and recreation 1,365,332      1,394,734      1,257,819      1,450,633      
Community development 731,667         623,087         630,865         2,407,647      
Interest on long-term debt 398,057         615,090         685,365         911,203         

Total governmental activities 17,132,644    18,394,005    17,822,333    15,496,596    

Business-type activities
Water 1,437,206      1,390,873      1,321,927      1,293,664      
Sewer 2,918,348      1,900,408      1,806,536      1,819,735      
Solid waste 626,381         663,473         661,964         699,249         

Total business-type activities 4,981,935      3,954,754      3,790,427      3,812,648      

Total primary government expenses 22,114,579    22,348,759    21,612,760    19,309,244    

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Town of Florence, Arizona
Table 2

Changes in Net Position
(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Government-wide

Page 100



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

4,055,352$    8,262,562$    4,818,029$    3,850,698$    4,048,228$    3,349,953$    
5,528,833      4,816,583      8,081,544      9,790,715      9,109,350      7,731,003      
3,001,939      2,728,013      3,409,782      3,961,384      4,148,226      4,038,910      

293,202         579,857         805,196         714,647         827,149         567,470         
1,684,400      1,699,128      2,813,496      2,513,486      2,358,257      2,409,680      
1,082,103      858,152         948,650         1,138,496      873,892         1,865,240      

888,193         816,839         949,903         861,319         1,333,967      1,134,030      
16,534,022    19,761,134    21,826,600    22,830,745    22,699,069    21,096,286    

1,362,620      1,618,878      1,783,823      1,418,370      1,441,641      2,350,125      
1,747,616      2,140,836      2,486,417      2,021,295      2,094,994      2,263,515      

682,078         825,239         812,811         827,655         863,346         884,367         
3,792,314      4,584,953      5,083,051      4,267,320      4,399,981      5,498,007      

20,326,336    24,346,087    26,909,651    27,098,065    27,099,050    26,594,293    

(Continued)

Page 101



2009 2010 2011 2012

PROGRAM REVENUES
Governmental activities

Charges for services:   
General government 1,177,447    942,808       947,188       733,487       
Public safety 276,078       298,993       306,789       310,166       
Highway and streets -                   -               -               -               
Public works -                   -               -               -               
Culture and recreation 12,657         10,390         9,466           7,401           
Community development 1,261,113    1,429,227    474,938       525,659       

Operating grants and contributions 3,578,527    3,182,649    3,179,055    2,579,917    
Capital grants and contributions 9,800,741    3,429,189    1,339,952    1,500,250    

 Total governmental activities 16,106,563  9,293,256    6,257,388    5,656,880    

Business-type activities
Charges for services:

Water 2,392,682    2,597,067    2,961,152    2,793,341    
Sewer 2,256,995    2,665,332    3,218,251    3,165,051    
Solid waste 799,442       916,984       979,401       1,019,021    
Water impact fees -                   11,101         -               -               
Liquid waste 6,591           13,684         27,369         -               
Solid waste 31,105         30,660         16,058         5,580           

Operating grants and contributions -                   20,000         -               -               
Capital grants and contributions -                   -               -               -               

 Total business-type activities 5,486,815    6,254,828    7,202,231    6,982,993    

Total primary government program revenues 21,593,378  15,548,084  13,459,619  12,639,873  

NET REVENUE (EXPENSE)
Governmental activities (1,026,081)   (9,100,749)   (11,564,945) (9,839,716)   
Business-type activities 504,880       2,300,074    3,411,804    3,170,345    

 Total primary government (521,201)      (6,800,675)   (8,153,141)   (6,669,371)   

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Changes in Net Position

Table 2
Government-wide

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Page 102



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

875,429       1,117,187    1,374,728    1,412,182    1,360,404    2,398,239     
331,103       216,740       175,084       173,282       215,601       241,362        

-               41                41                33                -               -                
-               -               -               -               -               1,200,201     

4,316           8,964           9,882           8,672           9,805           451,995        
798,678       507,094       427,676       619,027       558,946       60,921          

2,700,108    2,810,427    3,254,978    3,844,596    3,671,227    3,355,713     
953,145       5,403,053    1,404,328    691,397       2,764,448    512,720        

5,662,779    10,063,506  6,646,717    6,749,189    8,580,431    8,221,151     

2,691,199    2,834,647    2,738,692    2,920,345    2,956,627    2,914,294     
3,536,085    3,824,435    3,891,568    4,162,105    4,169,513    3,943,049     
1,082,281    678,596       716,166       746,862       809,521       854,067        

-               -               -               -               -               -                
-               -               -               -               -               -                
-               -               -               -               -               -                
-               -               -               -               -               -                

28,503         -               3,718           20,118         24,238         4,120            
7,338,068    7,337,678    7,350,144    7,849,430    7,959,899    7,715,530     

13,000,847  17,401,184  13,996,861  14,598,619  16,540,330  15,936,681   

(10,871,243) (9,697,628)   (15,179,883) (16,081,556) (14,118,638) (12,875,135)  
3,545,754    2,752,725    2,267,093    3,582,110    3,559,918    2,217,523     

(7,325,489)   (6,944,903)   (12,912,790) (12,499,446) (10,558,720) (10,657,612)  

(Continued)

Page 103



2009 2010 2011 2012

GENERAL REVENUES
Governmental activities
Taxes
Sales taxes 4,282,871      3,707,169      3,099,031      4,907,353      
Property taxes 1,840,508      2,096,826      1,832,156      1,863,163      
Franchise taxes 366,481         371,537         371,757         373,761         
State shared revenues 6,196,804      5,443,456      4,852,275      5,231,428      
Investment income 19,251           334,969         195,754         766,154         
Loss on Sale of Assets -                -                -                -                
Miscellaneous 163,863         254,305         272,229         179,340         
Transfers in (out) 580,388         703,556         681,590         745,275         

     Total governmental activities 13,450,166    12,911,818    11,304,792    14,066,474    

Business-type activities
Investment income (1,839)           101,815         64,367           278,145         
Loss on Sale of Assets -                -                -                -                
Miscellaneous 169,364         149,025         223,339         340,737         
Transfers in (out) (580,388)       (703,556)       (681,590)       (745,275)       
   Total business-type activities (412,863)       (452,716)       (393,884)       (126,393)       

CHANGES IN NET POSITION
Governmental activities 12,424,085    12,911,818    (260,153)       4,226,758      
Business-type activities 92,017           (452,716)       3,017,920      3,043,952      

    Total primary government 12,516,102$  12,459,102$  2,757,767$    7,270,710$    

   

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Town of Florence, Arizona
Table 2

Changes in Net Position
Government-wide

(Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Page 104



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

3,671,468      4,059,769      3,827,397      4,314,061      4,392,219      4,611,413      
1,565,087      1,716,952      1,941,594      2,015,288      2,133,736      2,446,349      

385,591         520,410         571,559         548,613         617,196         631,107         
5,811,613      6,257,959      6,701,102      6,930,903      8,276,216      7,170,486      
(259,780)       795,796         315,395         354,952         46,699           225,899         

-                -                (224,556)       -                -                -                
34,430           250,318         377,242         317,887         166,374         303,828         

445,415         1,485,165      1,049,532      1,006,670      1,050,588      1,007,688      
11,653,824    15,086,369    14,559,265    15,488,374    16,683,028    16,396,770    

(111,009)       339,968         212,020         189,556         44,885           71,048           
-                -                (45,949)         -                -                -                

139,034         52,089           64,631           25,562           57,223           70,715           
(445,415)       (1,485,165)    (1,049,532)    (1,006,670)    (1,050,588)    (1,007,688)    
(417,390)       (1,093,108)    (818,830)       (791,552)       (948,480)       (865,925)       

782,581         5,388,741      (620,618)       (593,182)       2,564,390      3,379,872      
3,128,364      1,659,617      1,448,263      2,790,558      2,611,438      1,351,598      

3,910,945$    7,048,358$    827,645$       2,197,376$    5,175,828$    4,731,470$    

(Concluded)

Page 105



2009 2010 2011 2012

GENERAL FUND

Nonspendable -$               -$               64,468$         66,671$         
Unassigned -                 -                 12,094,137    14,703,424    
Unreserved 10,344,343    11,107,505    -                 -                 

Total General Fund 10,344,343    11,107,505    12,158,605    14,770,095    

ALL OTHER GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

Nonspendable -                 -                 -                     652,624         
Restricted -                 -                 21,509,635    17,149,931    
Committed -                 -                 652,292         10,865,249    
Assigned -                 -                 7,537,864      595,691         
Unassigned -                 -                 -                 -                 
Unreserved 25,505,919    27,050,641    -                 -                 

Total all other governmental funds 25,505,919    27,050,641    29,699,791    29,263,495    

Total governmental funds 35,850,262$  38,158,146$  41,858,396$  44,033,590$  

resources are available for appropriation.

 - The Town implemented GASB 54 for the year ended June 30, 2011.  GASB 54 requires a new way of

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Notes:

reporting the components of fund balance that focuses on the extent to which the Town is bound to 
honor constraints on the specific purposes for which the amounts in fund balance can be spent.
Prior to fiscal year 2011, fund balance was reported with a focus on the extent to which financial

Town of Florence, Arizona
Table 3

Governmental Funds
Fund Balances

(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Page 106



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017* 2018

66,700$         63,968$         42,742$         166,575$       80,004$         273,960$       
11,357,149    8,433,419      8,061,736      8,564,249      9,816,926      10,226,096    

-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

11,423,849    8,497,387      8,104,478      8,730,824      9,896,930      10,500,056    

1,151,553      14,238           -                 57,291           -                 199,980         
17,635,228    26,633,138    20,760,864    26,209,011    27,289,548    31,639,663    
14,946,996    -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

710,956         9,893,863      992,190         1,131,708      728,182         -                 
-                 (54,351)          -                 -                 -                 (48,954)          
-                 -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 

34,444,733    36,486,888    21,753,054    27,398,010    28,017,730    31,790,689    

45,868,582$  44,984,275$  29,857,532$  36,128,834$  37,914,660$  42,290,745$  

* Fund balances have been restated.

Page 107



2009 2010 2011 2012

REVENUES
Taxes* 9,604,773$     9,090,410$    8,197,401$    9,511,918$    
Intergovernmental 7,314,699       5,728,725      5,230,895      6,123,769      
Fines and forfeits 147,949          132,006         155,862         149,668         
Licenses and permits 414,270          425,005         352,062         291,697         
Charges for services 2,113,020       2,094,688      1,189,716      1,100,044      
Investment income 19,251            334,969         191,295         766,154         
Contributions 26,607            40,051           30,713           100,522         
Special assessments 859,365          810,148         866,452         840,591         
Miscellaneous 157,697          203,882         265,314         164,893         

Total revenues 20,657,631     18,859,884    16,479,710    19,049,256    

EXPENDITURES
Current:
General government 3,631,445       3,314,037      3,429,221      2,944,893      
Public safety 5,209,649       5,214,936      4,966,311      5,423,446      
Highways and streets 1,497,896       1,823,091      1,528,943      1,653,929      
Public works 1,328              2,427             1,425             168,975         
Culture and recreation 1,431,507       1,298,065      1,134,885      1,362,291      
Community development 852,276          712,206         710,314         925,382         
Capital outlay 6,398,226       4,632,680      4,397,001      3,321,325      
Debt Service:
Principal 652,336          971,769         366,849         879,340         
Interest and fiscal charges 469,072          672,634         786,733         942,200         

Total expenditures 20,143,735     18,641,845    17,321,682    17,621,781    
Excess of revenues over (under)

expenditures 513,896          218,039         (841,972)        1,427,475      

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES (USES)
Transfers in 1,659,619       2,006,197      1,223,451      2,412,935      
Transfers out (1,079,231)     (1,302,641)     (541,861)        (1,667,660)     
Sale of capital assets 10,000            289                10,161           2,414             
Issuance of long-term debt -                 1,386,000      3,850,500      -                 
Bond premium -                 -                 -                 -                 

Total other financing sources  (uses) 590,388          2,089,845      4,542,251      747,689         

NET CHANGE IN FUND BALANCES 1,104,284$     2,307,884$    3,700,279$    2,175,164$    

Debt service as a percentage of
noncapital expenditures 8.16% 11.74% 8.93% 12.69%

Notes:
*Taxes consist of sales, property, and franchise taxes

Town of Florence, Arizona
Table 4

Governmental Funds
Changes in Fund Balances

 Last Ten Fiscal Years
(Modified Accrual Basis of Accounting)

Page 108



2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

8,153,474$    8,930,412$    9,176,916$    9,894,218$    10,534,469$   7,688,869$    
6,306,573      6,767,071      7,381,412      8,026,260      8,608,027      10,526,199    

175,058         198,608         157,016         150,043         189,626         176,232         
389,434         438,522         526,694         613,337         591,611         768,691         

1,425,455      1,124,212      1,237,474      1,379,260      1,298,244      1,487,839      
(259,780)        658,692         419,208         356,840         79,523           154,851         

16,206           20,618           15,657           46,066           10,507           17,478           
905,924         1,017,577      1,185,546      1,148,340      891,243         1,303,375      
113,512         246,829         382,504         646,315         200,198         263,986         

17,225,856    19,402,541    20,482,427    22,260,679    22,403,448    22,387,520    

3,469,628      5,183,343      5,608,718      3,602,024      3,824,907      4,230,432      
5,791,565      7,008,249      7,954,879      7,587,217      8,438,411      7,092,024      
1,596,838      1,947,936      2,752,728      2,177,138      2,666,597      2,291,343      

167,397         481,598         746,264         636,982         679,029         567,470         
1,623,120      1,636,101      2,026,120      2,402,639      2,302,276      2,269,158      

757,219         707,699         932,867         1,140,574      763,459         816,136         
2,311,315      5,028,258      14,135,118    4,330,642      1,002,552      2,826,316      

804,176         839,790         1,580,563      1,151,732      4,300,926      1,156,285      
909,081         886,179         945,302         872,928         1,116,458      1,033,970      

17,430,339    23,719,153    36,682,559    23,901,876    25,094,615    22,283,134    

(204,483)        (4,316,612)     (16,200,132)   (1,641,197)     (2,691,167)     104,386         

6,618,130      9,320,084      8,433,435      3,403,348      2,049,250      2,351,426      
(6,172,715)     (7,834,919)     (7,383,903)     (2,396,678)     (998,662)        (1,343,738)     

5,060             72,973           (100,693)        -                 22,181           1,624             
1,589,000      1,850,000      -                 6,740,000      4,232,000      3,163,950      

-                 24,167           -                 165,829         -                 98,437           

2,039,475      3,432,305      948,839         7,912,499      5,304,769      4,271,699      

1,834,992$    (884,307)$      (15,251,293)$ 6,271,302$    2,613,602$    4,376,085$    

11.21% 9.55% 11.71% 9.37% 22.51% 11.26%

Page 109



Percentage of Percentage of
Industry Tax Paid Rank Total Tax Paid Rank Total

Construction 780,634$     2 21.24% 2,798,553$  1 62.67%

Retail Trade 699,311$     3 19.02% 556,936$     2 12.47%

Communications and Utilities 558,660$     4 15.20% 540,130$     3 12.10%

Restaurants and Bars 225,335$     6 6.13% 178,591$     5 4.00%

All Other 331,131$     5 9.01% 143,775$     6 3.22%

Manufacturing 86,503$       7 2.35% 45,476$       7 1.02%

Real Estate, Rental & Leasing 919,526$     1 25.01% 182,244$     4 4.08%

Wholesale Trades -$             9 0.00% 19,834$       8 0.44%

Finance and Insurance -$             10 0.00% -$            10 0.00%

Services 75,027$       8 2.04% -$            9 0.00%

Total 3,676,127$  100.00% 4,465,539$  100.00%

Source:  Arizona Department of Revenue

Notes:
 - Based upon June 30, 2018 reports.  Will not agree with sales tax recorded in Financial Statements.

Town of Florence, Arizona

Sales Tax Revenue by Industry
Current Year and Nine Years Ago

2018 2009

Table 5

Page 110



State and
Type of Tax Town Pinal County Combined

Privilege tax, except retail, utilities and telecommunication 2.00% 7.20% 9.20%

Retail 2.00% 7.20% 9.20%

Hotel/Motel 4.00% 7.20% 11.20%

Restaurant/Bar 2.00% 7.20% 9.20%

Utilities/Telecommunications 2.00% 7.20% 9.20%

Construction 4.00% 7.20% 11.20%

Sources: Town of Florence Department of Finance, Arizona Department of Revenue

Town of Florence, Arizona

Direct and Overlapping Sales Tax Rates
As of June 30, 2018

Rates

Table 6

Page 111



Fiscal Year 
Ended 

June 30

Certificates of 
Participation

Special 
Assessment 

Bonds

Pledged 
Excise Tax 
Revenue 

Obligation

Notes 
Payable

Capital 
Leases

GO Bonds - 
CFDs

Special 
Assessment 

Bonds - 
CFDs

2018 -$                   81,000$       4,355,000$      181,171$      -$                9,785,000$    7,769,670$  

2017 -                     154,000       4,740,000        289,116        -                  10,125,000    4,764,240    

2016 -                     218,000 4,740,000        338,551        285,746       10,523,101    3,922,390    

2015 -                     282,000       -                      385,188        567,382       8,563,200      4,476,850    

2014 -                     337,000       -                      429,185        844,967       8,809,167      5,435,830    

2013 -                     388,000       -                      470,690        1,118,561    7,105,000      5,739,520    

2012 -                     440,000       -                      509,847        -                  7,265,000      5,822,100    

2011 -                     482,000       -                      546,788        -                  7,770,000      6,117,500    

2010 -                     610,000       -                      581,637        -                  4,285,000      5,956,000    

2009 250,000         655,000       -                      614,514        22,892         4,627,000      4,849,000    

Business-type

Fiscal Year 
Ended 

June 30
Notes 

Payable
Total Primary 
Government

Percentage 
of Personal 

Income Per Capita

2018 3,456,411$    25,628,252$ 8.66% 977.39          

2017 3,941,530      24,013,886   8.64% 920.99          

2016 3,429,462      23,457,250   7.50% 908.88          

2015 3,827,612      18,102,232   4.77% 686.18          

2014 4,212,898      20,069,047   7.29% 748.68          

2013 4,601,319      19,423,090   7.52% 766.59          

2012 4,977,189      19,014,136   7.74% 716.06          

2011 6,591,457      21,507,745   13.31% 809.08          

2010 6,992,889      18,425,526   15.53% 688.16          

2009 6,033,490      17,051,896   5.96% 657.26          

Notes:

 - See the Demographic and Economic Statistics (Table 10) for personal income and population data.

Governmental Activities

Town of Florence, Arizona

Ratios of Outstanding Debt by Type
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Table 7

 - Details regarding the Town's outstanding debt can be found in the notes to the financial statements.

Page 112



Estimated
Estimated Share of

Debt Percentage Overlapping
Governmental Unit Outstanding Debt

Debt repaid with property taxes:
Pinal County Community College District $76,730,000 4.00% 3,069,200$              

Florence Unified School District No. 1 62,663,520 19.43% 12,175,522              

Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 3,110,000 100.00% 3,110,000                

Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 6,810,000 100.00% 6,810,000                

    Total Overlapping Debt     $25,164,722

Town of Florence None 100.00% -                           

   Total direct and overlapping debt 25,164,722$            

Sources:  Pinal County Treasurer's Office, Pinal County Assessor's Office and Town of Florence Professional
Statements

Notes:
(1)  The percentage of overlapping debt applicable to the Town is computed on the ratio of secondary assessed 
valuation.

Applicable (1)

Town of Florence, Arizona

Direct and Overlapping Governmental Activities Debt
As of June 30, 2018

Table 8

Page 113



Fiscal
Year Special

Ended Assessment
June 30 Collections Principal Interest Coverage

2018 55,277$                    73,000$                    13,013$                    0.64
2017 54,575                      64,000                      18,421                      0.66
2016 64,352                      64,000                      23,829                      0.73
2015 70,134                      55,000                      28,477                      0.84
2014 67,161                      51,000                      32,786                      0.80
2013 93,503                      52,000                      37,180                      1.05
2012 83,252                      42,000                      42,335                      0.99
2011 87,323                      45,000                      49,644                      0.92
2010 97,723                      45,000                      53,446                      0.99
2009 119,909                    40,000                      57,038                      1.24

-  *The nature of the revenue pledged for the above revenue bond was excise

-   Information regarding debt can be found in the "Ratios of Outstanding Debt 
by Type" Table of the Statistical Section of the CAFR, and the Notes to the
Financial Statements.

Town of Florence, Arizona
Table 9

Pledged Revenue Coverage
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Debt Service

Special Assessment Bonds

Page 114



Estimated Estimated October
Personal Per Capita Enrollment Education Town

Fiscal (Restated) Income Personal School Level in Years Unemployment
Year Population (In thousands) Income Enrollment of Schooling Rate

2018 26,221               295,773$          11,280$         2,191          13 to 16 5.4%
2017 26,074               277,818            10,655           2,268          13 to 16 5.4%
2016 25,809               312,857            12,122           2,417          13 to 16 7.1%
2015 26,381               379,306            14,378           2,466          13 to 16 7.0%
2014 26,806               275,432            10,275           2,346          13 to 16 7.5%
2013 25,337               258,336            10,196           2,469          13 to 16 18.1%
2012 26,554               245,678            9,252             2,368          13 to 16 18.5%
2011 26,583               161,625            6,080             2,411          13 to 16 21.3%
2010 26,775               118,640            4,431             2,568          13 to 16 11.6%
2009 25,944               286,007            11,024           3,038          13 to 16 12.1%

Town of Florence, Arizona
Table 10

Demographic and Economic Statistics
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Sources: Arizona Department of Education, US Census Bureau, and Bureau of Labor Statistics.

Page 115



Percentage Percentage
of Total Town of Total Town 

Major Employer Employees Rank Employment Employees Rank Employment

State of Arizona 2,050 1 35.03% 3,009        1 38.50%

Pinal County Government 1,400 2 23.92% 2,719        2 34.79%

Correctional Corporation of America 917 3 15.67% 958           3 12.26%

DHS/ICE/DOJ - Federal Government 598 4 10.22% 362           5 4.63%

Florence Schools 401 5 6.85% 417           4 5.34%

GEO - Private Prison System 321 6 5.49% 180           6 2.30%

Town of Florence 165 7 2.82% 171           7 2.19%

Total 5,852        100.00% 7,816        100.00%

Source:  Bureau of Labor Statistics

Notes:
    Total Town employment equal to FTE
Notes 1: 
    2009 CAFR not prepared - estimated historical data

2018 2009

Table 11
Town of Florence, Arizona

Principal Employers
Current Year and Nine Years Ago

(Estimated)

Page 116



Fiscal General Public Highways Culture and Community Water and  
Year Government Safety and Streets Recreation Development Sewer Sanitation Total

2018 26.16 70.24 22.00 30.65 4.07 11.00 1.00 165.12
2017 33.32 81.34 26.00 33.17 8.00 12.00 1.00 194.83
2016 29.74 95.32 19.62 34.57 7.25 12.43 1.06 199.99
2015 31.88 79.75 22.33 20.25 6.00 14.55 1.55 176.31
2014 30.42 76.48 20.46 22.76 5.00 14.55 1.55 171.22
2013 30.70 72.50 20.80 19.25 6.00 11.00 5.00 165.25
2012 30.70 71.50 20.30 16.25 6.00 10.50 5.00 160.25
2011 28.00 65.00 30.00 15.00 6.00 14.00 5.00 163.00
2010 27.00 65.00 32.00 16.00 7.00 14.00 5.00 166.00
2009 28.00 66.00 32.00 16.00 9.00 15.00 5.00 171.00

Function/Program

Town of Florence, Arizona

Full-time Equivalent Town Government Employees by Function
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Table 12

Page 117



Function 2009 2010
Police
Total arrests 400 406
Moving violation citations 105 1,000
Total calls for service 7,456 5,757
Total 911 calls 5,125 5,849
Total part I crimes 402 351
Fire 
All emergency responses 2,105       2,042       
Fire and hazmat responses 127          108          
Emergency medical responses 1,605       1,654       
Other responses 373          280          
Highways and Streets
Street resurfacing (miles) 2.90         1.40         
Potholes repaired (estimate) 5,094       5,730       
Streets maintained (miles) 99.22       108.08     
Community Development
Building permits issued 606          436          
Code enforcement cases 126          80            
Parks, Recreation and Library
Attendance at aquatics facilities 3,216       2,561       
Attendance at other facilities 30,000     24,444     
Library visits 154,645   130,636   
Library materials checked out 98,114     103,277   
Sanitation
Homes serviced 2,603       3,246       
Water
Water service connections 3,278       3,287       
Water consumption (millions gallons/day) 1.87         1.90         
Water consumption (millions gallons/year) 683          694          
Sewer
Sewer service connections 3,251       3,260       
Sewage treated (millions gallons per day) 2.02         2.04         
Sewage treated (millions gallons per year) 737          745          

Town of Florence, Arizona
Table 13

Operating Indicators by Function
Last Ten Fiscal Years

Page 118



2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

278          264          597          599          563          706          587          574          
836          701          931          1,637       908          1,519       1,403       1,432       

4,996       5,450       6,341       11,429     11,291     13,453     12,458     13,375     
5,392       5,023       5,796       1,962       1,187       1,069       2,024       2,489       

296          214          363          243          263          306          214          266          

2,074       2,083       3,469       3,036       2,691       2,885       2,993       2,874       
102          114          133          91            117          123          99            61            

1,239       1,290       1,941       1,900       1,905       2,024       1,972       1,797       
733          679          1,395       1,042       669          738          922          1,016       

3.40         -          2.00         0.50         1.75         3.70         21.85       15.10       
2,978       4,869       6,000       6,600       6,600       7,500       12,200     1,040       

108.08     108.08     110.00     110.00     114.50     126.33     151.10     154.56     
 

465          78            135          337          615          626          895          944          
43            19            70            23            148          39            98            121          

2,441       2,840       1,578       5,000       1,313       27,943     19,997     22,117     
33,936     22,116     30,604     32,600     21,054     56,502     56,365     92,504     

119,254   118,121   99,943     102,623   85,210     N/A 37,462     63,330     
65,120     60,550     60,091     67,726     61,187     70,993     71,941     80,702     

3,446       3,519       3,400       2,967       3,092       3,276       3,697       3,621       

3,295       3,295       3,257       4,002       3,633       3,594       3,554       3,554       
1.98         2.04         1.37         1.71         1.40         1.40         1.46         1.46         
723          745          500          624          518          511          533          533          

 
3,268       3,268       3,230       3,337       3,350       3,350       3,707       3,707       

2.06         2.07         1.63         1.64         1.60         1.60         1.40         1.40         
753          757          594          599          584          584          510          510          

Page 119



2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

Public Safety
Police stations 1        1       1        1        1        1.5     1.5     1.5     1.5     1.5     
Police vehicles 34      38     41      42      44      48      57      54      54      44      
Fire stations 2        2       2        2        2        2        2        2        2        2        
Fire apparatus 8        8       6        6        7        6        7        8        8        8        
Other fire vehicles 4        4       4        5        5        6        5        6        6        5        

Highways and Streets
Street (miles) 99      99     108    108    108    108    113    113    113    113    
Streetlights 964    985   1,039  1,039  1,060 1,060  1,182  1,182  1,182  1,182  
Traffic signals own 1        1       1        1        2        2        2        2        2        2        
Traffic signals don't own 2        2       2        2        2        2        2        2        3        3        
 

Culture and Recreation
Parks 8        8       8        8        8        8        8        11      10      10      
Parks acreage 289    289   289    289    289    341    343    349    348    348    
Fitness center 1        1       1        1        1        1        1        1        1        1        
Swimming pool** 1        1       1        1        1        1        1        1        1        1        
Libraries** 1        1       1        1        1        1        1        1        1        1        

Wastewater
Sanitary sewers (miles) 45.7 45.7 45.7 45.7 45.7 45.7 54.5 54.5 54.5 54.5
Storm sewers (miles) 6.8 7.2 7.5 7.8 8.4 8.4 8.4 8.4 8.4 8.4
Treatment capacity 
(thousands of gallons) 2,920 2,920 2,920 2,920 2,920 2,920 2,920 2,920 2,920 2,920

**School owned prior to 2016

Capital Asset Statistics by Function
Table 14

Last Ten Fiscal Years

Page 120

















TOWN OF FLORENCE

Financial Audit Presentation
Year ended June 30, 2018

Kevin Camberg, CPA
Partner

The information contained in this presentation is solely for the use of management and the city council. 



Audit results – overview

■ Report to the Mayor and Town Council 
– Financial statements includes new post-retirement benefits 

disclosures for GASB 75 implementation
– Sensitive estimates and disclosures included in financial 

statements:
■ Estimates of actuarial valuations related to net pension 

liability (asset), allowance for doubtful accounts, and 
depreciation expense for capital assets.

■ Disclosure of retirement plans based on actuarial 
valuations.

The information contained in this presentation is solely for the use of management and the city council.



Audit results – overview
■ Financial Statement Audit 

– Unmodified opinion 
■ Financial statements are presented fairly in all material aspects and 

in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP)
■ Findings reported as Material Weaknesses in Internal Controls:
1. Internal Control over Financial Reporting – Audit adjustments were 

necessary to properly state year-ending balances.
2. Internal Control over Capital Assets – A prior period adjustment was 

necessary to properly state the Town’s beginning net position and 
capital assets. 

The information contained in this presentation is solely for the use of management and the city council.



Audit results – overview

■ Findings reported as Material Weaknesses in Internal Controls 
(continue)

3. Internal Control over Long-term Liabilities – A prior period 
adjustment was necessary to properly state the Town’s beginning net 
position and long-term liabilities. 
4. Internal Control over Special Assessment Billing – Audit 
adjustments were necessary to properly state special assessment 
receivable and deferred revenue balances. 

The information contained in this presentation is solely for the use of management and the city council.



Financial overview – government-wide 

The information contained in this presentation is solely for the use of management and the city council.

$4.7 million increase in net position

Governmental 
Activities

Business‐Type 
Activities Total

Change 
from FY17

Net investment in capital assets 72,398,506$       15,973,435$     88,371,941$          ‐1%
Restricted 31,839,652          3,206,134          35,045,786            8%
Unrestricted   4,461,196            16,001,790       20,462,986            15%

108,699,354$     35,181,359$     143,880,713$        3%

GOVERNMENT‐WIDE NET POSITION JUNE 30, 2018

Net investment 
in capital assets

61.42%

Debt service
5%

Highways and 
streets

7%

Capital Projects
12%

Community 
development

0.30%

Community 
facilities
0.24%

Public safety
0.06%

Unrestricted  
14%



■ Net increase in fund balance of $4.3 M
■ Increases in:

– General Fund $603K  
– CFD – Debt Service Fund $1.1M  
– CFD – Capital Project Fund $1.7M  
– Impact Fee Fund $483k  
– Capital Improvement Fund $1.4M  

■ Net Decrease in fund balance :
– Highways and streets $1.6 M   

The information contained in this presentation is solely for the use of management and the city council.

Financial overview – governmental funds 



The information contained in this presentation is solely for the use of management and the city council.

Financial overview – business-type funds 

■ Net increase in net position of $1.3M

■ Increases in:
– Water Fund, $894 K
– Sewer Fund, $514 K

■ Decreases in net position:
– Sanitation Fund, $56 K



The information contained in this presentation is solely for the use of management and the city council.

Pensions summary

■ Estimates based on actuarial valuations performed by an independent 
firm. 

■ PSPRS 
– Police

■ $0.9 million net pension liability (decreased by ~ $325K)
– Fire

■ $0.5 million net pension liability (increased by ~ $149K)

■ ASRS
■ $8.2 million net pension liability (decreased by ~ $833K)



QUESTIONS?

Kevin Camberg, CPA
Partner

kcamberg@f-cpc.com

The information contained in this presentation is solely for the use of management and the city council.



 MERRILL RANCH 
COMMUNITY FACILITIES 

DISTRICT NO. 1 
ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
7a.  

MEETING DATE:  April 15, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Merrill Ranch Community Facilities  
                            District No. 1 
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
Subject:  MRCFD1 AND MRCFD2 Audit  Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

STAFF PRESENTER:  Rebecca Jimenez, Interim District 
Treasurer  
 
Kevin Camberg, Fester Chapman, PLLC, Certified Public 
Accountants 
 
SUBJECT:  Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 
Audit 

 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Accept and approve the Community Facilities Districts Audit. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
The Merrill Ranch Community District No. 1 and No. 2 Boards authorized an audit of 
both Community Facilities Districts to identify the balances in each fund and to verify the 
tax collections, assessment collections and the balances within each issue. 
 
This is the first audit specific to the Districts.  The purpose is to verify balances and to 
ensure that accounting for the Districts are performed as required.  The Districts are 
reviewed during the regular Town of Florence audits.  Due to the changes in Financial 
Management, over the last several years, the District Manager and Financial Advisor 
felt it was necessary to perform the audit. 
Fester and Chapman, PLLC, the Town’s contracted auditors, provided the special audit.   
The audit is now complete and ready for presentation to the District Board for 
Community Facilities District No. 1 and Community Facilities District No. 2.         
Kevin Camberg, of Fester Chapman, PLLC, will present the financial audit and answer 
questions from the District Board. 



Subject:  MRCFD1 AND MRCFD2 Audit  Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 
 
Not accepting the annual audit. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 
 
Accepting the annual audit. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The cost of the audit was $15,000.  Each District paid for one half of the audit from their 
administrative funds.  This is the Ad Valorem Tax that is collected at $.30 per $100 of 
Net Assessed Valuation.  These funds are specific to provide funding for administrative 
expenditures. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Report to the Community Facilities District Board and Audit  



 

 

 

 

 

Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2 

(Component Units of Town of Florence, Arizona) 

 

REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

June 30, 2018 



Address • 9019 East Bahia Drive Suite 100 • Scottsdale, AZ 85260    Phone • (602) 264-3077      Fax • (602) 265-6241 

March 29, 2019 

To the Board of Directors of 
Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities and each major fund of 
the Town of Florence, Arizona (the Districts) for the year ended June 30, 2018, and have issued 
our report thereon dated March 29, 2019. Professional standards require that we provide you 
with information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards as well 
as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have 
communicated such information in our letter to you dated October 23, 2018. Professional 
standards require that we provide you with the following information related to our audit. 

Significant Audit Findings  

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The 
significant accounting policies used by the Districts are described in Note 1 to the financial 
statements. As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Districts has adopted 
Governmental Accounting Standard Board (GASB) Statement No. 75. Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as amended by GASB Statement 
No. 85 Omnibus 2017. We noted no transactions entered into by the Districts during the year for 
which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have 
been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period. 

The disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent, and clear. Certain financial 
statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users.  The most sensitive disclosure affecting the financial statements was the 
disclosure of long-term debt in Note 5 to the financial statements 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit  

We encountered difficulties in performing and completing our audit due to additional audit 
procedures that were necessary to correct the Community Facilities Districts’ special assessments 
lien bonds and corresponding infrastructure. In addition, significant audit effort was necessary as we 
proposed 10 audit adjustments and received 9 post-closing journal entries from management.  



Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements  

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified 
during the audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level 
of management. There were 10 adjusting journal entries detected as a result of audit procedures 
and corrected by management. Management also posted 9 post-closing journal entry after 
commencement of field work.  

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a 
financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, 
that could be significant to the financial statements or the auditors’ report. We are pleased to 
report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 

Management Representations  

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the 
management representation letter dated March 29, 2019. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants  

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a 
consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the Districts’ financial statements 
or a determination of the type of auditors’ opinion that may be expressed on those statements, 
our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that 
the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with 
other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues  

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management prior to retention as the Districts’ auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses 
were not a condition to our retention.   

Restriction on Use 

This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors and management of the 
Districts and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 

Very truly yours, 



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities 
Districts No. 1 and No. 2

(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

Annual Financial Report

June 30, 2018



(This page left intentionally blank)



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2

(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT

Year ended June 30, 2018

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Independent Auditors' Report.......................................................................................................1 - 2

Basic Financial Statements:

Government-Wide Statements:

Statement of Net Position.....................................................................................................3

Statement of Activities..........................................................................................................4

Fund Financial Statements:

Governmental Funds:

Balance Sheet.................................................................................................................5

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the Government-
Wide Statement of Net Position..................................................................................6

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances.........................7

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances to the Government-Wide
Statement of Activities................................................................................................8

Notes to Financial Statements..............................................................................................9 - 20



(This page left intentionally blank)



	
	

 

Address • 9019 East Bahia Drive Suite 100 • Scottsdale, AZ 85260          Phone • (602) 264-3077         Fax • (602) 265-6241 

	

	

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Board of Directors of
Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
Florence, Arizona

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of governmental activities and each major fund
of the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2 (the Districts), a component unit of
the Town of Florence, Arizona, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Districts’ basic financial statements as listed in the
table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Districts’
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion. 

1



Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial positions of the Districts, as of June 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position
thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Districts are intended to present the financial
position and changes in financial position of only that portion of the governmental activities of the Town
of Florence that is attributable to the transactions of the Districts. They do not purport to, and do not,
present fairly the financial position of the Town of Florence as of June 30, 2018, and the changes in its
financial position, for the year ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Management has omitted Management’s Discussion and Analysis and budgetary comparison
information that accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require to be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such missing information, although not a part of
the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. Our opinion on the basic financial statements is
not affected by this missing information. 

March 29, 2019

2



BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



(This page left intentionally blank)



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2

(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2018

ASSETS

Pooled cash and investments $ 5,152,792
Restricted cash 4,274,586
Accounts receivable 6,908,250
Prepaids 199,980

Total assets 16,535,608

LIABILITIES

Accrued wages and benefits $ 406
Accrued interest payable 484,435
Other accrued liabilities 1,084,482
Due to other governments 68,206
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within 1 year 1,534,640
Due in more than 1 year 18,006,328

Total liabilities 21,178,497

NET POSITION

Restricted for:
Debt service 3,739,617
Highways and streets 4,197,267

Unrestricted (deficit) (12,579,773)
Total net position $ (4,642,889)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
3



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2

(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

 Year ended June 30, 2018

REVENUES
Property taxes $ 1,436,869
Special assessments 2,343,429
Operating grants and contributions 18,500
Investment income 33,000
Miscellaneous 61,206

Total revenues 3,893,004

EXPENSES
General government 589,480
Capital outlay 1,081,765
Interest and other charges 901,492

Total expenses 2,572,737

Change in net position 1,320,267
Net position, beginning of year (5,963,156)

Net position, end of year $ (4,642,889)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
4



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2

(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

 June 30, 2018

General
Debt 

Service
Capital 

Improvements
Fund Fund Fund Total

ASSETS
Pooled cash and investments $ 340,896 $ 4,314,022 $ 497,874 $ 5,152,792
Restricted pooled cash and

investments 636,662 3,637,924 4,274,586
Accounts receivable 181 6,908,069 6,908,250
Due from other funds 41,742 42,969 61,469 146,180
Prepaid 199,980 199,980

Total assets $ 382,819 $ 12,101,702 $ 4,197,267 $ 16,681,788

LIABILITIES
Accrued wages and benefits $ 406 $ 406
Other liabilities $ 1,084,482 1,084,482
Due to other funds 42,969 103,211 146,180
Due to other governments 68,206 68,206

Total liabilities 43,375 1,255,899 1,299,274

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES

Deferred revenue 21 6,906,206 6,906,227
Total deferred inflows of

resources 21 6,906,206 6,906,227

FUND BALANCES 
Nonspendable:

Prepaid items 199,980 199,980
Restricted:

Debt service 3,739,617 3,739,617
Capital projects $ 4,197,267 4,197,267

Unassigned 339,423 339,423
Total fund balances 339,423 3,939,597 4,197,267 8,476,287
Total liabilities, deferred

inflows of resources, and
fund balances $ 382,819 $ 12,101,702 $ 4,197,267 $ 16,681,788

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
5



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2

(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
 TO THE GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

 June 30, 2018

Fund balances - total governmental funds balance sheet $ 8,476,287

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net
Position are different because:

Unavailable revenue for special assessments is shown in the
governmental funds, but is recognized as revenue on the Statement
of Net Position. 6,906,227

Long-term liabilities, including, bonds payable and their related
costs, are not due and payable in the current period and therefore
are not reported in the funds.

Bonds payable
Premiums

$ (19,273,566)
(267,402) (19,540,968)

Interest payable on long-term debt is not reported in the
governmental funds (484,435)

Net position of governmental activities $ (4,642,889)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
6



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

Year ended June 30, 2018

General 
Debt 

Service
Capital 

Improvements
Fund Fund Fund Total

REVENUES
Property taxes $ 121,460 $ 1,315,409 $ 1,436,869
Special assessments 1,242,454 1,242,454
Investment income 1,406 16,370 $ 15,224 33,000
Intergovernmental revenue 18,500 18,500
Miscellaneous 61,206 61,206

Total revenues 184,072 2,592,733 15,224 2,792,029

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 130,443 71,420 386,454 588,317
Capital outlay 1,081,765 1,081,765
Debt service:

Principal 647,047 647,047
Interest and other charges 901,492 901,492

Total expenditures 130,443 1,619,959 1,468,219 3,218,621
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

(under) expenditures 53,629 972,774 (1,452,995) (426,592)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
(USES)

General obligation bonds issued 1,424,450 1,424,450
Premium on general obligation

bonds 98,437 98,437
Special assessment bonds issued 1,739,500 1,739,500
Transfers in 154,110 58,678 212,788
Transfers out (65,392) (147,396) (212,788)

Total other financing sources
(uses) (65,392) 154,110 3,173,669 3,262,387

Net change in fund balances (11,763) 1,126,884 1,720,674 2,835,795

Fund balances (deficits), beginning of
year, as restated 351,186 2,812,713 2,476,593 5,640,492

Fund balances (deficits), end of year $ 339,423 $ 3,939,597 $ 4,197,267 $ 8,476,287

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
7



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

TO THE GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year ended June 30, 2018

 Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ 2,835,795

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities
are different because:

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial
resources are not reported as revenues in the funds. 1,100,975

Debt proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds,
but issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net
position. Repayment of debt principal is an expenditure in the
governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the
statement of net position. Also, governmental funds report the effect of
premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is issued, whereas these
amounts are amortized in the statement of activities. 

Issuance of bonds
Bond principal retirement
Amortization of bond premiums

$ (3,275,087)
647,047

11,537 (2,616,503)

Change in net position of governmental activities $ 1,320,267

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
8



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(the Districts), component units of the Town of Florence, Arizona (the Town), conform to
generally accepted accounting principles applicable to government units adopted by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). A summary of the District's more
significant accounting policies follows.

A. Reporting Entity

The Districts were formed by petition to the Town Council on December 19, 2005 (No. 1) and
November 21, 2005 (No. 2). The purpose of the Districts is to acquire or construct public
infrastructure in specified areas of the Town. As special purpose districts and separate political
subdivisions under the Arizona Constitution, the Districts may levy taxes and issue bonds
independently of the Town.  Property owned in the designated areas is assessed for the Districts’
property taxes, and thus for the costs of operating the Districts. The Town Council serves as the
Board of Directors of the Districts. The Town has no liability for the Districts’ debt. For
reporting purposes, the transactions of the Districts are included as governmental type funds as if
they were part of the Town’s operations.

B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e. the Statement of Net Position and the Statement
of Activities) present financial information about the Districts as a whole. For the most part, the
effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. Governmental activities,
which are normally are supported by taxes, special assessments and miscellaneous revenues, are
reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and
charges for support. The Districts had no business-type activities during the fiscal year.

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

Government-wide Financial Statements - The government-wide financial statements are reported
using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues
are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of
the timing of related cash flow.   

Fund Financial Statements - Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the
current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are
considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough
thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the Districts consider revenues
to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.

9



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

However, debt services expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences
and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. However, since debt service
resources are provided during the current year for payment of governmental long-term principal
and interest due early in the following year, the expenditures and related liabilities have been
recognized in the Debt Service Fund.

Property taxes associated with the current fiscal period are considered to be susceptible to
accrual and have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. Interest is accrued in
the current fiscal period when the revenue is earned. All other revenue items are considered to be
measurable and available only when cash is received by the government. 

Special assessments are recognized as revenue only to the extent that the individual installments
are considered current assets. Annual installments not currently receivable are reflected as
deferred inflows of resources.  

The Districts reports the following major governmental funds:

 General Fund - This fund accounts for resources accumulated and used for the payment of
general operating expenses for the Districts, which may include insurance, legal fees, and
administration costs.

 Debt Service Fund - This fund accounts for resources accumulated and used for the payment
of the Districts' long-term debt principal, interest, and related costs.

 Capital Improvements Fund - This fund accounts for resources accumulated and used for
acquiring and improving public infrastructure.

D. Cash and Investments

The Districts participate in the Town's investment pool that is available for the use of all Town
funds. The Districts' pool is reported on the financial statements as "pooled cash and
investments". The Districts' portion of the pool is not identified within specific investments.

The Districts consider all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or fewer
when purchased to be cash equivalents. 

The Districts investments are stated at fair value. Fair value is based on quoted market prices as
of the valuation date. 

10



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

E. Restricted assets

Certain proceeds of the Districts' bonds, as well as certain resources set aside for their
repayments, are classified as restricted on the balance sheet because they are maintained in
separate bank accounts and their use is limited by applicable debt covenants. 

F. Capital Assets

Capital assets acquired or infrastructure assets constructed by the Districts are dedicated to the
Town to maintain and operate. As a result, the Districts own no capital assets. 

G. Long-term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund financial statements, long-
term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the Statement of Net
Position. Bond premiums and discount are amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight
line method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. 

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums, discounts,
and issuance costs during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other
financing sources. Premiums received on the debt issuances are reported as other financing
sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuances costs,
whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service
expenditures. 

H. Deferred Inflows

In addition to liabilities, the fund financial statements include a section for deferred inflows of
resources. This represents an acquisition of fund balance that applies to a future period(s) and so
will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The Districts have
only one item that qualifies for this category, which arises only under the modified accrual basis
of accounting, unavailable revenue. These amounts are recognized as an inflow of resources in
the period that the amounts become available.

11



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

I. Fund Balance

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report nonspendable portions of fund
balance related to prepaid expenses. Restricted funds are constrained from outside parties
(statute, grantors, bond agreements, etc.). Committed fund balances are established and modified
by a resolution approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors passed a resolution
authorizing the Town of Florence to assign fund balances and their intended uses. Unassigned
fund balances are considered the remaining amounts. When an expenditure is incurred for
purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is available, it is the District’s
policy to use restricted first, then unrestricted fund balance. When an expenditure is incurred for
purposes for which committed, assigned, and unassigned amounts are available, it is the
District’s policy to use committed first, then assigned, and finally unassigned amounts. Currently
the District does not have any nonspendable, assigned or committed funds.

In the government-wide financial statements, net position is reported in two categories: restricted
net position and unrestricted net position. Restricted net position accounts for the portion of net
position restricted by bond covenants. Unrestricted net position is the remaining net position not
included in the previous category. 

J. Budgetary Information

The Districts adopt an annual operating budget for expenditures for the General Fund on
essentially the same modified accrual basis of accounting used to record actual expenditures.
Budgetary control over expenditures is exercised at the fund level.

K. Deficit Net Position

As described in Note A, the Districts were formed to finance and acquire or construct
infrastructure assets that are subsequently dedicated to the Town for operation. The Districts do
not own or operate infrastructure. Therefore, the Statement of Net Position includes long term
debt without the corresponding capital assets. 

L. Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles,
management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures (expenses) during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

12



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 2 - POOLED CASH AND INVESTMENTS

The Districts participate in the pooled cash and investments of the Town for daily transactions.
The Town then periodically requests reimbursement from the Districts’ restricted funds held by
the trustee. At June 30, 2018, the Districts had a balance of $5,152,792 in the Town’s pooled
cash and investments. Restricted cash consists of the required debt service reserve fund and cash
held by an outside agency for restricted use. Its future use will be for the repayments on
outstanding bonds payable and capital improvements. 

The Town's investment pool is not an SEC registered investment company, and there is no
regulatory oversight of its operation. The pools' structure does not provide for shares, and the
Town has not provided, nor obtained, any legally binding guarantees to support the value of
participant's investments. The Town allocates interest earnings to each participating fund. The
Town's investments are valued at fair value; however, the Town's investments are not identified
with specific shares. The District does not have a separate investment policy and follows the
Town's policies.

Below are the relevant policies with regard to interest rate risk, credit risk, concentration of
credit risk and custodial credit risk

Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will
adversely affect the fair value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an
investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates. The
Town has no policy regarding interest rate risk. State law limits investments into securities
having maturities no greater than five (5) years. The maximum maturity for investments in
repurchase agreements is 180 days.

Credit risk – The Town does not have a formal investment policy regarding credit risk. However,
the Town is prohibited by State law from investing in investments other than obligations of the
U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies, certificates of deposit in eligible depositories, repurchase
agreements, obligations of the State of Arizona or any of its counties or incorporated cities,
towns or duly organized school districts, improvement districts in this state and the State
Treasurer’s Local Investment Pool.

Concentration of Credit Risk - At June 30, 2018, the Town’s investments include 44% invested
in U.S. agency securities, 30% in Repurchase Agreements, 13% in corporate bonds, 10% in U.S.
Treasury securities, 2% in Money Market funds and 1% in the State Investment Pool (LGIP). 

Custodial credit risk - To control custodial credit risk, State law and the Town's investment
policy require all securities and collateral to be held by an independent third party custodian in
the Town’s name. The custodian provides the Town with monthly market values along with
original safekeeping receipts.

13



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 3 - ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The Pinal County Treasurer (County) is responsible for collecting property taxes and special
assessments for all governmental entities within the County. The County levies property taxes
due to the Districts. In addition, the Districts provide the County with the special assessments to
be billed. These taxes and assessments are billed to the property owners by the County in
September. Two equal installments, payable in October and April, become delinquent after the
first business days in November and May.

Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the fiscal year they are levied in the government-
wide financial statements and represent a reconciling item between the government-wide and
fund financial statements. In the fund financial statements, property taxes are recognized as
revenues in the fiscal year they are levied and collected or if they are collected within 60 days
subsequent to fiscal year-end. Property taxes not collected within 60 days subsequent to fiscal
year-end or collected in advance of the fiscal year for which they are levied are reported as
unavailable revenues.

Special Assessments are recognized as revenue only to the extent that the individual installments
are considered current assets. Annual installments not currently receivable are reflected as
deferred inflow of resources.

NOTE 4 - INTERFUND BALANCES AND ACTIVITY

Interfund transfers - Interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2018 were as follows:

Transfer from

Transfers to
Debt Service

Fund

Capital
Improvements

Fund Total
General Fund $ 6,714 $ 58,678 $ 65,392
Capital Improvements Funds 147,396 147,396

Total $ 154,110 $ 58,678 $ 212,788

Interfund receivables and payables - Interfund balances for the year ended June 30, 2018
were as follows:

Due to

Due from General Fund
Debt Service

Fund Total
General Fund $ 41,742 $ 41,742
Debt Service Fund $ 42,969 42,969
Capital Improvements Funds 61,469 61,469

Total $ 42,969 $ 103,211 $ 146,180

14



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 5 - LONG TERM DEBT

The Districts are authorized under state law to issue General Obligation (GO) bonds and Special
Assessment (SA) bonds to be repaid by property taxes and special assessments levied on
property within the districts. CFDs are created by petition of the Town Council by property
owners within the area to be covered by the districts and debt may be issued only after approval
of the voters within the districts.

Bonds payable from the Districts at June 30, 2018, consisted of the outstanding general
obligation bonds and special assessment  presented below.

General obligation bonds:

In November 2010 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment issued
$3,560,000 of Series 2010 GO bonds to finance capital improvements within the District.
Interest rate is 5.86%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 15 and January 15.
Principal payments are due annually on July 15 with final maturities on July 15, 2035.

In December 2013 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 issued $1,850,000 of
GO Series 2013 bonds at a premium to pay costs of acquiring certain public infrastructure within
the boundaries of the District. Interest rates are 1.50% to 6.75%; semi-annual interest payments
are due on July 15 and January 15. Principal payments are due annually on July 15 with final
maturities on July 15, 2038.

In June 2016 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 issued $2,000,000 of GO
Series 2016 bonds at a premium to pay costs of acquiring certain public infrastructure within the
boundaries of the District. Interest rates are 2.0% to 5.25%; semi-annual interest payments are
due on July 15 and January 15. Principal payments are due annually on July 15 with final
maturities on July 15, 2040.

In February 2017 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 issued $3,245,000 of
GO Series 2017 refunding bonds to advance refund a portion of outstanding GO 2008 Series A
bonds. The net proceeds of $3,245,000 together with a debt service contribution of $300,000
were deposited in an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to provide funds for the future debt
service payments on the refunded bonds in three payment ending July 15, 2018. As a result, a
portion of those GO 2008 Series A bonds are considered defeased and the liability for those
bonds has been removed from the statement of net position. Interest rate is 2.97%; semi-annual
interest payments are due on July 15 and January 15. Principal payments are due annually on
July 15 with final maturities on July 15, 2029.

In November 2017 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 issued $1,440,000 of
GO Series 2017 bonds to pay costs of acquiring certain public infrastructure within the
boundaries of the District. Interest rates are 2.0% to 5.0%; semi-annual interest payments are due
on July 15 and January 15. Principal payments are due annually on July 15 with final maturities
on July 15, 2042.

15



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 5 - LONG TERM DEBT - Continued

Special assessments bonds:

In June 2006 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area one issued
$2,464,000 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.  Interest rates are 4.3% to
5.3%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are
due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2030.

In June 2006 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment area one issued
$2,555,000 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.  Interest rates are 4.3% to
5.3%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are
due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2030.

In September 2009 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area two
issued $353,500 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
Interest rate is 9.0%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal
payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2034.

In September 2009 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment areas two
and three issued $829,500 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within
the district. Interest rates is 9.0%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January
1. Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2034.

In February 2010 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment area four
issued $203,000 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
Interest rates is 7.75%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal
payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2035.

In October 2010 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area three
issued $290,500 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
Interest rates is 7.5%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal
payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2035.

In July 2012 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area five issued
$189,000 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
Interest rates is 6.88%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal
payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2037.

16



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 5 - LONG TERM DEBT - Continued

In July 2016 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area eight issued
$987,000 of special assessment bonds to pay costs of acquiring certain public infrastructure
within the boundaries of the District. Interest rates is 5.75%; semi-annual interest payments are
due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities
on July 1, 2040.

In January 2018 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment area seven
issued $262,500 of special assessment bonds to pay costs of acquiring certain public
infrastructure within the boundaries of the District. Interest rates is 6%; semi-annual interest
payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with
final maturities on July 1, 2042.

In April 2018 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area nine issued
$1,477,000 of special assessment bonds to pay costs of acquiring certain public infrastructure
within the boundaries of the District. Interest rates is 6%; semi-annual interest payments are due
on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on
July 1, 2042.

Special assessments lien bonds:

In January 2012, the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area four
issued $318,500 of special assessment lien bonds to finance capital improvements within the
district. These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.   Interest rate is
7.5%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are
due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2036.

In July 2013, the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area six issued
$413,000 of special assessment lien bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.   Interest rate is 7.25%;
semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due
annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2038.

In October 2014, the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area seven
issued $728,000 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.   Interest rate is 6.875%;
semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due
annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2039.

In May 2013, the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment area one issued
$556,500 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district. These
bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.   Interest rate is 6.750%; semi-
annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due annually
on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2038.

17



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 5 - LONG TERM DEBT - Continued

In July 2016, the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment area six issued
$241,500 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district. These
bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.   Interest rate is 6.0%; semi-
annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due annually
on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2040.

Bonds payable at year end consisted of the following outstanding bonds. The bonds are both
callable and noncallable with interest payable semiannually. 

Description

Original
Amount
Issued Interest Rate Maturity

Outstanding
Principal -

End of Year
Due Within
One Year

General obligation bonds:
CFD No.1 General Obligation Bonds 2008A $ 4,390,000 6.00-7.40% 07/15/2033 $ 395,000 $ 125,000
CFD No.2 General Obligation Bonds 2010 3,560,000 5.86% 07/15/2035 2,645,000 90,000
CFD No.2 General Obligation Bonds 2013 1,850,000 1.50-6.75% 07/15/2038 1,705,000 25,000
CFD No.2 General Obligation Bonds 2016 2,000,000 2.00-5.25% 07/15/2040 1,860,000 35,000
CFD No.1 General Obligation Bonds 2017 3,245,000 2.97% 07/15/2029 3,180,000 340,000
CFD No.2 General Obligation Bonds 2017 1,440,000 2.00-5.00% 07/15/2042 1,440,000 690,000

Special assessment bonds:
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2006 2,464,000 4.30-5.30% 07/01/2030 1,053,000 58,000
CFD No.2 Special Assessment Bonds 2006 2,555,000 4.30-5.30% 07/01/2030 1,177,000 66,000
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2009 353,500 9.00% 07/01/2034 248,150 6,420
CFD No.2 Special Assessment Bonds 2009 829,500 9.00% 07/01/2034 581,120 15,750
CFD No.2 Special Assessment Bonds 2010 203,000 7.75% 07/01/2035 157,170 3,900
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2010 290,500 7.5% 07/01/2035 245,730 7,200
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2012 189,000 6.88% 07/01/2037 161,000 4,000
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2016 987,000 5.75% 07/01/2040 967,000 21,000
CFD No.2 Special Assessment Bonds 2018 262,500 6% 07/01/2042 262,500
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2018 1,477,000 6% 07/01/2042 1,477,000

Special assessment lien bonds:
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Lien Bonds 2012 318,500 7.5% 07/01/2036 195,191 7,290
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Lien Bonds 2013 413,000 7.25% 07/01/2038 340,588 8,460
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Lien Bonds 2014 728,000 6.875% 07/01/2039 558,053 14,540
CFD No.2  Special Assessment Lien Bonds 2013 556,500 6.75% 07/01/2038 415,392 12,040
CFD No.2  Special Assessment Lien Bonds 2016 241,500 6% 07/01/2040 209,672 5,040

Total $28,353,500 $19,273,566 $ 1,534,640

18



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 5 - LONG TERM DEBT - Continued

The annual debt service requirements to maturity on governmental bonds payable at June 30,
2018, are summarized as follows:

General Obligation Bonds Special Assessment Bonds
Special Assessment Lien

Bonds
Year ending June 30: Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2019 $ 1,305,000 $ 502,723 $ 182,270 $ 291,109 $ 47,370 $ 146,085
2020 400,000 473,524 197,210 393,266 50,647 142,696
2021 415,000 453,333 241,470 365,252 54,154 139,072
2022 425,000 435,269 256,540 350,446 57,906 135,197
2023 445,000 419,465 271,980 334,647 61,905 131,052

61905 8,235,000 4,232,897 5,180,200 2,775,340 1,446,914 1,188,184
Total $11,225,000 $ 6,517,211 $ 6,329,670 $ 4,510,060 $ 1,718,896 $ 1,882,286

The following schedule details the Districts' long-term liability and obligation activity for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2018:

Balance at
July 1, 2017,

restated Additions Reductions
Balance at

June 30, 2018
Due Within
One Year

Governmental activities:
General obligation

bonds $ 10,125,000 $ 1,440,000 $ (340,000) $ 11,225,000 $ 1,305,000
Special assessment

bonds 4,764,240 1,739,500 (174,070) 6,329,670 182,270
Special assessment lien

bonds 1,851,873 (132,977) 1,718,896 47,370
Premiums 180,502 98,437 (11,537) 267,402

Total $ 16,921,615 $ 3,277,937 $ (658,584) $ 19,540,968 $ 1,534,640

19



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 6 - BEGINNING BALANCES RESTATED

The beginning fund balance of the debt service fund reported in the Town's financial statements
as of June 30, 2017 was restated to record other liabilities previously omitted. 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Debt service fund Debt service fund

Fund balances, June 30, 2017 $ 3,640,489
Prior period correction (827,776)
Fund balance, July 1, 2017, as restated $ 2,812,713

20



 MERRILL RANCH 
COMMUNITY FACILITIES 

DISTRICT NO. 2 
ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
9a.  

MEETING DATE:  April 15, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Merrill Ranch Community Facilities  
                            District No. 2  
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Rebecca Jimenez, Interim District 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
Subject:  MRCFD1 AND MRCFD2 Audit  Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

Treasurer 
  
Kevin Camberg, Fester Chapman, PLLC, Certified Public 
Accountants 
 
SUBJECT:  Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 
Audit 

 Ordinance   
 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Accept and approve the Community Facilities Districts Audit. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
The Merrill Ranch Community District No. 1 and 2 Board authorized an audit of both 
Community Facilities Districts to identify the balances in each fund and to verify the tax 
collections, assessment collections and the balances within each issue. 
 
This is the first audit specific to the Districts.  The purpose is to verify balances and to 
ensure that accounting for the Districts are performed as required.  The Districts are 
reviewed during the regular Town of Florence audits.  Due to the changes in Financial 
Management, over the last several years, the District Manager and Financial Advisor 
felt it was necessary to perform the audit. 
 
Fester and Chapman, PLLC, the Town’s contracted auditors, provided the special audit.   
The audit is now complete and ready for presentation to the District Board for 
Community Facilities District No. 1 and Community Facilities District No. 2.         



Subject:  MRCFD1 AND MRCFD2 Audit  Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

Kevin Camberg, of Fester Chapman, PLLC, will present the financial audit and answer 
questions from the District Board. 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 
 
Not accepting the annual audit. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 
 
Accepting the annual audit. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The cost of the audit was $15,000.  Each District paid for one half of the audit from their 
administrative funds.  This is the Ad Valorem Tax that is collected at $.30 per $100 of 
Net Assessed Valuation.  These funds are specific to provide funding for administrative 
expenditures. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Report to the Community Facilities District Board and Audit  



 

 

 

 

 

Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2 

(Component Units of Town of Florence, Arizona) 

 

REPORT TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

 

June 30, 2018 



Address • 9019 East Bahia Drive Suite 100 • Scottsdale, AZ 85260    Phone • (602) 264-3077      Fax • (602) 265-6241 

March 29, 2019 

To the Board of Directors of 
Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2 
Town of Florence, Arizona 

We have audited the financial statements of the governmental activities and each major fund of 
the Town of Florence, Arizona (the Districts) for the year ended June 30, 2018, and have issued 
our report thereon dated March 29, 2019. Professional standards require that we provide you 
with information about our responsibilities under generally accepted auditing standards as well 
as certain information related to the planned scope and timing of our audit. We have 
communicated such information in our letter to you dated October 23, 2018. Professional 
standards require that we provide you with the following information related to our audit. 

Significant Audit Findings  

Qualitative Aspects of Accounting Practices 

Management is responsible for the selection and use of appropriate accounting policies. The 
significant accounting policies used by the Districts are described in Note 1 to the financial 
statements. As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, the Districts has adopted 
Governmental Accounting Standard Board (GASB) Statement No. 75. Accounting and Financial 
Reporting for Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, as amended by GASB Statement 
No. 85 Omnibus 2017. We noted no transactions entered into by the Districts during the year for 
which there is a lack of authoritative guidance or consensus. All significant transactions have 
been recognized in the financial statements in the proper period. 

The disclosures in the financial statements are neutral, consistent, and clear. Certain financial 
statement disclosures are particularly sensitive because of their significance to financial 
statement users.  The most sensitive disclosure affecting the financial statements was the 
disclosure of long-term debt in Note 5 to the financial statements 

Difficulties Encountered in Performing the Audit  

We encountered difficulties in performing and completing our audit due to additional audit 
procedures that were necessary to correct the Community Facilities Districts’ special assessments 
lien bonds and corresponding infrastructure. In addition, significant audit effort was necessary as we 
proposed 10 audit adjustments and received 9 post-closing journal entries from management.  



Corrected and Uncorrected Misstatements  

Professional standards require us to accumulate all known and likely misstatements identified 
during the audit, other than those that are trivial, and communicate them to the appropriate level 
of management. There were 10 adjusting journal entries detected as a result of audit procedures 
and corrected by management. Management also posted 9 post-closing journal entry after 
commencement of field work.  

Disagreements with Management 

For purposes of this letter, professional standards define a disagreement with management as a 
financial accounting, reporting, or auditing matter, whether or not resolved to our satisfaction, 
that could be significant to the financial statements or the auditors’ report. We are pleased to 
report that no such disagreements arose during the course of our audit. 

Management Representations  

We have requested certain representations from management that are included in the 
management representation letter dated March 29, 2019. 

Management Consultations with Other Independent Accountants  

In some cases, management may decide to consult with other accountants about auditing and 
accounting matters, similar to obtaining a “second opinion” on certain situations. If a 
consultation involves application of an accounting principle to the Districts’ financial statements 
or a determination of the type of auditors’ opinion that may be expressed on those statements, 
our professional standards require the consulting accountant to check with us to determine that 
the consultant has all the relevant facts. To our knowledge, there were no such consultations with 
other accountants. 

Other Audit Findings or Issues  

We generally discuss a variety of matters, including the application of accounting principles and 
auditing standards, with management prior to retention as the Districts’ auditors. However, these 
discussions occurred in the normal course of our professional relationship and our responses 
were not a condition to our retention.   

Restriction on Use 

This information is intended solely for the use of the Board of Directors and management of the 
Districts and is not intended to be and should not be used by anyone other than these specified 
parties. 

Very truly yours, 



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities 
Districts No. 1 and No. 2

(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

Annual Financial Report

June 30, 2018



(This page left intentionally blank)



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2

(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT

Year ended June 30, 2018

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Independent Auditors' Report.......................................................................................................1 - 2

Basic Financial Statements:

Government-Wide Statements:

Statement of Net Position.....................................................................................................3

Statement of Activities..........................................................................................................4

Fund Financial Statements:

Governmental Funds:

Balance Sheet.................................................................................................................5

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Balance Sheet to the Government-
Wide Statement of Net Position..................................................................................6

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances.........................7

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances to the Government-Wide
Statement of Activities................................................................................................8

Notes to Financial Statements..............................................................................................9 - 20



(This page left intentionally blank)



	
	

 

Address • 9019 East Bahia Drive Suite 100 • Scottsdale, AZ 85260          Phone • (602) 264-3077         Fax • (602) 265-6241 

	

	

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Board of Directors of
Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
Florence, Arizona

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of governmental activities and each major fund
of the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2 (the Districts), a component unit of
the Town of Florence, Arizona, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2018, and the related notes to the
financial statements, which collectively comprise the Districts’ basic financial statements as listed in the
table of contents.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes
the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair
presentation of the financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or
error.

Auditors’ Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgment, including the
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Districts’
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the entity’s internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes
evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant
accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our audit opinion. 

1



Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial positions of the Districts, as of June 30, 2018, and the respective changes in financial position
thereof for the year then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America.

Emphasis of Matter

As discussed in Note 1, the financial statements of the Districts are intended to present the financial
position and changes in financial position of only that portion of the governmental activities of the Town
of Florence that is attributable to the transactions of the Districts. They do not purport to, and do not,
present fairly the financial position of the Town of Florence as of June 30, 2018, and the changes in its
financial position, for the year ended in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. Our opinion is not modified with respect to this matter.

Other Matters

Required Supplementary Information

Management has omitted Management’s Discussion and Analysis and budgetary comparison
information that accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require to be
presented to supplement the basic financial statements. Such missing information, although not a part of
the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who
considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an
appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. Our opinion on the basic financial statements is
not affected by this missing information. 

March 29, 2019

2



BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS



(This page left intentionally blank)



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2

(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

June 30, 2018

ASSETS

Pooled cash and investments $ 5,152,792
Restricted cash 4,274,586
Accounts receivable 6,908,250
Prepaids 199,980

Total assets 16,535,608

LIABILITIES

Accrued wages and benefits $ 406
Accrued interest payable 484,435
Other accrued liabilities 1,084,482
Due to other governments 68,206
Noncurrent liabilities:

Due within 1 year 1,534,640
Due in more than 1 year 18,006,328

Total liabilities 21,178,497

NET POSITION

Restricted for:
Debt service 3,739,617
Highways and streets 4,197,267

Unrestricted (deficit) (12,579,773)
Total net position $ (4,642,889)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
3



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2

(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

 Year ended June 30, 2018

REVENUES
Property taxes $ 1,436,869
Special assessments 2,343,429
Operating grants and contributions 18,500
Investment income 33,000
Miscellaneous 61,206

Total revenues 3,893,004

EXPENSES
General government 589,480
Capital outlay 1,081,765
Interest and other charges 901,492

Total expenses 2,572,737

Change in net position 1,320,267
Net position, beginning of year (5,963,156)

Net position, end of year $ (4,642,889)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
4



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2

(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

BALANCE SHEET - GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS

 June 30, 2018

General
Debt 

Service
Capital 

Improvements
Fund Fund Fund Total

ASSETS
Pooled cash and investments $ 340,896 $ 4,314,022 $ 497,874 $ 5,152,792
Restricted pooled cash and

investments 636,662 3,637,924 4,274,586
Accounts receivable 181 6,908,069 6,908,250
Due from other funds 41,742 42,969 61,469 146,180
Prepaid 199,980 199,980

Total assets $ 382,819 $ 12,101,702 $ 4,197,267 $ 16,681,788

LIABILITIES
Accrued wages and benefits $ 406 $ 406
Other liabilities $ 1,084,482 1,084,482
Due to other funds 42,969 103,211 146,180
Due to other governments 68,206 68,206

Total liabilities 43,375 1,255,899 1,299,274

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF
RESOURCES

Deferred revenue 21 6,906,206 6,906,227
Total deferred inflows of

resources 21 6,906,206 6,906,227

FUND BALANCES 
Nonspendable:

Prepaid items 199,980 199,980
Restricted:

Debt service 3,739,617 3,739,617
Capital projects $ 4,197,267 4,197,267

Unassigned 339,423 339,423
Total fund balances 339,423 3,939,597 4,197,267 8,476,287
Total liabilities, deferred

inflows of resources, and
fund balances $ 382,819 $ 12,101,702 $ 4,197,267 $ 16,681,788

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
5



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2

(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS BALANCE SHEET
 TO THE GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF NET POSITION

 June 30, 2018

Fund balances - total governmental funds balance sheet $ 8,476,287

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net
Position are different because:

Unavailable revenue for special assessments is shown in the
governmental funds, but is recognized as revenue on the Statement
of Net Position. 6,906,227

Long-term liabilities, including, bonds payable and their related
costs, are not due and payable in the current period and therefore
are not reported in the funds.

Bonds payable
Premiums

$ (19,273,566)
(267,402) (19,540,968)

Interest payable on long-term debt is not reported in the
governmental funds (484,435)

Net position of governmental activities $ (4,642,889)

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
6



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES

Year ended June 30, 2018

General 
Debt 

Service
Capital 

Improvements
Fund Fund Fund Total

REVENUES
Property taxes $ 121,460 $ 1,315,409 $ 1,436,869
Special assessments 1,242,454 1,242,454
Investment income 1,406 16,370 $ 15,224 33,000
Intergovernmental revenue 18,500 18,500
Miscellaneous 61,206 61,206

Total revenues 184,072 2,592,733 15,224 2,792,029

EXPENDITURES
Current:

General government 130,443 71,420 386,454 588,317
Capital outlay 1,081,765 1,081,765
Debt service:

Principal 647,047 647,047
Interest and other charges 901,492 901,492

Total expenditures 130,443 1,619,959 1,468,219 3,218,621
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over

(under) expenditures 53,629 972,774 (1,452,995) (426,592)

OTHER FINANCING SOURCES
(USES)

General obligation bonds issued 1,424,450 1,424,450
Premium on general obligation

bonds 98,437 98,437
Special assessment bonds issued 1,739,500 1,739,500
Transfers in 154,110 58,678 212,788
Transfers out (65,392) (147,396) (212,788)

Total other financing sources
(uses) (65,392) 154,110 3,173,669 3,262,387

Net change in fund balances (11,763) 1,126,884 1,720,674 2,835,795

Fund balances (deficits), beginning of
year, as restated 351,186 2,812,713 2,476,593 5,640,492

Fund balances (deficits), end of year $ 339,423 $ 3,939,597 $ 4,197,267 $ 8,476,287

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
7



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

RECONCILIATION OF THE GOVERNMENTAL FUNDS 
STATEMENT OF REVENUES, EXPENDITURES, AND CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES 

TO THE GOVERNMENT-WIDE STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

Year ended June 30, 2018

 Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds $ 2,835,795

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities
are different because:

Revenues in the statement of activities that do not provide current financial
resources are not reported as revenues in the funds. 1,100,975

Debt proceeds provide current financial resources to governmental funds,
but issuing debt increases long-term liabilities in the statement of net
position. Repayment of debt principal is an expenditure in the
governmental funds, but the repayment reduces long-term liabilities in the
statement of net position. Also, governmental funds report the effect of
premiums, discounts, and similar items when debt is issued, whereas these
amounts are amortized in the statement of activities. 

Issuance of bonds
Bond principal retirement
Amortization of bond premiums

$ (3,275,087)
647,047

11,537 (2,616,503)

Change in net position of governmental activities $ 1,320,267

See accompanying notes to financial statements.
8



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(the Districts), component units of the Town of Florence, Arizona (the Town), conform to
generally accepted accounting principles applicable to government units adopted by the
Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB). A summary of the District's more
significant accounting policies follows.

A. Reporting Entity

The Districts were formed by petition to the Town Council on December 19, 2005 (No. 1) and
November 21, 2005 (No. 2). The purpose of the Districts is to acquire or construct public
infrastructure in specified areas of the Town. As special purpose districts and separate political
subdivisions under the Arizona Constitution, the Districts may levy taxes and issue bonds
independently of the Town.  Property owned in the designated areas is assessed for the Districts’
property taxes, and thus for the costs of operating the Districts. The Town Council serves as the
Board of Directors of the Districts. The Town has no liability for the Districts’ debt. For
reporting purposes, the transactions of the Districts are included as governmental type funds as if
they were part of the Town’s operations.

B. Government-Wide and Fund Financial Statements

The government-wide financial statements (i.e. the Statement of Net Position and the Statement
of Activities) present financial information about the Districts as a whole. For the most part, the
effect of interfund activity has been removed from these statements. Governmental activities,
which are normally are supported by taxes, special assessments and miscellaneous revenues, are
reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and
charges for support. The Districts had no business-type activities during the fiscal year.

C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation

Government-wide Financial Statements - The government-wide financial statements are reported
using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Revenues
are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of
the timing of related cash flow.   

Fund Financial Statements - Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the
current financial resources measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting.
Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are
considered to be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough
thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For this purpose, the Districts consider revenues
to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.

Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting.

9



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

However, debt services expenditures, as well as expenditures related to compensated absences
and claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due. However, since debt service
resources are provided during the current year for payment of governmental long-term principal
and interest due early in the following year, the expenditures and related liabilities have been
recognized in the Debt Service Fund.

Property taxes associated with the current fiscal period are considered to be susceptible to
accrual and have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. Interest is accrued in
the current fiscal period when the revenue is earned. All other revenue items are considered to be
measurable and available only when cash is received by the government. 

Special assessments are recognized as revenue only to the extent that the individual installments
are considered current assets. Annual installments not currently receivable are reflected as
deferred inflows of resources.  

The Districts reports the following major governmental funds:

 General Fund - This fund accounts for resources accumulated and used for the payment of
general operating expenses for the Districts, which may include insurance, legal fees, and
administration costs.

 Debt Service Fund - This fund accounts for resources accumulated and used for the payment
of the Districts' long-term debt principal, interest, and related costs.

 Capital Improvements Fund - This fund accounts for resources accumulated and used for
acquiring and improving public infrastructure.

D. Cash and Investments

The Districts participate in the Town's investment pool that is available for the use of all Town
funds. The Districts' pool is reported on the financial statements as "pooled cash and
investments". The Districts' portion of the pool is not identified within specific investments.

The Districts consider all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or fewer
when purchased to be cash equivalents. 

The Districts investments are stated at fair value. Fair value is based on quoted market prices as
of the valuation date. 

10



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

E. Restricted assets

Certain proceeds of the Districts' bonds, as well as certain resources set aside for their
repayments, are classified as restricted on the balance sheet because they are maintained in
separate bank accounts and their use is limited by applicable debt covenants. 

F. Capital Assets

Capital assets acquired or infrastructure assets constructed by the Districts are dedicated to the
Town to maintain and operate. As a result, the Districts own no capital assets. 

G. Long-term Obligations

In the government-wide financial statements and proprietary fund financial statements, long-
term debt and other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the Statement of Net
Position. Bond premiums and discount are amortized over the life of the bonds using the straight
line method. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. 

In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums, discounts,
and issuance costs during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other
financing sources. Premiums received on the debt issuances are reported as other financing
sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuances costs,
whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service
expenditures. 

H. Deferred Inflows

In addition to liabilities, the fund financial statements include a section for deferred inflows of
resources. This represents an acquisition of fund balance that applies to a future period(s) and so
will not be recognized as an inflow of resources (revenue) until that time. The Districts have
only one item that qualifies for this category, which arises only under the modified accrual basis
of accounting, unavailable revenue. These amounts are recognized as an inflow of resources in
the period that the amounts become available.

11



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

I. Fund Balance

In the fund financial statements, governmental funds report nonspendable portions of fund
balance related to prepaid expenses. Restricted funds are constrained from outside parties
(statute, grantors, bond agreements, etc.). Committed fund balances are established and modified
by a resolution approved by the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors passed a resolution
authorizing the Town of Florence to assign fund balances and their intended uses. Unassigned
fund balances are considered the remaining amounts. When an expenditure is incurred for
purposes for which both restricted and unrestricted fund balance is available, it is the District’s
policy to use restricted first, then unrestricted fund balance. When an expenditure is incurred for
purposes for which committed, assigned, and unassigned amounts are available, it is the
District’s policy to use committed first, then assigned, and finally unassigned amounts. Currently
the District does not have any nonspendable, assigned or committed funds.

In the government-wide financial statements, net position is reported in two categories: restricted
net position and unrestricted net position. Restricted net position accounts for the portion of net
position restricted by bond covenants. Unrestricted net position is the remaining net position not
included in the previous category. 

J. Budgetary Information

The Districts adopt an annual operating budget for expenditures for the General Fund on
essentially the same modified accrual basis of accounting used to record actual expenditures.
Budgetary control over expenditures is exercised at the fund level.

K. Deficit Net Position

As described in Note A, the Districts were formed to finance and acquire or construct
infrastructure assets that are subsequently dedicated to the Town for operation. The Districts do
not own or operate infrastructure. Therefore, the Statement of Net Position includes long term
debt without the corresponding capital assets. 

L. Use of Estimates

In preparing financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles,
management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities, the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures (expenses) during the
reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

12



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 2 - POOLED CASH AND INVESTMENTS

The Districts participate in the pooled cash and investments of the Town for daily transactions.
The Town then periodically requests reimbursement from the Districts’ restricted funds held by
the trustee. At June 30, 2018, the Districts had a balance of $5,152,792 in the Town’s pooled
cash and investments. Restricted cash consists of the required debt service reserve fund and cash
held by an outside agency for restricted use. Its future use will be for the repayments on
outstanding bonds payable and capital improvements. 

The Town's investment pool is not an SEC registered investment company, and there is no
regulatory oversight of its operation. The pools' structure does not provide for shares, and the
Town has not provided, nor obtained, any legally binding guarantees to support the value of
participant's investments. The Town allocates interest earnings to each participating fund. The
Town's investments are valued at fair value; however, the Town's investments are not identified
with specific shares. The District does not have a separate investment policy and follows the
Town's policies.

Below are the relevant policies with regard to interest rate risk, credit risk, concentration of
credit risk and custodial credit risk

Interest Rate Risk - Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates will
adversely affect the fair value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an
investment, the greater the sensitivity of its fair value to changes in market interest rates. The
Town has no policy regarding interest rate risk. State law limits investments into securities
having maturities no greater than five (5) years. The maximum maturity for investments in
repurchase agreements is 180 days.

Credit risk – The Town does not have a formal investment policy regarding credit risk. However,
the Town is prohibited by State law from investing in investments other than obligations of the
U.S. Treasury and U.S. agencies, certificates of deposit in eligible depositories, repurchase
agreements, obligations of the State of Arizona or any of its counties or incorporated cities,
towns or duly organized school districts, improvement districts in this state and the State
Treasurer’s Local Investment Pool.

Concentration of Credit Risk - At June 30, 2018, the Town’s investments include 44% invested
in U.S. agency securities, 30% in Repurchase Agreements, 13% in corporate bonds, 10% in U.S.
Treasury securities, 2% in Money Market funds and 1% in the State Investment Pool (LGIP). 

Custodial credit risk - To control custodial credit risk, State law and the Town's investment
policy require all securities and collateral to be held by an independent third party custodian in
the Town’s name. The custodian provides the Town with monthly market values along with
original safekeeping receipts.

13



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 3 - ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

The Pinal County Treasurer (County) is responsible for collecting property taxes and special
assessments for all governmental entities within the County. The County levies property taxes
due to the Districts. In addition, the Districts provide the County with the special assessments to
be billed. These taxes and assessments are billed to the property owners by the County in
September. Two equal installments, payable in October and April, become delinquent after the
first business days in November and May.

Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the fiscal year they are levied in the government-
wide financial statements and represent a reconciling item between the government-wide and
fund financial statements. In the fund financial statements, property taxes are recognized as
revenues in the fiscal year they are levied and collected or if they are collected within 60 days
subsequent to fiscal year-end. Property taxes not collected within 60 days subsequent to fiscal
year-end or collected in advance of the fiscal year for which they are levied are reported as
unavailable revenues.

Special Assessments are recognized as revenue only to the extent that the individual installments
are considered current assets. Annual installments not currently receivable are reflected as
deferred inflow of resources.

NOTE 4 - INTERFUND BALANCES AND ACTIVITY

Interfund transfers - Interfund transfers for the year ended June 30, 2018 were as follows:

Transfer from

Transfers to
Debt Service

Fund

Capital
Improvements

Fund Total
General Fund $ 6,714 $ 58,678 $ 65,392
Capital Improvements Funds 147,396 147,396

Total $ 154,110 $ 58,678 $ 212,788

Interfund receivables and payables - Interfund balances for the year ended June 30, 2018
were as follows:

Due to

Due from General Fund
Debt Service

Fund Total
General Fund $ 41,742 $ 41,742
Debt Service Fund $ 42,969 42,969
Capital Improvements Funds 61,469 61,469

Total $ 42,969 $ 103,211 $ 146,180

14



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 5 - LONG TERM DEBT

The Districts are authorized under state law to issue General Obligation (GO) bonds and Special
Assessment (SA) bonds to be repaid by property taxes and special assessments levied on
property within the districts. CFDs are created by petition of the Town Council by property
owners within the area to be covered by the districts and debt may be issued only after approval
of the voters within the districts.

Bonds payable from the Districts at June 30, 2018, consisted of the outstanding general
obligation bonds and special assessment  presented below.

General obligation bonds:

In November 2010 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment issued
$3,560,000 of Series 2010 GO bonds to finance capital improvements within the District.
Interest rate is 5.86%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 15 and January 15.
Principal payments are due annually on July 15 with final maturities on July 15, 2035.

In December 2013 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 issued $1,850,000 of
GO Series 2013 bonds at a premium to pay costs of acquiring certain public infrastructure within
the boundaries of the District. Interest rates are 1.50% to 6.75%; semi-annual interest payments
are due on July 15 and January 15. Principal payments are due annually on July 15 with final
maturities on July 15, 2038.

In June 2016 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 issued $2,000,000 of GO
Series 2016 bonds at a premium to pay costs of acquiring certain public infrastructure within the
boundaries of the District. Interest rates are 2.0% to 5.25%; semi-annual interest payments are
due on July 15 and January 15. Principal payments are due annually on July 15 with final
maturities on July 15, 2040.

In February 2017 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 issued $3,245,000 of
GO Series 2017 refunding bonds to advance refund a portion of outstanding GO 2008 Series A
bonds. The net proceeds of $3,245,000 together with a debt service contribution of $300,000
were deposited in an irrevocable trust with an escrow agent to provide funds for the future debt
service payments on the refunded bonds in three payment ending July 15, 2018. As a result, a
portion of those GO 2008 Series A bonds are considered defeased and the liability for those
bonds has been removed from the statement of net position. Interest rate is 2.97%; semi-annual
interest payments are due on July 15 and January 15. Principal payments are due annually on
July 15 with final maturities on July 15, 2029.

In November 2017 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 issued $1,440,000 of
GO Series 2017 bonds to pay costs of acquiring certain public infrastructure within the
boundaries of the District. Interest rates are 2.0% to 5.0%; semi-annual interest payments are due
on July 15 and January 15. Principal payments are due annually on July 15 with final maturities
on July 15, 2042.

15



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 5 - LONG TERM DEBT - Continued

Special assessments bonds:

In June 2006 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area one issued
$2,464,000 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.  Interest rates are 4.3% to
5.3%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are
due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2030.

In June 2006 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment area one issued
$2,555,000 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.  Interest rates are 4.3% to
5.3%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are
due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2030.

In September 2009 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area two
issued $353,500 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
Interest rate is 9.0%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal
payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2034.

In September 2009 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment areas two
and three issued $829,500 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within
the district. Interest rates is 9.0%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January
1. Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2034.

In February 2010 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment area four
issued $203,000 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
Interest rates is 7.75%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal
payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2035.

In October 2010 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area three
issued $290,500 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
Interest rates is 7.5%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal
payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2035.

In July 2012 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area five issued
$189,000 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
Interest rates is 6.88%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal
payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2037.

16



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 5 - LONG TERM DEBT - Continued

In July 2016 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area eight issued
$987,000 of special assessment bonds to pay costs of acquiring certain public infrastructure
within the boundaries of the District. Interest rates is 5.75%; semi-annual interest payments are
due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities
on July 1, 2040.

In January 2018 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment area seven
issued $262,500 of special assessment bonds to pay costs of acquiring certain public
infrastructure within the boundaries of the District. Interest rates is 6%; semi-annual interest
payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with
final maturities on July 1, 2042.

In April 2018 the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area nine issued
$1,477,000 of special assessment bonds to pay costs of acquiring certain public infrastructure
within the boundaries of the District. Interest rates is 6%; semi-annual interest payments are due
on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due annually on July 1 with final maturities on
July 1, 2042.

Special assessments lien bonds:

In January 2012, the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area four
issued $318,500 of special assessment lien bonds to finance capital improvements within the
district. These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.   Interest rate is
7.5%; semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are
due annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2036.

In July 2013, the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area six issued
$413,000 of special assessment lien bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.   Interest rate is 7.25%;
semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due
annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2038.

In October 2014, the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 1 assessment area seven
issued $728,000 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district.
These bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.   Interest rate is 6.875%;
semi-annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due
annually on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2039.

In May 2013, the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment area one issued
$556,500 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district. These
bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.   Interest rate is 6.750%; semi-
annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due annually
on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2038.

17



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 5 - LONG TERM DEBT - Continued

In July 2016, the Merrill Ranch Community Facilities District No. 2 assessment area six issued
$241,500 of special assessment bonds to finance capital improvements within the district. These
bonds will be repaid by the property owners within the district.   Interest rate is 6.0%; semi-
annual interest payments are due on July 1 and January 1. Principal payments are due annually
on July 1 with final maturities on July 1, 2040.

Bonds payable at year end consisted of the following outstanding bonds. The bonds are both
callable and noncallable with interest payable semiannually. 

Description

Original
Amount
Issued Interest Rate Maturity

Outstanding
Principal -

End of Year
Due Within
One Year

General obligation bonds:
CFD No.1 General Obligation Bonds 2008A $ 4,390,000 6.00-7.40% 07/15/2033 $ 395,000 $ 125,000
CFD No.2 General Obligation Bonds 2010 3,560,000 5.86% 07/15/2035 2,645,000 90,000
CFD No.2 General Obligation Bonds 2013 1,850,000 1.50-6.75% 07/15/2038 1,705,000 25,000
CFD No.2 General Obligation Bonds 2016 2,000,000 2.00-5.25% 07/15/2040 1,860,000 35,000
CFD No.1 General Obligation Bonds 2017 3,245,000 2.97% 07/15/2029 3,180,000 340,000
CFD No.2 General Obligation Bonds 2017 1,440,000 2.00-5.00% 07/15/2042 1,440,000 690,000

Special assessment bonds:
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2006 2,464,000 4.30-5.30% 07/01/2030 1,053,000 58,000
CFD No.2 Special Assessment Bonds 2006 2,555,000 4.30-5.30% 07/01/2030 1,177,000 66,000
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2009 353,500 9.00% 07/01/2034 248,150 6,420
CFD No.2 Special Assessment Bonds 2009 829,500 9.00% 07/01/2034 581,120 15,750
CFD No.2 Special Assessment Bonds 2010 203,000 7.75% 07/01/2035 157,170 3,900
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2010 290,500 7.5% 07/01/2035 245,730 7,200
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2012 189,000 6.88% 07/01/2037 161,000 4,000
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2016 987,000 5.75% 07/01/2040 967,000 21,000
CFD No.2 Special Assessment Bonds 2018 262,500 6% 07/01/2042 262,500
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Bonds 2018 1,477,000 6% 07/01/2042 1,477,000

Special assessment lien bonds:
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Lien Bonds 2012 318,500 7.5% 07/01/2036 195,191 7,290
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Lien Bonds 2013 413,000 7.25% 07/01/2038 340,588 8,460
CFD No.1 Special Assessment Lien Bonds 2014 728,000 6.875% 07/01/2039 558,053 14,540
CFD No.2  Special Assessment Lien Bonds 2013 556,500 6.75% 07/01/2038 415,392 12,040
CFD No.2  Special Assessment Lien Bonds 2016 241,500 6% 07/01/2040 209,672 5,040

Total $28,353,500 $19,273,566 $ 1,534,640

18



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 5 - LONG TERM DEBT - Continued

The annual debt service requirements to maturity on governmental bonds payable at June 30,
2018, are summarized as follows:

General Obligation Bonds Special Assessment Bonds
Special Assessment Lien

Bonds
Year ending June 30: Principal Interest Principal Interest Principal Interest

2019 $ 1,305,000 $ 502,723 $ 182,270 $ 291,109 $ 47,370 $ 146,085
2020 400,000 473,524 197,210 393,266 50,647 142,696
2021 415,000 453,333 241,470 365,252 54,154 139,072
2022 425,000 435,269 256,540 350,446 57,906 135,197
2023 445,000 419,465 271,980 334,647 61,905 131,052

61905 8,235,000 4,232,897 5,180,200 2,775,340 1,446,914 1,188,184
Total $11,225,000 $ 6,517,211 $ 6,329,670 $ 4,510,060 $ 1,718,896 $ 1,882,286

The following schedule details the Districts' long-term liability and obligation activity for the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2018:

Balance at
July 1, 2017,

restated Additions Reductions
Balance at

June 30, 2018
Due Within
One Year

Governmental activities:
General obligation

bonds $ 10,125,000 $ 1,440,000 $ (340,000) $ 11,225,000 $ 1,305,000
Special assessment

bonds 4,764,240 1,739,500 (174,070) 6,329,670 182,270
Special assessment lien

bonds 1,851,873 (132,977) 1,718,896 47,370
Premiums 180,502 98,437 (11,537) 267,402

Total $ 16,921,615 $ 3,277,937 $ (658,584) $ 19,540,968 $ 1,534,640

19



Merrill Ranch Community Facilities Districts No. 1 and No. 2
(Component Units of the Town of Florence, Arizona)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 June 30, 2018

NOTE 6 - BEGINNING BALANCES RESTATED

The beginning fund balance of the debt service fund reported in the Town's financial statements
as of June 30, 2017 was restated to record other liabilities previously omitted. 

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and
Changes in Fund Balance - Debt service fund Debt service fund

Fund balances, June 30, 2017 $ 3,640,489
Prior period correction (827,776)
Fund balance, July 1, 2017, as restated $ 2,812,713

20



 

 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
 11a. 

MEETING DATE:  April 15, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Community Services 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Bryan Hughes, 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   
Subject:  Arbor Day 2019 Proclamation  Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

                                      Community Services Director 
 
SUBJECT:  2019 Arbor Day Proclamation

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Proclaim April 26, 2019 as Arbor Day in the Town of Florence and recognition of the Town 
of Florence as a Tree City USA community for the 13th consecutive year. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
Each year, the National Arbor Day Foundation, in cooperation with the USDA Forest 
Service and National Association of State Foresters requests local communities to 
demonstrate their support of urban and community forestry programs throughout the 
country by executing proclamations supporting their cause. 
 
On April 26th, Community Services Staff and patrons from the Dorothy Nolan Senior 
Center will plant a tree at Heritage Park and read the proclamation recognizing Arbor Day 
in Florence, Arizona. 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

Not Applicable 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

Not Applicable 
 
 



 

Subject:  Arbor Day 2019 Proclamation  Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Not Applicable 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Proclamation 



 
 
 

Proclamation 
 

WHEREAS, in 1872, J. Sterling Morton proposed to the Nebraska Board of Agriculture that a 
special day be set aside for the planting of trees, and 

WHEREAS, this holiday, called Arbor Day, was first observed with the planting of more than a 
million trees in Nebraska, and 

WHEREAS, Arbor Day is now observed throughout the nation and the world, and 

WHEREAS, trees can reduce the erosion of our precious topsoil by wind and water, cut heating 
and cooling costs, moderate the temperature, clean the air, produce life-giving oxygen, and provide 
habitat for wildlife, and 

WHEREAS, trees are a renewable resource giving us paper, wood for our homes, fuel for our 
fires and countless other wood products, and 

WHEREAS, trees in our city increase property values, enhance the economic vitality of business 
areas, and beautify our community, and 

WHEREAS, trees, wherever they are planted, are a source of joy and spiritual renewal. 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Tara Walter, Mayor of the Town of Florence, do hereby proclaim April 
26, 2019 as  

Arbor Day 
in the Town of Florence, Arizona, and I urge all citizens to celebrate Arbor Day and to support efforts to 
protect our trees and woodlands, and 

Further, I urge all citizens to plant trees to gladden the heart and promote the well-being of this and future 
generations. 

DATED this 15th day of April 2019. 

             
Tara Walter, Mayor 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
11b.  

MEETING DATE:   April 15, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Legal 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
Subject:  Ratification of an Engagement and Representation Agreement  Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
for legal services with Sims Mackin, LTD. and Cathy Bowman   
Page 1 of 2 

 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Clifford Mattice, Town Attorney 
 
SUBJECT:   Approval and Ratification of an Engagement and 
Representation Agreement for legal services with Sims Mackin, 
LTD. and Cathy Bowman. 

 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    
 Leadership and Governance     Partnerships and Relationships     Transportation and Infrastructure 
 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Motion to approve and ratify an Engagement and Representation Agreement with Sims 
Mackin, LTD.  and Cathy Bowman for legal representation of the Town of Florence in 
legal matters in connection with Town of Florence v. ADEQ, No.LC2017-000466-001 
DT; Town of Florence v. Florence Copper, Inc. CV 2015-000325; Town of Florence v. 
ADEQ, No. 1 CA-CV 19-01222 (Arizona Court of Appeals), including post-trial motions, 
appeals and authorization to enter into related common interest agreements (the 
“appellate proceedings”). 
 
Staff recommends approving and ratifying the Engagement and Representation 
Agreement letter with Sims Mackin, LTD. and Cathy Bowman. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
The post-trial motions and appellate proceedings involve ongoing litigation over the 
operation of the Florence Copper Pilot Test Facility in Florence, Arizona by Florence 
Copper, Inc. (“FCI”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of Taseko Mines Unlimited.  The Town’s 
interest is affected by FCI’s proposal to operate a commercial copper mine in Florence, 
Arizona.  These matters are the subject of administrative or civil litigation, including but 
not limited to regulatory permit challenges, administrative reviews, environmental 
litigation, non-conforming zoning use and condemnation matters several of such 
matters listed above are now subject to post-trial motions and the appellate stages of 
the proceedings for which Sims Mackin, LTD. and Ms. Bowman will provide legal 
services. 
 



Subject:  Ratification of an Engagement and Representation Agreement  Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
for legal services with Sims Mackin, LTD. and Cathy Bowman   
Page 2 of 2 

This action approves and ratifies the Town’s engagement of Sims Mackin, LTD. and 
Cathy Bowman as specialized, appellate outside counsel representing the Town in the 
post-trial motions and appellate proceedings. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

The Town retains Cathy Bowman (and Sims Mackin, LTD.) as its lawyer for the post-
trial motions and appellate proceedings. 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

The Town does not retain Cathy Bowman (and Sims Mackin, LTD.) as its lawyer for the 
post-trial motions and appellate proceedings. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The expenses for legal fees and related services are budgeted annually based upon the 
projected activities for the proceedings during the fiscal year.   
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Engagement and Representation Agreement 











 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
 11c. 

MEETING DATE:   April 15, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Legal 
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
Subject: Consent to Withdrawal - Jennings, Strouss & Salmon, P.L.C.  Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
and Christopher Kramer and Laura Curry to withdraw as counsel for the Town.  
Page 1 of 2 
   

STAFF PRESENTER:   Clifford Mattice, Town Attorney 
 
SUBJECT:   Authorization for Town Attorney to execute Consent 
to Withdrawal on behalf of the Town for Jennings, Strouss & 
Salmon, P.L.C. and Christopher Kramer and Laura Curry to 
withdraw as counsel for the Town.

 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    
 Leadership and Governance     Partnerships and Relationships     Transportation and Infrastructure 
 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Authorization for the Town Attorney to execute a Consent to Withdrawal on behalf of the 
Town consenting to the withdrawal of Christopher Kramer and Laura Curry and the firm 
of Jennings, Strouss & Salmon, P.L.C. as counsel of record for the Town in the matter 
of Town of Florence vs. Florence Copper, Inc., et al No. CV2015-000325.   
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
In 2013, the Town initiated litigation in the pending case:  Town of Florence v. Florence 
Copper, Inc. (Curis Resources AZ, Inc.) (Case No. CV2015-000325, previously 
CV2013-02511).  The Complaint in the case sought: 1) Declaratory Relief that the uses 
of the subject property for mining and related activities are an illegal use; and 2) 
Eminent Domain for judgment condemning the property and determining the total 
amount of just compensation.  This matter is now in post-trial proceedings. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

The Town authorizes the Town Attorney to execute a Consent to Withdrawal on behalf 
of the Town consenting to the withdrawal of Christopher Kramer and Laura Curry and 
the firm of Jennings, Strouss & Salmon, P.L.C. as counsel of record for the Town in 
Town of Florence vs. Florence Copper, Inc., et al No. CV2015-000325. 
 
 
 
 



Subject: Consent to Withdrawal - Jennings, Strouss & Salmon, P.L.C.  Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
and Christopher Kramer and Laura Curry to withdraw as counsel for the Town.  
Page 2 of 2 
   

A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

The Town does not authorize the Town Attorney to execute a Consent to Withdrawal on 
behalf of the Town consenting to the withdrawal of Christopher Kramer and Laura Curry 
and the firm of Jennings, Strouss & Salmon, P.L.C. as counsel of record for the Town in 
Town of Florence vs. Florence Copper, Inc., et al No. CV2015-000325. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Application to Withdraw as Attorneys of Record for Plaintiff/Counterdefendant with 
Client Consent by Jennings, Strouss & Salmon, P.L.C. and Christopher Kramer 



 

 
 

6542494v1(66956.1) 

 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

Christopher W. Kramer - 013289 
ckramer@jsslaw.com 

Laura R. Curry – 029435 
lcurry@jsslaw.com 

JENNINGS, STROUSS & SALMON, P.L.C. 
A Professional Limited Liability Company 

One East Washington Street 
Suite 1900 

Phoenix, Arizona  85004-2554 
Telephone: (602) 262-5911 
MinuteEntries@jsslaw.com 

Attorneys for Plaintiff Town of Florence 

IN THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF ARIZONA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF MARICOPA 
 

TOWN OF FLORENCE,  
 
Plaintiff, 

vs. 
 
FLORENCE COPPER, INC., et al, 
 

Defendants.

No. CV2015-000325 
 
 

APPLICATION TO WITHDRAW AS 
ATTORNEYS OF RECORD FOR 
PLAINTIFF/COUNTERDEFENDANT 
WITH CLIENT CONSENT 

 
FLORENCE COPPER, INC., et al 

 
Counterclaimant, 

vs. 
 
TOWN OF FLORENCE,  
 
                                   Counterdefendant. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
(Assigned to the Hon. Roger E. Brodman) 

 

 Christopher W. Kramer and Laura R. Curry and the firm of Jennings, Strouss & 

Salmon, P.L.C., respectfully request that the Court allow them to withdraw as counsel of 

record for Plaintiff/Counterdefendant Town of Florence pursuant Rule 5.3(a)(2), A.R.C.P. 

The Consent to Withdrawal executed by Town Attorney Clifford Mattice, an 

authorized representative of Plaintiff/Counterdefendant, the Town of Florence, is set forth 

below.  This matter is now in post-trial proceedings and Plaintiff has been advised as to 

the status of the matter.  This Motion is supported by good cause that is protected 

from disclosure by E.R. 1.6. 



 

 2 
6542494v1(66956.1) 

 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 

Plaintiff/Counterdefendant’s address and telephone number are: 
 
Town of Florence  
c/o Clifford Mattice, Esq.  
Town Attorney   
P.O. Box 2670  
Florence, AZ 85632  
Phone:   (520) 868-7557 

WHEREFORE, and for all of the reasons set forth above, undersigned counsel 

respectfully requests that the Court grant this Application to Withdraw as Counsel of 

Record for Plaintiff/Counterdefendant.   

DATED this ___ day of April, 2019. 
 

JENNINGS, STROUSS & SALMON, P.L.C. 
 
 
/s/       
Christopher W. Kramer 
Laura R. Curry  
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
 
 

 
CONSENT TO WITHDRAWAL 

I, Cliff Mattice, Town Attorney for Plaintiff/Counterdefendant, Town of Florence 

(“Town”), on behalf of the Town and with its authority, consent to the withdrawal of 

Christopher W. Kramer and Laura R. Curry and the firm of Jennings, Strouss & Salmon, 

P.L.C. as counsel of record for the Town in this matter.  I am aware of the status of this 

case. 
 
All future communications should be sent directly to me at: 
 
Town of Florence  
c/o Clifford Mattice, Esq.  
Town Attorney   
P.O. Box 2670  
Florence, AZ 85632  
Phone:   (520) 868-7557 
 

 
///  
 
/// 



 

 3 
6542494v1(66956.1) 

 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

 

 
 
 Dated:  April   , 2019.   
 
      TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 
                                                                                
      Clifford Mattice 
      Town Attorney 
 
 
ORIGINAL e-filed and a COPY  
of the foregoing e-served and mailed this 
___ day of April, 2019, to: 
 
Colin F. Campbell, Esq. 
Shane M. Ham, Esq.  
Hayleigh S. Crawford, Esq. 
Joshua Whitaker, Esq.  
Osborn Maledon, P.A. 
2929 North Central Ave., 21st Floor 
Phoenix, Arizona 85012-2793 
ccampbell@omlaw.com 
sham@omlaw.com 
hcrawford@omlaw.com 
jwhitaker@omlaw.com 
Attorneys for Defendant/Counterclaimant 
Florence Copper, Inc. 
 
Kristin M. Mackin, Esq. 
Catherine M. Bowman  
Sims Murray, Ltd. 
3101 North Central, Suite 870 
Phoenix, Arizona 85012 
kmackin@simsmurray.com 
cmbowman@simsmurray.com 
Attorneys for Counterdefendant Town of Florence 
 
 
/s/       
Bonnie M. Simpson, Legal Assistant  



MINUTES OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE COUNCIL MEETING OF THE FLORENCE TOWN 
COUNCIL HELD ON MONDAY, MARCH 4, 2019, AT 6:00 P.M., IN THE FLORENCE TOWN 
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, LOCATED AT 775 N. MAIN STREET, FLORENCE, ARIZONA.   
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
Mayor Walter called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm.  
 
ROLL CALL:     
 
Present:  Walter, Anderson, Hawkins, Wall, Larsen, Cordes, Hughes 
Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 1 of 18 

 
MOMENT OF SILENCE 
 
Mayor Walter called for a moment of silence.  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
Mayor Walter led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
CALL TO THE PUBLIC Call to the Public for public comment on issues within the 
jurisdiction of the Town Council.  Council rules limit public comment to three minutes.  
Individual Councilmembers may respond to criticism made by those commenting, may ask 
staff to review a matter raised or may ask that a matter be put on a future agenda.  However, 
members of the Council shall not discuss or take action on any matter during an open call 
to the public unless the matters are properly noticed for discussion and legal action. 
 
Ms. Cathy Adam, Florence Resident, discussed the preservation of the Cuen Building.  She 
requested more information on the rehabilitation cost of the building.  She read the staff’s 
recommendation to rehabilitate other buildings or build new on the old Michael’s property or the 
Pinal County Records Building; however, those buildings are already gone.    
 
Ms. Adam stated that they have some new news in terms of provenance and ties to significant 
members of the community in which those members may discuss with Council at a later time.  
 
Ms. Stacy Gramazio, Greater Florence Chamber of Commerce, stated that on February 16, 2019, 
they held the 2nd Annual Memories on Main Street Car Show in Downtown Florence.  They 
doubled the number of cars from last year’s event to over 300 entries.  May of the stores realized 
foot traffic and sales due to the event.  There were several positive comments on social media 
regarding the event as well.   
 
Ms. Gramazio recognized the organizational team for the event, which included: Jerry 
Prendergast, Bo Randall and Jeffrey Kramer.  She thanked them for volunteering their time.  
 
PRESENTATIONS 
 
Second Quarter Fiscal Year 2018-2019 Budget Presentation 

 



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 2 of 18 

Mr. Joe Jarvis, Finance Director, provided a presentation, in which he outlined the following:  
 

- Fiscal Year 2018-2019 Second Quarter results and forecast for the rest of the year 
 Forecast is based on data as of December 31, 2018 

- General Fund Revenue 
 Focused on seven revenue sources that make up 80% of the revenue to develop a trend 

analysis 
 City Sales Tax 
 Food Tax 
 Property Taxes 
 Building Permits 
 State Shared Sales Tax 
 State Shared Income Tax 
 Auto License Tax 

Title 2nd Quarter 
FY17-18 

2nd Quarter 
FY18-19

Budget Forecast Quarter 
Comparison

City Sales Tax $1,390,474 $1,213,766 $2,700,000 $2,779,065 ▼
City Food Tax $49,117 $133,189 $300,000 $301,637 ▲
Property Tax $517,041 $564,505 $1,000,000 $1,064,481 ▲
Building Permits $367,578 $351,387 $700,000 $723,056 ▼
State Sales Tax $1,080,532 $1,068,609 $2,599,550 $2,672,026 ▼
State Income Tax $1,596,487 $1,578,769 $3,157,450 $3,157,450 ▼

 
- General Fund Expense 

Title 2nd Quarter 
FY17-18 

2nd Quarter 
FY18-19

Budget Forecast Quarter 
Comparison

General Fund $6,531,975 $7,241,745 $15,185,620 $15,185,620 ▲

 
Councilmember Wall inquired if the total from all of the General Fund accounts exceed, are equal 
to, or less than the projected expenses.  
 
Mr. Jarvis stated that the Town is collecting more revenue than the Town is anticipating expending 
in the fiscal year and anticipates adding money to the General Fund.  
 
- Other Funds-Major Revenue FY18-19 

Title 2nd Quarter 
FY17-18 

2nd Quarter 
FY18-19

Budget Forecast Quarter 
Comparison

General Capital 
Fund 

$201,224 $720,302 $1,200,000 $1,200,000 ▲ 

Streets Fund $1,284,873 $1,353,750 $3,163,530 $3,482,674 ▲
Water Fund $1,358,049 $1,373,030 $2,800,000 $2,800,000 ▲
Sewer Fund $1,710,663 $2,162,415 $3,800,000 $4,200,000 ▲
Sanitation Fund $403,300 $437,035 $854,700 $854,700 ▲

 
- Other Funds-Expenses FY18-19 
Title 2nd Quarter 

FY17-18 
2nd Quarter 

FY18-19
Budget Forecast Quarter 

Comparison



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 3 of 18 

General Capital 
Fund 

$8,286 $160,803 $1,457,640 $1,457,640 ▲ 

Streets Fund $1,467,312 $2,170,425 $7,966,495 $7,966,495 ▲
Water Fund $1,320,078 $1,529,018 $4,276,360 $4,276,360 ▲
Sewer Fund $1,665,334 $1,745,296 $7,823,320 $7,823,320 ▲
Sanitation Fund $255,544 $450,322 $841,290 $841,290 ▲

 
Mayor Walter inquired why the total for 2nd Quarter FY17-18 in the General Capital Fund is 
substantially less than in the 2nd Quarter FY18-19. 
 
Mr. Jarvis explained that the total is actual for purchases and not what was budgeted.  There are 
instances when staff has held back from making capital purchases.   
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired about the sanitation revenue fund.  
 
Mr. Jarvis explained that the funds fluctuate throughout the year because residents can turn off 
their service while they are away.   
 
Councilmember Wall inquired about the difference between projected expense versus projected 
revenue in the Streets Fund.  
 
Mr. Jarvis explained that he forecasted the expenditures on what the budget was and will have a 
much better sense of what the expected expenditures will be after the 3rd quarter.  The budgeted 
amount includes several Capital Improvement Projects and some of the projects will be paid for 
by the HURF bond and not Streets revenue.   
 
Mr. Brent Billingsley, Town Manager, stated that the Town also did Florence Gardens Phase IV 
and V projects rather than just Phase IV to achieve some savings.   
 
Public Safety Personnel Retirement System Plans Unfunded Liability Presentation  

 
Mr. Scott Barber, Human Resources Director, stated that recent action of Council regarding 
developing a pension funding plan and accepting the liabilities and assets, as described to the 
Town by the Public Safety Retirement System.  He developed a white paper which depicts 
unfunded liability issue.  This information was provided to the Budget Committee and he was 
asked to present to Council as well.  The Information is available on the Public Safety Personnel 
Retirement System (PSPRS) website.    
 
Mr. Barber provided a presentation, in which he outlined the following:  
- Town of Florence Public Safety Personnel Retirement System Police Plan as of June 30, 

2018. 
 Active participants: 24 
 Retirees/Beneficiaries: 7 
 Deferred Retirement Option Program (DROP): 1 
 May retire and may retain employment after 60 consecutive months.   

 Inactive/Vested: 8 
 



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 4 of 18 

 June 30, 2017 June 30, 2018
Net Accrued Unfunded Liability  $844,063 $956,293
NOTE:  $196,36 is shown separately due to Tier 3 Pool group

 
Mr. Barber stated that when you look at the difference between the fund’s assets and liabilities, 
the actuaries run their formulas to determine if the Town is able to meet the long-term liabilities of 
the plan based on the demographics, mortality tables, and other items the use to determine the 
calculation.   If there is a positive balance, the Town is deemed over funded, over 100% funded.  
Any negatives are considered to be unfunded liabilities.   
 
Mr. Barber stated that the rules relating to public financing recording changed to require everyone 
to report the unfunded liabilities in the pension program on the annual financial report.   
 
Mr. Barber stated that there was a citizen ballot measure that was passed by Arizona voters that 
tried to address the issue of the significant unfunded liabilities of the public safety retirement 
system.  It created a new tier plan for those individuals who came to work in public safety 
retirement membership plans after July 1, 2017.  It was intended to change the perspective and 
rules in response to some negative rulings regarding not being able to change the retirement 
benefits promised to someone.    
 
- Town of Florence Public Safety Personnel Retirement System Fire Plan as of June 30, 2018. 

 Active Participants (Tier 1 & 2): 25 
 Retirees/Beneficiaries: 2 
 DROP: 0 
 Inactive/Vested: 2 

 June 30, 2017 June 30, 2018
Net Accrued Unfunded Liability  $334,162 $739,947
NOTE:  $196,36 is shown separately due to Tier 3 Pool group

 
- Year-to-year differences due to: 

 Increase in payroll base (especially in fire) 
 2% COLA as of 7/1/18 for retirees 
 Amortization method changes (not us) 
 Hall/Parker settlement 
 Lawsuit which resulted in changes in legislation  
 Participants were due back money and settlements were issued  

 Plan demographic changes 
 
Mr. Barber stated in 2018, the fire districts got the ability to transfer excess funds from pension 
programs they may have had before they entered the PSPRS and be able to apply them to 
unfunded liability balances.  The Town should be able to do the same thing because the Town 
has a legacy plan.  The Town established its pension program for its part time fire fighters many 
years ago and continues to maintain that plan.  The Town also has a forfeiture account for excess 
funds.  
 
Mr. Barber stated that the Town was able to go through the League’s vetting process, in terms of 
their committee structure, leading to the Resolutions Committee.  The League was able to put the 



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 5 of 18 

Town’s legislation on the League Legislative Agenda for this year and were able to have Senator 
Pratt champion the Town’s bill through the Senate.  The bill came through the Senate with no 
opposition and has been transmitted to the House.  The Town anticipates that Representative 
Shope will champion the bill there.  If successful, the Town will engage its Administrator, of the 
part time firefighter’s pension plan, in an actuarial study to determine the amount of dollars that 
are needed to fulfill the Town’s obligations to all the individuals in the plan and make payments 
for promised benefits.  Excess funds will also be determined and will apply those excess dollars 
to the unfunded liability in the PSPRS Fire Plan.   
 
Discussion occurred on funding and what it means to be unfunded.   
 
Mayor Walter stated that Florence is in a very good position financially.  
 
Mr. Barber stated that there are many variations with regards to comparison to other 
municipalities.  He stated that the Town’s aggregate liability is less than other communities.  He 
stated that the first step is that this is something that needs to be addressed, but not to cause 
alarm.   
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired how the calculations were done.  
 
Mr. Barber explained how the current and future liabilities are calculated.  He stated that as a 
result of a lawsuit, the Town had to front the money due to those enrolled and take a credit each 
month for the amount that they paid.   
 
Councilmember Wall inquired if those who are no longer with the Town, but are vested, can 
withdraw what they have invested.   
 
Mr. Barber stated that they can withdraw their funds at any time and would receive their 
contributions plus interest, and based on the schedule, can also receive a portion of the 
employer’s contribution.  He stated that if any of the individuals re-activate with another employer, 
the liability transfers to the other employer.   
 
CONSENT: All items on the consent agenda will be handled by a single vote as part of the 
consent agenda, unless a Councilmember or a member of the public objects at the time 
the agenda item is called.  
 
Approval of accepting the register of demands ending January 31, 2019, in the amount of 
$1,117,162.56 (Joe Jarvis)  
 
On motion of Councilmember Wall, seconded by Councilmember Hawkins, and carried (7-0) to 
approve the Consent Agenda, as written.  
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

Ordinance No. 668-19:   
 
Mayor Walter read Ordinance No. 668-19 by title only.  
 



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 6 of 18 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING 
THE TOWN OF FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV “LAND USAGE” CHAPTER 
150: DEVELOPMENT CODE, SECTION 150.031 “DEFINITIONS” AND “PART 7 PARKING; 
LOADING AND UNLOADING,” SECTIONS 150.156 TO 150.167 (CASE PZ 18-34 ORD.)  

 
Mr. Dana Burkhardt, Planning Consultant, stated that the first reading was done on February 19, 
2019 and the second reading was done at today’s meeting, fulfilling the requirements of two 
separate readings.   
 
Councilmember Wall stated that changes were requested.  Staff did not make some of the 
requested changes; however, they forwarded justifications as to why the changes weren’t made.     
 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Councilmember Wall, and carried (6 to 1) with 
Councilmember Hawkins opposed, to table Ordinance No. 668-19 to the March 25, 2019 Council 
meeting. 

 
Discussion and possible action on a prioritization of construction projects within the 
Historic District and related CIP projects that have been frozen. 
 
Mr. Brent Billingsley, Town Manager, stated that several years ago, due to health and safety 
reasons, the Town staff made a recommendation to demolish the Cuen building.  Staff’s 
recommendation was taken to the Historic District Advisory Commission and was approved.  A 
structural report was completed in 2007.  The Town sold the property with a revision clause in the 
contract that allowed the Town to take back the property if the individual who purchased the 
property did not secure the building and make it structurally complete.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that on September 4, 2018, staff was asked to contact the architectural firm 
of Reece and Rowe Architects (RRA), who had completed the study in 2007.  They performed a 
site visit and determined that the building was in worse shape than in 2007.  
The on-site visit noted that: 

 the roof was further compromised by several years of rain seepage and subsequent wood 
rotting; 

 an interior adobe divider wall had been partially removed and the remaining wall was 
further compromised; 

 an inappropriate cement mortar was used in place of stucco on various locations of the 
interior walls that will ultimately have to be removed and any damage caused by that 
material would have to be corrected; 

 there were limited exterior walls ‘bowing’ and accompanying incomplete window sets 
 there were other miscellaneous issues found throughout the structure. 

 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the individual who purchased the property did more damage than the 
Town initially understood.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the Town will engage the architect to prepare architectural plans to 
secure the building.  The plan set will cost approximately $15,000.  One option is to bring the 
building up to Code.  The construction cost will be approximately $330,000, which would be a 
structural shell, and not occupiable.  Other improvements would still be needed.     



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 7 of 18 

 
Mr. Billingsley stated that Option 2 is to demolish the building.  The Town has reached out to the 
company that has tentatively won the bid for the demolition on the Kokopelli Moon Saloon.  A 
Phase I survey will need to be completed regarding elemental lead, asbestos and other 
carcinogens, which would cost approximately $4,800.  The demolition will cost approximately 
$22,700.   
 
Mr. Billingsley provided a brief background on the Kokopelli Moon Saloon building that had two 
fires in June 2018.  The building had been around for quite some time and was once home to La 
Paloma, My Uncle’s Place and My Office Bar.  It was originally constructed sometime between 
1912 and 1914.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that on October 15, 2018, Council authorized staff to move forward to bid 
for demolition of the building and removal of all of the debris, in an amount not to exceed $300,000.  
He walked the building with the demolition company.  The adobe wall within the building has 
continued to sluff off and fall in.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the Town went through the abatement process and received a Notice 
of Intent and were given an order to move forward with the abatement of the Kokopelli Moon 
Saloon.   The Town will file all documents as necessary to place the lien on the property, per 
Council’s direction.  The two options for the building are: 
 
- $46,860 to completely demolish the building and fill in the basement 
- $65,000 - Per Historic District Advisory Commission’s request:  demolish the remainder of the 

building and leave the tack room.  This will cause a significant increase in price and there is 
no guarantee that they can save the building.  The Town would still be required to pay the full 
price even if the room has to be demolished and not saved.   This can be challenging as it is 
an adobe building.  He stated if the Town is able to retain the tack room, there is an ongoing 
code enforcement issue and the Town will need to absorb the cost of a safety fence that will 
need to be maintained.  The Town will not be able to put a lien for the cost of the fence once 
the abatement is completed.   

 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the $80,000 has been budgeted for repairs to decking and stairs at the 
Silver King Marketplace.  Staff is waiting HDAC and SHPO approval.  There are also Code-related 
repairs that will need to be done as well.  Suite 201 will need a secondary access.  Staff is currently 
working on a solution and has contacted the original architect on the project.  Staff has issued an 
order to proceed for work totaling $10,250 for architectural plans to be updated to include a 
secondary access for Suite 201 through a fire hallway in Suite 202 to the outside staircase.  The 
creation of the hallway will result in reducing the available space for Suite 202.  
 
Mr. Billingsley asked Council to prioritize the construction projects within the Historic District, as 
well as the projects placed on hold, to reserve funding for said projects.    
 
Staff is recommending the following: 
- Demolish Cuen Building 
- Fully demolish the Kokopelli Moon Saloon 
- Complete Suite 202 Walkway Code Issue 



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 8 of 18 

- Construct a new building for Economic Development on empty Pinal County lot on Main 
Street – new building could be built for the same cost as rehabilitation of the Cuen Building  

 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the demolition of the Cuen and Kokopelli Moon Saloon buildings were 
not anticipated, nor was the walkway in Suite 202.  During its October 15, 2018 meeting, Town 
Council agreed to hold off on the following projects to fund the demolition project. 
 
Traffic Light at Hunt Highway and Highway 79  $100,000 
Police and Fire Vehicles      $  94,000 
Economic Development      $100,000 
Public Relations Training     $  10,000 
Tourism Initiatives      $  15,000 
Non-Profit creation      $  20,000 
Total:        $339,000 
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that based on the projected costs, he suggested that the Town move forward 
on the purchasing of the Police and Fire Vehicles for $94,000. 
 
Councilmember Larsen inquired if the Town has any rights to the Kokopelli Moon Saloon property, 
aside from placing a lien on the property.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the Town had several settlement meetings with the owner; however, 
the Town was unsuccessful.  
 
Mr. Clifford Mattice, Town Attorney, stated that Councilmember Hughes has recused herself form 
the conversation, to comply with State Statues, as she was a former tenant in the Silver King 
Marketplace.   
 
Discussion occurred regarding the improvements that are needed at the Silver King Marketplace.  
 
Mr. Billingsley explained how the walkway will be built, allowing an egress from Suite 201.  He 
explained that there needs to be exit access points.   
 
Mr. James Allen, Building Inspector, explained that a structural engineer would need to be hired 
should the Town wish to build a stairway from Suite 202.  The more cost-effective approach would 
be to build a walkway inside of the building.  The walkway would be a fire-protected wall and the 
person walking from the deck into the walkway will be protected by a sprinkler system as well as 
a fire rated wall, which is a protected egress all the way to the stairs.  The Building Code is very 
clear that all tenant spaces on the second floor must have access to two forms of egress.   
 
Mr. Allen also discussed ADA compliance because there is a lift to the second floor.  That area 
will be looked as an “area refuge” and some improvements will need to be done in order to satisfy 
the requirements.   
 
Mr. Allen stated the cost will be minimal.  He stated that the walkway was part of the initial plans; 
however, the walkway was never erected.  He stated that they will need to add an exit sign and 
lighting on the deck, where the egress is located so electric modifications will need to be made.   
Changes will also need to be made to the hardware on the doors.   



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 9 of 18 

 
Mr. Billingsley stated that another option would be to not Lease Suite 201.   
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired if they could use a dropdown fire escape on the front porch.   
 
Mr. Allen stated that a stairway that folds down is allowable as a secondary egress; however, it is 
structural and would need to be designed and obtain SHPO and HDAC approval because it is an 
addition to the building that never existed before.   
 
Councilmember Larsen inquired how much it would cost to join Suite 201 and 202.  She does not 
want to take space away from a retailer.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that there is no way to join the spaces, but rather the Town would not rent 
Suite 201.  
 
Mr. Allen stated that even if the suites were joined, there would still be egress issues.  The deck 
is an assembly space for spectators and would require a secondary egress to get off of the deck.  
Currently, the only way off the deck is down the original stairway.   
 
Councilmember Wall inquired what has changed since 2015 when HDAC agreed that demolition 
was the best option (Cuen Building).  With regards to the Kokopelli Moon Saloon, she understands 
the cost difference with regards to retaining the tack room.  With regards to the Silver King 
Marketplace, recognizing that they will be taking away square footage, the Town will consult with 
the tenant after construction begins.  She suggested that the Town begin conversations with the 
tenant now with what is being proposed.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that staff has reached out to the tenant to advise her of tonight’s meeting, 
and has not had a response; however, he and Mr. Allen spoke to the tenant when they were doing 
their inspection and advised her of the changes to the building that are being proposed. 
 
Councilmember Wall requested a copy of the power point presentation that was referenced in the 
Request for Council Action for this item.  
 
Councilmember Hawkins stated that his option is to not rent out Suite 201.   He inquired how 
much revenue does the rent generate.  He stated that the space could be used for storage.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the Town received $2,000 annually for rent.  He stated that the deck 
could not be used if the suite is not rented out [because the walkway will not be built].  
 
Councilmember Hawkins stated that no one will pay $260,000 for that Cuen Building.  He does 
not think it is feasible to rehabilitate the building.   
 
Mayor Walter inquired if the $80,000 budgeted is earmarked for deck repairs in the Silver King 
Marketplace. 
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the $80,000 is earmarked for the deck repairs as it is in poor condition.  
 



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 10 of 18 

Councilmember Larsen stated that without speaking to the tenant and without exploring other 
options, it is premature to decide how to proceed.  She would prefer to see other outside structures 
and/or other engineering methods such as adding additional stairs. She would prefer to see all 
options before she decides.  
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson asked if the Town can involve SHPO to see if they can assist the Town.   
 
Councilmember Cordes stated that SHPO moves very slow.   She stated that the deterioration of 
the Cuen Building is an example of people not moving at the time they should.  She has expressed 
her concern of not addressing issues in a timely manner.  She stated that the Council cannot drag 
their feet and must make a decision to move forward and invest the Town’s money in buildings 
that can be saved.   
 
Councilmember Hawkins explained the issues with the Cuen building when it was sold at auction 
and the issues that occurred with the owner before the building reverted back to the Town.  He 
cannot justify investing a large amount of money on that small of a building.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that SHPO and ADOT were involved with the rehabilitation of the Silver King 
Marketplace.  The internal alcove was included in the approval plans.  He added that there is 
more leeway in modernizing the inside of a building rather than you do changing the outside.  He 
stated that if the Town wanted to extend the deck or add an exterior staircase would be a very 
different world that doing the interior, specifically since SHPO already reviewed the alcove.   
 
Discussion occurred regarding splitting Suite 202, and the square footage that would be lost.   
 
Councilmember Cordes inquired if SHPO will need to re-review the plans.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the alcove was an alternative in the plan set and there is an actuary 
architectural plans for it, which is why the Town has authorized the purchase order to have the 
architect prepare the architectural plans that were an option at that time.   
 
Mayor Walter recapped the conversation and stated that the walkway is the best access point to 
be able to continue utilizing the patio and stairwell access points.  Staff will communicate this with 
the tenant.  The Kokopelli Moon Saloon is in the center of Town and is an eyesore.  There are no 
guarantees that the tack room can be saved.   
 
Discussion continued on the feasibility of saving the tack building and demolishing the remainder 
of the Kokopelli Moon Saloon.  
 
Councilmember Hawkins inquired if the red bricks can be saved to do repair work on some of the 
other buildings on Main Street or to do some type of enhancements with the bricks. They could 
also sell the bricks and donate the proceeds to the Florence Teen Council.  He noted that used 
bricks are more expensive than new bricks.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that staff has researched Mr. Hawkins suggestions and discussed them with 
the demolition contractor.  The reality is: 
- The property does not belong to the Town  



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 11 of 18 

- The demotion company will not knock down the wall and leave the bricks on-site for someone 
to come and pick up.  
 The Town would not want someone to come and pick up the bricks because the Town 

cannot allow someone on site nor do they want that liability. 
- The Town does not own the brick and does not have any rights to do anything with the brick. 
- The demolition crew can work with the property owner or someone else instead of hauling the 

brick to the dump.  The contractor owns the bricks once they demolish the property.    
 
Mayor Walter stated that she likes the option of building a new building on the empty lot on Main 
Street.  She stated that the cost to bring the Cuen building up to Code is extremely expensive for 
a small building.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that they could build a new building on the elections lot for the same price 
as rehabilitating the Cuen building, which still may not be usable.   
 
Discussion occurred on the demotion of the Cuen Building.   
 
Councilmember Cordes stated that the Council would be doing a disservice to the taxpayers to 
spend that kind of money on a building that they would never be able to recoup the money. 
 
Councilmember Hawkins stated that most of the residents would prefer a stoplight on State Route 
79 rather than rehabilitate the Cuen Building.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the Town is relying on ADOT to do the stoplight project, which may be 
done in 2021, and the $100,000 is a portion of the cost of the project that the Town has to pay.  
 
Councilmember Wall stated that she sees the demolition of the Cuen and Kokopelli buildings as 
an opportunity for a new beginning to build something on those lots that are still compliant with 
the Historic District regulations.   
 
On motion of Councilmember Cordes, seconded by Councilmember Hawkins, and carried (6 to 
1) with Councilmember Hughes recusing herself, to accept staff recommendation to prioritize the 
construction projects within the Historic District and related CIP projects. 
 
NEW BUSINESS  

Resolution 1688-19:  
 
Mayor Walter read Resolution No. 1688-19 by title only.  
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AUTHORIZING 
THE TOWN MANAGER TO SUBMIT AN APPLICATION FOR THE ARIZONA DEPARTMENT 
OF TRANSPORTATION (ADOT) 5310 GRANT PROGRAM WHICH PROVIDES FUNDING TO 
SERVICE THE ELDERLY AND PERSONS WITH DISABILITIES IN THE COMMUNITY. 
 

Ms. Jennifer Evans, Management Analyst, stated the grant will fund the purchase of a new 12 
passenger van for the senior center as well as funding for the “Give A Lift” program.  She stated 



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 12 of 18 

that it will also provide funding for preventative maintenance for the Senior Center’s fleet. The 
grant is a two-year grant program which will cover the period of 2019 to 2021.  The grant 
application amount is $83,612, with the Town’s share of $50,221. 

Mayor Walter asked staff to elaborate on the Give a Lift Program.  

Mr. Bryan Hughes, Community Services Director, explained that the program started in January 
and it is neighbors helping neighbors to get to medical appointments if they do not have 
transportation.  They program has 10 volunteers and gives an average of five rides per week.  The 
program is in its infancy and is continuing to grow.  The program serves a need. This van will 
replace an existing van.   

Councilmember Larsen stated that there are transportation needs that extend beyond the elderly. 
She inquired if others, aside from the senior center users, can use the van.  

Mr. Billingsley stated that the Section 5310 program is specifically for the elderly and people with 
disabilities.  Staff is working on Councilmember Larsen’s request and will present it to the Budget 
Committee. 

Councilmember Larsen asked staff to expand their explanation on how the van can be used, and 
by who. 

Mr. Hughes stated that the van can be used for elderly programs such as transportation to the 
Senior Center and any other elderly-related trips as well as anyone with disabilities to attend a 
program or medical appointment.  The Give a Lift Program has people use their personal vehicles 
to transport folks to a medical appointment.  They are also able to use their volunteer drivers to 
use the van, for those who are wheel-chair bound to get them to their medical appointments.   

Mayor Walter inquired if the van can be used to the take the disabled to work.  

Mr. Billingsley stated that there is a separate program titled: Job Access Reverse Commute 
(JARC) which is a separate federal program.  New Freedom is another program which assists the 
elderly with transportation to their job.   

Councilmember Larsen inquired if the programs have grants tied to them.  

Mr. Billingsley stated that they do have grants tied to the programs and some of the programs 
have been combined at the ADOT level.  There is a separate program for the public, titled Section 
5311, which is rural public transit, and the Town contributes to it through the CART program with 
Coolidge.     

On motion of Councilmember Hughes, seconded by Councilmember Larsen, and carried (7 to 0) 
to approve Resolution No. 1688-19, a resolution of the Town of Florence, Pinal County, Arizona, 
authorizing the Town Manager to submit an application for the Arizona Department of 
Transportation (ADOT) 5310 Grant Program.  

Resolution No. 1689-19:   

Mayor Walter read Resolution No. 1689-19 by title only. 



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 13 of 18 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, APPROVING 
THE FINAL PLAT FOR ANTHEM AT MERRILL RANCH UNIT 31; AND AUTHORIZING 
EXECUTION BY THE TOWN MANAGER OF SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS.   

Mr. Larry Harmer, Community Development Director, provided a presentation, in which he 
outlined the following: 

- Anthem at Merrill Ranch (AMR) Units 31 Final Plat 
 Gross Area: 22.15 Acres 
 Open Space: 2.92 Acres 
 Right of Way:  3.57 Acres 
 Net Area: 18.58 Acres 
 Total Lots: 113 
 Density: 5.10 Dwelling units per acre 

- Totals for AMR including Unit 31 
 1235.61 +/- Total Acres 
 3880 Total Single-Family Lots 
 3.14 Dwelling units per acre 

 
Mr. Harmer stated that the plat was reapproved by the Planning and Zoning Commission in August 
2018. He explained its location, which is on Hunt Highway, west of Attaway Road.  The plat is 
interconnected with Unit 33, to the north and will provide the two points of access.      
 
On motion of Councilmember Wall, seconded by Councilmember Larsen, and carried (7 to 0) to 
approve Resolution No. 1689-19, a resolution of the Town of Florence, Pinal County, Arizona, 
approving the final plat for Anthem at Merrill Ranch Unit 31; and authorizing the execution by the 
Town Manager for supporting documents. 

Resolution No. 1690-19:   

Mayor Walter read Resolution No. 1690-19 by title only. 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, APPROVING 
THE FINAL PLAT FOR ANTHEM AT MERRILL RANCH UNIT 33; AND AUTHORIZING 
EXECUTION BY THE TOWN MANAGER OF SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS.   

Mr. Larry Harmer, Community Development Director, provided a presentation, in which he outlined 
the following: 

Anthem at Merrill Ranch Units 33 Final Plat 

 Gross Acres: 33.61 Acres 
 Open Space: 6.72 Acres 
 Right of Way: 6.0 Acres 
 Net Area: 27.61 Acres 
 Total Lots: 146 

- Density 4.34 dwelling units per acre 
- Totals for AMR including Unit 33 



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 14 of 18 

 1269.22 +/- Total Acres 
 4026 Total Single-Family Lots 
 3.17 dwelling acres 

 
Mr. Harmer stated that this unit wraps the south and east portions of the wastewater treatment 
facility.  The unit faces Hunt Highway and has State Trust Land to the west and Unit 31 is to the 
south.  Unit 35 A and B is to the north.   
 
Mayor Walter inquired if there are any plans depicting what the houses will look like that have 
been released to the public.  
 
Mr. Harmer stated that he does not know when they will release the plans to the public.  The 
model homes are forth coming.   
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired how the odors coming from the wastewater treatment plant being 
mitigated so it does not affect the surrounding homes. 
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that he does not know as he has not toured the private facility.   
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired if the Town has any liability if approved, and issues arise.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that he does not believe the Town will have any liability.  It will be an issued 
between the developer and whomever purchases the home.  
 
Mayor Walter inquired if there would be any repercussions if the Council chose to table this item.  
 
Mr. Harmer stated that he does not believe there would be any hardships.  They do have an at-
risk grading permit.  He stated that he reached out to DR Horton and he hoped to have 
representatives present.  Unfortunately, there were internal conflicts which did not allow anyone 
to come to the meeting.   
 
Councilmember Cordes stated that she understands that the water and wastewater company is 
a private company.  The Council has a fiduciary responsibility to the Town’s future residents that 
they will have the same standard of service as the residents that live within the historical district.  
She would prefer to table this item until Council has some guarantees.         
 
Councilmember Larsen stated that she would like to know what the regulations are.  She inquired 
if they have to provide the same type of odor barrier.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that Johnson Utilities is governed by the Arizona Department of 
Environmental Quality and must follow the same standards and it is tied to the individual permits 
for their plant.    
 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Councilmember Larsen, and carried (6 to 1) 
with Councilmember Wall opposed, to table Resolution No. 1690-19 to the March 18, 2019 
Council meeting. 
 



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 15 of 18 

LEGISLATIVE REPORT 
 
Mr. Bitter stated that Senate Bill 1165 – Distracted Driver Bill, passed out of the Senate today, on 
a vote 20-10.  There is some opposition; however, there is bi-partisan support.  They will have 
discussion on this item in the next few weeks and expect a vote by the end of March or the first 
week in April.   
 
Councilmember Larsen inquired what the opposition was.  
 
Mr. Bitter stated that discussion is that governments should not be involved in what is inside of a 
private vehicle.   
 
Councilmember Wall inquired on the status of the bill regarding historic funding and heritage 
grants. 
 
Mr. Bitter stated that there are two bills, one in the House and one in the Senate, and have passed 
out of their respective chambers.  The Town has signed in to support both bills.     
   
MANAGER’S REPORT 

 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the Workforce Education Business Series is hosted by Central Arizona 
College, and will start on March 5, 2019.  The schedule includes:  
 
 Marketing Fundamentals, March 5th 

 Communication in the Workplace, April 2nd 
 Business Finance, May 7th 
 Customer Service, June 4th 
 Optimum Performance, June 25th 

 
Sessions will be held from 6:00 to 8:00pm and are priced at $10 per session or $30 for the whole 
series.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the CAG/SCMPO Legislative Day was held on February 4, 2019, at the 
Arizona League of Cities and Towns, in Phoenix in which two councilmembers and Mr. Bitter 
attended.  Nine legislators attended as well.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that he and Police Chief Dan Hughes, were invited to participate in the “Big 
Ideas 2018: Fighting Opioid Overdose” roundtable at the Westward Ho in downtown Phoenix.  
They were asked to present the rural perspective on opioid overdose.    
Mr. Billingsley provided an update on the Well #4 project update.  Well #4 has been pulled and 
the casing has been brushed, bailed, and cleaned.  The well has been lined.  The test pumping 
is in progress. After the test pumping has been completed, a bowl assembly will be chosen based 
on the test pumping.  The project should be completed in less than 60 days.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the 12” Water Loop Project (Phase 2), the project is near completion. 
Water line is installed, pressure tested and bacterial tested.  A small percentage of paving is still 
required to complete.  Phase 3A will be starting the last week of February. 



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 16 of 18 

 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the Town continues to trend above projected numbers for state shared 
revenues.  The sales tax collections are up as well as is the Highway User Revenue Fund.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that there are no current advertisements.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the Town now has an emergency alert system for residents and 
businesses.  The Town joined Pinal County with the Everbridge System.  There are approximately 
10 staff members who went through a training process in order to send out emergency 
notifications.  He asked the public to sign up should they wish to receive the notifications.          
 
Councilmember Cordes inquired if they can notify planned outages and how does a person who 
does not sign up for the system get notified.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the Fire Chief and Police Chief will do a presentation at the next meeting.  
 
DEPARTMENT REPORTS   

Community Development  
Community Services 
Finance 
Fire 
Police 
Public Works 
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired about the notification he received from the Florence Unified School 
District (FUSD) regarding the Before and After Bell Program.  
 
Mr. Hughes explained that the Town received official notification starting the next school year   
FUSD will be working with the “Right at School” Program which will be hosting the “Before and 
After the Bell” Program.  The Community Services Department is exploring options for running 
programs offsite for parents who cannot afford the Right at School Program.   
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired if this will cost the Town additional monies.  
 
Mr. Hughes stated that the goal is to do it with the current budget but may have additional costs 
if transportation is involved.   
 
The Department Reports were received and filed.  
 
CALL TO THE PUBLIC  
 
Ms. Cathy Adam, Florence Resident, stated that she understands the rationale of demolishing the 
Kokopelli Moon Saloon, due to the financial implications.  She challenged the Council and staff    
 
 
To let her know what the Town has done to prevent any more demolition through neglect.  There 
are other buildings on Main Street being neglected.  There are Codes that allow the Town to force 



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 17 of 18 

property owners to fix leaky roofs.  She asked the Town to be pro-active, so they don’t have to 
demolish more buildings.   
 
Ms. Adam stated that she wouldl like to be contacted regarding the bricks.  
 
CALL TO THE COUNCIL – CURRENT EVENTS ONLY 
 
Councilmember Hughes thanked Caliente for the Spring Fling Parade.  It was a great event.   
 
Councilmember Cordes stated that she has a new grandbaby and apologized for not being able 
to be heard, via telephone, at the last meeting.  
 
Councilmember Larson echoed Ms. Adam’s sentiments regarding being proactive with regards to 
the buildings.  She stated that she went to the Spirit of the West Festival and it was a great event.  
She invited everyone to the kickball game on March 8, 2019.  It is a good opportunity to get 
together as a community.   
 
Councilmember Wall attended the dedication by the Gila River Indian Community of their 
Managed Aquifer Recharge Facility and Interpretive Trail.  It was very well attended and had to 
be shuttled into the site.  Several dignitaries were present as well as exceptional entertainment.  
They were also given tours of the trails and include signage of the trees and plants.  It is not open 
to the public.  They developed a five-year plan to retain and restore their access to water.   
 
Councilmember Wall stated that there is also an agreement that has allowed the successful 
completion of Arizona’s drought contingency plan.  She was very proud to attend.  
 
Councilmember Wall also attended Spirit of the West event.  It was well attended, and they had 
several demonstrations.  She hopes that they continue this event.   
 
Councilmember Hawkins reminded the public Florence Aero Modelers now have cars and will 
have an event this weekend.  There is also a 3 Rail Ranch Rodeo event taking place the following 
week at the Charles Whitlow Rodeo Grounds.  He invited everyone to attend both events.   
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson stated that he attended the Caliente Spring Fling.  He had a great time and 
many people thanked the Town for resolving the issues with the setbacks.  He asked everyone to 
make their donations to the Veteran Memorial and thanked all those who have donated thus far.   
 
Mayor Walter stated that influenza is wide spread and asked everyone to please take care of 
themselves.  She attended the Youth Symposium and some of the youth from other communities 
could not attend due to the rains that caused flooding.  She also said the Pooch Party was a great 
event.   
 
ADJOURNMENT TO EXECUTIVE SESSION 

For the purposes of discussions or consultations with designated representatives of 
the public body and/or legal counsel pursuant to A.R.S. Sections 38-431.03 (A)(3), 
(A)(4) and (A)(7) to consider its position and instruct its representatives and/or 
attorneys regarding: 



Florence Town Council Meeting Minutes 
March 4, 2019 
Page 18 of 18 

a. Town’s position regarding use of the Town’s real properties and related facility 
policy, procedures, current leases, rents due, and delinquent taxes. 

b. Update the Town Council on current and future nondisclosure agreements for 
economic development projects.  

c. Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding Arizona Department of 
Environmental Quality proceedings, related to Water Quality Appeals Board Case 
No. 16-002, including appellate proceedings to reviewing courts.  

d. Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding pending litigation in Maricopa 
County Superior Court: Town of Florence v. Florence Copper, Inc. CV2015-000325. 

 
On motion of Councilmember Hawkins, seconded by Councilmember Larsen, and carried (7-0) to 
adjourn to Executive Session. 

 
ADJOURNMENT FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Councilmember Hughes, and carried (7-0) to 
adjourn from Executive Session.  
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
On motion of Councilmember Hawkins, seconded by Councilmember Wall, and carried (7-0) to 
adjourn at 10:18 p.m.  

 
________________________________ 
Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 
 
 
I certify that the following is a true and correct copy of the minutes of the Florence Town Council 
meeting held on March 4, 2019, and that the meeting was duly called to order and that a quorum 
was present. 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 

 



MINUTES OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE COUNCIL SPECIAL MEETING HELD ON MONDAY, 
MARCH 11, 2019, AT 4:00 P.M., IN THE FLORENCE TOWN COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 
LOCATED AT 775 N. MAIN STREET, FLORENCE, ARIZONA.      
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
Mayor Walter called the meeting to order at 4:00 pm. 
 
ROLL CALL:      
 
Present: Tara Walter, John Anderson, Bill Hawkins, Karen Wall, Kristen Larsen,  

 Michelle Cordes 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 11, 2019 
Page 1 of 5 

Absent: Judy Hughes 
  
MOMENT OF SILENCE 
 
Mayor Walter called for a moment of silence.  
 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
Mayor Walter led the Pledge of Allegiance.  
 
Mayor Walter stated that there is an individual considering the purchase and rehabilitation of the 
Cuen Building.  More information to follow as it becomes available.  
 
CALL TO THE PUBLIC Call to the Public for public comment on issues within the 
jurisdiction of the Town Council.  Council rules limit public comment to three minutes.  
Individual Councilmembers may respond to criticism made by those commenting, may ask 
staff to review a matter raised or may ask that a matter be put on a future agenda.  However, 
members of the Council shall not discuss or take action on any matter during an open call 
to the public unless the matters are properly noticed for discussion and legal action. 
 
Mr. Tom Rankin, Florence Resident, stated that the Cuen Building is remembered as the 
telephone company during World War II.  The Cuen Building is the only thing remaining that shows 
that a prisoner of war camp existed.  The camp was located in the Florence Gardens and Caliente 
Casa De Sol area and no longer exists.  He stated that the Town needs to restore what it has.  
The building holds a lot of memories for him as his grandmother ran the telephone exchange and 
his grandfather built the back part of the building.  He believes that the $300,000 estimate to 
restore the building is incorrect.  He asked the Council to reconsider the demolition of the building 
and to remember how bad the condition of the Clark was before it was restored.         
 
DISCUSSION WITH PINAL COUNTY BOARD SUPERVISOR MIKE GOODMAN. 
 
Mr. Mike Goodman, Chairman of the Pinal County Board of Supervisor and Supervisor for District 
2, is the newest member of the Board of Supervisors and was elected in January 2017 
representing San Tan Valley south to Anthem.  He was an insurance broker for 30 years in Arizona 
and has owned a litany of businesses.   
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 11, 2019 
Page 2 of 5 

Supervisor Goodman stated that he recognized the need for some intergovernmental agreements 
and/or coalition efforts.  It is important to work together in some of the efforts.  They have begun 
the process with Queen Creek and Meridian Road.  They are also working with Mesa and Apache 
Junction.   
 
Supervisor Goodman would like to schedule regular meetings between the Town of Florence, his 
staff, Pinal County Public Works and Planning and Zoning Departments and correlate projects.   
 
Councilmember Wall inquired about the progress that EPCOR has made. 
 
Supervisor Goodman stated that he will be at the Arizona Corporation Commission (ACC) 
tomorrow to speak regarding EPCOR and the progress that they have made.  They are pleased 
with the work that EPCOR has done thus far; however, there is considerable work that remains 
to be done.  He stated that the citizens need to be more engaged on some of the processes and 
things that are moving forward.  There was a large turnout at the ACC And ADEQ Hearings, in 
February 2018, which is what motivated the ACC to move forward on some processes. 
 
Supervisor Goodman stated that he and other staff member met with the ACC and ADEQ recently 
and discussed the issues regarding EPCOR and Johnson Utilities, and the legalities.   
 
Supervisor Goodman stated that things need to move forward but recognizes that some issues 
are complex.  He stated that they can help move the process by providing direction.  He is 
confident with EPCOR and what they are doing, but unfortunately, their hands are tied to what 
they can and cannot do.  He will be presenting the issues to the ACC and discus how they can 
help to get EPCOR to do the job they were warranted to do.  
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired how do they create a working relationship with him.   
 
Supervisor Goodman stated that his office can set up quarterly meetings with some of the Council, 
so as not to create a quorum, along with specific staff members, dependent on what topic(s) are 
being discussed.  He would like to work on economic development that needs to be brought to 
Pinal County and Florence.   
 
Mr. Brent Billingsley, Town Manager, stated that Town staff meets periodically with Pinal County 
departments.  He also speaks to the Pinal County Manager and Pinal County Assistant Manager 
on a weekly basis.   He proposed that the Mayor choose a member of Council to participate.  He, 
along with Pinal County staff, can set an agenda on key projects to report before the Supervisor 
Goodman and the Council.   
 
Councilmember Cordes stated that one of her issues is Johnson Utilities and rate increases.  She 
is concerned if the system can handle the growth.  She is concerned about low water pressure 
and debris in the water.   
 
Councilmember Cordes is also concerned about the incorporation of San Tan Valley, Wildhorse 
Estates, Crestfield Manor and other areas.  She stated that some of the areas feel as though they 
have not been represented well.   
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 11, 2019 
Page 3 of 5 

Supervisor Goodman stated that everyone has the same concerns regarding Johnson Utilities.  
The ACC pulled back the rate case and allowed one year’s worth of improvements this next year 
included in the next rate increase.  EPCOR is working on a general plan for the entire system and 
is expected to complete it within 90 days.  They also have patch work that needs to be done.  
There is funding in Johnson Utilities to allow them to do the work.   
 
Supervisor Goodman stated that the major repairs or upgrades will require investment, and this 
is where the public needs to be involved.  Commissioner Tobin is scheduling a time to come and 
provide an update on where the ACC is at and take the public’s concerns back to the ACC.   
 
Mayor Walter stated that the roads need to be looked it if they incorporate.  He is not aware of 
any plans and unfortunately, is not involved with annexations.   
 
Supervisor Goodman stated that his office puts out a proposal seeking individuals who wanted to 
be on a committee to evaluate and review amenities that San Tan residents want such as ball 
fields and a public library.       
 
Mayor Walter inquired if youth are on the committee.  
 
Supervisor Goodman stated that the have youth on their committee.  They pulled from the student 
body within the four high schools within District 2 and created a Youth Advisory Committee.  They 
meet with them periodically. They have worked on cleanup efforts for the community and a talent 
show.   
 
Mayor Walter inquired how far will the widening of Hunt Highway go.  
 
Supervisor Goodman stated that the widening of Hunt Highway will go as far as Magma Ranch.  
There are some issues with the Tribe, so they are going to have to realign a portion of Hunt 
Highway.  This is currently in the design phase.   
 
Mayor Walter inquired if there are any plans to redesign the area in front of Magma Ranch, which 
floods out.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that he does not have an update.   
 
Supervisor Goodman stated that dialogue will be great to be able to discuss these types of issues 
and perhaps move projects around to accommodate issues such as the flooding at Magic Ranch.   
 
Councilmember Larsen asked that employees’ compensation be reviewed.  She knows that they 
received a 2.5% increase, but they took a hard hit during the recession.   
 
Supervisor Goodman stated that there have been increases in benefits and have been absorbed 
rather than passed on to the employees.  He will examine this further.     
 
CALL TO THE PUBLIC  
 
There were no public comments.   
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 11, 2019 
Page 4 of 5 

CALL TO THE COUNCIL – CURRENT EVENTS ONLY 
 
Councilmember Cordes stated that the “Say Yes to the Dress” event is being held this weekend 
and is open to all Pinal County high school students.  They can choose a dress, shoes and 
accessories at no cost but must bring their school identification.  She stated that she has limited 
clothing and shoes.  She stated that she has community support and has received several 
donations.    
 
Councilmember Hawkins stated that they received their information and quotes from commercial 
architects for the Cuen building.    
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson stated that he agrees with Councilmember Hawkins and is proud of the 
work that Councilmember Cordes is doing.   
 
Mayor Walter stated that the Town is on Spring Break and the Community Services Department 
offers child care programs.   
 
ADJOURNMENT TO EXECUTIVE SESSION 

For the purposes of discussions or consultations with designated representatives of 
the public body and/or legal counsel pursuant to A.R.S. Sections 38-431.03 (A)(3), 
(A)(4) and (A)(7) to consider its position and instruct its representatives and/or 
attorneys regarding: 
 

a. Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding Arizona Department of 
Environmental Quality proceedings, related to Water Quality Appeals Board Case No. 
16-002, including appellate proceedings to reviewing courts.  

b. Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding pending litigation in Maricopa 
County Superior Court: Town of Florence v. Florence Copper, Inc. CV2015-000325. 

c. Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding pending litigation in Maricopa 
County Superior Court: Town of Florence v. Florence Copper, Inc. CV2015-000325 
including those actions related to said litigation as authorized by Ordinance. No. 592-
13. 

d. Discussion of Notice of Claim received on January 25, 2019.  
 
On motion of Councilmember Wall, seconded by Vice-Mayor Anderson, and carried (6-0) to 
adjourn to Executive Session.  

 
ADJOURNMENT FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Councilmember Larsen, and carried (6-0) to 
adjourn from Executive Session. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Councilmember Larsen, and carried to adjourn 
at 5:37 pm. 
 

 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 11, 2019 
Page 5 of 5 

 
________________________________ 
Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 
 
 
I certify that the following is a true and correct copy of the minutes of the Florence Town Council 
meeting held on March 11, 2019, and that the meeting was duly called to order and that a quorum 
was present. 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 

 
 

 
  



MINUTES OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE COUNCIL MEETING HELD ON MONDAY, MARCH 
18, 2019, AT 5:00 P.M., IN THE FLORENCE TOWN COUNCIL CHAMBERS, LOCATED AT 775 
N. MAIN STREET, FLORENCE, ARIZONA.   
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
Mayor Walter called the meeting to order at 5:00 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL:    
 
Present:  Tara Walter, John Anderson, Bill Hawkins, Karen Wall, Kristen Larsen, Michelle 
Cordes, Judy Hughes. 
     
 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 1 of 29 

WORK SESSION ON THE TOWN OF FLORENCE DEVELOPMENT IMPACT FEES AND THE 
TOWN’S NOTICE OF INTENT TO INCREASE FEES.  
 
Ms. Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town Manager/Town Clerk, introduced Mr. Carson Bise, TischlerBise, 
who presented to the Council on January 7, 2019, where Council adopted the Land Use 
Assumptions Policy.  The Town is moving forward and will have a public hearing on the impact 
fees during tonight’s Council Meeting.  Council will consider an ordinance on May 7, 2019, that 
will establish those rates, it will be posted online for 75 days and will become effective on August 
1, 2019 should Council adopt the ordinance.  
 
Mr. Carson Bise, TischlerBise, provided a presentation, in which he outlined the following:  
 
- Senate Bill (SB)1525 

 Three integrated products 
 Land Use Assumptions (at least 10 years and approved by elected officials) 
 Infrastructure Improvements Plan (IIP) limited to 10 years 

(no build out analysis) 
 Development Fees part of broader revenue strategy 

 Based on same Level-of-Service (LOS) provided to existing development 
 Limitations on Necessary Public Services 
 3,000 square feet recreational facilities 
 Cannot collect for general government uses 
 Libraries cannot exceed 10,000 square feet 
 No regional training facilities for public safety 

 Refunds can be requested if improvements are not built 
- Legal and Methodology 

 One-time payment for growth-related infrastructure, usually collected at the time buildings 
permits are issued 

 Can’t be used for operations, maintenance, or replacement 
 Not a tax but more like a contractual arrangement to build infrastructure, with three 

requirements 
 Need (system improvements, not project-level improvements) 
 Benefit 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 2 of 29 

o Short range expenditures 
o Geographic service areas and/or benefit districts 

 Proportionate 
- Summary of LUA 

 Population increase 
 Year round: 3,331 
 Seasonal: 1,101 

 Housing unit increase 
 Single family: 1,750 units 
 Multifamily: 250 units 

 Nonresidential development increase 
 3,719 jobs 
 1.3 million square feet 

- Parks and Recreation Facilities 
 Methodology and Components 
 Consumption-based approach 
 Town wide service area 
 Components 

o Park and open space land 
o Park improvements 

- Projected Demand 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Demand Unit

Residential 0.0083 per Person
Nonresidential 0.0007 per Job
Residential 0.060 per Person
Nonresidential 0.005 per Job

Year
Peak HH 

Population
Jobs Acres Improvements

Base 2018 14,480 7,626 125 908
Year 1 2019 14,926 7,902 128 936
Year 2 2020 15,369 8,188 132 964
Year 3 2021 15,812 8,484 136 992
Year 4 2022 16,255 8,791 140 1,020
Year 5 2023 16,698 9,172 144 1,049
Year 6 2024 17,141 9,571 148 1,077
Year 7 2025 17,584 9,987 152 1,106
Year 8 2026 18,027 10,420 156 1,135
Year 9 2027 18,470 10,873 160 1,164
Year 10 2028 18,913 11,345 164 1,193

Ten‐Yr Increase 4,433 3,719 39 285
Growth‐Related Expenditures => $390,208 $3,347,543

Total Growth‐Related Expenditures $3,737,751

Need for Park Infrastructure

Improvements Units $11,765 per Unit

Type of Infrastructure Level of Service Average Cost

Land Acres $10,000 per Acre



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 3 of 29 

- Proposed Parks Development fees 
 

 
 

 
- Fire Facilities 

 Methodology and Components 
 Consumption-based approach 
 Town wide service area 
 Credit for existing debt 
 Components 

o Station square footage  
o Apparatus 

 
- Projected Demand 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Fee Component
Cost per

Person
Cost per Job

Park Land $82.55 $6.53
Park Improvements $708.21 $56.03
Development Fee Study $7.19 $0.43

TOTAL $797.95 $62.99

Residential (per unit)

Development Type
Persons per 

Household

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Single‐Family 2.42 $1,934 $1,417 $517
Multifamily 1.80 $1,437 $1,148 $289

Nonresidential (per square foot)

Development Type
Jobs per 1,000 

Sq. Ft.

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Commercial/Retail 2.34 $0.15 $0.17 ($0.02)
Office/Institutional 2.97 $0.19 $0.20 ($0.01)
Industrial/Flex 1.63 $0.10 $0.13 ($0.03)

Demand Unit

Residential 1.21 per Person
Nonresidential 0.89 per Job
Residential 0.0005 per Person
Nonresidential 0.0004 per Job

per Vehicle

Type of Infrastructure Level of Service Average Cost

Facilities Square Feet $292 per SF

Vehicles Vehicles $459,583



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 4 of 29 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 Proposed Fire Development Fee 

 
 
 

Fee Component
Cost per

Person
Cost per Job

Fire Facilities  $248.90 $183.80
Fire Vehicles $251.37 $185.62
Development Fee Study $5.84 $2.36
Credit ($112.13) ($75.38)

TOTAL $393.98 $296.39

Residential (per unit)

Development Type
Persons per 

Household

Proposed

Fees 
Current Fee

Increase / 

Decrease 

Single‐Family 2.42 $955 $917 $38
Multifamily 1.80 $710 $743 ($33)
*Figure A1. 

Nonresidential (per square foot)

Development Type
Jobs per 

1,000 Sq. Ft.

Proposed

Fees
Current Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Commercial/Retail 2.34 $0.69 $0.66 $0.03
Office/Institutional 2.97 $0.88 $0.61 $0.27
Industrial/Flex 1.63 $0.48 $0.20 $0.28

Year
Peak HH 

Population
Jobs

Facilities

(SF)
Vehicles

Equipme

nt

Base 2018 14,480 7,626 24,300 11
Year 1 2019 14,926 7,902 25,085 11
Year 2 2020 15,369 8,188 25,875 12
Year 3 2021 15,812 8,484 26,675 12
Year 4 2022 16,255 8,791 27,484 12
Year 5 2023 16,698 9,172 28,359 13
Year 6 2024 17,141 9,571 29,250 13
Year 7 2025 17,584 9,987 30,156 14
Year 8 2026 18,027 10,420 31,078 14
Year 9 2027 18,470 10,873 32,017 14
Year 10 2028 18,913 11,345 32,974 15

Ten‐Yr Increase 4,433 3,719 8,674 4
Growth‐Related Expenditures => $2,529,907 $1,804,548

Total Growth‐Related Expenditures $4,334,455

Need for Fire Infrastructure



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 5 of 29 

- Police Facilities 
 Methodology and Components 
 Consumption-based approach 
 Town wide service area 
 Components 

o Police space 
o Police vehicles 

 
 

 Projected Demand (IIP) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Demand Unit

Residential 0.70 per Person
Nonresidential 0.26 per Trip End
Residential 0.0021 per Person
Nonresidential 0.0008 per Trip End

Year
Peak HH 

Population
Trip Ends

Facilities

(SF)
Vehicles

Base 2018 14,480 14,830 14,016 43
Year 1 2019 14,926 15,366 14,469 44
Year 2 2020 15,369 15,922 14,925 46
Year 3 2021 15,812 16,498 15,386 47
Year 4 2022 16,255 17,095 15,852 49
Year 5 2023 16,698 17,837 16,357 50
Year 6 2024 17,141 18,612 16,871 52
Year 7 2025 17,584 19,420 17,394 53
Year 8 2026 18,027 20,264 17,926 55
Year 9 2027 18,470 21,144 18,467 57
Year 10 2028 18,913 22,063 19,019 58

Ten‐Yr Increase 4,433 7,233 5,003 15
Growth‐Related Expenditures => $1,460,893 $732,825

Total Growth‐Related Expenditures $2,193,718

Type of Infrastructure Level of Service Average Cost

Facilities Square Feet $292 per SF

Vehicles Vehicles $47,744 per Vehicle

Need for Police Infrastructure



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 6 of 29 

 Proposed Police Development Fee 
 

 
 
- Proposed Police Development Fee 
 

 
 

Fee Component
Cost per

Person

Cost per 

Vehicle Trip

Police Facilities  $203.50 $77.27
Police Vehicles $102.08 $38.76
Development Fee Study $5.39 $1.55

TOTAL $310.97 $117.58

Residential (per unit)

Development Type
Persons per 

Household

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Single‐Family 2.42 $754 $607 $147
Multifamily 1.80 $560 $492 $68
*Figure A1.

Nonresidential (per square foot)

Development Type
Trips per 

1,000 Sq. Ft.

Trip Rate 

Adjustment

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Commercial/Retail 37.75 33% $1.46 $0.44 $1.03
Office/Institutional 9.74 50% $0.57 $0.40 $0.17
Industrial/Flex 4.96 50% $0.29 $0.13 $0.16

Fee Component
Cost per

Person

Cost per 

Vehicle Trip

Police Facilities  $203.50 $77.27
Police Vehicles $102.08 $38.76
Development Fee Study $5.39 $1.55

TOTAL $310.97 $117.58

Residential (per unit)

Development Type
Persons per 

Household

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Single‐Family 2.42 $754 $607 $147
Multifamily 1.80 $560 $492 $68
*Figure A1.

Nonresidential (per square foot)

Development Type
Trips per 

1,000 Sq. Ft.

Trip Rate 

Adjustment

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Commercial/Retail 37.75 33% $1.46 $0.44 $1.03
Office/Institutional 9.74 50% $0.57 $0.40 $0.17
Industrial/Flex 4.96 50% $0.29 $0.13 $0.16



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 7 of 29 

- Water Facilities 
 Methodology and Components 
 Plan-based approach 
 Florence utility service area 
 Components 

o Transmission  
o Storage 
o Supply 

- Water IIP 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Description FY18‐19 FY19‐20 FY20‐21 FY21‐22 FY22‐23 Years 6‐10 Total Project

Centennial Park Road 8" 
Loop

$80,000 $145,000 $225,000

Adamsville Rd water line (12 
inch)

$250,000 $250,000

Water line infrastructure to 
serve North Florence (16 
inch)

$1,000,000 $1,000,000

Total $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,475,000
Ten‐Year Increase in Gallons of Peak Demand per Day => 1,241,411

Cost per Gallon of Demand => $1.19

Description FY18‐19 FY19‐20 FY20‐21 FY21‐22 FY22‐23 Years 6‐10 Total Project

North Florence Storage Tank $1,250,000 $1,250,000

Total $0 $0 $1,250,000 $0 $0 $0 $1,250,000
Gallons of Capacity per Day => 1,000,000
Cost per Gallon of Capacity => $1.25

Description FY18‐19 FY19‐20 FY20‐21 FY21‐22 FY22‐23 Years 6‐10 Total Project

Future Wells (1000 gallons a 
minute)

$1,250,000 $1,500,000 $2,750,000

Total $0 $0 $1,250,000 $0 $0 $1,500,000 $2,750,000
Gallons of Capacity per Day => 1,440,000
Cost per Gallon of Capacity => $1.91



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 8 of 29 

 
- Proposed Water Development Fee 

 
 
- Wastewater Facilities 

 Methodology and Components 
 Plan-based approach 
 Florence utility service area 
 Credit for future debt service 
 Components 

o Collection system 
o Wastewater treatment 

- Wastewater IIP 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Input Variables

Cost per 

Gallon of 

Capacity

Transmission Projects $1.19
Storage Projects $1.25
Supply Projects $1.91

Development Fee Study $0.03
Capital Cost per Gallon of Capacity => $4.38

Peak Day Gallons of Demand per ERU => 243
All Development (per meter)

Meter Size (inches) Meter Type
Capacity 

Ratio

Proposed 

Water 

Fee

Current 

Fee

$ Change

0.625 Displacement 1.00 $1,065 $1,980 ($915)
0.75 Displacement 1.50 $1,597 $4,950 ($3,353)
1.00 Displacement 2.50 $2,662 $4,950 ($2,288)
1.50 Displacement 5.00 $5,324 $9,900 ($4,576)
2.00 Displacement 8.00 $8,519 $15,840 ($7,321)
3.00 Compound 16.00 $17,038 $31,680 ($14,642)
3.00 Turbine 17.50 $18,636 $34,650 ($16,014)
4.00 Compound 25.00 $26,623 $49,500 ($22,877)
4.00 Turbine 31.50 $33,544 $59,400 ($25,856)
6.00 Turbine 65.00 $69,219 $123,750 ($54,531)
8.00 Turbine 140.00 $149,088 $178,200 ($29,112)
10.00 Turbine 210.00 $223,633 $287,100 ($63,467)
12.00 Turbine 265.00 $282,203 $425,700 ($143,497)

Description Prior Years FY18‐19 FY19‐20 FY20‐21 FY21‐22 FY22‐23 Years 6‐10 Total Project

West Main extension 
Adamsville to Dobson 
Property (36 inch)

$600,000 $600,000

South Sewer Main 
Extensions 287/SR79 (12 
inch)

$1,000,000 $1,000,000

Lift Station at Hunt 
Highway & SR79

$40,000 $330,000 $370,000

Total $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $0 $1,970,000
Ten‐Year Increase in Gallons of Peak Demand per Day => 931,058

Cost per Gallon of Demand => $2.12



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 9 of 29 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
- Proposed Wastewater Development Fee 

 
 
- Street Facilities 

 Methodology and Components 
 Hybrid consumption/plan-based approach 
 Town wide service area 
 Components 

o Arterial road capacity 
 
 
 
 

Input Variables

Cost per 

Gallon of 

Capacity

Transmission Projects $2.12
Treatment Projects $16.09

Principal Payment Credit per Gallon => ($5.04)
Capital Cost per Gallon of Capacity => $13.17

Peak Day Gallons of Demand per ERU => 182
All Development (per meter)

Meter Size (inches) Meter Type Capacity Ratio

Proposed 

Wastewater 

Fee

Current 

Fee

$ Change

0.625 Displacement 1.00 $2,400 $2,140 $260
0.75 Displacement 1.50 $3,600 $2,782 $818
1.00 Displacement 2.50 $6,001 $7,062 ($1,061)
1.50 Displacement 5.00 $12,002 $14,338 ($2,336)
2.00 Displacement 8.00 $19,202 $22,898 ($3,696)
3.00 Compound 16.00 $38,405 $45,852 ($7,447)
3.00 Turbine 17.50 $42,005 $49,862 ($7,857)
4.00 Compound 25.00 $60,008 $71,262 ($11,254)
4.00 Turbine 31.50 $75,610 $85,600 ($9,990)
6.00 Compound 50.00 $120,015 $142,738 ($22,723)
6.00 Turbine 65.00 $156,020 $178,262 ($22,242)
8.00 Turbine 140.00 $336,043 $256,800 $79,243
10.00 Turbine 210.00 $504,065 $413,662 $90,403
12.00 Turbine 265.00 $636,082 $613,538 $22,544

Description Prior Years FY18‐19 FY19‐20 FY20‐21 FY21‐22 FY22‐23 Years 6‐10 Total Project

Florence S. ‐ WWTP 
Expansion

$2,000,000 $15,150,000 $17,150,000

South WWTP Expansion 
Headworks

$150,000 $2,000,000 $1,500,000 $3,650,000

SWWTP disinfection 
system upgrade

$30,000 $3,000,000 $3,030,000

S. WWTP odor control / 
dust abatement

$300,000 $300,000

Total $150,000 $2,000,000 $1,830,000 $5,000,000 $15,150,000 $0 $0 $24,130,000
Gallons of Capacity per Day => 1,500,000
Cost per Gallon of Capacity => $16.09



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 10 of 29 

- Road IIP 
 

 
 
 These are potential projects for which to use the development fees. Also used to derive 

weighted average cost per lane mile for the fee calculation.  
  
- Proposed Development Fee 

 

 
 

Improvement  Segment
New 

Lanes
Miles

Lane 

Miles
Func Class Per lane mile Project Cost

Florence Heights Drive SR 79 to SR 79B 2 1 2 Minor Arterial $915,000 $1,830,000
Adamsville Road 3/4 Mile Extension to Plant Road 2 3 6 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $6,078,000
Butte Avenue Main to Plant 2 1 2 Major Collector $757,000 $1,514,000
Plant Road Butte to River 2 0.6 1.2 Minor Arterial $915,000 $1,098,000
Diversion Dam Road SR79 to Bowling 2 0.5 1 Minor Arterial $915,000 $915,000
Main Street Extension 1st to 79th 2 1 2 Minor Arterial $915,000 $1,830,000
River Road N/S Corridor to Main  4 1.5 6 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $6,078,000
Hunt Highway SR79 to Town Limits 2 4.25 8.5 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $8,610,500
Hunt Highway Franklin to Hiller 2 1 2 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $2,026,000
Attaway Road Palmer to Hunt 2 1 2 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $2,026,000
Felix Road Copper Basin to AZ Farms 2 2 4 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $4,052,000
Arizona Farms Road Copper Basin to Hersoth 2 4.5 9 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $9,117,000
Attaway Road AZ Farms to Judd 2 2 4 Principal Arterial $1,013,000 $4,052,000
N/S Corridor Alignment 287 to N. Town Limits 4 13 52 Az Parkway $1,215,600 $63,211,200

101.7 $1,105,582 $112,437,700
Source: Town of Florence.

Average Miles per Trip => 3.82
Cost per Additional Lane Mile => $1,105,582

Planned Lane Miles Needed to Maintain LOS => 6.10                     
Ten‐Year Growth Cost Funded by Fees $6,744,051

VMT Increase Over Ten Years 54,532
Capital Cost per VMT# $124.32

Residential (per unit) 

Development Type
Avg Wkdy Veh Trip 

Ends*

Trip Rate 

Adjustment

Trip Length 

Adjustment

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Single‐Family Unit 6.20 63% 121% $2,250 $2,086 $164
Multi‐Family Unit 4.30 63% 121% $1,560 $1,313 $247

Nonresidential (per square foot)

Development Type
Avg Wkdy Veh Trip 

Ends**

Trip Rate 

Adjustment

Trip Length 

Adjustment

Proposed

Fees

Current

Fee

Increase / 

Decrease

Commercial/Retail 37.75 33% 66% $3.90 $3.14 $0.76
Office/Institutional 9.74 50% 73% $1.68 $1.73 ($0.05)
Industrial/Flex 4.96 50% 73% $0.85 $1.02 ($0.17)
#Includes cost per VMT of $0.65 for the development fee study

*Current nonresidential fees adjusted from per 1,000 square feet to per square foot. 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 11 of 29 

- Proposed vs. Existing Fees 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Meter Size 

(inches)
Meter Type

Proposed 

Water Fee
Current Fee $ Change

Proposed 

Wastewater 

Fee

Current Fee $ Change

0.625 Displacement $1,065 $1,980 ($915) $2,400 $2,140 $260
0.750 Displacement $1,597 $4,950 ($3,353) $3,600 $2,782 $818
1.000 Displacement $2,662 $4,950 ($2,288) $6,001 $7,062 ($1,061)
1.500 Displacement $5,324 $9,900 ($4,576) $12,002 $14,338 ($2,336)
2.000 Displacement $8,518 $15,840 ($7,322) $19,202 $22,898 ($3,696)
3.000 Displacement $17,037 $31,680 ($14,643) $38,405 $45,582 ($7,177)
3.000 Compound $17,037 $31,680 ($14,643) $38,405 $45,852 ($7,447)
3.000 Turbine $18,635 $34,650 ($16,015) $42,005 $49,862 ($7,857)
4.000 Compound $26,621 $49,500 ($22,879) $60,008 $71,262 ($11,254)
4.000 Turbine $33,543 $59,400 ($25,857) $75,610 $85,600 ($9,990)
6.000 Compound $53,243 $99,000 ($45,757) $120,015 $142,738 ($22,723)
6.000 Turbine $69,216 $123,750 ($54,534) $156,020 $178,262 ($22,242)
8.000 Compound $85,189 $178,200 ($93,011) $192,025 $0 $192,025
8.000 Turbine $149,082 $178,200 ($29,118) $336,043 $256,800 $79,243
10.000 Turbine $223,623 $287,100 ($63,477) $504,065 $413,662 $90,403
12.000 Turbine $282,191 $425,700 ($143,509) $636,082 $613,538 $22,544

Residential (per unit)

Type Police
Fire and 

Rescue

Parks and 

Open Space

W

a

t

Roads
Proposed

Fee

Current 

Fee
Difference

Single‐Family $754 $955 $1,934 $2,250 $5,892 $5,027 $865
Multi‐Family $560 $710 $1,437 $1,560 $4,267 $3,696 $571

Nonresidential (per 1,000 square feet)

Type Police
Fire and 

Rescue

Parks and 

Open Space

W

a

t

Roads
Proposed

Fee

Current 

Fee
Difference

Commercial/Retail $1,465 $694 $148 $3,900 $6,206 $5,423 $783
Industrial $292 $482 $102 $850 $1,726 $464 $1,262
Office/Other Services $292 $880 $187 $1,680 $3,038 $2,937 $101



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 12 of 29 

- Fee Comparison for SF Units 
 

 
 
Councilmember Cordes inquired what the fee would be for a Florence resident purchasing a lot 
of land.  
 
Mr. Bise explained that they would pay $9,357 in impact fees if they are serviced by Florence’s 
utilities. 
 
MOMENT OF SILENCE 

 
Mayor Walter called for a moment of silence.  

 
PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
Mayor Walter led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

 
CALL TO THE PUBLIC  
Call to the Public for public comment on issues within the jurisdiction of the Town Council.  
Council rules limit public comment to three minutes.  Individual Councilmembers may 
respond to criticism made by those commenting, may ask staff to review a matter raised 
or may ask that a matter be put on a future agenda.  However, members of the Council 
shall not discuss or take action on any matter during an open call to the public unless the 
matters are properly noticed for discussion and legal action. 
 
There were no public comments.  
 
CONSENT: All items on the consent agenda will be handled by a single vote as part of the 
consent agenda, unless a Councilmember or a member of the public objects at the time 
the agenda item is called.  

 

Single‐Family Fees per Unit
Jurisdiction Total Parks Police Fire Streets Water Sewer Gen. Govt. Library

Gilbert $16,374 $4,081 $2,469 $0 $450 $6,286 $1,933 $1,155 $0
Casa Grande* $9,941 $1,153 $179 $589 $3,230 $0 $4,557 $233 $0
Coolidge* $7,012 $1,168 $0 $426 $3,235 $0 $2,183 $0 $0
Queen Creek $15,890 $3,681 $167 $490 $1,263 $4,014 $5,082 $470 $723
Avondale* $16,888 $1,497 $832 $775 $3,171 $4,495 $5,999 $0 $119
Florence* $9,357 $1,934 $754 $955 $2,250 $1,065 $2,400 $0 $0
Goodyear* $18,037 $2,255 $820 $971 $3,330 $7,843 $2,818 $0 $0
Glendale* $10,154 $1,181 $600 $631 $3,928 $2,126 $1,493 $0 $195
Pinal County‐North Central $9,214 $536 $700 $0 $7,978 $0 $0 $0 $0
Pinal County‐West $2,592 $536 $544 $0 $1,512 $0 $0 $0 $0
Pinal County‐East $3,511 $536 $544 $0 $2,431 $0 $0 $0 $0
Pinal County‐South Central $3,703 $536 $544 $0 $2,623 $0 $0 $0 $0
*Proposed



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 13 of 29 

Approval of Addendum Two Modification of the Lease Agreement dated June 1, 2017, 
between the Town of Florence, and Sharon Grier, owner of What’s Upstairs.  
 
Ratification of extending a professional services contract with Colibryn, for permit support 
and training with a total contract amount not to exceed $35,000. 
 
Approval of the 2019 Town of Florence Title VI Implementation Plan. 
 
Authorization for Mayor Walter to join other regional mayors in signing a letter of support 
for the pay increases for both public and private correctional employees in the Fiscal Year 
2020 State budget. 
 
Approval of the temporary Utility Payment Deferment Program for furloughed Federal 
government employees. 

Ratification of the election of William Bruin as an Employee Representative on the Town 
of Florence Public Safety Personnel Retirement System Fire Local Board for a period of 
four years. 
 
Authorization to dispose of Town vehicles and equipment that are no longer needed and/or 
have outlived their useful life. 
 
Approval of the February 4 and February 19, 2019 Town Council Meeting minutes. 
 
Receive and file the following board and commission minutes: 
 
January 17, 2019 Arts and Culture Commission Meeting minutes 
January 30, 2019 Historic District Advisory Commission Meeting minutes 
January 17, 2019 Planning and Zoning Commission Meeting minutes 
 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Councilmember Cordes, and carried (7-0) to 
approve the Consent Agenda as written, with the exception of Item a and Item b.  
 
Approval of Addendum Two Modification of the Lease Agreement dated June 1, 2017, 
between the Town of Florence, and Sharon Grier, owner of What’s Upstairs. 
 
Mayor Walter asked for this item to be removed from Consent Agenda because Councilmember 
Hughes is not able to vote on this item as she was a tenant in the building.   
 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Councilmember Wall, and carried (6-0; 
Councilmember Hughes recused herself as she was a previous tenant of the Silver King 
Marketplace) to approve Addendum Two Modification of the Lease Agreement dated June 1, 
2017, between the Town of Florence, and Sharon Grier, owner of What’s Upstairs. 
 
Ratification of extending a professional services contract with Colibryn, for permit support 
and training with a total contract amount not to exceed $35,000. 
 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 14 of 29 

Councilmember Cordes inquired how long has the town had this contract. 
 
Mr. James “Jimmy” Allen, Building Official, stated that they have had a contract with Colibryn 
since December 3, 2018, to assist with Smartgov permitting software due to the loss of the permit 
technician and frontend staff.  The initial contract was for a not-to-exceed amount of $25,000; 
however, staff is asking for an increase, so they can train the new permit tech as well as to learn 
all of the facets of the permitting program.  Being able to fully utilize all of the components of the 
program will allow for better customer service.  They will utilize the staff intermittently to help 
maximize the training.   
 
Councilmember Larsen understands this scope of service to include plan review and inspections.     
 
Mr. Allen explained that the Town was inundated with plan review requests and they are assisting 
with the reviews to help meet the required deadlines.  The Town will still receive the permit fees 
and a portion of the plan review fees. 
 
Mr. Allen explained that the Town presented to the developer four agencies that went through the 
procurement process for Pinal and Yavapai counties and chose Colibyrn.  The Town is able to 
piggyback off of their contracts.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that Ms. Colibryn is a certified permit technician.  The person hired is not a 
certified permit technician and requires training.  The Town needed a bridge between the last 
permit technician and the new technician.  The Town also wanted her to get deeper into the 
software package and provide training.  The Town has a boiler plate that is used for contracts that 
they use for new contracts.  The Town utilized Willdan and Stantec in the past and they did plan 
reviews, building inspections, etc.  He clarified that Ms. Colibryn will only be doing permit 
technician duties and her contract is to do the permit technician duties as well as training.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that this is the same contract he signed with his authority of up to $24,999 
and is going before Council for an additional $10,000. 
 
Ms. Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town Manager/Town Clerk explained that the verbiage in the contract 
allows for a broader scope so if the Town had a need, it set the limitations on what the Town could 
go into contact for.  The original contract was signed on December 3, 2018 and would have 
allowed for any of the services outlined in the contract.  The reason for the increase is the second 
page of Exhibit B.  Once the not to exceed amount has been expended, the contract will retire.   
  
On motion of Councilmember Cordes, seconded by Councilmember Wall, and carried (7-0) for 
ratification of extending a professional services contract with Colibryn, for permit support and 
training with a total contract amount not to exceed $35,000. 
 
UNFINISHED BUSINESS 

 
Resolution No. 1690-19:   

Mayor Walter read Resolution No. 1690-19 by title only. 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 15 of 29 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, APPROVING 
THE FINAL PLAT FOR ANTHEM AT MERRILL RANCH UNIT 33; AND AUTHORIZING 
EXECUTION BY THE TOWN MANAGER OF SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS.  

Mr. Larry Harmer, Community Development Director, stated that the summary for DR Horton was 
previously forwarded to the Council.    

Mr. Dan Bonow, DR Horton, stated that Unit 33 is adjacent to the wastewater treatment plant to 
the east.  He met with EPCOR last week and received an email, which was forwarded to Council, 
with regards to what they are doing with the plant.  It will be a 6 million gallon per day facility, at 
build out.  It is currently permitted for 3 million and is built out for 1.5 million gallons. Currently it is 
at .85 million gallons per day and does not include sewage that is being transferred down from the 
north.   

Mr. Bonow stated that there is a 350’ set back from the buildings, not the wall.  DR Horton is no 
different than Pulte and they also have to provide a public report, and have it filed with the Arizona 
Department of Real Estate.  The language will be the same as Pulte’s and is extensive.  The report 
will disclose that there may be dust and possible smell at any hours of the day.  They try to disclose 
as much as possible.  They have not filed their report as of yet.   

Mr. Bonow stated that aside from the required report, DR Horton does a separate disclosure and 
both documents are signed by the buyer.  He said because this is an existing facility, is readily 
available to see.   Typically, you disclose what is coming in the future, which is not as easy to 
display or to let prospective buyers know what is coming in.   

Mayor Walter inquired if the .85 million gallons per day total takes into consideration the dumping 
from Section 11 that is being pumped in. 

Mr. Bonow stated yes, the total is what is going to the plant as it stands right now, which is the 
diversion from Section 11 that is happening to the north. 

Mr. Bonow stated that the plant is built for the entire build out of Anthem at Merrill Ranch, which 
is approximately built out half way.  He stated that there is an increase when the winter visitors 
are here.   

Mr. Billingsley clarified that Anthem at Merrill Ranch is a quarter built out.  There is 1.5 million 
gallons available at the plant today with the ultimate being 6 million gallons.  He noted that there 
is a minimal amount of flow that has to go into the plant in order for it to work effectively, which is 
one of the reasons they had to force main from sectional 11 down to this plant.   

Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired how does the Town protect DR Horton and its citizens if Johnson 
Utilities does not perform.  He inquired if they can revoke their business licenses or impose a fine.  

Mr. Billingsley stated that the Town has been very involved for approximately 1.5 years regarding 
the conversations with the Arizona Department of Environmental Quality and the Arizona 
Corporation Commission regarding Johnson Utilities.  Johnson Utilities is regulated by various 
agencies and the Town does not have a say with respect to those compliance and enforcement 
duties.  



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 16 of 29 

Mr. Billingsley stated that when it comes to public safety and requirements in Florence, the Town 
if very much involved and issues letters when there are life safety issues.  

Councilmember Wall inquired about odor. It is Council’s concern that they would be facing a similar 
problem that people near the Section 11 plant have had with odor.   

Mr. Bonow stated that an activated carbon odor control system is installed just outside of the 
headworks at the plant.   

Councilmember Cordes stated that she is very concerned about the odor and wants to ensure that 
as a builder, DR Horton is doing its due diligence to protect those homebuyers from gases, 
spillage, odor, etc.  She understands that they have no control over Johnson Utilities but are doing 
everything they can to protect them, especially with the issues regarding the water. She inquired 
if DR Horton has validated what Epcor has said to them regarding Johnson Utilities.  

Mr. Bonow stated that the odor concern is of upmost importance to them as well.  They are selling 
a lifestyle and want to ensure that they are getting what they purchased.  He stated that they are 
working with EPCOR to remedy the situation regarding Section 11, where there are DR Horton 
Home in treatment section area.   

Mr. Bonow stated it is very important to get Section 11 running up to its full capacity.       

Councilmember Larsen stated that she appreciates DR Horton doing the extra report notifying the 
homebuyers and identifying where the wastewater treatment plant is located.  She wished them 
the best and welcomed them to Florence.   

Vice-Mayor Anderson stated that there is a water pressure problem in the Anthem area and 
inquired if DR Horton is aware of the issue. 

Mr. Bonow stated that pressure has been an ongoing problem and it has been addressed with 
Johnson Utilities a variety of times to find resolution.  He stated that there are more builders, so 
they can add more pressure to Johnson Utilities and EPCOR to rectify the situation.      

On motion of Councilmember Hawkins, seconded by Councilmember Wall, and carried (7-0) to 
adopt Resolution No. 1690-19.   

NEW BUSINESS 
 
Resolution No. 1691-19:  
 
Mayor Walter read Resolution No. 1691-19 by title only.  
 
A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, VACATING, 
ABANDONING AND TRANSFERRING TITLE TO THE RIGHT-OF-WAY FOR A PORTION OF 
NORTH PARK STREET ADJACENT TO THE ABUTTING PROPERTY OWNERS LOCATED 
AT 157 NORTH PARK STREET (“WEST”), AND APPROVING AND ACCEPTING THE 
COMPENSATION PAID BY THE ABUTTING PROPERTY OWNER AND OTHER 
CONSIDERATION FOR THE RIGHT-OF-WAY.  
 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 17 of 29 

Mr. Chris Salas, Public Works Director, there are several buildings in the downtown area that 
were built in the Town’s right-of-way. The property owner had a shed and wall in the Town’s right 
of way.  While going through the permitting process it was determined that the Town could not 
allow the rebuild to take place on the Town’s right-of-way.  The Town had the property owner do 
a survey and acquire the additional right-of-way to build his shed in the back yard and abandon 
the right-of-way.      
 
On motion of Councilmember Wall, seconded by Councilmember Hawkins, and carried (7-0) to 
adopt Resolution No. 1691-19. 
 
Discussion/Approval/Disapproval to adopt the Policy Guidelines and Application 
Procedures for the Establishment of Community Facilities Districts.  
 
Mr. Joe Jarvis, Finance Director, stated that in November 19, 2007, the Mayor and Council of the 
Town of Florence adopted the Policy Guidelines and Application Procedures for Establishment of 
new Community Facilities Districts (CFDs).  Since 2007, the statues and guidelines for managing 
Community Facilities Districts have changed and it is now time for the Town to consider an update 
to the existing policy.  This policy would only apply to new entities that request to be considered 
a community facilities district.  This will have zero impact on existing CFDs.   
 
Mr. Jarvis outlined some of the changes, which are: 
- Two additional members will be added, along with the Councilmembers, for the new CFD 

Board 
 New members will be selected by the developer 

- Change in fees that developer has to pay to the Town in order to process their application 
 

Mr. Jarvis stated that the Council and not the CFD1 or CFD2 Boards, need to review and approve 
the update to the policy.  If approved, Mayor, Town Clerk, and Town Attorney will sign off on the 
update.  
 
Councilmember Wall inquired if Article 1, Section1.9, states that $0.25 per every $1.00 is to be 
spent on the infrastructure improvements.  
 
Mr. Jarvis stated that staff checked with Greenburg and Traurig and Mike Caffisio and this is the 
standard around the state.    
 
Councilmember Wall inquired what happens to the additional $0.75.   
 
Ms. Garcia explained that the paragraph states at least $0.25 and is not a maximum number.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that there will be administrative fees and costs associated with the bond 
market.  He stated that there are is the ability to buy down the rate and sometimes you can pay 
points to obtain a lower a rate. 
 
Mayor Walter inquired where Section 1.9 was derived from.  
 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 18 of 29 

Mr. Billingsley stated that the law has changed, and the bond attorneys have provided a model 
policy which includes Section 1.9.   
 
Councilmember Hughes inquired what is the formulary for buying down a bond.  
 
Mr. Billingsley explained that it depends on the federal rate, the bond market, and what our 
individual bond rating is.  A rating agency can also assist with having the bond rating updated. 
Our current rating is BBB-.  He explained how the cost benefit is determined.  He explained how 
the rating is determined.  
 
On motion of Councilmember Hawkins, seconded by Councilmember Larsen, and carried (7-0) to 
adopt the Policy Guidelines and Application Procedures for the Establishment of Community 
Facilities Districts. 

 
PUBLIC HEARINGS AND PRESENTATIONS 
 
Public Hearing on the Town’s Development Impact Fees and Notice of Intent to Increase 
Fees and first reading of Ordinance No. 672-19.  
 
Mayor Walter read Ordinance No. 672-19 by title only.  
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING 
TITLE XV – LAND USAGE, CHAPTER 150 AMENDING, SECTIONS § 150.280(C) (D) (G) (H) 
and (K), ADOPTING NEW IMPACT FEES PURSUANT TO ASSUMPTION AND 
INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENT PLAN, ADOPTED ON JANUARY 7, 2019, BY 
APPROVING RESOLUTION NO. 1685-19. 

 
Ms. Lisa Garcia stated that Carson Bise provided a presentation at the start of the meeting 
regarding the impact fees.  The Council adopted the resolution, which adopted the Plan.  The 
Town published the notice in the paper, pursuant to A.R.S. Statutes that the Town would have 
the work session and have a public hearing.  The second reading will come before the Council on 
May 7, 2019.  If adopted on May 7, 2019, the effective date will be August 1, 2019.     
 
Mayor Walter opened the public hearing.  There being no comments, Mayor Walter closed the 
public hearing.  

 
Public Hearing to receive citizen’s comments on rezoning from Neighborhood Office (NO) 
to Highway Business (B-2) for 470 South Main Street, Florence, Arizona, APN 202-09-0010; 
and first reading of Ordinance No. 671-19. 
 
Mayor Walter read Ordinance No. 671-19 by title only.  
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, APPROVING 
THE HIGHWAY BUSINESS COMMERCIAL (B-2) ZONE CHANGE LOCATED AT 470 SOUTH 
MAIN STREET, APN 202-09-0010 (PZ-19-15).  
 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 19 of 29 

Mr. Larry Harmer, Community Development Director, stated that the Planning and Zoning 
Commission held a public hearing and has forwarded to Council a positive recommendation.    
 
Mr. Harmer provided a presentation, in which he outlined the following:  

 
- Celaya Zone Change PZ-19-15 Rezoning  

 Property located at 470 S. Main Street 
 APN# 202-09-0010 
 Rezone from Neighborhood Office (NO) to Highway Business Commercial (B-2) 
 .21 acres 

- Location and size of property 
  

 

 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 20 of 29 

- Public Outreach 
 Forms of outreach: 
 Mailed notice to those within 300 ft.    
 Advertisement posted in local newspaper 
 Public Notice sign on site 
 Citizen Review Meeting February 28, 2019 
 No participants  

 Planning and Zoning Commission Public Hearing March 7, 2019 
- Findings 

 Proposed rezoning is consistent with the 2020 General Plan  
 Rezoning should facilitate ongoing revitalization and redevelopment along Main Street   

- Recommendation 
 The Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval subject to conditions: 
 The development of the subject site shall be in conformance to any applicable Town 

Code and Ordinances. 
 Property owners agree to waive claims for diminution in value pursuant to Proposition 

207. 
 Any Additional conditions deemed necessary by the Town Council. 

 
Mr. Harmer noted that the applicant was unable to attend due to health reasons and will attend 
the second reading.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the Town is not doing spot zoning because they are changing the zoning 
on one parcel as the parcel is inconsistent from the zoning on the remainder of the corridor and 
inconsistent with the intent of the special planning area. 
 
Mayor Walter opened the public hearing.  There being no comments, Mayor Walter closed the 
public hearing. 

 
Public Hearing on an application received from Leslie Bentley, Sun City Anthem at Merrill 
Ranch, for a Class A Bingo License, located at 3925 N. Sun City Boulevard, Florence, 
Arizona, and for Council recommendation for approval or disapproval of said license.  

 
Ms. Garcia stated that the Clerk’s Office received an application for a Class A Bingo License for 
Sun City Anthem.  The Clerk’s Office is required to hold a public hearing within 45 day, which the 
Town is holding at this meeting.  Staff recommends that Council forward a favorable 
recommendation for approval of said license.    
 
Mayor Walter opened the public hearing.   
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired if the Town has received an application from Parkside at Anthem 
at Merrill Ranch.   
 
Ms. Garcia stated that the Town has not received an application for Parkside at Anthem at Merrill 
Ranch.  It is part of the municipal government’s job to receive the application and fees (State and 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 21 of 29 

Town).  The Town is required to hold a public hearing and Council makes a recommendation and 
forwards the recommendation to the State.  
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired about those who are doing bingo but do not know to obtain a 
license.  
 
Ms. Garcia explained that staff reaches out to those entities that are doing bingo and advise them 
of the requirements.  The bingo licenses do not have to be renewed.  She stated that she 
contacted the State and they could not disclose who had bingo licenses in Florence.  
 
Councilmember Cordes inquired if Sun City Anthem was asked to obtain a bingo license because 
they have offered bingo as part of their lifestyle. 
 
Ms. Garcia stated that a member of the community asked Sun City Anthem if they had a bingo 
license, at which time, Sun City Anthem confirmed that they needed to apply for a license.  She 
explained that they applied for a Class A non-profit bingo license where they can raise funds 
through bingo activities.  
 
Councilmember Cordes inquired if schools are required to obtain a bingo permit.  
 
Ms. Garcia stated that she would need to research it further.  She stated that anyone who is 
conducting bingo activities without a license to please contact the Clerk’s Office and we can walk 
them through the process.  
 
Councilmember Cordes asked that the applicant attend the next meeting.  
 
Ms. Garcia stated that only one public hearing is required.  
 
Councilmember Larsen inquired if the license is issued to an individual or location.   
 
Ms. Garcia stated that the license would be for the Sun City Anthem location.  
 
Mayor Walter closed the public hearing. 

 
On motion of Councilmember Hawkins, seconded by Vice-Mayor Anderson, and carried (7-0) to 
forward approval for a Class A Bingo License, located at 3925 N. Sun City Boulevard, Florence, 
Arizona. 

 
Proclamation declaring April 21, 2019 as PowerTalk 21® Day.  
 
Mayor Walter stated that teen alcohol kills more than 4,700 people each year, more than all illicit 
drugs combined.  Council received an email asking to issue a proclamation.  She stated that every 
conversation is an opportunity to save a life.  This April, Mothers Against Drunk Driving (MADD) 
is hosting a Power of Parents Workshop, across the state, to empower parents to talk early and 
often with their children about the dangers of drinking and to never ride with a drinking driver. 

 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 22 of 29 

Mr. Jason Frazier, MADD State Executive Director, stated that we lose far too many teens across 
the country.  He said it is all too often that we hear of accidents occurring and people losing their 
lives due to excessive drinking.  He stated it is an important date because: 
- Teens who start drinking before the age of 15 are six times more likely to develop severe 

alcohol problems and dependence later in life 
 Loss of loved ones due to impaired driving 

- One in four teens involved in car crashes are alcohol related 
 
Mr. Frazier stated that when he speaks to first responders and law enforcement, he tells them 
that there is no way to quantify how many lives they save when they stop impaired drivers.         
 
Councilmember Wall stated that she had her children sign a contract when they got their licenses 
that if they were ever in a situation where alcohol was present or if they had consumed alcohol, 
they would call their parents.   She inquired if they still promote this. 
 
Mr. Frazier stated that they still promote the contract.  He stated that there was a time that MADD 
was very involved in the schools and have gotten away from that a little bit.  They are moving 
back into that realm.  In their Power of Youth and Power of Parents programs, the contracts are 
discussed.   
 
Mayor Walter stated that the Fire Department, Police Department and Pinal County Sheriff’s 
Office puts on a presentation before prom regarding the dangers of drinking and driving.  
 
Mayor Walter proclaimed April 21, 2019 as PowerTalk 21® Day and read the proclamation for the 
record. 

 
Presentation on Florence Alerts and Public Emergency Notification.  

 
Mr. Ben Bitter, Assistant to the Town Manager, provided a presentation, in which he discussed 
the Everbridge Emergency Alert System and how to sign up to receive notifications: 

- Everbridge (Pinal County PENS) Emergency Alerts and Notifications, which includes the following 
steps: 
 Signing up for notifications:  Tinyurl.com/FlorenceAlerts 
 Change Notification Priority 
 Add Important Locations 
 Make Sure Location is Accurate 
 Select Florence Alerts 
 You’re All Set! 
 Staff will begin promoting this on Facebook, in utility bills, and at Town Hall. 
 We will continue to train staff to use the system, knowing there will be a learning curve as 

everything is set up. 
 
Councilmember Cordes inquired if you can register more that one location.  
 
Mr. Bitter stated that you can register multiple locations.  



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 23 of 29 

Councilmember Wall inquired what database is being used.  She stated that there are several 
resources for phone numbers.  
 
Mr. Bitter stated that they utilize whatever resources Everbridge uses.  He stated that through the 
system, there is a way to send an alert to all cell phones in a designated area, regardless if they 
are registered or not.  They still must obtain access in which to do this. 
 
NEW BUSINESS (CONTINUED) 
 
Discussion/Approval/Disapproval to enter into a contract with Cactus Asphalt (a division 
of Cactus Transport, Inc.), using the Cooperative Contract, through Pinal County JOC 
Contract #173923 Asphalt Maintenance & Repair Services, which includes the application 
of Chip Seal Binder: Polymer Modified Asphalt Rubber and FOG Seal Binder for pavement 
preservation treatment, for the Town of Florence CIP T-69 Pavement Preservation Project, 
in an amount not exceed $103,420.74.  

 
Mr. Chris Salas, Public Works Director, stated that the Town was not going to expend all of its 
funds because the majority of the projects were completed last fiscal year.  He stated that they 
will be bringing forward a variety of projects for completion this fiscal year.   
 
Mr. Salas stated that the surface of the various locations throughout Florence are worn and in 
need of asphalt preservation. These areas targeted for the Spring of 2019. 
 
Councilmember Larsen stated that Exhibit 3 and Exhibit 6 was not included in the agenda packet.  
She asked that the scope of work be explained along with the roads that were referencing to be 
on Exhibit 6. She inquired if Hunt Highway is included.  
 
Mr. Salas stated that the roads are in the downtown area, Desoto and Florence Gardens.  Hunt 
Highway is not included.  He explained that there is a mistake in the packet that was submitted, 
and the wrong maps were submitted.  
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired if there are ramifications if this item is tabled.  
 
Mr. Salas stated that the item can be table.  The project may have to wait until July.     
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that staff can send the map to Council tomorrow.  The contractors who do 
this type of work do it in a supply chain and schedule out six months to where they are going to 
travel because they travel with all of their equipment.  They are not able to postpone a job for a 
few weeks.  South Dakota Road in Caliente is one of the projects.   
 
Councilmember Larsen inquired what the start date for the project is.  
 
Mr. Salas stated that the project start date is at the discretion of the superintendent.   
 
Mayor Walter asked the projects and maps available online, inclusive of future projects.   
 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 24 of 29 

On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Councilmember Wall, and carried (7-0) to enter 
into a contract with Cactus Asphalt (a division of Cactus Transport, Inc.), using the Cooperative 
Contract, through Pinal County JOC Contract #173923 Asphalt Maintenance & Repair Services, 
which includes the application of Chip Seal Binder: Polymer Modified Asphalt Rubber and FOG 
Seal Binder for pavement preservation treatment, for the Town of Florence CIP T-69 Pavement 
Preservation Project, in an amount not exceed $103,420.74. 

 
Discussion/Approval/Disapproval to enter into a professional services contract with EUSI, 
LLC, for Public Works Management Support and Consulting Services with a new term to 
expire on June 30, 2020; approval of Task Order 6 in an amount not to exceed $109,500. 

 
Mr. Salas stated The Town’s need for professional services with EUSI, LLC, has changed since 
the initial Task 1 scope of work.  Task 6 will cover 4 unique tasks: 

 Legal and Technical Assistance with possible utility provider acquisition 
 In conjunction With Task Order 5, previously approved and set to expire June 30, 2019 

 Wastewater permit renewal 
 Arizona Pollutant Discharge Elimination System which are required to be updated and 

the Town’s permit is going to expire in a few months 
 The Town has to have a Federal Water Quality Permit in order to be able to discharge 

the Town’s treated effluent at the wastewater treatment plants    
 Operator of Record 
 Due to turnover in the department, the Town lost its Grade 3 operator and is required 

to have a Grade 3 in order to be in compliance 
 Training for staff to learn the permit and what is required to be in compliance  
 Goal is to have three to four grade 3 operators 

  Legal and Technical Assistance with Dobson Ranch GSF Permitting and Development 
Agreement 
 Florence has been working on securing Florence’s water for the last three years 
 Florence has existing contract with Dobson Ranch to sell them the Town’s treated 

effluent at a severely reduced price several years ago 
 Florence does not get any credit for the treated effluent when it is used on the farm  
 Per the law, a “Managed Solution” will allow the Town to be able to obtain partial credit 

for recharge purposes 
o The Town applied to the Arizona Department of Water Resources for the Managed 

Solution last year and was rejected. 
o Requesting EUSI to work with the landowner to submit a joint application for a 

managed solution.  
 
Councilmember Cordes stated that consultants should be short-term and believes employees 
should be trained and appropriately compensated so they do not leave the Town for better 
opportunities.  She wants to ensure that Florence has qualified staff and do best by the 
employees, so they do not have to worry about them leaving.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that it is difficult to obtain a Grade 3 license.  He explained all that it entails 
to obtain a Grade 3, which is why they are in high demand.    
 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 25 of 29 

Mr. Salas explained the challenges with staff and working towards their Grades and the goals to 
have Grade 3 operators.  He explained what changes have been made and what can be made to 
enhance the department.  
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson inquired if there is a minimum of certain grades at each facility.  
 
Mr. Salas stated that the Town is only required to have one Grade 3.  
 
Councilmember Larsen inquired if the Town pays for the employees to obtain the Grades. 
 
Mr. Salas stated that it is dependent on what is covered.  The employees are reimbursed the 
testing fee after successful completion of obtaining their Grade.  
 
On motion of Councilmember Hawkins, seconded by Councilmember Hughes, and carried (7-0) 
to enter into a professional services contract with EUSI, LLC, for Public Works Management 
Support and Consulting Services with a new term to expire on June 30, 2020; approval of Task 
Order 6 in an amount not to exceed $109,500. 
 
Discussion/Approval/Disapproval to enter into a contract with Arizona Correctional 
Industries, for repairs to the Silver King Hotel deck, handrails and stairway and 
replacement of materials including prep for concrete at the west patio by using State 
Statute § 41-2636, in an amount not to exceed $53,418.30.  

 
Mr. Salas stated that the Silver King Project came before Council previously and was approved 
for $80,000.  Staff was trying to avoid paying $40,000 in architectural plans.  He stated they 
created a scope of work and put the project out for bid.  The Town received one bid for $80,000 
and it only included half of the project.  He stated that after speaking to the contractors, they felt 
that there was a lack of clarity in the documents.  Staff repurposed the documents and worked 
through a series of JOCs.  The JOC would have the Town work with a general contractor, who 
would use a subcontractor; which inflated the price.  
 
Mr. Salas stated that it was suggested that the staff consider using Arizona Correctional Industries 
for the repairs.  Staff met with the Finance Director to ensure that this was acceptable through the 
procurement process.  He stated that the cost is for the majority of the work, less some of the 
proposed concrete and painting.    
 
Mr. Salas stated that staff is working with Larry Harmer and Jennifer Evans to obtain the State 
Historic Preservation Office (SHPO) approvals and to HDAC for whatever items that they see fit.  
Staff is hopeful that the approvals will be done soon.   
 
Mr. Salas stated that the Silver King’s deck, patio and stairways are in need of repair and 
replacement in some areas.  The wood has decayed and in some areas is not structurally sound. 
The deck has had limited access for some time due to safety concerns. The primary components 
of this project are: 

 
- Upper Decks and Northwest Stair Case 

 Demolition, framing of upper decks and northwest stair case, metal railings and decking 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 26 of 29 

 Painting will be under a separate contract. 
- Lower West Deck 

 Demolition, concrete preparation 
 Stamped concrete and painting will be under a separate contract. 

 
Mayor Walter inquired if woodpeckers caused some of the damage.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the woodpeckers did cause damage.  
 
Mr. Salas stated that the material previously used is not something that is not normally used for 
this type of work and has reached its design life.  
 
Mr. Billingsley discussed the pictures that were shown to Council, the damage, and how repairs 
will be made.  He stated that the finishing work is not included in the scope of work.  
 
Discussion occurred on when the work was initially done, via a grant in the mid-2000s, and issues 
that were made when it was done, such as incorrect material, structural components and 
foundation implementation.   
 
Discussion occurred on the following:  
- Replacing the decking with stamped and colored concrete; and SHPO needs to approve it 
- Length of the decking 
- Height of the decking 

 Need to build retention wall if the same height is to be maintained 
- Use of composite decking   

 
Councilmember Larsen inquired if they can present SHPO with the possibility of wrapping the deck 
around on the upper floor.  She stated that she has concerns with the Trex product being used 
because Trex does warp in the heat, is slippery when wet and is not maintenance-free.  She is 
also concerned about metal railings, especially during the summer.  
 
Mr. Salas stated that the Town is already in the process of working with SHPO. He stated that the 
architect, based on previous approval, has already started the design and is under contract, so 
any monies expended thus far, will be lost.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that they would need to provide renderings, etc. to SHPO. We would have 
wasted the money we already spent on the architect to do the plans for the internal, but then we 
would have to spend money on the external for the designs and renderings to send to SHPO.  Staff 
has already moved forward on Solution No. 1, with Council’s approval.  
 
Mr. Salas stated that the decking will be covered so there will be minimal water; however, people 
will need to use common sense when using the decking under wet conditions.  He stated that the 
railings will be made of powder-coated steel.  He will forward Councilmember Larsen’s concerns 
to the Facilities Maintenance staff.   
 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 27 of 29 

Councilmember Hawkins state that they are trying to find long-term solutions.   He has seen Trex 
used several times before and has never seen it warp.  The powder coated metal will last a long 
time.    
 
Councilmember Wall inquired if all three components (decking, painting and concrete) of the 
project need to be approved by SHPO beforehand, and if so, is Council moving ahead 
prematurely.  
 
Mr. Salas stated that there is no contract and staff is trying to obtain approvals in anticipation of 
moving forward, following SHPO approval.  If the Town does not obtain SHPO approval, staff will 
come back to Council with a modified scope of work.  

 
On motion of Councilmember Wall, seconded by Councilmember Cordes, and carried (6-0; 
Councilmember Hughes recused herself as she was a previous tenant of the Silver King 
Marketplace) to enter into a contract with Arizona Correctional Industries, for repairs to the Silver 
King Hotel deck, handrails and stairway and replacement of materials including prep for concrete 
at the west patio by using State Statue § 41-2636, in an amount not to exceed $53,418.30. 
 
LEGISLATIVE UPDATE  

Mr. Ben Bitter, Assistant to the Town Manager, stated that House Bill 2047 is sponsored by 
Representative Cook.  HB 2047 initially was a bad bill because it was shifting HURF money away 
from Pinal County, Maricopa County and Pima County.  The bill has since been amended and is 
now a positive bill where the impact will be an approximate $60 million increase to HURF funding 
across the State, with 50% going to counites and 50% going to cities.  There would be a base line 
established for all cities.  The bill has passed through the House and is now with the Senate 
Committee.  The Town has now signed in support of the bill.     

Mr. Bitter stated the SB1186 - Pension Bill has passed unanimously out of the Senate and is in 
House Committee.   

MANAGER’S REPORT 

There was nothing to report.  

CALL TO THE PUBLIC  
 
Mr. Jerry Ravert stated that he and his wife own the Jean Baptiste Michea Residence and Lone 
Star Store in the Historic District.  He stated that he is a longtime critic of how the Town  
Operates and treats the Historic District and business within, as the Town is spending on other 
areas around the District.  
 
Mr. Ravert requested that the Town delay demolition of the two historic properties until a complete 
evaluation of the structural integrity or remaining structures can be performed, and the feasibility 
of stabilizing the walls and security of the properties can be assessed.  This should include open 
meetings, not Council meetings, with the Historic District residents and business owners for ideas, 
and consultation with SHPO for assistance.    
 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 28 of 29 

Mr. Ravert stated that he would like there to be further discussion.  The Town needs to make a 
complete commitment to preservation within the Historic District.  They also need to develop an 
aggressive outreach program to deal with apathy and promote civic engagement.   
 
Mayor Walter stated that many of the items that Mr. Ravert mentioned, have been completed 
thought the Town’s due diligence.   
 
CALL TO THE COUNCIL – CURRENT EVENTS ONLY 
 
Councilmember Hughes stated that in New Business Item 9e, she did not vote.  
 
Councilmember Cordes stated that 89.1% of the Florence Unified School District’s (FUSD) 
certified staff has signed their contracts for next year.  This is a huge accomplishment.  She stated 
that LB Inn is celebrating 45 years of service on March 30, 2019.  She encouraged everyone to 
stop by and congratulate them on their success.  
 
Councilmember Cordes stated that the “Say Yes to the Dress” event was a success.  She works 
in conjunction with the FUSD, which provides her with space to hold the dresses and hold the 
event.  She stated that there were approximately 60 girls who attended and each of them left with 
a dress, shoes and jewelry.  She stated that 90% of the items came from community members 
and Cinderella Affair also donated items.  She thanked the volunteers and has been a great 
partnership.  
 
Councilmember Larsen stated the Town has started on the Budget Committee and looks forward 
to working with the group.  
 
Vice-Mayor Anderson stated that the water credits that were set to expire in 2025, will no longer 
expire; however, there are some complications as to what they will allow.  The Town will receive 
some credits for their recharge.   
 
Mayor Walter invited the public to the upcoming events: 
- Women’s Club Fashion Show on March 23, 2019 

 Entrance fees will go towards scholarships  
- Florence Little League Opening Day on March 30, 2019 
- Community Response Emergency Training on March 30, 2019 
- G.I. Bill 75th Anniversary Celebration on March 30, 2019 
 
ADJOURNMENT TO EXECUTIVE SESSION 
For the purposes of discussions or consultations with designated representatives of the 
public body and/or legal counsel pursuant to A.R.S. Sections 38-431.03 (A)(3), (A)(4) and 
(A)(7) to consider its position and instruct its representatives and/or attorneys regarding: 
 

 Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding Arizona Department of 
Environmental Quality proceedings, related to Water Quality Appeals Board Case 
No. 16-002, including appellate proceedings to reviewing courts.  

 Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding pending litigation in Maricopa 
County Superior Court: Town of Florence v. Florence Copper, Inc. CV2015-000325. 



 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 18, 2019 
Page 29 of 29 

 Town’s position and instruct its attorneys regarding pending litigation in Maricopa 
County Superior Court: Town of Florence v. Florence Copper, Inc. CV2015-000325 
including those actions related to said litigation as authorized by Ordinance. No. 
592-13. 

 Discussion of Notice of Claim received on January 25, 2019.  
 
On motion of Councilmember Hawkins, seconded by Vice-Mayor Anderson, and carried (7-0) to 
adjourn to Executive Session.  
 
ADJOURNMENT FROM EXECUTIVE SESSION 
 
On motion of Councilmember Hawkins, seconded by Councilmember Cordes, and carried (7-0) 
to adjourn from Executive Session.  
 
ADJOURNMENT 
 
On motion of Councilmember Hawkins, seconded by Councilmember Larsen, and carried (7-0) to 
adjourn the meeting at 8:39 pm.  
 

 
________________________________ 
Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 
 
 
I certify that the following is a true and correct copy of the minutes of the Florence Town Council 
meeting held on March 18, 2019, and that the meeting was duly called to order and that a quorum 
was present. 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 

 
 

 



MINUTES OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE COUNCIL WORK SESSION HELD ON MONDAY, 
MARCH 25, 2019, AT 5:30 P.M., IN THE FLORENCE TOWN COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 
LOCATED AT 775 N. MAIN STREET, FLORENCE, ARIZONA.   
 
CALL TO ORDER 
 
Mayor Walter called the meeting to order at 5:30 p.m. 
 
ROLL CALL:     
 
Present:  Tara Walter, John Anderson, Bill Hawkins, Karen Wall, Kristen Larsen, Michelle 
Cordes, Judy Hughes 
Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 25, 2019 
Page 1 of 10  

 
Mayor Walter welcomed the Planning and Zoning Commission members present. 
 
WORK SESSION 
 
Ordinance No. 667-18:  
 
Mayor Walter read Ordinance No. 667-18 by title only.  
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING 
THE TOWN OF FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV “LAND USAGE” CHAPTER 
150: DEVELOPMENT CODE, SECTION 150.031 “DEFINITIONS” AND REPEALLING AND 
REPLACING “PART 3 SIGN REGULATIONS,” SECTIONS 150.092 TO 150.130 (CASE PZ 18-
33 ORD).  
 
Mr. Dana Burkhardt, Planning Consultant, provided a memorandum to the Council, which 
provided additional background in response to questions posed during the Council’s first reading 
of this agenda item on February 19, 2019. Below, please find the Councilmembers questions 
listed in bold, followed by staff research and recommendations shown in italics. 
 

1) Councilmember Larsen – Questioned pg. 16, §150.098 (I) “All signs shall be 
professionally constructed and installed.” Generally, agrees that permanent signs 
should be professionally made and installed, but questions if it is necessary for 
banners, grand opening and A-frame signs be professionally constructed and 
installed? They seem to be a thing someone could be easily hang themselves. Also, 
§150.099 E.2.h – “A-frame signs must be professionally constructed and maintained 
in a manner free from chipping paint, cracks, gouges, and/or loss of letters.” 
 
Response: Staff proposes to strike and replace the language under Section 150.098(I) with 
the existing Sign Code language (§150.094 C. - red text added): “All signs shall have a 
professional appearance and be structurally designed, constructed, erected and 
maintained in accordance with all applicable provisions and requirements of the town 
codes and ordinances.”  
 
Existing A-frame code - §150.119 G.7: “A-frame signs shall be professionally constructed 
and maintained in a manner free from chipping paint, cracks, gouges, and/or loss of 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 25, 2019 
Page 2 of 10  

letters.” Staff is unaware of an issue or complaint with this portion of the current code and 
recommends the text not be changed. 

 
2) Vice-Mayor Anderson – Concerned the proposed sign code is too complicated. 

Request for work session to spend time going through answering specific 
questions. 
 
Response: Work Session scheduled to review specific areas of concern 
 

3) Mayor Walter – Explain why we need 33 pages vs. Maricopa’s 2 pages.  
 
See Response to #4, below 

 
4) Councilmember Wall – reduce size of document, cut out definitions 

 
Response: Staff has analyzed peer community codes and found the following: 
 
Existing Sign Code  21 pages (with definitions, no spacing) 
Proposed Sign Code   32 pages (with definitions, spacing) 
Maricopa     27pages (without definitions) 
Pinal County    29 pages (with definitions) 
Gilbert     52 pages (without definitions) 
Chandler     31 pages (with definitions) 
Coolidge      31 pages (with definitions) 
Queen Creek   27 pages (without definitions)  
 
With exception to the Town of Gilbert, the communities who do not include definitions within 
the Sign Code provide signage specific definitions in the “Definitions” section of the code. 
Staff finds that sign manufacturing companies are the greatest user of sign codes and 
benefit from definitions contained w/in the sign code. Sign manufacturers are unfamiliar 
and have little need for other areas of the zoning code.   

 
5) Councilmember Cordes – Hard to understand code. Make easier for people to 

understand. 
 
Response: Work Session scheduled to review areas of concern  
 

6) Public Comment – Larry Johnson – wrong season to ask businesses to attend 
meeting, they are busy during the holidays, suggests summer.  
 
Response: There are many ways to review, discuss and submit comments. In staff’s email 
correspondence with Larry we urged to attend and present at chamber functions, and also 
provided a link to online documents and explained the comment procedure. This was 
requested to be shared with the Chamber membership and business community at large. 
 

Council inquired about the following: 
- Restrictions and/or limitations on digital signs – need to promote digital rather than restrict it 

 New Code allows for digital signs (monument and free-standing signs) 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 25, 2019 
Page 3 of 10  

 Wall signs are not allowed to be digital  
 

Vice-Mayor Anderson stated that he does not feel that there should be a restriction on wall signs. 
He stated that digital signs should be allowed anywhere regular signs are allowed.  
 
- Section 10.6 (page 23) – One digital sign per site 
 
Discussion occurred on the number of signs a business can have.  
 
Mr. Burkhardt stated that they can modify the language to allow for two digital signs if it is a corner 
lot.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that the most municipalities do not allow for multiple digital signs because 
they do not want their downtown to look like Las Vegas.  It is also a public safety concern because 
too many things distracting people can cause accidents.  Most cities do not allow digital signs or 
severely limit the number of signs.   
 
Discussion occurred on the differences between monument signs, wall-mounted signs, their size, 
how high they can be displayed and the number of digital signs a business can have.  
 
Mr. Burkhardt stated that monument signs tend to compete with wall mounted signs.  
 
Councilmember Hawkins stated that the Code can be changed to accommodate changes in 
technology.  The Council can also provide a variance, if an issue occurs, to accommodate a 
business for some type of development that isn’t clearly identified in the Town Code.  
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that businesses can apply for the following if they are requesting an 
exception from the Town Code: 
- Variance 
- Comprehensive Sign Plan/Package 
  
Discussion occurred on signage on a window, specifically in residential areas.  
 
Mr. Burkhart stated that window signage is prohibited.  
 
Discussion occurred on signs for grand opening, open house sins and small bandit signs.   
 
Mr. Burkhart stated that small bandit signs are prohibited.  There are very strict restrictions on 
these types of signs. 
 
Discussion occurred on removal of signs.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that signs on Town right-of-way can be removed, others will be removed by 
going through the legal process.  
 
Councilmember Larsen asked that Page 15 – Exemptions: Item T, Item U and Item F be 
explained.  
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 25, 2019 
Page 4 of 10  

Mr. Burkhardt stated that the section refers to large signs placed on vehicles that park in front of 
the business as additional signage.  The section outlines what is and what is not permitted with 
that in mind.  This includes vehicle wraps if they are not parked correctly.  People who physically 
hold signs are exempt.   
 
Discussion occurred on using semi-trucks for signage, interactive signs (digital sign that changes 
the sign message based on a passing vehicle or person, radar, speed sign or other traffic control 
signs).   
 
Discussion occurred on signs painted on the water towers.  Signs on water towers is not 
permissible and is a code enforcement issue, nor or signs on fences allowed.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that there is a new interactive digital billboard that is being developed that 
will display messages based on your cellphone history of sites you have visited and items that 
you searched and/or purchased.  This can be problematic because the messages can distract the 
driver.   
 
Mr. Burkhardt stated that fence signs can be problematic because of weight and the wind load on 
the fence.  There can be significant damage if the fence cannot handle the weight and/or load.  
He stated that most fences are no higher than four feet in height and do not require engineering.  
The business could have a sign as long as it has its owns support structure.  Painting a sign on a 
brick fence is not allowed under the Code.   
 
Discussion occurred on variances and that there has only been one variance in the last three 
years.  The cost for a variance can cost $500.  The Code has been simplified and allows more 
than the previous Code allowed. 
 
Councilmember Wall inquired if the comments to the verbiage in the Code will be changed when 
approved by Council.     
 
Mr. Burkhardt stated that the changes to the verbiage will be included in the amended document, 
once Council approves.  
 
Ordinance No. 668-19:  
 
Mayor Walter read Ordinance No. 668-19 by title only.  
 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING 
THE TOWN OF FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV “LAND USAGE” CHAPTER 
150: DEVELOPMENT CODE, SECTION 150.031 “DEFINITIONS” AND “PART 7 PARKING; 
LOADING AND UNLOADING,” SECTIONS 150.156 TO 150.167 (CASE PZ 18-34 ORD.) (Dana 
Burkhardt) (Public Hearing and First Reading held February 19, 2019, second reading held 
March 4, 2019)  
 
Mr. Burkhardt, Planning Consultant, provided a memorandum to the Council, which provided 
additional background in response to questions posed during the Council’s first reading of this 
agenda item on February 19, 2019. This item will come again before the Council on May 4, 2019.  



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 25, 2019 
Page 5 of 10  

Below, please find the Councilmembers questions listed in bold, followed by staff research and 
recommendations shown in italics.  
 

7) Vice-Mayor Anderson – This amendment provides no requirement for number of 
ingress and egress to a development. 

 
Response:  
2006 Fire Code Chapter 5 provides for “Fire Apparatus Access Roads” 
 
Section 502.1 Definitions 

“Fire Apparatus Access Road” is a road that provides fire apparatus access from a 
fire station to a facility, building or portion thereof. This is a general term inclusive of 
all other terms such as fire lane, public street, private street, parking lot lane and 
access roadway. 

 
Section 503 – Fire Apparatus Access Roads 

Section 503.1.1 Buildings and Facilities. Approved fire apparatus access roads a 
shall be provided for every facility, building or portion of a building hereafter 
constructed or moved into or within the jurisdiction. The fire apparatus access road 
shall comply with the requirements of this section and shall extend to within 150 feet 
of all portions of the facility and all portions of the exterior walls of the first story of 
the building as measured by an approved route around the exterior of the building 
or facility. 
 
Section 503.1.2 Additional access. The fire code official is authorized to require 
more than one fire apparatus access road based on the potential for impairment of 
a single road by vehicle congestion, condition of terrain, climatic conditions or other 
factors that could limit access. 
 

In summary, when exterior portions of a structure are greater than 150 feet from a 
roadway or fire access road/route, the fire marshal is authorized to require more than 
one fire apparatus access road based on the potential for the primary vehicle 
ingress/egress to become inaccessible for any reason.  
 
a. Stated that (§II.E) bituminous material and binder paving (aka wrap) as listed, 

may have recycled materials such as gas, oil and other environmentally 
hazardous materials and cause a negative environmental impact  

Response: Staff proposes the following revision to Section II.E –  
(E) All parking and loading spaces, maneuvering areas, driveways and fire lanes shall 
be paved with asphaltic concrete; pavers; cement concrete; penetration treatment of 
bituminous material and seal coat of bituminous binder and a mineral aggregate; and/or 
a stabilization method approved by the Town Engineer. Through the site plan and 
design review process, the Town may permit up to 20 percent of the required parking 
to be of a pervious surface to reduce heat-island and run-off effects. All parking surfaces 
must be designed to a sufficient thickness to withstand repeated vehicular traffic and 
receive approval from the Town Engineer. 
 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 25, 2019 
Page 6 of 10  

b. §III.(B) – States the Town cannot hold the lessee accountable, it has to be the 
property owner.  

Response: The existing code text states “it shall be the joint and separate responsibility 
of the lessee and owner of the principal use…” I agree with text as written to notify and 
bring to the attention of both parties. A tenant / lessee should be notified of any potential 
violations on the property they occupy in hopes to expeditiously remediate the violation. 
Staff is aware that the property owner is ultimately the subject of the violation and any 
ensuing penalties. However, providing the lessee with notification of a violation may 
gain compliance should the violation be due to their use of the property. Inversely, if the 
violation is the cause of the owner’s negligence, lessee may be affected and motivated 
to assist in remediating the violation.   
 
c. Where is “grandfathered” defined? 
Response: “Grandfathered” is a general term used to denote a pre-existing use or 
structure that was lawfully established under a prior code, and is no longer lawfully 
permitted under the current codes or ordinances. Another way we say this is “Legal 
non-conforming” use or structure, meaning it is a lawfully permitted structure or use 
established under a previous code at a time when the structure or use was permissible, 
but due to changes in development standards or codes, would not be permitted under 
the current code. The administrative section of the Development Code prescribes how 
these legal non-conforming uses and structures are treated should the owner wish to 
modify or expand the use or structure under the current codes: 
 
§ 150.005  COMPLIANCE. 
   No building or land shall be devoted to any use other than a use permitted in the 
zoning district in which the building or land shall be located, with the exception of the 
following: 
   (A)   Uses lawfully established as of the effective date of this comprehensive 
amendment; 
 
d. Why not have a separate code for all of these definitions? 
Response: Aside from the existing and proposed Sign Codes, the second section of 
the Development Code / Zoning Ordinance establishes 150.031 “Definitions”, which 
applies to the code in its entirety, unless otherwise specified. 
 
e. Change name on list of uses “Church” to assembly buildings or something 

else 
Response: Staff has reviewed peer community codes and found the following: 
 
Existing Code –   Church; Place of Worship or Religious Assembly (Medical 
Mar.) 
Proposed Code –   Church; religious facility 
Maricopa –    Church; Religious Facilities 
Pinal County –   Church; Religious Facilities 
Gilbert –    Place of Worship 
Chandler –    Churches; Places of Religious Worship; Religious 
Facilities 
Queen Creek –  Religious Assembly; Religious Institutions  



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 25, 2019 
Page 7 of 10  

 
The existing Development Code has several references to the term “Church” as a use 
in various areas of the code. Amending the parking code reference of “Church” would 
create an inconsistency with the remaing Development Code. Staff is in process of 
preparing an overall “clean-up” of the Development Code, including addressing 
conflicts of terminology for uses. Staff recommends addressing this change in 
terminology with the overall clean-up of the Development Code to ensure all references 
are used consistently. 

 
8) Councilmember Larsen – §III.C.1 requires a 3’ screen wall to screen parking areas 

from the street and adjacent residential development. Why require berms and screen 
walls adjacent to parking areas? Is this a code we are enforcing and why do some 
developments, such as Safeway and the Grille not have a screen wall? 
 
Response: Yes, Staff enforces the Development Code.  Staff recommends retaining the 
current text requiring screen walls for parking areas. A review and comparison with peer 
communities is as follows: 

 
Existing Code –    
Requires parking areas to be screened from streets and residences by a 3’ wall or wall 
in combination with earthen berms, and landscape is required. 
 
Proposed Code –    
No change from existing code 
 
Maricopa –     
Required 3’ to 3.5’ with combo of berming and vegetative materials. The code is 
involved, Refer to Section “Screening” 401.11 E. for additional details 
 
Pinal County –    
Section 2.140.030 
B.  Where a parking area for a business or industrial use adjoins or is within a residential 
zone, there shall be a solid wall of masonry or other approved fireproof material, at least 
four feet in height, along the boundaries adjoining residence lots, except that adjoining 
the front yard of a residence lot, said wall shall be three feet six inches in height. 
C.  Anywhere a wall is required, a minimum landscaped yard of five feet shall be 
provided between the wall and the parking area. 
 
Gilbert –     
Section 4.2012 Screening, Landscaping and Lighting  
 A. Screening.  Parking areas, automotive fuel pump islands, and parking access aisles 
parallel to and within 75 feet of rights-of-way shall be screened from view from those 
rights-of-way, public parks and public buildings by fences.  Landscaping or berming 
may substitute for fences up to a maximum of 25 percent of the length of the fence. 
(See entire code for additional standards) 
 
Chandler –    
Section 35.1903 – Landscaping 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 25, 2019 
Page 8 of 10  

(c) 8.  Parking lot screening: When parking areas abut a front yard or road frontage 
landscaped area, such parking area shall be screened with a decorative masonry 
wall(s) and earth berm(s) ranging between thirty (30) and forty-two (42) inches in 
height. Horizontal and vertical variation in the design of  screening wall is required 
whenever linear alignments exceed eighty (80) feet.  

Tree, shrub and ground cover planting shall be as required in paragraph 5., "Front 
yard/street right-of-way areas," listed above.  

Queen Creek –   
See “Fencing and Walls” Section 5.2 D.3 - Parking areas adjacent to the required front 
yard shall provide a decorative screen wall or landscape berm or combination thereof 
to a height not to exceed three feet (3') in order to adequately screen the undercarriages 
of the parked vehicles. Parking lot screen walls shall also be subject to the design 
provisions set forth in Section 5.2.A.15 & 16 above. 

 
a. Concern over cost to construct a parking lot screen wall on sites with a long 

frontage. Seems to be a potential financial burden to the developer. 
 
Response: Per the above research and industry experience, parking lot screening and 
landscaping is common place and a widely accepted cost of development. 

 
Councilmember Hughes inquired about Section IV. Parking Standards for Single Family and 2-
Family Residential Uses, Subsection C. Recreational Vehicle Storage. Recreational vehicles, 
boats, and trailers shall be stored behind a solid six-foot wall with view obscuring gates.   
 
Mr. Burkhardt stated that RVs may be located in front of a wall for a period not to exceed 72 hours 
for the purpose of preparing for travel or prior to storage.  She stated that chain link fences are 
allowed in the downtown area.   
 
Mr. Burkhardt stated that the purpose is to screen the unit from the residents and the surrounding 
uses. RVS currently parked in the backyard are grandfathered.  Vehicles cannot be parked in the 
street or the right-of-way.    
 
Discussion occurred on the questions posed by Council and an overview of the responses 
presented in the memorandum.  
 
Discussion occurred on what category different businesses fall under and how the Code would 
be applied in various scenarios.   
 
Mr. Billingsley stated that there is a formula used to determine parking spaces required based on 
occupancy.  He stated that there are areas that have been grandfathered and have parking issues.   
 
Councilmember Hawkins stated that the Town is transparent, and the Council is open to public 
comments or suggestions.  He would hope more of the public would attend the public meetings.  
 
MANAGER’S REPORT 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 25, 2019 
Page 9 of 10  

There was no Manager’s Report. 

CALL TO THE PUBLIC  
 
There were no public comments.  
 
CALL TO THE COUNCIL – CURRENT EVENTS ONLY 
 
Councilmember Larsen requested to review the variance fees as she felt the cost is high.  She 
stated that if any Councilmembers have questions, it is great to ask them publicly as the public 
may have the same questions.  
 
Councilmember Hawkins invited everyone to the GI Bill 75th Anniversary Celebration on March 
30, 2019.  
 
Mayor Walter stated that March 30, 2019 is opening day for Little League as well as Community 
Emergency Response Training at various locations throughout Florence.   
 
Mayor Walter stated that Hurts Donuts will be visiting Florence on March 27, 2019.  The money 
raised will be donated to a young girl who is fighting cancer in our community.       
 
Mayor Walter thanked the Florence Women’s Club for their fashion show and the Florence Fire 
and Police Officers escorted the ladies down the aisle.  The money raised will go towards 
scholarships.  She also thanked the Florence Teen Council for their help at the fashion show. 
 
ADJOURNMENT 

 
On motion of Vice-Mayor Anderson, seconded by Councilmember Hughes, and carried (7-
0) to adjourn the meeting at 6:40 pm.  
 
 
________________________________ 
Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
_________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 
 
 
I certify that the following is a true and correct copy of the minutes of the Florence Town Council 
meeting held on March 25, 2019, and that the meeting was duly called to order and that a quorum 
was present. 
 
 
_________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 



Town of Florence Council Meeting Minutes 
March 25, 2019 
Page 10 of 10  

 
 

 
 

 



















 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
12a.  

MEETING DATE:   April 15, 2019  
 
DEPARTMENT:  Community Development 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Dana Burkhardt, Planning Consultant 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   
Subject:  Ordinance No. 667-19 Signage Amendment (PZ-18-33-ORD)                           Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

 
SUBJECT:  Ordinance No. 667-19 Development Code Sign 
Regulations, Text Amendment Case No. PZ-18-33 ORD

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 667-19: AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF FLORENCE 
CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV “LAND USAGE” CHAPTER 150: DEVELOPMENT 
CODE, SECTION 150.031 “DEFINITIONS” AND REPEALING AND REPLACING “PART 
3 SIGN REGULATIONS,” SECTIONS 150.092 TO 150.130 (CASE PZ 18-33 ORD).   
(Public hearing and first reading held February 19, 2019, second reading held March 4, 
2019, Work Session held March 25, 2019). 

A text amendment to the Sign Regulations of the Development Code with the following 
amendments (bold italic text is added, text with a strikethrough to be deleted): 

1) Revise §150.098(I) as follows: “All Signs shall be professionally constructed and 
installed. have a professional appearance and be structurally designed, 
constructed, erected and maintained in accordance with all applicable 
provisions and requirements of the town codes and ordinances.” 

2) Revise §150.099(E)(2)(h): “A-Frame signs shall have a professional appearance 
and be professionally constructed and maintained in a manner free from chipping 
paint, cracks, gouges, and/or loss of letters.” 

3) Revise §150.099(D)(10)(b): “One Digital Sign per Site and such Sign shall be 
considered as one of the allowed Freestanding Signs and be subject to all of the 
requirements for Freestanding Signs, as well as the requirements set forth in this 
Section. Corner lots with two arterial roadway building frontages may be 
permitted one digital Freestanding Sign for each building frontage through 
the Site Plan and Design Review process.”  



Subject:  Ordinance No. 667-19 Signage Amendment (PZ-18-33-ORD)                           Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

4) Revise §150.097(A) to add subsection (3) No Sign shall be placed on a utility 
pole, tree, rock, or similar feature. 

OVERVIEW: 
This is the second and final required reading of Ordinance No. 667-19, included with this 
RCA as Exhibit A. The first reading and public hearing was held on February 19, 2019 
and a Town Council Work Session was held to discuss this proposed text amendment on 
March 25, 2019.    

For additional details surrounding this proposed text amendment Ordinance No. 667-18, 
please refer to the attached First Read RCA dated February 19th (Exhibit B), and the 
Memorandum to Town Council dated March 18th, 2019 (Exhibit C.) 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

A no vote would mean the Town Code would not be updated.  

 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

A yes vote means the sign code would be updated and the Code of Ordinances would be 
updated.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Neutral, approval or denial of this request has no impact to the Town’s finances. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
The Planning and Zoning Commission found the text amendment, Case #PZ-18-33-ORD   
(Ordinance 667-19) is in the interest of the general welfare, health and safety of the public. 
The Planning and Zoning Commission has forwarded a unanimous favorable 
recommendation on this proposed text amendment, as described in Exhibit A, to the 
Mayor and Town Council. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Ordinance No. 667-19 
Exhibit A  
Memorandum to Town Council  
Power Point Presentation 
 



 

ORDINANCE NO. 667-19 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL 
COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV “LAND 
USAGE” CHAPTER 150: DEVELOPMENT CODE, 
SECTION 150.031 “DEFINITIONS” AND REPEALLING 
AND REPLACING “PART 3 SIGN REGULATIONS,” 
SECTIONS 150.092 TO 150.130 (CASE PZ 18-33 ORD). 
 

 
WHEREAS, in accordance with A.R.S. § 9-462, the legislative body may 

adopt by ordinance, any change or amendment to the regulations and provisions 
as set forth in the Development Code of the Town of Florence; and  

 
WHEREAS, notification of this amendment has been published in a local 

newspaper with general circulation in the Town of Florence, giving 15-day notice 
of time, date, and place of public hearing; and 

 
WHEREAS, a public hearing was held by the Planning and Zoning 

Commission on December 20, 2018; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission, after having held a 

public hearing on the case, has forwarded the Mayor and Town Council a 
unanimous favorable recommendation for the text amendment ordinance; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council has determined that it is in the best interest 

of the residents of Florence to amend the Town of Florence Development Code 
Sections 150.031, and 150.092 to 150.130, such that it is advisable to repeal and 
replace the aforementioned sections, as further set forth in Exhibit "A", which is 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council has determined that, for the reasons set 

forth above and for the purpose of protecting the public health, safety and welfare 
of the residents and visitors of Florence, it is in the best interests of the Town to 
amend the Code of Ordinances as provided herein; 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of 
Florence, Arizona, as follows:  

Section 1. Any proposal for the construction, installation, or replacement of 
signs within the Town shall be subject to the following: Town of 
Florence Code of Ordinances Title XV Land Usage, Chapter 150 of the 
Florence Development Code Part 3 Sign Regulations, Sections 150.092 to 
150.130; the Town's licensing and permit requirements; the Town’s 
reasonable design review and development standards; the Town's 



 

reasonable rates and fees as adopted by the Town; and all other 
applicable regulatory processes. 

Section 2. Existing Title XV of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances is 
hereby amended by the revisions, additions, deletions, and 
replacement of the Development Code text as set forth in Exhibit "A." 

Section 3. Exhibit "A" is hereby approved, adopted and incorporated into the 
Town of Florence Code of Ordinances Title XV Land Usage, Chapter 
150 Development Code by reference, as fully as if set forth in this 
Ordinance in its entirety. 

Section 4. If any section, subsection, clause, phrase or portion of this Ordinance 
or any part of the amended and restated Town of Florence Code of 
Ordinances Title XV is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional 
by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision 
shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 

Section 5. One paper copy and one electronic copy of this ordinance is ordered 
to remain on file with the Town Clerk. 

 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence this 
___day of __________ 2019. 

      ______________________________ 
      Tara Walter, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:                                             APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
___________________________ ______________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk   Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 



EXHIBIT A 

SIGN CODE UPDATE 
 
(The following text in red is a proposed addition to the Development Code “Definitions” 
section and text with a strikethrough are proposed for deletion.) 
 
Definitions 
 
150.031  Defined Words 
 
   SIGN.   Any object, device, display or structure (including but not limited to letters, 
words, numerals, figures, symbols, pictures, outline, character, color, illumination, 
trademark, logo or any part or combination) used for visual communication which is 
intended to attract the attention of the public and is visible from the public rights-of-way 
or other properties. Refer to §150.094 for Sign and signage related terms and definitions. 
 
 
(The following text is proposed to repeal and replace the existing Development Code Part 
3 Sign Regulations, sections 150.092 to 150.130.) 
 
Part 3. Sign Regulations 
 
Sections 
150.092 Purpose, Scope and Authority  
150.093 Applicability 
150.094 Signage Definitions 
150.095 Exemptions 
150.096 Prohibited Commercial Signs 
150.097 Prohibited Sign Locations  
150.098 Standards, Limitation and Requirements for All Signs 
150.099 Signs for Employment/Commercial and Mixed Use Districts 
150.100 Signs for Residential Districts  
150.101 Comprehensive Sign Plan Required 
150.102 Submittal and Permit Requirements 
150.103 Exceptions; Permits Not Required 
150.104 Legal Nonconforming Signs 
150.105 Signs Rendered Nonconforming 
150.106 Abandoned Signs 
150.107 Unsafe Signs 
150.108 Enforcement and Penalties 
150.109 -130 Reserved 
 
150.092 Purpose, Scope and Authority  
 
The purposes of these Sign regulations, hereafter referred to as the “Sign Code”, are: 
 
(A) To encourage the effective use of Signs as a means of communication in the Town.  



 

 

  Page 2 

(B) To maintain and enhance the aesthetic beauty of the built environment and the 
Town's ability to attract sources of economic development and growth.  

  
(C) To improve pedestrian and traffic safety. 
 
(D) To minimize the possible adverse effect of Signs on nearby public and private 

property.  
 
(E) To balance the rights of businesses and individuals to convey messages through 

Signs against the aesthetics and safety hazards that come from the proliferation of 
Sign clutter. 

 
(F) To enable the fair and consistent enforcement of the Sign Code. 

 
150.093 Applicability 
 
(A) It shall be unlawful to display, erect, place, establish, paint or maintain a nonexempt 

Sign in the Town except in conformance with the standards, requirements, 
limitations and procedures of the Sign Code.  

 
(B) The effect of this Sign Code as more specifically set forth herein, is: 
 

(1) To prohibit all Signs except as permitted by the Sign Code. 
 
(2) To allow a variety of types of Signs in Employment/Commercial and Mixed 

Use districts, and a limited variety of Signs in residential districts, subject to 
content neutral standards requirements and limitations. 

 
(3) To allow certain Signs that are appropriately sized and incidental to the 

principal use of the respective lots on which they are located, subject to the 
substantive requirements of these regulations, but without a requirement for 
permits. 

 
(4) To establish standards, requirements and limitations and a permit system that 

honor constitutional rights and requirements. 
 
(5) To provide for the enforcement of the provisions of the Sign Code. 
 

150.094 Signage Definitions 
 
For the purpose of the Sign Code, the following definitions shall apply unless the context 
indicates or requires a different meaning.  
 
A-FRAME SIGN. A portable type of promotional business Sign.  

 
ADJACENT. Adjacent means abuts, is contiguous to or shares a common boundary.  



 

 

  Page 3 

ALLOWABLE SIGN AREA. The total Sign Area permitted for all nonexempt Signs. 
 

ARTERIAL ROADWAY. A street designated as an arterial roadway in transportation 
plans approved by the Town of Florence. 

 
BANNER. Any Sign of fabric, plastic or similar material that is mounted to a pole, structure 
or a building at one or more edges. Banners are used to advertise special events or new 
business and are not permanently attached. 

 
BEACON. Means any light with one or more beams directed into the atmosphere or 
directed at one or more points not on the same site as the light source; also, any light with 
one or more beams that rotate or move. Beacons are prohibited except when approved 
for limited usage with a Special Event Permit. 

 
BILLBOARD. A flat surface or board, used outdoors, on which large commercial 
advertisements or notices are posted. In this Sign Code, Billboards shall be referred to as 
Off Premise Advertising Signs. 
 
BLADE SIGN. A type of projecting Sign mounted on a building facade or storefront pole 
or attached to a surface perpendicular to the normal flow of traffic. 

 
BUILDING. Building is defined in Section 150.031 of the Development Code. 

 
BUILDING FRONTAGE. The length of the wall of a completely enclosed permanent 
building on a site that fronts directly on a public or private street or right-of-way.  

 
BUILDING GROUND FLOOR AREA. The area of the ground floor enclosed within the 
walls of all buildings on the site.  

 
BUILDING IDENTIFICATION SIGN. A non-commercial Sign that identifies the street 
address of the building, as well as other identifying information required for public safety 
purposes. 
 
BUILDING MARKER. A Sign indicating the name of a building and date and incidental 
information about its construction, which Sign is cut into masonry surface or made of 
bronze or other permanent material, and affixed to or placed near a building.  
 
BUILDING SIGN. Any Sign attached to or painted on any part of a building, as contrasted 
to Fence, Freestanding or Monument Signs.  

 
BUS STOP. A bench, shelter, kiosk, or pole Sign or similar structure placed by the Town 
of Florence or the locally endorsed public transportation authority, e.g., Central Arizona 
Regional Transit, along an established public transportation route to mark an area for 
members of the general public to wait for and get on or off of public transportation.  
 



 

 

  Page 4 

BUSINESS FRONTAGE. The length of the face or wall of a completely enclosed and 
permanent building occupied by an individual building occupant and contains a customer 
entrance. An occupant may have more than one business frontage if it occupies building 
frontage facing on two or more streets or public areas. If the building faces two or more 
streets or public areas, only the two main frontages may be used in calculating allowable 
Sign Area.  

 
CABINET SIGN. A building Sign that is an enclosed cabinet with Copy on one or more 
sides and may enclose an integrated light source that can shine through the sides or face 
of the Sign.  

 
CAFE UMBREALLA SIGNS. Signs or Copy permanently embroidered, screened, dyed, 
stenciled or painted into the fabric of umbrellas that are set up in sidewalk cafes. 

 
CANOPY SIGN. Any Sign 
that is a part of or is attached 
to an awning, canopy, or other 
fabric, plastic, or structural 
protective cover over a door, 
entrance, window, or outdoor 
service area. A Marquee Sign 
is not a Canopy Sign.  

 
CHANGEABLE COPY SIGN, 
MANUAL. A Sign or portion 
thereof that has a reader 
board for the display of text 
information in which each 
alphanumeric character, 
graphic or symbol, may be 
changed or re-arranged manually with characters, letters or illustrations. Furthermore, the 
changes can occur without altering the face or surface of the Sign.  

 
CHANNEL LETTERING. Copy that is individually cut, raised, carved or manufactured.  

 
CIVIC DISPLAY. A temporary display of banners, balloons, flags, lights or similar 
decorations erected on a public street or other public property in connection with a holiday 
or civic event.  
 
COLLECTOR ROADWAY. A street designated as a collector roadway in transportation 
plans approved by the Town of Florence. 

 
COMMERCIAL CENTER. A group of contiguous lots organized into a shopping center, 
strip mall, business park, office condominium or similar grouping that share mutual 
access, ingress and egress easements.  

 

Canopy Sign Example



 

 

  Page 5 

COMMERCIAL MESSAGE. Any Sign wording, logo, or other representation that, directly 
or indirectly, names, advertises or calls attention to a business, product, service, or other 
commercial activity or is otherwise defined as "commercial speech" by the Arizona 
Supreme Court, the United States District Court for the District of Arizona, the Ninth Circuit 
Court of Appeals, or the United States Supreme Court for purposes of interpreting the 
United States Constitution or Arizona Constitution regarding freedom of expression or 
speech.  
 
COMMUNITY BUILDING. A building that is typically owned by a government entity, civic 
organization or Homeowner’s Association that is used for meetings and activities related 
to the local community. 
 
COMMUNITY DIRECTORY SIGN. A Sign, or a group of Signs designed as a single 
display, that gives information about local community organizations.  

 
COPY. Characters, letters, symbols (including logos and trademarks), illustrations and 
writings.  

 
CO-TENANCY. A business that leases or rents space to tenant(s) or business(es) that 
are housed within their building though they operate as an independent business.  

 
DIGITAL SIGN. A Sign or portion thereof that displays electronic, static images, static 
graphics, text information, or static pictures, with or without information, defined by a small 
number of matrix elements using combinations of light emitting diodes (LED), fiber optics, 
light bulbs, liquid crystal display (LCD) or other Illumination devices within the display 
area. Digital Signs include computer programmable, microprocessor controlled electronic 
or digital displays. May also be known as an Electronic Message Center. 

 
DIRECT LIGHTING. Direct lighting means that the light fixture or bulbs are visible when 
looking at the light source or Sign.  
 
DIRECTIONAL SIGN. A permanent Sign that directs the flow of traffic or pedestrians and 
may or may not contain a Commercial Message. Directional Signs shall not exceed six 
square feet in Sign Area and three feet in Height.  
 
DIRECTORY SIGN. A Sign, or a group of Signs designed as a single display, which gives 
information about the location of businesses, buildings or addresses within a residential, 
office, commercial or industrial complex with no Commercial Message. Directory Signs 
located internal to a project and not visible from adjacent roadways shall not count 
towards on-site signage calculations. 

 
FENCE SIGN. A Sign that is mounted or painted on a fence, screen wall, retaining wall, 
sound wall or similar type of fence or wall structure.   

 



 

 

  Page 6 

FLAG. A piece of fabric varying in shape, color and design usually attached at one edge 
to a staff, pole or cord which contains a Noncommercial Message as defined herein, 
unless otherwise permitted in this code.  

 
FREESTANDING SIGN. A Sign that is placed on or anchored to the ground or is 
supported by a Sign Structure that is placed on or anchored to the ground and is 
independent from any building or other structure. In this Sign Code, A Freestanding Sign 
may also be known as a Monument Sign, but this definition excludes Billboards or Off 
Premise Advertising Signs.  
 
FRONTAGE. The portion of a site that fronts directly on a public or private street or right 
of way. See "building frontage," and "site frontage."  
 
GAS/SERVICE STATION CANOPY SIGN. A Sign or Signs that are attached to a canopy 
located at a gas station or service station. These Signs are considered Wall Signs and 
shall be counted towards the allowable wall signage allowed for a development. 
 
GATEWAY SIGN. A freestanding or monument type of Sign near the municipal 
boundaries of the Town of Florence that introduces or welcomes visitors to the 
community. In certain cases, this may be incorporated into a business’ Freestanding or 
Monument Sign, in which case such signage would not be counted towards the business’ 
allowable signage.  

 
GRADE. Unless otherwise specified, the average of the highest and lowest elevations of 
the ground at the base of the Sign.  

 
GROSS FLOOR AREA. The sum of the square footage of all the floors of a structure or 
building.  

 
HALO ILLUMINATION. A form of internal Illumination where channel lettering is used 
and the light source is hidden behind and glows around the edges of letters or symbols 
giving the effect of a light halo. 

 
HEIGHT. Unless otherwise specified, the vertical distance from the topmost part of the 
Sign cabinet or Copy (whichever is higher) to Grade.  
 
HISTORIC DISTRICT. Any officially adopted and recognized Historic District located 
within the Town of Florence. 
 
HOLIDAY DECORATION. Any display commonly associated with a nationally 
recognized holiday. 
 
HUMAN SIGN. A Sign held by or attached to a human for the purposes of advertising or 
otherwise drawing attention to an individual, business, commodity, service or product. 
This can also include a person dressed in costume for the purpose of advertising or 



 

 

  Page 7 

drawing attention to an individual, business, commodity, service or product. May also be 
referred to as “Sign Walkers”. 

 
ILLEGAL SIGN. Any Sign or any type that was erected or put up after the effective date 
of the currently adopted Sign Code and does not comply with the Sign Code.  

 
ILLUMINATION. Illumination refers to the type and location of the light source for the 
Sign: "All types" of Illumination means any form of light source including indirect, internal, 
exposed bulb including neon or other tubes of light.  
 
INFLATABLE SIGN. A Sign consisting of balloons and/or inflatables made of plastic, 
rubber, metallic, cloth or other materials, regardless of the size, that is used for the 
purpose of attracting attention. 
 
INCIDENTAL SIGN. A Sign posted on private property by the owner of the property that 
is generally informational, contains no Commercial Message, and has a purpose 
secondary to the use of the site on which it is located, such as traffic control Signs, parking 
or loading control Signs, Signs indicating the location of telephones or emergency 
equipment and other similar Signs. Official Signs are not incidental Signs.  

 
INDIRECT ILLUMINATION. Illumination that is cast on a Sign from a source outside the 
Sign.  
 
INTERACTIVE SIGN. A Digital Sign that changes the Sign message based on a passing 
vehicle or person. Radar speed Signs or other traffic control Signs are exempted from 
this definition.  
 
INTERNAL ILLUMINATION. Illumination produced by a light source contained within a 
Sign and not directly visible from outside.  
 
LIQUID-CRYSTAL DISPLAY (LCD). A low-power, flat-panel display used in many digital 
devices to display numbers or images. It is made of liquid containing crystals that are 
affected by electric current, sandwiched between filtering layers of glass or plastic. LCDs 
do not produce light of their own; instead, when electric current is passed through the 
material, the molecules of the "liquid crystal" twist so that they either reflect or transmit 
light from an external source.  
 
LIGHT-EMITTING DIODES (LED) LIGHTING. A type of solid state lighting that utilizes 
light-emitting diodes (LED) as a source of Illumination rather than electrical filaments or 
gas. If the Sign is made up of matrix of bulbs or light source that individually light up to 
form images, it will be considered a Digital Sign. 
 
LED SIGN. A Sign that is lit by use of light-emitting diodes (LED) lighting visible from the 
outside. If the Sign is made up of matrix of bulbs or light source that individually light up 
to form images, it will be considered a Digital Sign.  
LOT. Lot is defined in Section 150.031 of the Development Code.  



 

 

  Page 8 

LUMINANCE. The physical measurement of brightness or Illumination leaving a surface 
in a particular direction, or reflected off that surface, and can be thought as measuring the 
brightness of a surface as seen by the eye. It is measured in candelas per square meters 
(cd/m2) or nits (one nit = one cd/m2). 

  
MARQUEE. Any permanent roof-like structure projecting beyond a building or extending 
along and projecting beyond the wall of the building, generally designated and 
constructed to provide protection from the weather. Marquee Signs located on private 
property shall not extend beyond the property line into adjacent lots and, except in the 
redevelopment area or with a right-of-way permit, shall not extend into the right-of-way. 
 
MODES OF OPERATION. A term referring to the types of visual display, including:  

 
Dissolve. Signs where static messages are changed by means of varying light 
intensity or pattern, where the first message gradually appears to dissolve and lose 
legibility simultaneous to the gradual appearance and legibility of subsequent 
message.  
 
Fade. Signs where static messages are changed by means of varying light 
intensity, where the first message gradually reduces intensity to the point of not 
being legible and the subsequent message gradually increases intensity to the 
point of legibility.  
 
Flashing sign. A Sign that uses blinking or intermittent Illumination.  
 
Message sequencing. Signs where a single thought, idea, concept, message or 
advertisement for a product or service that is divided into segments and presented 
over two or more successive display phases of a single dynamic Sign or across 
two or more individual dynamic Signs. 
 
Scrolling. Signs where the message is changed by the apparent vertical 
movement of the letters or graphic element of the message.  
 
Static. Signs that include no animation or effects simulating animation.  
 
Travel. Signs where the message is changed by the apparent horizontal 
movement of the letters or graphic elements of the message.  

 
Video display. Signs that change its message or background in a manner or 
method of display characterized by motion or pictorial imagery, which may or may 
not include text and depicts action or special effect to imitate movement, the 
presentation of pictorials or graphics displayed in a progression of frames which 
give the illusion of motion, including moving objects, moving patterns or bands of 
light or expanding or contracting shapes.  
 



 

 

  Page 9 

MONUMENT SIGN. A Sign that is attached directly to the ground or is supported by a 
Sign Structure that is placed on or anchored in the ground and is independent from any 
building or other structure. Within this Sign Code, all Monument Signs will be referred to 
as “Freestanding Signs”. 

 
MOVING SIGN. A Sign where the Sign, Sign Structure, or any part of the Sign or Sign 
Structure physically moves or rotates by mechanical means. For example, a tri-vision 
Sign is a moving Sign. If the only moving part of a Sign is a clock, the Sign shall not be 
considered as a moving Sign.  

 
MURAL. A painting or other work of art executed directly on a wall or the like that does 
not contain any Commercial Messages or images. 
 
NEIGHBORHOOD BULLETIN BOARD. Any surface outside of a building provided 
specifically to allow the posting of neighborhood notices.  

 
NEON. A type of Illumination that is produced by neon lights or by lamps containing similar 
gases such as helium, carbon dioxide, argon or krypton usually electrifying glass tubes 
or bulbs.  
 
NONCOMMERCIAL MESSAGE. Any Sign Copy that is not a Commercial Message as 
defined above and includes any definition of "noncommercial speech" by the Arizona 
Supreme Court, the United States District Court for the District of Arizona, the Ninth Circuit 
Court of Appeals, or the United States Supreme Court for purposes of interpreting the 
United States Constitution or Arizona constitution regarding freedom of expression or 
speech.  
 
NONCONFORMING SIGN. Any Sign that was lawfully erected prior to the adoption of an 
ordinance codified in this Sign Code, or amendments thereto, which would not be 
permitted under the ordinance or amendment. This definition shall include Signs that were 
erected without a permit and which would require a permit under the current provisions 
of this Sign Code. 

 
OFFICIAL SIGN. Any Sign owned by or erected by or at the direction of the Town in 
furtherance of the official duties of the Town or another authorized governmental agency, 
including, but not limited to, traffic control Signs, Directional Signs, street identification 
Signs, warning Signs, parking control Signs, area identification Signs, and Signs 
prohibiting or controlling access to property.  
 
OFF-PREMISE ADVERTISING SIGN. An outdoor advertising Sign that advertises an 
activity, service or product and that is located on premises other than the premises at 
which activity or service occurs or product is sold or manufactured. 
 
ON-PREMISE ADVERTISING SIGN. An outdoor advertising Sign that advertises an 
activity, service or product and that is located on premises at which activity or service 
occurs or product is sold or manufactured. In the case of a shopping center or office 



 

 

  Page 10 

complex or similar arrangement of uses, this may also include a reasonably adjacent 
location within the same center or complex.  
 
PARCEL. See “Lot”. 

  
PENNANT. Any lightweight plastic, fabric, or other material, whether or not containing a 
message of any kind, suspended from a rope, wire, or string, usually in series, designed 
to move in the wind.  

 
PORTABLE SIGN. A movable Sign that is not permanently attached to a structure or the 
ground, and includes: A-frame, portable reader boards and similar Signs. This definition 
does not include any Signs on trailers, vehicles or Digital Signs.  

 
PROJECTING/SUSPENDED SIGN. Any Sign affixed to a building or wall in such a 
manner that its 
face is not 
parallel to the 
wall. A Marquee 
is not considered 
a projecting Sign. 
Projecting Signs 
located on 
private property 
shall not extend 
beyond the 
property line into 
adjacent lots and, 
except in the 
redevelopment 
area or with a 
right-of-way 
permit, shall not 
extend into the 
right-of-way. Projecting/suspended Signs shall have an eight-foot minimum clearance 
between the bottom of the Sign and the sidewalk, or finished grade where no sidewalk 
exists. 
 
PROMOTIONAL SIGNS. Promotional Signs are classified as Temporary Signs that are 
used to promote a new business, special offers, sales, special events and similar 
occasions. All Promotional Signs are considered Temporary Signs, but not all Temporary 
Signs are Promotional Signs. 
  
PUBLIC TRANSPORATION. Any type of local or regional public transportation service 
that is run by the Town of Florence or a locally endorsed public transportation authority, 
e.g., Central Arizona Regional Transit.  

Projecting Sign Example 



 

 

  Page 11 

PYLON SIGN. A Freestanding Sign in excess of ten feet in Height that is detached from 
a building and is supported by one or more structural elements which are architecturally 
similar to the design of the Sign. A pylon Sign is considered a ‘Freestanding Sign.” 
 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICTS. For the purposes of the Sign Code, the following Zoning 
Districts shall be considered Residential Districts: RA-10, RA-4, R1-R, RRES, R1-18, R1-
6, R-2 MFR, MHS and RV. PUD may be Employment/Commercial, Residential or Mixed 
Use District. The underlying land use shall define the type of District applicable. 

 
RESIDENTIAL SIGN. A Sign located within a Residential District.  
 
ROOF. A horizontal or sloping surface of a building which serves as a cover for the 
building or its entry, portico or other appurtenances. This definition shall include any part 
of a building which resembles a roof in form or function.  

 
ROOF SIGN. A Sign painted on, supported by or attached to the roof or roof structure of 
a building. This definition shall not 
include a Sign attached flat against 
the wall of a penthouse; painted flat 
on the roof and only visible from the 
air; attached to a mansard roof or 
parapet as long as the Sign does 
not project above the roofline and 
there is no other viable location on 
the building.  
 
SHINGLE SIGN. A Sign suspended 
from, and located entirely under a 
covered porch, covered walkway or 
an awning and is anchored or 
rigidly hung to prevent the Sign 
from swinging due to wind 
movement. Shingle Signs shall 
have an eight foot minimum 
clearance between the bottom of 
the Sign and the sidewalk, or 
finished grade where no sidewalk 
exists. 
 
SIGN. Any visual communication, 
including appurtenances, which is 
used to attract the attention of the public, when the display is visible beyond the 
boundaries of the property. 

 

Shingle Sign Example 



 

 

  Page 12 

SIGN AREA. The entire area within a 
continuous perimeter, enclosing the 
extreme limits of Sign display, 
including any frame or border. 
Curved, spherical or any other 
shaped Sign face shall be computed 
on the basis of actual surface area. 
The Copy of Signs composed of 
individual letters, numerals or other 
devices shall be the sum of the area 
of the smallest rectangle or other 
geometric figure encompassing all of 
the letters or devices. 
 
SIGN HEIGHT.  The Height of the 
Sign measured from the finished 
Grade located directly beneath the 
highest part of the Sign. Where an 
adjacent roadway sits notably higher 
than the adjacent Grade for the Sign 
location, the Height of the Sign may 
be measured from the elevation of 
the centerline of the nearest travel 
lane of the street or highway to which 
the Sign is oriented rather than from 
Grade. 

 
SIGN STRUCTURE.  A structure 
designed to support one or more 
Signs in place.  

 
SITE. Site means (i) a lot or parcel owned by a person or entity, unless the lot or parcel 
is part of a combination or commercial center as defined herein; or (ii) a combination of 
lots or parcels that are contiguous, are owned in fee as a matter of record by the same 
person or entity, have the same zoning classification, and are designated by the owner 
to be a site for purposes of this Sign Code; (iii) a Commercial Center as defined above; 
or (iv) a Bus Stop if the property on which the Bus Stop is located is leased or licensed to 
the Town or locally endorsed regional transportation authority.  
 
SITE FRONTAGE. The linear dimension of a site abutting on public or private street right-
of-way.  

 
STACKED SIGN. Two or more Signs affixed to the same Sign Structure that vary in 
Height from the ground.  

 
SUBDIVISION. Subdivision is defined in Section 150.030 of the Development Code. 

 



 

 

  Page 13 

SUSPENDED SIGN. A Sign supported from, and below, a building soffit or permanent 
canopy. Also see “Projecting/Suspended Sign”. 
 
TEMPORARY SIGN. Any Sign that is used only temporarily, is located on-site or off-site 
of the business/entity being advertised and is not permanently mounted to a structure or 
ground. 
 
TIME AND TEMPERATURE SIGN. A Sign or portion of a Sign which displays only the 
current time and/or temperature and carries no other Copy. A time and temperature Sign 
shall not be considered a flashing or animated Sign and shall not exceed fifteen square 
feet in Sign Area.  
 
TRI-VISION SIGN. A Sign composed in whole or in part of a series of vertical or horizontal 
slats or cylinders that are capable of being rotated at intervals so that partial rotation of 
the group of slats or cylinders produces a different image and when properly functioning 
allows on a single Sign Structure the display at any given time one of two or more images.  

 
V-TYPE SIGN. Two or three Signs in the shape of the letter "v" or of a triangle, when 
viewed from above, and supported by integral structures with their faces oriented in 
different directions.  
 
WALL SIGN. A Sign that is attached parallel to, and within six inches of a wall, painted 
on the wall surface of, or erected and confined within the limits of an outside wall or roof 
of any building or structure, which is supported by such wall or building, and which 
displays only one Sign surface. Included in this definition is a Sign attached to the wall of 
a penthouse or other vertical structure on the top of a roof.  

 
WINDOW SIGN. Any Sign that is placed upon the exterior or interior window panes of 
glass and is visible from the exterior of the window. Does not include Signs that are not 
attached to the interior of the window and viewable from the outside of the window. 

 
150.095 Exemptions 
 
Unless specifically provided otherwise, the following types of Signs and displays are not 
subject to the provisions of this Sign Code and are not counted in any aggregate area or 
number of Sign computations: 

 
(A) Official Signs. 

 
(B) Holiday decorations that (i) do not include a Commercial Message and (ii) not 

installed earlier than 30 days before the holiday and (iii) are removed within 30 days 
after the holiday. 
 

(C) Incidental Signs whose size is not greater than the larger of (i) two square feet or (ii) 
as specified for the particular type of Sign in the most current Manual on Uniform 
Traffic Control devices published by the United States Department of Transportation. 



 

 

  Page 14 

(D) Handicap parking Signs. 
 

(E) Signs posted on or near easements held by public utilities warning or informing the 
public about the easements or location of public utilities. 
 

(F) Building identification Signs. 
 
(G) Nameplates appearing on residences or mailboxes. 

 
(H) Civic displays. 

 
(I) The American Flag and the State of Arizona flags on ground mounted flagpoles not 

exceeding twenty feet in Height and displayed in compliance with Federal law.  
 

(J) Signs that are located within a building or structure and are not visible from a public 
street, sidewalk or alley. 
 

(K) Building Markers that do not exceed four square feet in size. 
 

(L) Any temporary on-site or off-site Signs not in excess of sixteen square feet in Sign 
Area and no more than four feet in Height that are used within 72 hours of the 
advertised special event, promotion or sale, including but not limited to realtor Signs, 
garage sale Signs, open house Signs and other similar Signs.  
 

(M) Signs or Copy permanently embroidered, screened, dyed, stenciled or painted into 
the fabric of umbrellas that are set up in sidewalk cafes. 
 

(N) Signs painted on or integral to vending machines, fuel dispensing pumps or fuel 
storage tanks. 
 

(O) Signs painted on the flat surface of the roof and only visible from the air. 
 

(P) Murals. 
 

(Q) Signs on public transportation or on/at Bus Stops. 
 
(R) Any Sign located in such a manner that the Sign is not readily visible, including any 

Sign Illumination, from any adjacent public right-of-way. 
 

(S) Gateway Signs. 
 



 

 

  Page 15 

(T) Vehicle wraps or 
other painted or 
adhesive-type 
signage on 
vehicles that are 
properly 
registered, 
licensed and being 
operated in 
accordance with 
applicable Town of 
Florence 
regulations. 
 

(U) Human Signs. 
 

(V) All Signs that are 
specifically regulated by the United States of America and/or the State of Arizona, 
including but not limited to, political Signs.  

 
150.096 Prohibited Commercial Signs  
 
The following types of Signs are prohibited within the Town: 

 
(A) Signs not specifically permitted in or which violate any provision in this Sign Code. 
 
(B) Signs attached to (i) Official Signs and their Sign Structures, (ii) trees or poles or 

standards that are used for a purpose other than Sign Structures, or (iii) utility 
structures. 

 
(C) Roof Signs. 
 
(D) Fence Signs. 
 
(E) Any display or Sign that imitates or resembles an official traffic signal, Sign device 

or other official warning Signs.  
 
(F) Interactive Signs. 

 
(G) Inflatable Signs, unless permitted in conjunction with a temporary use or special 

event. 
 
(H) Signs on cellular towers, water towers or other equipment except for standard and 

customary manufacturer logos, unless otherwise permitted in the Development 
Code.  

 



 

 

  Page 16 

150.097 Prohibited Sign Locations  
 
(A) General. Notwithstanding any provision in or right established in this Sign Code, no 

Sign shall be permitted in any of the following locations.  
 

(1) Drains, ditches, flood channels. Except for Official Signs, no Sign shall be 
placed in any ditch, storm drain facility or flood channel, except for Signs 
displayed by a utility regarding any easements or dangers that lie within the 
drain, ditch or flood channel. 
 

(2) Signs in the public right-of-way or on public property, except as follows: 
 

(a) Official Signs. 
 

(b) Building Markers and address Signs. 
 

(c) Cafe umbrella Signs. 
 

(d) Bus Stop Signs. 
 

(e) Signs expressly permitted by the Federal Government and/or the 
Government of Arizona. 

 
(f) Any Signs expressly allowed by this Sign Code. 

 
150.098 Standards, Limitation and Requirements for All Signs  
 
(A) No Sign shall be placed on any lot without the written permission of the owner of the 

lot.  
 
(B) No Sign may resemble, simulate or conflict with the proper functioning of any Official 

Sign, or use yellow or red blinking or intermittent lights resembling danger or warning 
signals. 

 
(C) Signs that produce odor, sound, smoke, flame or other emissions are prohibited.  
 
(D) No obstruction or interference. No Sign shall:  

 
(1) Obstruct or impair access to a public sidewalk, public or private street or 

driveway, traffic control Sign, Bus Stop, fire hydrant, or any other type of street 
furniture;  

 
(2) Block the light and ventilation of any residence on any adjoining property 

which is zoned for residential use; or  
 
(3) Mislead or confuse users of the roadway. 



 

 

  Page 17 

(E) Stacked Signs are allowed if (i) the other requirements of this Sign Code are satisfied 
(ii) the Sign is integrated with the structure, and (iii) all Signs on the same structure 
are similar in shape and material with one another, except for channel lettering.  

 
(F) All Signs shall comply with applicable provisions of all codes adopted by the Town 

of Florence.  
 
(G) Except as otherwise indicated by this Sign Code, all Signs shall be permanently 

attached to the ground, a building, or another structure by direct attachment to a 
rigid wall, frame or structure.  

 
(H) All Signs and Sign Structures shall be maintained in good, safe, structural condition 

and repair. All Signs and display surfaces shall be neat in appearance, and neatly 
painted or posted, and not ripped, tattered or faded. Premises immediately 
surrounding Freestanding Signs shall be kept clean and free of rubbish, weeds and 
debris.  
 

(I) All Signs shall be professionally constructed and installed. 
 

(J) All non-exempt Signs are subject to Design Review approval. 
 

(K) Historic District. Signs within the Historic District shall conform to the Town of 
Florence Historic District Guidelines, except as allowed by the Historic District 
Advisory Commission.  
 

(L) Under no scenarios shall the Town of Florence have content-based Sign regulations 
via this Sign Code, the Design Review process or other administrative processes. 
Any provision of this code that imposes a limitation on freedom of speech shall be 
construed in a manner that is viewpoint neutral. 

 
(1) Notwithstanding anything in this code to the contrary, no Sign or Sign 

Structure shall be subject to any limitation based upon the viewpoint of the 
message contained on such Sign or displayed on such Sign Structure.  

(2) Notwithstanding anything in this code to the contrary, it is the policy of the 
Town to regulate Signs in a manner that does not favor commercial speech 
over noncommercial speech and does not regulate protected 
noncommercial speech by message content.  

(3) Within this code, any distinction between onsite Signs and offsite Signs 
applies only to Commercial Messages. It does not apply to Noncommercial 
Messages.   

 
(M) Illumination standards. 

  



 

 

  Page 18 

(1) Direction of light. The light source for all Indirect IIllumination Signs shall be 
effectively shielded to prevent beams or rays from being directed at any 
roadway or abutting property. 

  
(2) Intensity. The intensity and brilliance of light shall not be so great as to 

interfere with the effectiveness of any Official Sign, or impair the vision of or 
distract any person on any roadway.  

 
(3) Prohibited light sources. No Sign shall use a beacon, strobe light, 

racing/traveling or an exposed individual light source (excluding LED and 
neon) which exceeds seventy five watts. 

  
(4) Digital Signs. See subsection150.099(D)(10) for special standards.  

 
(N) Signs not included in computations. If the following types of Signs comply with all 

other requirements of this Sign Code, they need not be included in any allowance 
computations for Sign Area or number of Signs:  

 
(1) Building identification Signs. 

 
(2) Building markers. 

 
(3) Incidental Signs. 

 
(4) Directional Signs. 

 
(5) Internally located Directory Signs. 

 
(6) Signs expressly permitted by the Federal Government and/or the 

Government of Arizona. 
 

(7) Certain Window Signs as provided in the Sign Code. 
 

(8) Signs exempted under Section 150.095 of the Sign Code. 
 

(9) Murals. 
 

(10) As specifically provided in other provisions in the Sign Code. 
 

(O) Computation of Sign Area of individual Signs. The allowable Sign Area shall apply 
to the maximum geometric area of all Sign faces. The area of a Sign comprised of 
individual letters or elements attached to a building wall, which are without an 
integrated background and are not enclosed in a frame or cabinet, the area of the 
letter can be calculated as long as the distance between the letters and/or elements 
is less than the largest dimension of the largest Sign letter. If such a display consists 
of more than one line or component, the area of each line or component may be 



 

 

  Page 19 

calculated separately. Where a display is enclosed in a frame or cabinet, or has an 
integrated background, the entire area within the frame, cabinet or background must 
be included in the calculation.  
 

(P) Computation of Sign Area of multi-faced Signs. The Sign Area for a Sign with more 
than one face shall be computed by adding together the area of all Sign faces visible 
from any one point. When two Sign faces are placed back to back, so that both faces 
cannot be viewed from any point at the same time, and when such Sign faces are 
part of the same Sign Structure and are not more than 25 degrees apart, the Sign 
Area shall be 
computed by the 
measurement of 
one of the faces. 
For Sign faces 
greater than 25 
degrees apart, the 
Sign Area is 
computed to 
include both faces.  
 

(Q) Computation of number of Signs. All Signs contained within a single frame, structure, 
cabinet or integrated background shall be counted as one Sign. If a display is not so 
contained, a single message or business name shall be counted as one Sign. A 
business name combined with a brief slogan may be counted as one Sign if the 
elements are visually integrated.  
 

(R) A comprehensive sign plan (refer to §150.101) may establish unique regulatory 
requirements for a project. 

 
150.099 Signs for Employment/Commercial and Mixed Use Districts  
 
(A) Except as otherwise provided in this Sign Code, it shall be unlawful to construct or 

maintain a Sign in an Employment/Commercial and Mixed Use district in violation of 
the specifications and requirements of this Sign Code. 

 
(B) Wall Signs. 



 

 

  Page 20 

(1) The maximum cumulative Sign Area of Wall Signs shall be calculated at one 
square foot of Sign Area per linear foot of Building Frontage. A minimum 
cumulative Sign Area of 16 square foot shall be permitted in the event a 
Building Frontage is less than 16 feet. A maximum cumulative Sign Area of 
250 square feet shall not be exceeded. 

(2) Marquee, Blade, Shingle, Canopy, Projecting and other related types of 
signage shall be considered wall signage and will be counted in the 
cumulative allowable square footage. 
 

(3) Each drive through restaurant lane may be permitted one preview menu 
board and one ordering menu board. These Signs may be freestanding (refer 
to subsection D for Freestanding Sign requirements) or wall mounted and 
shall be located a minimum of 25 feet from the street property line and the 
board(s) shall be screened and oriented in a manner as to not be visible from 
the adjacent public streets. Call box speakers shall be directed away from 
adjacent residential zoned land and residences. The maximum aggregate 
Sign Area for both Signs (per lane) shall not exceed 50 square feet or a 
maximum Height of eight feet per Sign. These Signs shall not be included in 
calculating the total aggregate Sign Area for signage allowed on a parcel, lot 
or for a particular business. 
 

(4) Wall signage may be located on any building elevation. 
 

(5) Wall signage shall not extend horizontally a distance greater than 80 percent 
of the width of the building wall on which it is displayed. 
 

(6) Wall Signs shall not extend above or beyond the wall or roof line. 
 

(7) Wall Signs may be internally or externally illuminated provided such 
Illumination meets the requirements of the Sign Code and the Town’s 
Development Code.  
 

(8) Wall Signs shall not be digital. 
 



 

 

  Page 21 

(C) Window Signs. The total Sign Area of all Window Signs for a business shall not 
exceed 25 percent of the total area of all windows located on the same wall plane 
for that business in the building. Wall planes with an offset or break in the wall plane 
in excess of six (6) feet shall be considered separate wall planes. Window Signs 
shall include any advertisement display visible from the exterior of the building and 
located within six (6) feet of the window through which the advertisement is visible.  
Permits are not required for any Window Signs, and Window Signs are not governed 
by or counted against Sign Area or number limitations. Window Signs must, 
however, conform to other standards, requirements and limitations in this Sign Code.  

 
(D) Freestanding Signs. 

 
(1) Up to one Freestanding Sign is allowed for each building frontage. No 

business shall have more than two Freestanding Signs, except as allowed by 
an approved comprehensive sign 
plan (refer to §150.101). 
Freestanding Signs may be 
Monument Signs or Pylon Signs 
finished in a manner that 
architecturally integrates the sign 
with the architectural theme of the 
site.  
 

(2) Sign Height: 
 

(a) The maximum Height of any 
Freestanding Sign shall not 
exceed 15 feet for any property with Building Frontage along State 
Highway 287, State Highway 79, excluding 79B, or Hunt Highway. The 
maximum Height of any Freestanding Sign shall not exceed 10 feet for 
any property with building frontage along a current or planned collector or 
arterial roadway, except as noted in the preceding sentence. In all other 



 

 

  Page 22 

cases, the maximum Height of any Freestanding Sign shall not exceed 
eight feet. 
 

(b) The width of the Sign base shall not be greater than 10 feet. 
 

(c) The architectural elements of the Sign are included in the Height 
calculation. 

(3) Sign Area: 
 

(a) The maximum Sign Area of a Freestanding Sign shall be: up to 32 square 
feet for a Sign that is eight feet or less in Height; up to 40 square feet for 
a Sign over eight feet in Height, but under 10 feet in Height; and up to 55 
square feet for a Sign over 10 feet in Height and up to 15 feet in Height.  
 

(b) The architectural elements of the Sign are excluded from the Sign Area 
calculation, but not the maximum Height restrictions. 

 
(4) Each drive through restaurant lane may be permitted one preview menu 

board and one ordering menu board. These Signs may be freestanding or 
wall (refer to subsection C for wall Sign requirements) mounted and shall 
be located a minimum of 25 feet from the street property line and the 
board(s) shall be screened and oriented in a manner as to not be visible 
from the adjacent public streets. Call box speakers shall be directed away 
from adjacent residential zoned land and residences. The maximum 
aggregate area for both Signs (per lane) shall not exceed 50 square feet or 
a maximum Height of eight feet per Sign. These Signs shall not be included 
in calculating the total aggregate area for signage allowed on a parcel, lot 
or for a particular business. 

(5) Freestanding Signs shall maintain a distance of at least 200 linear feet apart 
on the same parcel or at least 50 linear feet on different parcels. In the event 
the minimum spacing distances are found to be unachievable through the 
Site Plan and Design Review process, a lessor dimension may be approved. 
 

(6) All Freestanding Signs and Sign Structures must contain similar architectural 
elements and materials visually compatible with related buildings on the site. 
All supports used as a part of Freestanding Sign Structures shall be 
covered/wrapped and architecturally integrated with the structure. 
 

(7) Freestanding Signs must be located at least five feet from all property lines, 
easements and/or rights-of-way, except where such placement may be 
allowed with a Right-of-Way Permit. 
 



 

 

  Page 23 

(8) Freestanding Signs must not be located within any sight distance or sight 
triangle areas defined by the Town of Florence. 
 

(9) Freestanding Signs may be internally or externally illuminated provided such 
Illumination meets the requirements of the Sign Code and the Town’s 
Development Code. 

 
(10) In addition to all of the other limitations, standards and requirements for 

Freestanding Signs, if one or more of the permitted Freestanding Signs is 
proposed to be digital, they shall be subject to the following limitations, 
standards and requirements:  

 
(a) Digital Signs shall be prohibited in the Historic District. 

 
(b) One Digital Sign per Site and such Sign shall be considered as one of 

the allowed Freestanding Signs and be subject to all of the requirements 
for Freestanding Signs, as well as the requirements set forth in this 
Section. 

 
(c) The use of fade, dissolve, travel, message sequencing or scrolling is 

prohibited for Signs over 32 square feet.  
 

(d) The use of video display, flashing or blinking is prohibited for any Digital 
Sign. 

 
(e) Digital Signs must contain a minimum constant display of no less than 

eight seconds. Maximum time allowed for messages to change is one 
second. 

 
(f) Digital displays shall not operate at brightness levels of more than 0.3 

foot candles above ambient light, as measured using a foot-candle 
meter at a pre-set distance depending on Sign Area. The pre-set 
distances to measure the foot-candles shall be calculated by the square 
root of the Sign Area times one hundred. Example using a 12 square-
foot Sign: Measurement Distance =  √(12 x 100) = 34.6 feet. The 
measurement distance can be rounded to the nearest whole number. 

 
(g) Digital Signs shall be sited in a manner that the intensity or brilliance 

does not interfere with the effectiveness of an official traffic Sign, device 
or signal. 
 

(h) The Digital Sign shall include photo-sensors to provide automatic 
intensity adjustment based on ambient lighting conditions. 

 
(i) Signs with a digital component shall consist of one unit. 

 



 

 

  Page 24 

(j) Digital Signs shall maintain a distance of at least 200 linear feet apart 
on the same parcel or at least 50 linear feet on different parcels. In the 
event the minimum spacing distances are found to be unachievable 
through the Site Plan and Design Review process, a lessor dimension 
may be approved. 

 
(k) The closest distance separation from any property zoned for single-

family residential uses shall be a minimum of 300 feet. 
 
(E) Temporary Signs. 

 
(1) Banners, pennants and displays for grand openings and special events. 

 
(a) All businesses shall be permitted to display grand opening Signs at the 

time of original opening or when reopened by a new owner or lessee for 
a maximum period of 30 days.  

 
(b) Banners, pennants and other displays for special events may be allowed 

for a maximum period of 30 consecutive days on each occasion, with 
the exception of grand opening or reopening Signs. A minimum of 30 
consecutive days shall pass between each special event banner, 
pennants or related display.  

 
(c) No pennant, banner or display shall be placed on or above the roof of 

any building. 
 
(d) For special events and promotions, the maximum banner size shall be 

48 square feet, and shall be limited to one per street frontage of the 
business.  

 
(e) For grand openings, the maximum banner size shall be 48 square feet, 

and shall be limited to one per street frontage of the business. 
 
(f) Banners and pennants shall be displayed on the building or within the 

parking area, perimeter landscape or some other on-site area. 
 

(g) No banner or pennant Sign shall be located in a manner that impedes 
visibility or accessibility.   

 
(2)  A-Frame Signs 

(a) An A-Frame Sign shall be no greater than three feet in width and four 
feet in Height. 

  
(b) A-Frame Signs shall be limited to one per street frontage of the 

business. 



 

 

  Page 25 

 
(c) A-Frame Signs may only be 

displayed during the posted 
hours the business is open to 
conduct business. 

 
(d) A-Frame Signs must include 

the name of the business 
being advertised. 

 
(e) A-Frame Signs shall be 

located at Grade level. 
 
(f) A-Frame Signs must be 

located on the property of the 
business being advertised, or 
on the immediately adjacent 
right-of-way. Signs placed 
along the immediately adjacent right-of-way shall be a minimum of 
three (3) feet behind curb or edge of pavement and not located on a 
sidewalk. In no event shall two A-Frame Signs be located closer than 
ten (10) feet to one another. Sight visibility triangles shall remain clear 
of all signage. 

 
(g) A-Frame Signs shall not be located in parking aisles or parking stalls, 

in raised or painted medians; where they may present a hazard or 
impede pedestrian traffic; in driving lanes; or on fences, boulders, 
planters, on other Signs, on vehicles, on utility facilities or any structure. 

 
(h) A-Frame Signs shall be professionally constructed and maintained in a 

manner free from chipping paint, cracks, gouges, and/or loss of letters. 
 

(i) A-Frame Signs shall not include any form of Illumination, animation, 
reflective materials or sound emitting devices. 

 
(3) Construction or Development Signs. 
 



 

 

  Page 26 

(a) One Sign may be posted on the lot or parcel where the construction or 
repair will be conducted. The Sign Area shall be a maximum of 32 
square feet and a maximum Height of eight feet above finished grade. 
 

(b) Signs shall be allowed from three months preceding physical site 
construction or development to one month after the completion of 
construction or issuance of a Certificate of Occupancy, whichever 
occurs first. 

 
150.100 Signs for Residential Districts  
 
(A) Except as otherwise provided in this Sign Code, it shall be unlawful to construct or 

maintain a Sign in a residential district in violation of the specifications and 
requirements of this Sign Code. 

 
(B) Wall Signs. 

 
(1) Wall Signs shall only be placed upon community buildings within residential 

subdivisions unless required by law. 
 

(2) The maximum cumulative Sign Area of Wall Signs shall be calculated at one 
square foot of Sign Area per linear foot of Building Frontage. A minimum 
cumulative Sign Area of six square feet shall be permitted. A maximum 
cumulative Sign Area of 16 square feet shall not be exceeded. 
 

(3) Marquee, Blade, Shingle, Canopy, Projecting and other related types of 
signage shall be prohibited. 
 

(4) Wall signage may be located on a building elevation that faces a current or 
planned right-of-way. 
 

(5) Wall Signs shall not extend horizontally a distance greater than 80 percent of 
the width of the building wall on which it is displayed. 
 

(6) Wall Signs shall not extend above or beyond the wall or roof line. 
 

(7) Wall Signs may be internally or externally illuminated provided such 
Illumination meets the requirements of the Sign Code and the Town’s 
Development Code.  
 

(8) Wall Signs shall not be digital. 
 
(C) Freestanding or Monument Signs. 

 
(1) One on-site Freestanding or Monument Sign is allowed per Arterial roadway 

frontage (Collector Roadway frontage when Arterial Roadway frontage does 



 

 

  Page 27 

not exist). Freestanding or Monument Signs shall be located adjacent to the 
subdivision entrance(s). 
 

(2) Sign Height: 
 

(a) The maximum Height of any Freestanding Sign shall not exceed eight feet 
in Height for any property. 
 

(b) The width of the Sign base shall not be greater than ten feet. 
 

(c)  The architectural elements of the Sign are included in the Height 
calculation. 

(3) Sign Area: 
 

(a) The maximum area of a Freestanding Sign shall be 32 square feet.  
 

(b) The architectural elements of the Sign are excluded from the Sign Area 
calculation. 

 
(4) Freestanding Signs shall maintain a distance of at least 200 linear feet apart 

on the same parcel or at least 50 linear feet on different parcels. 
 

(5) All Freestanding Signs and Sign Structures must contain similar architectural 
elements and materials visually compatible with related buildings on the site. 
All supports used as a part of Freestanding or Monument Sign Structures 
shall be covered/wrapped and architecturally integrated with the structure. 
 

(6) Freestanding Signs must be located at least five feet from all property lines, 
easements and/or rights-of-way, except where such placement may be 
allowed with a Right-of-Way Permit. Additional clearance from other 
structures and utilities may be required. 
 

(7) Freestanding Signs must not be located within any sight distance or sight 
triangle areas defined by the Town of Florence. 

 
(8) Freestanding Signs may be internally or externally illuminated provided such 

Illumination meets the requirements of the Sign Code and the Town’s 
Development Code. 
 

(9) Freestanding Digital Signs. 
 

a. Freestanding Digital Signs are only permitted in the MFR, MHS and RV 
Residential Zoning Districts. 
 



 

 

  Page 28 

b. Should one or more of the permitted Freestanding Signs be digital, 
freestanding Digital Signs shall also be in compliance with the Digital Sign 
requirements provided for Employment/Commercial and Mixed Use 
Zoning Districts.  

 
(D) Window Signs with Commercial Messages are prohibited in Residential Zoning 

Districts. 
 

(E) Temporary Signs for Subdivisions. 
 

(1) During the construction phase, each subdivision may have one on-site Sign 
located at the subdivision advertising the subdivision. The Sign shall have a 
maximum Sign Area of 96 square feet and may be single or double faced with 
a maximum Height of 10 feet and boxed edges. The Sign shall not be located 
within 100 feet of any property line of an existing residence. The Sign must 
be removed when 95 percent of the lots within the subdivision are sold and/or 
the on-site sales office(s) closes.  
 

(2) Subdivision identification flags may be placed on or behind the property line 
of the subdivision. No more than twelve flags may be placed at any one 
subdivision. The flags shall have a maximum area of 12 square feet and may 
not be maintained higher than 25 feet above the adjoining ground. The flags 
must be removed when 95 percent of the lots in the subdivision are sold 
and/or the on-site sales office closes. 

 
(3) Additional on-site subdivision advertising and Directional Signs may be 

permitted if approved in a comprehensive sign plan (refer to §150.101) or by 
a Development Agreement. 

 
(F) Construction or Development Signs. 

 
(1) One Sign may be posted on the lot or parcel where the construction or repair 

will be conducted. The Sign Area shall have a maximum of 32 square feet 
and a maximum Height of eight feet. 
 

(2) Signs shall be allowed from three months preceding physical site construction 
or development to one month after the completion of construction or issuance 
of a Certificate of Occupancy, whichever occurs first. 

 
150.101  Comprehensive Sign Plan Required 
 
(A) Prior to issuance of Sign permits for any business or occupancy in a development, 

a comprehensive sign plan detailing the size, type, location, and color of all signage 
within the development shall be submitted to the Town in conjunction with the Design 
Review process and adhere to the same review and approval procedures set forth 



 

 

  Page 29 

in §150.013 of this Code, as applicable. An approved comprehensive sign plan shall 
be required for the following types of uses:  

 
(1) Three or more businesses on a single parcel of land 
(2) Three or more businesses in a single cohesive development 
(3) Commercial, Office, Institutional, or Multiple-family developments of 15 acres 

or more  
(4) PUD’s 
(5) Single-family Residential subdivisions of 160 acres or more 
(6) As otherwise prescribed in this Development Code 

 
(B) A comprehensive sign plan application shall be made in writing on forms provided 

by the Town. 
 

(C) A comprehensive sign plan that proposes a deviation from any of the requirements 
provided in this subsection shall be reviewed and approved by the Planning and 
Zoning Commission.  

 
(D) Amendments to an approved comprehensive sign plan shall be reviewed and 

approved in the same manner as the original approval.   
 
150.102  Submittal and Permit Requirements 
 
(A) Sign permit approval is required for constructing or altering any non-exempt Sign. 

 
(B) A Sign permit application shall be made in writing on forms provided by the Town. 
 
(C) Before issuing any Sign permit required by this Sign Code, the Town shall collect a 

fee in accordance with an adopted Schedule of Fees. If work, for which a permit is 
required by this Development Code, is started before a permit has been issued, the 
fees specified above shall be doubled. The payment of the double fee shall not 
relieve any persons from complying fully with the requirements of this Sign Code in 
the execution of the work or from any penalties prescribed herein. 
 

(D) All Signs for which a permit is required shall be subject to inspections during various 
stages of construction as prescribed by the Town. 

 
150.103 Exceptions; Permits Not Required 
 
Sign permits are not required for the following Signs provided that the Signs are subject 
to all other provisions of this Sign Code (Note: This does not exempt any applicable 
permits for electrical work.): 
 
(A) Standard Sign maintenance; 

 
(B) Change of Sign Copy within an identical Sign frame; 



 

 

  Page 30 

(C) Adhesive or painted Signs on windows;  
 

(D) Signs allowed only by the authority of the Federal Government, the State of Arizona 
or another political subdivision, but otherwise not permitted by this Sign Code;  

 
(E) Vehicle wraps or other painted or adhesive-type signage on vehicles;  

 
(F) Signs required for the posting of neighborhood meetings or public hearings related 

to Town of Florence applications; or 
 

(G) Promotional and Temporary Signs allowed by this Sign Code, except as otherwise 
noted. 
  

150.104 Legal Nonconforming Signs 
 
(A) Legal Nonconforming Signs shall mean a Sign that is lawfully existing at the time of 

the enactment of this Development Code that does not conform to the regulations 
as specified in this Sign Code. 
 

(B) A legal Nonconforming Sign may continue to be utilized in perpetuity only in the 
manner and to the extent that it existed at the time of the adoption of this Sign Code 
or any amendment thereto. 

 
(C) A legal Nonconforming Sign may not be altered in any manner not in conformance 

with this Sign Code. This does not apply to reasonable repair and maintenance of 
the Sign or to a change of Copy provided that by changing the Copy, structural 
alterations are not required. 

 
(D) Any construction permit that invokes certificate of occupancy requirements shall 

specify and require that any Nonconforming Sign located within the boundaries of 
the development site and within the limits of the applicant's control, shall be brought 
into conformance with the provisions of this Sign Code. This may include removal if 
the Sign is now classified as a prohibited Sign. 

 
(E) Legal Nonconforming Signs located on a parcel of property that is severed from a 

larger parcel of property and acquired by a public entity for public use by 
condemnation, purchase or dedication may be relocated on the remaining parcel. 
Said relocation shall not extinguish the legal nonconforming status of that Sign 
provided that the Nonconforming Sign: 

 
(1) Is not increased in area or Height to exceed the limits of the district in which 

it is located; 
 

(2) Remains structurally unchanged except for reasonable repairs or alterations; 
 



 

 

  Page 31 

(3) Is placed in the most similar position on the remaining property that it 
occupied prior to the relocation; and 

 
(4) Is relocated in a manner so as to comply with all applicable safety 

requirements. 
 
(F) After relocation pursuant to this division, the legal Nonconforming Sign shall be 

subject to all provisions of this Sign Code in its new location. 
 
150.105  Signs Rendered Nonconforming 
 
(A) Except as provided in this Sign Code, a Nonconforming Sign may continue in the 

manner and to the extent that it existed at the time of the ordinance adoption, 
amendment or annexation which rendered the Sign nonconforming. This Sign Code 
shall not prohibit reasonable repairs and alterations to Nonconforming Signs. 
 

(B) A Sign approved by variance or comprehensive sign plan before the effective date 
of this Sign Code, shall not be considered nonconforming and shall not be subject 
to the regulations set forth in this Sign Code. 

 
(C) A Nonconforming Sign shall not be re-erected, relocated or replaced unless it is 

brought into compliance with the requirements of this Sign Code. 
 

(D) If the structure of a Nonconforming Sign is changed, the Height and Sign Area shall 
not be increased to exceed the Height and Sign Area limits of the site on which it is 
located. If the Sign exceeds the site's Height and/or area limitations, the excess 
Height and/or Sign Area shall be reduced a minimum of 50%. Two reductions shall 
be permitted; after the third structural change, the Sign shall conform to current 
standards. Nothing in this Sign Code shall require a Nonconforming Sign to be 
reduced to a Height or Sign Area less than that allowed on the site. 

 
(E) If a Nonconforming Sign is located on a parcel that is experiencing development for 

which site plan and/or Design Review is required, the Height and Sign Area of the 
Sign shall not be increased to exceed the Height and Sign Area limitations of the 
site. If the Sign exceeds the site's Height and/or Sign Area limitations, the excess 
Height and/or Sign Area shall be reduced to a minimum of 50 percent. Two 
reductions shall be permitted; after the third structural change, the Sign shall 
conform to current standards. Nothing in this Sign Code shall require a 
Nonconforming Sign to be reduced to a Height or Sign Area less than that allowed 
on the site. 

 
(F) Site plan and/or Design Review required by one of the following types of 

development shall not cause reduction in a Sign's nonconforming Height and/or Sign 
Area: 

 



 

 

  Page 32 

(1) An addition of less than 2,000 square feet when the addition is less than 50 
percent of the size of the usable space of the site which is the subject of 
Design Review. A series of additions, which total more than 50 percent of the 
usable space of the site, shall require reduction of non-conformities. Usable 
space shall not include areas such as restrooms and storage rooms. 
 

(2) An addition of more than 2,000 square feet when the addition is less than 10 
percent of the size of the usable space of the site which is the subject of 
Design Review. A series of additions, which total more than 10 percent of the 
usable space of the site, shall require reduction of non-conformities. Usable 
space shall not include areas such as restrooms and storage rooms. 

 
(3) A modification required by federal, state or local regulations or programs. 

 
150.106 Abandoned Signs  
 
(A) Criteria for establishing abandonment. A Sign or Sign Structure shall be considered 

abandoned when any of the following occurs:  
 

(1) Any business advertised thereon is no longer in business and has not been 
in business anywhere within the Town for more than six months; 
 

(2) Any product or service advertised thereon is no longer offered and has not 
been offered for the past six months;  
 

(3) The structure no longer supports a Sign for a period of six months; 
 

(4) The Sign, structure or advertising display is visibly damaged or partially 
missing; and/or 
 

(5) Internal or halo Illumination is partially or wholly burned out or inoperative. 
 

(B) Removal of abandoned Signs. Any Sign or Sign Structure that has been abandoned 
shall be removed or restored to use within 30 days after a notice of abandonment is 
issued to the owner of the site. Notice shall be given by the Community Development 
Director using certified mail. The Community Development Director may allow an 
abandoned Sign or Sign Structure to remain in place provided that the Sign or Sign 
Structure is maintained in good condition, and that there is a reasonable possibility 
that the Sign will be restored to use within a one-year period. 
 

(C) Historic Signs. Abandoned Signs that are deemed by the Community Development 
Director to be historically significant may be permitted to remain for a specified 
duration, provided such Signs do not present any safety considerations.  
 

(D) Variances and minor deviations. Variances and deviations from the provisions of this 
Section may not be granted. 



 

 

  Page 33 

150.107  Unsafe Signs 
 
If the Community Development Director, or designee, determines any Sign or Sign 
Structure to be in an unsafe condition, he or she shall immediately notify, in writing, the 
owner of the Sign who shall correct the condition within 48 hours. If the correction has not 
been made within 48 hours, the Community Development Director shall cause the Sign 
to be removed if it creates a danger to the public safety or have any necessary repairs or 
maintenance performed at the expense of the Sign owner, owner or lessee of the property 
upon which the Sign is located. The cost shall be an assessment against the property 
which may be recorded by the Town pursuant to A.R.S. § 9-499. 
 
150.108 Enforcement and Penalties  
 
(A) To the extent not inconsistent with this Sign Code, the provisions of §150.999 shall 

apply to enforcement of this Sign Code.  
 

(B) Illegal Signs may be removed by Town officials. 
 
150.109 to 150.130 Reserved 



1 
 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
Community Development Department 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To:    Honorable Mayor Walter and Town Councilmembers 

Through:  Brent Billingsley, AICP, CFM 

Town Manager 

From:  Community Development Department 

Date:    March 18, 2019  

Re:    March 25, 2019 Council Work Session 

Ordinance No. 667‐18: Sign Code Amendment 
  
 
The purpose of this memorandum is to provide additional background in response to questions posed 
during the Council’s first reading of this agenda item on February 19, 2019. Below, please find the 
Councilmembers questions listed in bold, followed by staff research and recommendations shown in 
italics. 
 

1) Councilmember Larsen – Questioned pg. 16, §150.098 (I) “All signs shall be professionally 
constructed and installed.” Generally, agrees that permanent signs should be professionally 
made and installed, but questions if it is necessary for banners, grand opening and A‐frame 
signs be professionally constructed and installed? They seem to be a thing someone could be 
easily hang themselves. Also, §150.099 E.2.h – “A‐frame signs must be professionally 
constructed and maintained in a manner free from chipping paint, cracks, gouges, and/or loss 
of letters.” 
 

Response: Staff proposes to strike and replace the language under Section 150.098(I) with the 

existing Sign Code language (§150.094 C. ‐ red text added): “All signs shall have a professional 

appearance and be structurally designed, constructed, erected and maintained in accordance 

with all applicable provisions and requirements of the town codes and ordinances.”  

 
Existing A‐frame code ‐ §150.119 G.7: “A‐frame signs shall be professionally constructed and 
maintained in a manner free from chipping paint, cracks, gouges, and/or loss of letters.” Staff is 
unaware of an issue or complaint with this portion of the current code and recommends the text 
not be changed. 

 
2) Vice Mayor Anderson – Concerned the proposed sign code is too complicated. Request for 

work session to spend time going through answering specific questions. 
 
Response: Work Session scheduled to review specific areas of concern 
 



2 
 

3) Mayor Walter – Explain why we need 33 pages vs. Maricopa’s 2 pages.  
 
See Response to #4, below 

 
4) Councilmember Wall – reduce size of document, cut out definitions 

 
Response: Staff has analyzed peer community codes and found the following: 
 
Existing Sign Code –   21 Pgs (w/defs, no spacing) 
Proposed Sign Code –   32 pgs (w/defs, spacing) 
Maricopa –     27pgs (w/out defs) 
Pinal County –     29 pgs (w/defs) 
Gilbert –     52 pgs (w/out defs) 
Chandler –     31 pgs (w/defs) 
Coolidge –      31 pgs (w/defs) 
Queen Creek –    27 pgs (w/out defs)  
 
With exception to the Town of Gilbert, the communities who do not include definitions w/in Sign 
Code provide signage specific definitions in the “Definitions” section of the code. Staff finds that 
sign manufacturing companies are the greatest user of sign codes and benefit from definitions 
contained w/in the sign code. Sign manufacturers are unfamiliar and have little need for other 
areas of the zoning code.   

 
5) Councilmember Cordes – Hard to understand code. Make easier for people to understand. 

 
Response: Work Session scheduled to review areas of concern  
 

6) Public Comment – Larry Johnson – wrong season to ask businesses to attend meeting, they 
are busy during the holidays, suggests summer.  
 
Response: There are many ways to review, discuss and submit comments. In staff’s email 
correspondence with Larry we urged to attend and present at chamber functions, and also 
provided a link to online documents and explained the comment procedure. This was requested 
to be shared with the Chamber membership and business community at large. 

 



Sign Code Text 
Amendment

Town Council

Public Hearing 

Ordinance No. 667-18 
(Case #PZ-18-33-TA)

February 19, 2019



Why a code for signage?

To balance the needs of businesses, 
organizations, and individuals to convey 
messages through Signs with the Town’s 
desire to maintain a safe and attractive 

environment. 



Amendment Timeline

• 2016 Draft Sign Code Review

• Oct. 18, 2018 Planning and Zoning Commission Work Session

• Nov. 15, 2018 Planning and Zoning Commission Review/Discussion

• Dec.4, 2018 Neighborhood Meeting (5-6:30PM Community Center)

• Dec. 20, 2018 Planning and Zoning Commission (public hearing)

• Jan. 2, 2019 Historic District Advisory Committee Review/Discussion

• Jan. 17, 2019 Planning and Zoning Commission (public hearing and             
action)

• Feb.19, 2019 Town Council (public hearing and 1st reading)

• *March 4, 2019        2nd Town Council (action)



Applicability

• Existing signage is grandfathered, these changes 
only affect new requests

• Historic District is unique



Overview of Changes
• Update the terms & definitions related to signs

• Re-organized for clarity

• Address Reed v. Gilbert Supreme Court decision



Overview of Changes
• Increased monument sign height for commercial 

uses along major transportation corridors

15’
Max.



Overview of Changes

• Allowing one electronic / digital sign per parcel, 
but excluded from Historic District

• Guaranteed minimum16 sf of wall signage

• Drive-thru menu boards may be closer to street

• Maximum aggregate sign area for commercial is 
increased



Discussion
&

Questions



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
12b.  

MEETING DATE:   April 15, 2019  
 
DEPARTMENT:  Community Development 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Dana Burkhardt, Planning Consultant 
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  
Subject:  Ordinance No. 668-19 Parking Amendment (PZ-18-34-ORD)                           Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

SUBJECT:  Ordinance No. 668-19 Development Code Parking & 
Loading Regs, Text Amendment Case No. PZ-18-34 ORD

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Motion to adopt Ordinance No. 668-19: AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, 
PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES 
TITLE XV “LAND USAGE” CHAPTER 150: DEVELOPMENT CODE, SECTION 150.031 
“DEFINITIONS” AND “PART 7 PARKING; LOADING AND UNLOADING,” SECTIONS 150.156 
TO 150.167 (CASE PZ 18-34 ORD).  (Public hearing and first reading held February 19, 
2019, second reading held March 4, 2019, Work Session held March 25, 2019). 
 
A text amendment to the Parking & Loading Regulations of the Development Code with 
the following amendments (bold italic text is added, text with a strikethrough to be 
deleted): 

1) Revise Section II(E) All parking and loading spaces, maneuvering areas, 
driveways and fire lanes shall be paved with asphaltic concrete; pavers; cement 
concrete; penetration treatment of bituminous material and seal coat of bituminous 
binder and a mineral aggregate; and/or a stabilization method approved by the 
Town Engineer. Through the site plan and design review process, the Town may 
permit up to 20 percent of the required parking to be of a pervious surface to reduce 
heat-island and run-off effects. All parking surfaces must be designed to a 
sufficient thickness to withstand repeated vehicular traffic and receive approval 
from the Town Engineer. 

OVERVIEW: 
 

This is the second and final required reading of Ordinance No. 668-19, attached as Exhibit 
A.  The first reading and public hearing was held on February 19, 2019 and a Town 



Subject:  Ordinance No. 668-19 Parking Amendment (PZ-18-34-ORD)                           Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

Council Work Session was held to discuss this proposed text amendment on March 25, 
2019.    

For additional details surrounding this proposed text amendment Ordinance No. 668-19, 
please refer to the attached First Read RCA dated February 19th (Exhibit B), and the 
Memorandum to Town Council dated February 28th, 2019 (Exhibit C.) 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

A no vote would mean the Town Code would not be updated.  

 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

A yes vote means the sign code would be updated and the Code of Ordinances would be 
updated.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Neutral, approval or denial of this request has no impact to the Town’s finances. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission found the text amendment, Case #PZ-18-34-ORD   
(Ordinance 668-19) is in the interest of the general welfare, health and safety of the public. 
The Planning and Zoning Commission has forwarded a unanimous favorable 
recommendation on this proposed text amendment, as described in Exhibit A, to the 
Mayor and Town Council. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Ordinance No. 668-19 
Exhibit A 
Memorandum to Town Council 
Power Point Presentation 
 



 

ORDINANCE NO. 668-19 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL 
COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES TITLE XV “LAND 
USAGE” CHAPTER 150: DEVELOPMENT CODE, 
SECTION 150.031 “DEFINITIONS” AND “PART 7 
PARKING; LOADING AND UNLOADING,” SECTIONS 
150.156 TO 150.167 (CASE PZ 18-34 ORD). 
 

WHEREAS, in accordance with A.R.S. § 9-462, the legislative body may 
adopt by ordinance, any change or amendment to the regulations and provisions 
as set forth in the Development Code of the Town of Florence; and  

 
WHEREAS, notification of this amendment has been published in a local 

newspaper with general circulation in the Town of Florence, giving 15 day notice 
of time, date, and place of public hearing; and 

 
WHEREAS, a public hearing was held by the Planning and Zoning 

Commission on December 20, 2018; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission, after having held a 

public hearing on the case, has forwarded the Mayor and Town Council a 
unanimous favorable recommendation for the text amendment ordinance; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council has determined that it is in the best interest 

of the residents of Florence to amend the Town of Florence Development Code 
Sections 150.031, and 150.156 to 150.167, such that it is advisable to repeal and 
replace the aforementioned sections, as further set forth in Exhibit "A", which is 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town Council has determined that, for the reasons set 

forth above and for the purpose of protecting the public health, safety and welfare 
of the residents and visitors of Florence, it is in the best interests of the Town to 
amend the Code of Ordinances as provided herein. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the 

Town of Florence, Arizona, as follows:  

Section 1. Any proposal for the construction of new off-street parking facilities or 
the modification of existing off-street parking facilities within the Town 
shall be subject to the following: Town of Florence Code of 
Ordinances Title XV Land Usage, Chapter 150 of the Florence 
Development Code Sections 150.156 to 150.167 “Parking; Loading 
and Unloading,”; the Town's licensing and permit requirements; the 
Town’s reasonable design review and development standards; the 



 

Town's reasonable rates and fees as adopted by the Town; and all 
other applicable regulatory processes. 

Section 2. Existing Title XV of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances is 
hereby amended by the revisions, additions, deletions, and 
replacement of the Development Code text as set forth in Exhibit "A." 

Section 3. Exhibit "A" is hereby approved, adopted and incorporated into the 
Town of Florence Code of Ordinances Title XV Land Usage, Chapter 
150 Development Code by reference, as fully as if set forth in this 
Ordinance in its entirety. 

Section 4. If any section, subsection, clause, phrase or portion of this Ordinance 
or any part of the amended and restated Town of Florence Code of 
Ordinances Title XV is for any reason held invalid or unconstitutional 
by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision 
shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 

Section 5. One paper copy and one electronic copy of this ordinance is ordered 
to remain on file with the Town Clerk. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of 

Florence, Arizona, this _____ day of ____________ 2019. 

      ______________________________ 
      Tara Walter, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:                                             APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
___________________________ ______________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk   Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 



EXHIBIT A 
PARKING CODE AMENDMENT  

Town of Florence Development Code 
 

The following text in red are proposed additions to the Development Code and text with a 
strikethrough are proposed for deletion: 

DEFINITIONS	

§	150.031		DEFINED	WORDS.	
	
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR. Interprets the meaning and intent of the 
General Plan and the Development Code.  
 
DRIVEWAY. That portion of a parcel adjacent to a parking area that is used for ingress to and 
egress from the parcel. 
 
ELECTRIC VEHICLE CHARGING STATION. Equipment that has as its primary purpose to 
transfer electric energy to a battery or other energy storage device on an electric vehicle. 
 
ELECTRIC VEHICLE. A vehicle that operates, either partially or exclusively, on electrical 
energy from the electrical grid, or an off-grid source, that is stored on board for motive purposes. 
 
GROSS FLOOR AREA. The total area of a building calculated by measuring the outside 
dimensions of all the building’s floor levels excluding non-habitable attics and crawl spaces. 
 
NET FLOOR AREA. The gross floor area minus hallways and corridors, restrooms, storage 
rooms, equipment rooms and other non-habitable rooms within a building. 
 
PARKING AREA. The total area including parking spaces, parking aisles, required parking 
landscape areas and walkways, and loading and unloading areas. 
 
PARKING SPACE. That portion of the parking area required for the parking of one vehicle that 
is A a permanently surfaced area, enclosed or unenclosed, having an area of not less than 180 square feet 
which will accommodate a car, minimum width nine feet. Parking as used in this Development Code is to 
mean off-street parking with access from streets or secondary means or as approved by subdivision plat or 
site plan.  
 
USE. The purpose or activity for which land or a building, parcel or structure is arranged, 
designed, occupied or maintained, arranged, designed, or intended.  For the purpose of 
calculating parking demand for a parcel, more than one use may be allocated to a single parcel. 
 

 

Part 7. 150.156 PARKING; LOADING AND UNLOADING 

I. PURPOSE. 



2 
 

II. OFF-STREETPARKING. 
III. PARKING STANDARDS FOR MULLTI-FAMILY, NONRESIDENTIAL, 

MIXED-USE, AND PUD’S. 
IV. PARKING STANDARDS FOR SINGLE-FAMILY AND TWO-FAMILY 

RESIDENTIAL USES. 
V. PARKING STANDARDS; CALCULATIONS. 
VI. PARKING SPACE ALLOCATION REQUIREMENTS. 
VII. OFF-STREET LOADING REQUIREMENTS. 
VIII. DIMENSIONS AND CIRCULATION. 
IX. ELECTRIC VEHICLE PARKING. 

 

I. 150.156  PARKING AREAS. PURPOSE  
   Parking areas required herein shall be provided, improved and maintained in accord with the 
following specifications.  The purpose of this section is to minimize congestion on public streets, 
provide minimum requirements for off-street vehicle parking facilities and to promote the safety 
and welfare of the public. 
 
150.157  PARKING STANDARDS PERTAINING TO ALL DISTRICTS.                           
II. 150.158  GENERAL REQUIREMENTS FOR ALL SPACES. OFF-STREET 
PARKING. 
 

(A) No building permit shall be issued until the applicant has presented satisfactory evidence to 
the Planning Director Community Development Director, or designee, that he or she owns 
or has otherwise available for his or her use, sufficient property to provide required 
parking, required landscaping, and other site improvements required by this code. 

(B) No additions to or enlargement of an existing building or use shall be permitted unless 
parking requirements are met for the entire building or use. 

(C) For new buildings, building expansion or conversions, and changes of use, plans must 
show the arrangement of required parking spaces, and indicate sufficient space for turning 
and back-up maneuvers, refuse screening, and adequate ingress and egress by patrons and 
delivery vehicles to the parking area before a permit is granted.  Plans shall be submitted to 
scale and fully dimensioned to the Planning Director Community Development Director, or 
designee, for approval prior to the permit being granted. 

(D) When the use of an existing building, structure, or premises is changed such that the change 
requires an increase in the total number of required parking spaces for the parcel of greater 
than ten percent or twenty spaces, whichever is greater, then such additional parking spaces 
and parking and loading areas shall be provided for the entire building, structure or 
premises either on the premises or by joint off-site parking agreement.  When the use of 
any existing building, structure or premises is changed such that an increase in parking 
spaces is less than ten percent of the total required for the site or twenty spaces, whichever 
is less, then the change of use or intensity is exempt from the requirements of this section 
related to parking quantities. 

(E) (A)Required All parking and loading spaces, maneuvering areas, driveways and fire lanes 
shall be paved with asphaltic, concrete or masonry; pavers; cement concrete; penetration 
treatment of bituminous material and seal coat of bituminous binder and a mineral 
aggregate; and/or a stabilization method approved by the Town. Through the site plan and 



3 
 

design review process, the Town may permit up to 20 percent of the required parking to be 
of a pervious surface to reduce heat-island and run-off effects.  All parking surfaces must 
be designed to a sufficient thickness to withstand repeated vehicular traffic and receive 
approval from the Town Engineer. 

(F) (B)All vehicular egress from parking lots to public right-of-way shall be by forward motion 
only, except in the case of single-family and 2-family residences fronting on a local street 
or a primary or secondary collector street. 

(G) (C)Tandem arrangement of required parking spaces is prohibited, except as otherwise 
permitted by this Development Code. 

(D)Permanent use of off-street parking areas for other than the purpose shall constitute a 
violation of this Development Code.  Should the owner or occupants of a building change the 
use of the building and thus increase the requirement for off-street parking, it shall constitute a 
violation of this Development Code, until the parking requirements have been complied with. 
(H) The use of an off-street parking space for the storage of merchandise, supplies, equipment, 

vehicles for sale or rent, vehicles used for business identification signage, or for repair of 
vehicles, is prohibited. The temporary use of on-site parking spaces for the purposes of 
construction staging may be permitted in conjunction with an active building permit. 
Minimum required on-site parking spaces shall be maintained for all active uses for the 
duration of construction. A vehicle for sale may be parked in an approved residential 
parking space for non-commercial purposes, for a period not to exceed 30 days. No more 
than one vehicle may be advertised for sale on the same residential property during a period 
of one year. 

(I) All parking areas and landscaping shall be maintained in good condition. Maintenance shall 
include, but not limited to, fixing potholes, filling cracks, landscaping, and maintaining the 
appearance of the parking area. 

(J) Construction of required parking areas shall be completed in accordance with this section 
prior to commencement of the use or occupancy of the parcel, building or structure. 

 
III. 150.159 PARKING STANDARDS FOR MULTI-FAMILY, NONRESIDENTIAL, OR 
MIXED-USES, AND PUDs. 
   (A)   Mixed uses Uses computed separately.  In case of mixed multiple uses on a site, the total 
requirements for off-street parking space shall be the sum of the requirements of the various uses 
computed separately. 
   (B)   Maintenance.  It shall be the joint and separate responsibility of the lessee and owner of 
the principal use, uses or building to maintain in a neat and adequate manner, the parking space, 
access ways, striping, landscaping and required fences or screening. 
   (C)   Parking area improvements.  For multi-family residential, commercial, industrial and 
PUD districts, the following shall apply: 
      (1)   Parking areas shall be screened from street view and residential development by a berm, 
and/or wall (minimum of three feet in height), with landscaping. 
      (2)   Lights illuminating a parking space shall be arranged and screened shielded to reflect 
light away from adjoining residences and streets. Light standards shall be a maximum height of 
24 feet. Refer to Section 150.090 for additional parking area lighting requirements. 
      (3)   Except where a wall is required, a minimum six-inch high curb or permanently attached 
or affixed bumper guard shall be constructed so that no part of a vehicle extends beyond the 
property line. 



4 
 

 

 
 
   (D)   Access.  Off-street parking space shall be connected with a public street by a paved 
driveway, which affords safe and reasonably convenient ingress and egress. The minimum width 
of driveways shall be 40 feet where if ingress and egress are the same right and left turn egress is 
proposed.  If only a single ingress and egress lane is proposed, the minimum width required shall 
be 32 feet.  If ingress and egress are by separate drives, then the minimum width of each drive 
shall be 20 feet. 
   (E)   Parking space location.  All required parking spaces for non-residential or mixed uses 
shall be located on the lot upon which the use is located or on an adjacent lot. Required parking 
spaces for multi-family, commercial or industrial use may be located on an adjacent lot in 
another district (other than in a single-family residential district). 
   (F)   Joint use or non-simultaneous use parking for mixed use or PUD. 
      (1)   If an applicant for a mixed use PUD or in any multi-family or Employment/commercial 
district can demonstrate through a parking study supplied by the applicant and approved by the 
Planning Director Community Development Director or designee that the peak parking demand 
for the mixed uses will be less than the sum of the parking spaces required for each use served, a 
reduction in spaces may be allowed. 
      (2)   The approved joint use parking plan shall specify the typical hours of operation with 
anticipated periods of greatest parking demand for all uses within the development and shall 
indicate the number, location and convenience of pedestrian access of all spaces available to 
serve each use. 
      (3)   The joint use parking plan shall remain on file with the Planning and Zoning 
Department Town for the purpose of monitoring the continued adequacy of available parking. 
      (4)   At the time of joint use parking plan approval, or at any subsequent time when uses, 
intensities of use or hours of operation may be expanded or otherwise change, or upon findings 
that the parking facilities are inadequate, the Planning Director Community Development 
Director, or designee, may require additional site area to be provided, and as necessary, 
improved to supply additional parking facilities. 
      (5)    Joint use parking plans shall include the necessary perpetual cross-access and shared 
parking easements as required by the Town and recorded in a form approved by the Town 



5 
 

Attorney.  Any request for reduction of minimum required parking shall be substantiated by 
calculations based on Urban Land Institute (ULI) standards and in a manner acceptable to the 
Town.   
      (6)  Off-site parking areas may be approved by the Community Development Director if the 
parking area is within three hundred feet of the associated business or use as part of a 
development plan when it can be demonstrated to be of benefit to the public interest.  
 
IV. 150.160 PARKING STANDARDS FOR SINGLE FAMILY AND 2-FAMILY 
RESIDENTIAL USES. 
   (A)   Parking space location.  All residential parking spaces shall be paved or surfaced in a 
manner approved by the Town Engineer. Each residential unit shall have a driveway not less 
than 18 feet in length, as measured from the back of sidewalk.  If no sidewalk exists, the 
driveway length shall be measured from the back of curb. No part of any vehicle parked in the 
front yard of a single-family or 2-family residence lot shall extend over the public right-of-way 
or sidewalk, pavement edge or street curb where no sidewalk exists;. Nnor shall any vehicle shall 
be parked in a manner to encroach within the right-of-way or obstruct the sight visibility of a 
sidewalk or right of way in accordance with the Town’s engineering standards. within the area 
formed by a ten-foot by ten-foot triangle as measured, when the side property line is within five 
feet of a driveway or an improved parking surface located on an adjacent lot.  
   (B)   Parking space allocation and/or improvement standards.  Requirements and directions 
for the allocation, and design of parking spaces in all residential districts are described for 
various land uses in Subsection VI Parking Space Allocation Requirements. 
   (C) Recreational Vehicle Storage. Recreational vehicles, boats, and trailers shall be stored 
behind a solid six-foot wall with view obscuring gates.  They may be located in front of a wall 
for a period not to exceed 72 hours for the purpose of preparing for travel or prior to storage.  
 
V. 150.161 PARKING STANDARDS; CALCULATIONS. 
   Calculations to determine the required number of parking spaces, and the design of the space 
shall consider the following: 
   (A)   Minimum standards for parking space allocation shall be subject to the requirements of 
this Development Code. 
   (B)   The maximum number of parking spaces provided shall not exceed the minimum number 
of spaces required plus and an additional 20% of parking spaces, except as otherwise provided in 
this Development Code., without specific approval by the Community Development Director or 
designee.  Parking spaces exceeding 120% of the minimum required may be approved at the 
discretion of the Planning and Zoning Commission through the design review process. 
   (C)   Parking lots shall be designed with a clear hierarchy of circulation with major access 
drives providing access from the major street, major circulation drives forming circulation 
through the parking area and parking aisles whose purpose is to provide access to parking spaces. 
   (D)   An agreement for Rreciprocal access between adjacent commercial developments is 
required. 

(E) Large parking lots shall be divided into a series of smaller lots of approximately 150 
spaces each, using raised landscape island(s) at least ten feet in width, and at least 500 380 
square feet in total area, located along the sides of the parking areas to separate break up large 
expanses of parking areas. A hierarchy of drive aisles shall be used to identify the primary on site 
circulation routes from secondary drive aisles that provide direct access and maneuvering for 



6 
 

parking spaces. Walkways should be considered may be located within  as a part of these 
landscape areas. Raised Llandscape strips islands at least five feet wide and at least 95 square 
feet in total area, should shall be located between spaces at regular intervals and on the ends of 
parking rows, extending the full length of parking spaces.  
 

 
 
Additional landscape islands should be considered Diamond shaped tree planters shall be 
provided in the interior of the individual parking areas to provide shade and break up large 
expanses of parking area. Diamond planters in multi-family, commercial, office, and industrial 
development shall be uniformly distributed between landscape islands. Such planters shall be a 
minimum of five feet square in size, oriented in a diagonal fashion, and shall occur at the 
following minimum frequencies: 
 

Frequency Type of Development 

One (1) island/twelve (12) spaces Multi-Family Residential 

One (1) island and two (2) diamond 
planters/fifteen (15) spaces 

Commercial 

One (1) island and two (2) diamond 
planters/fifteen (15) spaces 

Office 

One (1) island/twenty (20) spaces Industrial 

 
Parking lots with more than 20 spaces shall provide an equal number of landscape islands and 
planters as prescribed above. Refer to §150.138 for additional parking area landscape 
requirements. As part of design review, town staff shall review parking lot and landscape layouts 
to determine if they are in keeping with the requirements of this Development Code. 
  (F)   Parking areas may be combined and share the required landscape buffers. 
  (G)   Parking lots shall be separated from the sides of buildings by a raised walkway with a 
minimum width of six feet. 
  (H)   All commercial, office, multi-family, and manufactured home developments shall provide 
a minimum six-foot wide sidewalk connection through the parking lot from the public right-of-
way, or public sidewalk, where provided, to the building entry or interior sidewalk network. 



7 
 

 
150.162  ALTERNATIVE DESIGN STANDARDS. 
   (A I)   To provide flexibility in design and development of projects, alternative design 
standards  additional parking spaces may be considered through the design review process.are 
provided. The total number of parking spaces may be increased by 10% above the maximum 
allowed for each additional 2-1/2% increase in total landscape area, exceeding in addition to the 
minimum required amount landscape area. However, in no case may the total number of parking 
spaces be increased by more than 40% above the base maximum allowed. 
   (B)   (1)  In the case of fractional results in calculating parking requirements, the required 
number shall be rounded up to the nearest whole number if the fraction is 0.5 or greater. 
   (C)   (2)  All uses not specifically designated, or similar to a specified use, shall have parking 
space requirements determined by the Planning Director Community Development Director,  or 
designee. 
   (D)  In multi-family, commercial and industrial districts, handicapped parking spaces shall be 
provided at the ratio of three spaces for the first 50 parking spaces provided, and one space for 
each 20 spaces thereafter. 
 
VI. 150.163 PARKING SPACE ALLOCATION REQUIREMENTS.  

Use Minimum Standards 

Residential 

Single residences, duplexes and detached dwellings 2 spaces per dwelling unit 

Mobile home 1 space per unit

Multiple residence and apartments 

Efficiencies and studios 1 space per dwelling unit 

One and 2 bedroom unit 1-1/2 spaces per dwelling unit

Two+ bedroom units 2 spaces per dwelling unit 

All apartment developments with five or more units 
shall also provide guest parking and recreational 
vehicle parking 

1 space per 10 dwelling units 

Condominium and  town homes 
2 spaces per unit plus 1 guest space 
for each additional and 1 recreational 
vehicle park for each 10 units 

Boarding house or similar facility 
1 space per each 2 guest rooms plus 2 
spaces for the dwelling unit 

Public assembly and schools 

Churches and clubs, lodges and fraternal  buildings, 
assembly halls, funeral homes, community centers, 
libraries, auditoriums and theaters 

1 space for each 75 square foot of 
indoor floor area used for public 
assembly

Schools, kindergarten through ninth grade 
1 space per 375 square foot indoor 
floor area



8 
 

High schools, academies, colleges, universities, trade 
or vocational schools 

1 space per 200 square foot indoor 
floor area

Health care 

Medical or dental offices and out-patient 
1 space per 150 square foot indoor 
floor area clinics 

Hospitals, nursing and convalescent homes 
1 space per 400 square foot indoor 
floor area

Day nurseries 
1 space per 375 square foot indoor 
floor area, but not less than 5 

Retail and other commercial developments 1 space per 300 square foot floor area
  
  

Use Minimum Standards 

Independent commercial buildings and uses

General offices and/or retail and 
services 

1 space per 300 square foot floor area 

General auto repair. Garage, service 
station, car wash and drive-through 
lubrication shops 

1 space per 300 square foot floor area, including 
service bays, wash tunnels and retail areas 

Hotel and motel 
1 space per room or suite or rooms plus 1 space for 
each 25 rooms for truck trailers and recreational 
vehicles, the space is to be 10 feet by 75 feet 

Restaurant and/or bar 
1 space per 50 square foot floor area and outdoor 
seating area

Outdoor sales and service areas (car 
lots, plant nurseries, building supplies 
and the like) 

1 space per 375 square foot indoor floor area, of sales 
and service building, but not less than 4 spaces per 
use

Recreation 

Bowling alleys 5 spaces per lane plus ancillary use requirements

Theaters 1 space for every 3 patron seats

Golf course 
1 space per 2 practice tees in driving range plus 4 
spaces per green plus ancillary use requirements

Miniature golf, amusement parks and 
water slides 

1 space per 500 square foot outside recreation area 

Health spas and/or clubs, gyms and 
tennis, handball, racquetball courts 
and/or clubs 

1  space per 100 square foot indoor floor area, 
excluding courts, which require 2 spaces per court 



9 
 

Skating rinks and dance halls 
1 space per 75 square foot gross floor area used for 
recreational activities and ancillary use requirements

Industrial buildings and uses 

Industrial buildings and uses 
2 spaces for every 3 employees on the shift with the 
greatest number of employees

Independent industrial buildings and uses

Warehouses One space per 900 square foot floor area 

Manufacturing One space per 600 square foot floor area 
  
 

Use  Minimum Required Spaces 
Automobile Sales Lot ‐ New or Used   1/200 SF of building plus 1/10 outdoor 

vehicle display spaces 

Bowling Alleys  4/bowling lane + 1/employee on largest shift 
+ 2/billiard table + 1/5 seats in visitor's 
gallery 

Boarding House, Lodge or Similar 
Facility 

1/guest room + 2/dwelling unit 

Business or Vocational School  1/150 SF of Gross Floor Area 

Child Care or Day Nursery  1/200 Sf of Gross Floor Area 

Churches  1/4 fixed seats in main auditorium/sanctuary 
or 1/30 SF of floor area + 1/250 SF of office 
and classroom  

Commercial / Retail  1/200 SF of Gross Floor Area 

Community or Recreation Buildings  1/200 SF of Gross Floor Area 

Dwellings    

     Single‐Family  2/dwelling unit 

     Duplexes or Detached Dwellings  2/dwelling unit 

     Townhouse  2/dwelling unit + 1 guest space for every 5 
dwelling units 

     Manufactured Home  2/dwelling unit 

     Efficiency Units and Studios  1.5/dwelling unit 

     Multi‐Family  2/ 1 and 2‐bedroom dwelling units; 2.5/ 3 or 
more bedrooms + 1 guest space for every 55 
dwelling units + 1 recreational vehicle space 
for every 10 dwelling units 

Senior/Assisted Living Facilities  .75/ dwelling unit 



10 
 

Independent Living Facilities  1.25/dwelling unit  

Elementary Schools, K‐9th Grade  1/staff + 1/3 seats in public assembly 

Funeral Homes and Mortuaries  1/3 seats in the viewing room + 1/30 SF of 
public assembly + 1/funeral service vehicle + 
1/employee 

Furniture Store     

     Up to 10,000 SF  1/200 SF of retail floor area 

     10,001 SF or Greater  1/350 SF of retail floor area 

Golf Course    

     Public  1/200 SF of Gross  Floor Area + 1/2 practice 
tees in driving range + 4/each green in play 

     Private/Semi‐Private  1/200 SF of Gross Floor Area + 2/each green 
in play 

Health Spa, Gyms, Tennis, Handball, 
Racquetball Courts and/or Clubs 

1/100 SF of Gross Floor Area + 2/court of 
play 

High Schools  1/each staff + 1/3 students + 1 visitor space 
for every 10 staff and student space 

Hospitals  1/each bed + 1.5/employee during peak shift 
+ 20 for emergency room services  

Hotels and Motels  1/guest room or unit + 1/200 SF office + 
1/each cleaning staff + 1‐10'x75' truck 
space/15 units  

Industrial     

     Manufacturing  1/500 SF of Gross Floor Area  

     Warehouse  1/500 SF of Gross Floor Area 

Garage, General Auto Repair, Service 
Station Car Wash w/o Convenience 
Store 

1/300 SF of Gross Floor Area 

Convenience Store with Gas Pumps  1/gas pump + 1/75 SF of Gross Floor Area 

Office    

     General  1/200 SF of Gross Floor Area 

     Medical  1/100 SF of Gross Floor Area 

Financial Institution  1/200 SF of Gross Floor Area 

Outdoor Sales, Plant Nursery, Building 
Supplies w/ Office 

1/300 SF of Gross Floor Area 



11 
 

Restaurant, Cafes, Bars, Taverns  1/50 SF of Net Floor Area including outdoor 
seating areas (excludes hallways, restrooms, 
storage) + 100 linear feet of queuing for 
drive‐thru window 

Theaters, Auditoriums, and Similar   1/3 fixed seats or 1/400 SF + 1/employee on 
largest shift 

Museums, Art Galleries, and Similar  1/200 SF of Gross Floor Area  

Handicapped Space Requirements    

     Multi‐Family Dwellings, Commercial, 
Retail, Office, Manufacturing, 
Warehousing, Recreational Facilities 

1/25 spaces of vehicle parking  

   

 
(A)    Handicapped Parking.  Handicapped parking shall comply with the requirements of the 

Americans with Disabilities Act, including all regulations adopted pursuant to that act, and 
to the following: 

1. Each public and private parking lot is required to provide a minimum of one van 
accessible (handicap) parking space, of the minimum required accessible parking 
spaces as prescribed by the Americans with Disabilities Act. 

2. Accessible parking spaces must be the closest spaces to the building’s accessible 
entrance. 

3. An accessible aisle must connect directly to the accessible route. 
4. Accessible parking spaces and parking aisle must be level with no slope greater 

than 1:50. 
5. All accessible parking spaces shall be designated with an unobscured vertical sign 

that shows the universal symbol of accessibility and references A.R.S. §28-881 et 
seq. 

6. (D) In multi-family, commercial and industrial districts, handicapped parking 
spaces shall be provided at the ratio of three spaces for the first 50 parking spaces 
provided, and one space for each 20 spaces thereafter. 

 
VII. 150.164 OFF-SITE STREET LOADING REQUIREMENTS. 
 

(A) Minimum loading space.  Commercial and industrial uses requiring delivery shall observe 
minimum loading space accommodation within this section including required number of 
berths. 

 
   (B)   Spaces required.  Every hotel, restaurant, department store, freight terminal or railroad 
yard, hospital or sanitarium, industrial plant, manufacturing establishments, retail establishment, 
storage warehouse or wholesale establishment and all other structures devoted to similar 
mercantile or industrial pursuits which has an aggregate gross floor area of 10,00015,000 square 
feet or more, shall provide off-street truck loading or unloading berths in accordance with the 
following table: 



12 
 

Required Number 

of Berths 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Building greater than 10,000 15,000 square feet up to and including 40,000 
square feet 

1 

40,001 square feet up to 100,000 square feet 2

100,001 square feet up to 160,000 square feet 3

160,001 square feet up to 240,000 square feet 4

240,001 square feet up to 320,000 square feet 5

320,001 square feet up to 400,000 square feet 6

400,001 square feet up to 490,000 square feet 7

Each additional 100,000 square feet 
1 

additional
  
   (C)   Any office building 100,000 square feet or larger shall have at least 1 off-street loading 
berth. 
 
150.165  STANDARDS FOR OFF-STREET LOADING FACILITIES. 
   All off-street loading facilities shall conform to the following standards: 
   (A D)   Dimensions.  Unless otherwise specified in these zoning regulations, berths required 
shall be at least 45 feet in length and all loading berths shall be at least 12 feet in width and 14 
feet in height, exclusive of aisle and maneuvering space. 
   (B E)   Locations. 
      (1)   The space may occupy all or any part of any required yard space, except front and side 
yards, and shall not be located closer than 50 feet to any lot in any residential zone unless 
separated from the zone by a screening wall with a height of eight feet, a 20-foot landscape 
buffer with at least 50% of the view obscured by evergreen plant material or a combination of 
the above as approved by the Planning Director Community Development Director or designee 
or the Planning and Zoning Commission. 
      (2)   Sufficient room for turning and maneuvering vehicles shall be provided on the site so 
that vehicles shall cross a property line only by driving forward. Driving over curbs or pavement 
rails is prohibited. 
      (3)   Each loading berth shall be accessible from a street or alley or from an aisle or drive 
connecting with a street or alley, without traversing a residential district. 
      (4)   Off-street loading facilities for a single use shall not be considered as providing required 
off-street loading facilities for any other use. 

Square Feet of Aggregate Gross Floor Area Required 



13 
 

      (5)   If more than one use is located on a site, the number of loading berths provided shall be 
equal to the sum of the requirements prescribed in this Development Code for each use. 
      (6)   If more than one use is located on a site and For sites with multiple tenants or uses, the 
total aggregate floor area of all uses shall be computed together to determine the minimum 
number of the gross floor area of each use is less than the minimum for which loading berths are 
required but the aggregate gross floor area is greater than the minimum for which loading berths 
are required. Off street loading berths shall be provided as if the aggregate gross floor area were 
used for the use requiring the greatest number of loading berths.  
 
150.166  IMPROVEMENT STANDARDS. 
   ( A F)   The loading area, aisles and access drives shall be paved and maintained to provide a 
durable, dustless surface and shall be so graded and drained to dispose of surface water without 
damage to private or public properties, streets or alleys. 
   (B G)   Bumper rails shall be provided at locations where needed for safety or to protect 
property. 
   (C H)   The loading area is to be illuminated and lighting shall be deflected away from the 
abutting residential site so as not to cause glare. Refer to Section 150.090 for additional lighting 
requirements.  
 
150.167  COMPLIANCE. 
   (A I)   Off-street loading facilities shall be located on the same site with the use for which the 
berths are required. 
   (B J)   Proposed changes of use or enlargement of a site or structure shall be required to At the 
time of initial occupancy, major alterations or enlargement of a site, or of completion of 
construction of a structure or of a major alteration or enlargement of a structure, there shall be 
provided by the owner, furnish a calculation report of identifying the required number off-street 
loading berths requirements with the Site Plan Design Review application. The number of 
loading berths provided for a major alteration or enlargement of a site or structure shall be in 
addition to the number existing prior to the alteration or enlargement. 
   (C K)   Space allocated to any off-street loading berth shall not be used to satisfy the space 
requirements for any off-street parking facility. 
   (D L)   No regular repair work or servicing of vehicles shall be conducted in a loading area. 
 

VIII. DIMENSIONS AND CIRCULATION  
 

(A) Parking Spaces.  Each parking space shall contain a rectangular area at least nineteen feet 
long (including a maximum of an eighteen-inch overhang) and nine feet wide.  

 
   (B)    Parking Aisles.  Parking aisle widths shall conform to the following table, which varies 
the width requirement according to the angle of parking: 
 
 

  Parking Angle   

  90º 60º 45º 30º 0º 

  Required Aisle Width   



14 
 

One-Way Traffic 24 ft. 18 ft. 13 ft. 12 ft. 13 ft. 

Two-Way Traffic 24 ft. 23 ft. 21 ft. 20 ft. 19 ft. 

Not Permitted Design     Permitted Designs 
 
   (C)   Commercial Parking Areas Adjacent to Residential Districts.  Commercial parking areas 
adjacent to residential districts and not separated by a public street shall have installed and 
maintained a solid decorative masonry wall six feet in height on the commercial district 
boundary line. This solid decorative masonry wall shall be reduced to four feet in height when 
located within the front yard area of the property abutting a residential district. 
   (D)    Driveways.  Driveways shall be provided only at locations approved by the Town 
Engineer. Driveways shall not be located less than thirty feet from any street intersection. 
   (E)    Passenger Drop-Off Points.  Drop-off points separated from street traffic and readily 
accessible without hazardous maneuvering, shall be provided in conjunction with the following 
uses: hotels, motels, hospitals and clinics, educational facilities with fifty or more pupils, daycare 
centers, religious facilities with one hundred or more seats, transit terminals, major recreational 
facilities, commercial airports, public buildings and offices and financial services. 

(F)     Access and Maneuvering for Fire and Refuse Trucks. Parking lots shall have the 
necessary dimensions for the on-site maneuvering of refuse vehicles and fire trucks.  
 
IX. ELECTRIC VEHICLE PARKING 
 
(A) Application  

The Electrical Vehicle parking standards established in this section are intended to 
promote sustainability and alternative transportation practices. 
 

(B) Designation of Electric Vehicle parking space 
 

(1) Parking lots containing 20 or more spaces, serving multiple unit dwellings, , or 
located within 100 feet from a highway or major arterial street shall include the 
installation of conduits to at least one percent of parking spaces in anticipation of a 

X’ X’



15 
 

need for Electric Vehicle Charging Stations. Fractional parking space amounts shall 
be rounded up to the nearest whole number. 
 

(2) Signs or Markings. Upon designation of a parking space or spaces for the exclusive 
use of Electric Vehicles (a) Signs or markings shall be placed to give adequate notice 
that the parking space or spaces are restricted and to be used only for Electric 
Vehicles.  
 

 

 
 
 



1 
 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
Community Development Department 

 
 

MEMORANDUM 
 
To:    Honorable Mayor Walter and Town Councilmembers 

Through:  Brent Billingsley, AICP, CFM 

Town Manager 

From:  Community Development Department 

Date:    February 28, 2019  

Re:    March 4, 2019 Council Agenda Item 8.a: 

Ordinance No. 668‐19: Parking Code Amendment 
  
 
The purpose of this memorandum is to provide additional background in response to questions posed 
during the Council’s first reading of this agenda item on February 19, 2019. Below, please find the 
Councilmembers questions listed in bold, followed by staff research and recommendations shown in 
italics. 
 

1) Vice Mayor Anderson – This amendment provides no requirement for number of ingress and 
egress to a development. 

Response:  
2006 Fire Code Chapter 5 provides for “Fire Apparatus Access Roads” 
 
Section 502.1 Definitions 

“Fire Apparatus Access Road” is a road that provides fire apparatus access from a fire 
station to a facility, building or portion thereof. This is a general term inclusive of all 
other terms such as fire lane, public street, private street, parking lot lane and access 
roadway. 

 
Section 503 – Fire Apparatus Access Roads 

Section 503.1.1 Buildings and Facilities. Approved fire apparatus access roads a shall be 
provided for every facility, building or portion of a building hereafter constructed or 
moved into or within the jurisdiction. The fire apparatus access road shall comply with 
the requirements of this section and shall extend to within 150 feet of all portions of the 
facility and all portions of the exterior walls of the first story of the building as measured 
by an approved route around the exterior of the building or facility. 
 
Section 503.1.2 Additional access. The fire code official is authorized to require more 
than one fire apparatus access road based on the potential for impairment of a single 
road by vehicle congestion, condition of terrain, climatic conditions or other factors that 
could limit access. 



2 
 

 
In summary, when exterior portions of a structure are greater than 150 feet from a roadway 
or fire access road/route, the fire marshal is authorized to require more than one fire 
apparatus access road based on the potential for the primary vehicle ingress/egress to 
become inaccessible for any reason.  
 
a. Stated that (§II.E) bituminous material and binder paving (aka wrap) as listed, may 

have recycled materials such as gas, oil and other environmentally hazardous 
materials and cause a negative environmental impact  

Response: Staff proposes the following revision to Section II.E –  
(E) All parking and loading spaces, maneuvering areas, driveways and fire lanes shall be 
paved with asphaltic concrete; pavers; cement concrete; penetration treatment of 
bituminous material and seal coat of bituminous binder and a mineral aggregate; and/or a 
stabilization method approved by the Town Engineer. Through the site plan and design 
review process, the Town may permit up to 20 percent of the required parking to be of a 
pervious surface to reduce heat‐island and run‐off effects. All parking surfaces must be 
designed to a sufficient thickness to withstand repeated vehicular traffic and receive 
approval from the Town Engineer. 
 
b. §III.(B) – States the Town cannot hold the lessee accountable, it has to be the property 

owner.  
Response: The existing code text states “it shall be the joint and separate responsibility of the 
lessee and owner of the principal use…” I agree with text as written to notify and bring to the 
attention of both parties. A tenant / lessee should be notified of any potential violations on 
the property they occupy in hopes to expeditiously remediate the violation. Staff is aware 
that the property owner is ultimately the subject of the violation and any ensuing penalties. 
However, providing the lessee with notification of a violation may gain compliance should 
the violation be due to their use of the property. Inversely, if the violation is the cause of the 
owner’s negligence, lessee may be affected and motivated to assist in remediating the 
violation.   
 
c. Where is “grandfathered” defined? 
Response: “Grandfathered” is a general term used to denote a pre‐existing use or structure 
that was lawfully established under a prior code, and is no longer lawfully permitted under 
the current codes or ordinances. Another way we say this is “Legal non‐conforming” use or 
structure, meaning it is a lawfully permitted structure or use established under a previous 
code at a time when the structure or use was permissible, but due to changes in 
development standards or codes, would not be permitted under the current code. The 
administrative section of the Development Code prescribes how these legal non‐conforming 
uses and structures are treated should the owner wish to modify or expand the use or 
structure under the current codes: 
 
§ 150.005  COMPLIANCE. 
   No building or land shall be devoted to any use other than a use permitted in the zoning 
district in which the building or land shall be located, with the exception of the following: 
   (A)   Uses lawfully established as of the effective date of this comprehensive amendment; 
 
d. Why not have a separate code for all of these definitions? 



3 
 

Response: Aside from the existing and proposed Sign Codes, the second section of the 
Development Code / Zoning Ordinance establishes 150.031 “Definitions”, which applies to 
the code in its entirety, unless otherwise specified. 
 
e. Change name on list of uses “Church” to assembly buildings or something else 
Response: Staff has reviewed peer community codes and found the following: 
 
Existing Code –     Church; Place of Worship or Religious Assembly (Medical Mar.) 
Proposed Code –     Church; religious facility 
Maricopa –      Church; Religious Facilities 
Pinal County –     Church; Religious Facilities 
Gilbert –       Place of Worship 
Chandler –       Churches; Places of Religious Worship; Religious Facilities 
Queen Creek –    Religious Assembly; Religious Institutions  
 
The existing Development Code has several references to the term “Church” as a use in 
various areas of the code. Amending the parking code reference of “Church” would create an 
inconsistency with the remaing Development Code. Staff is in process of preparing an overall 
“clean‐up” of the Development Code, including addressing conflicts of terminology for uses. 
Staff recommends addressing this change in terminology with the overall clean‐up of the 
Development Code to ensure all references are used consistently. 

 
2) Larsen – §III.C.1 requires a 3’ screen wall to screen parking areas from the street and adjacent 

residential development. Why require berms and screen walls adjacent to parking areas? Is 
this a code we are enforcing and why do some developments, such as Safeway and the Grille 
not have a screen wall? 
Response: Yes, Staff enforces the Development Code.  Staff recommends retaining the current 
text requiring screen walls for parking areas. A review and comparison with peer communities is 
as follows: 

 
Existing Code –      
Requires parking areas to be screened from streets and residences by a 3’ wall or wall in 
combination with earthen berms, and landscape is required. 
 
Proposed Code –      
No change from existing code 
 
Maricopa –       
Required 3’ to 3.5’ with combo of berming and vegetative materials. The code is involved, 
Refer to Section “Screening” 401.11 E. for additional details 
 
Pinal County –      
Section 2.140.030 
B.  Where a parking area for a business or industrial use adjoins or is within a residential 
zone, there shall be a solid wall of masonry or other approved fireproof material, at least 
four feet in height, along the boundaries adjoining residence lots, except that adjoining the 
front yard of a residence lot, said wall shall be three feet six inches in height. 



4 
 

C.  Anywhere a wall is required, a minimum landscaped yard of five feet shall be provided 
between the wall and the parking area. 
 
Gilbert –        
Section 4.2012 Screening, Landscaping and Lighting  
 A. Screening.  Parking areas, automotive fuel pump islands, and parking access aisles 
parallel to and within 75 feet of rights‐of‐way shall be screened from view from those rights‐
of‐way, public parks and public buildings by fences.  Landscaping or berming may substitute 
for fences up to a maximum of 25 percent of the length of the fence. 
(See entire code for additional standards) 
 
Chandler –      
Section 35.1903 – Landscaping 

(c) 8.   Parking lot screening: When parking areas abut a front yard or road frontage 

landscaped area, such parking area shall be screened with a decorative masonry wall(s) and 
earth berm(s) ranging between thirty (30) and forty‐two (42) inches in height. Horizontal and 
vertical variation in the design of  screening wall is required whenever linear alignments exceed 
eighty (80) feet.  

Tree, shrub and ground cover planting shall be as required in paragraph 5., "Front yard/street 
right‐of‐way areas," listed above.  

Queen Creek –     
See “Fencing and Walls” Section 5.2 D.3 ‐ Parking areas adjacent to the required front yard 
shall provide a decorative screen wall or landscape berm or combination thereof to a height 
not to exceed three feet (3') in order to adequately screen the undercarriages of the parked 
vehicles. Parking lot screen walls shall also be subject to the design provisions set forth in 
Section 5.2.A.15 & 16 above. 

 
a. Concern over cost to construct a parking lot screen wall on sites with a long frontage. 

Seems to be a potential financial burden to the developer. 
Response:  Per  the  above  research  and  industry  experience,  parking  lot  screening  and 

landscaping is common place and a widely accepted cost of development. 





Parking Code Text 
Amendment

Town Council

Public Hearing 

Ordinance No. 668-19 
(Case #PZ-18-34-TA)

February 19, 2019



Why update off-street parking 
and loading regulations?

• Last update was 2006

• Need for flexibility to effectively serve various 
scenarios

• Establish minimum design standards

• Changes in technology and development 
patterns



Amendment Timeline

• May 17, 2018 Planning and Zoning Commission Code 
Amendment Initiation

• June 21, 2018          Planning and Zoning Commission Discussion

• Sept. 20, 2018         Planning and Zoning Commission Work Session

• Oct. 18, 2018 Planning and Zoning Commission Work Session

• Nov. 15, 2018 Planning and Zoning Commission Review/Discussion

• Dec.4, 2018 Neighborhood Meeting (5-6:30PM Community Center)

• Dec. 20, 2018 Planning and Zoning Commission (public hearing)

• Jan. 2, 2019 Historic District Advisory Committee Review/Discussion

• Jan. 17, 2019 Planning and Zoning Commission (public hearing and             
action)

• Feb.19, 2019 Town Council (public hearing and 1st reading)

• *March 4, 2019        2nd Town Council (action)



Overview of Changes

• Existing parking is grandfathered, these changes only 
affect new requests

• Historic District is unique

• Expand the terms & definitions related to parking areas

• Create flexibility in the existing parking requirements

• Update existing standards to reflect best practices and new 
technologies

• Enhance parking facilities and maintenance responsibilities



• Reduced requirements for parcels with parking 
areas of 20 spaces or less

• Increase the maximum allowable parking spaces 
at the Town’s discretion

• Portions of parking
areas may now be
pervious

Flexible Parking Regulations



Updated Parking Standards

• Number of required spaces based on use

• Landscape

islands for 

shade and 

visual 

enhancement



Updated Parking Standards

• Dimensions of parking entrances, drive aisles, 
and parking spaces.

– Reduced minimum curb cut from 40’ to 32’

– Access and Maneuvering for Fire & Refuse

– Parking & Drive Aisle dimensions



Updated Parking Standards

• Off-site & Joint Use parking expanded

• RV & Trailer storage on residential lots

• ADA space requirements

• Electric Vehicle

provisions



Enhanced Facilities and 
Maintenance

• Changes of use on a site requiring <10% 
parking increase or <20 spaces are exempt from 
parking code improvements

• Maintenance responsibilities

• Timeliness of parking improvements for new or 
expanded uses



Discussion
&

Questions



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
12c.  

MEETING DATE:  April 15, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Administration 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town Manager 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  
Subject:  Cuen Building -rescind demolition   Meeting Date: April 15, 2019   
Page 1 of 4 

 
SUBJECT:  Cuen Building  2nd Reading 

 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Rescind the order for demolition of the Cuen Building and instructing the Town Manager 
to take all action necessary to advertise the Cuen Building for public auction in 
accordance with A.R.S. § 36-1480 Disposal of Property in redevelopment project area. 
(Lisa Garcia)  
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
Evidence suggests that the building was originally built as a residence and shop by 
Francisco Cuen.  This brick and adobe then housed Florence’s first telephone exchange.   
 
As initially constructed, the building was L-shaped, with two wings.  The building interior 
was extensively remodeled in 1910 for use as Florence’s first telephone office.  At about 
this time, the structure’s 11th Street wing was shortened.  The building continued in use 
as the Town’s telephone exchange until after 1941.  By 1960, it had become the office of 
attorneys Tom Fulbright and Ernest McFarland.  Fulbright, a prominent Florence lawyer, 
served as Pinal County District Attorney and later as Attorney for the Town of Florence.  
For the past few decades, the building has been unoccupied and continually deteriorating.    
 
Unfortunately, multiple penetrations into the building have allowed the elements to 
accelerate deterioration (bricks, plaster, adobe, etc.) and permitted pigeons to roost in the 
building.  The north wall, roof and chimney cannot be saved.  The building is completely 
gutted inside.  Beyond structural concerns, these conditions present aesthetic and other 



Subject:  Cuen Building -rescind demolition   Meeting Date: April 15, 2019   
Page 2 of 4 

negative impacts that are repeatedly noted by downtown visitors and patrons of the 
Fitness Center.   
 
On October 7, 2013, the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence accepted the 
donation of the Cuen building from Langley Momentum Historical, LLC.  A 2013 external 
and internal assessment of the facility with Town staff and Swan Architects confirmed that 
action was needed to demolish, stabilize, rehabilitate or re-construct the subject building.  
When staff discussed the options for this building with the Historic District Advisory 
Commission (HDAC) and the Town Council in 2014, staff was directed to hold off on the 
building demolition while the Town sought other options.  Per Town Code, in order to 
proceed with a demolition permit for any structure within the Historic District, a demolition 
permit needs to be reviewed by the HDAC.  
 
The Town of Florence auctioned the building by sealed bid to Steven Smallridge.  The 
reversion clause provided that if the property owner did not meet successfully stabilize 
the building and obtain a Certificate of Occupancy the ownership of the building would 
revert back to the Town of Florence.  After several construction extensions the property 
owner restored ownership to the Town of Florence.  
 
At the September 4, 2018 Town Council meeting, the Mayor and Town Council took the 
following action: 
 

 On motion of Councilmember Guilin, seconded by Councilmember Wall, and 
carried (7-0) to direct staff to contact consultants who had prepared the plans for 
restoration to determine the cost to improve the Cuen Building, to obtain a 
Certificate of Occupancy, and add to the Town’s CIP Project List.    

 
Per Council’s direction, staff contacted the architectural firm of Reece and Rowe 
Architects (RRA).  This firm specializes in historic building rehabilitation and previously 
worked on several structures in downtown Florence, including the Cuen Building.  
Stephanie Rowe, principal at RRA, met with representatives of Town Staff on-site on 
October 24, 2018, to assess the current status of the structure and evaluate any work 
that had been completed by the previous holder of the property. 
 
During this site visit, it was readily apparent that additional deterioration had occurred, 
and certain inappropriate improvements were contributing to that situation.  The on-site 
visit noted that: 

 the roof was further compromised by several years of rain seepage and 
subsequent wood rotting; 

 an interior adobe divider wall had been partially removed and the remaining wall 
was further compromised; 

 an inappropriate cement mortar was used in place of stucco on various locations 
of the interior walls that will ultimately have to be removed and any damage caused 
by that material would have to be corrected; 

 there were limited exterior wall ‘bowing’ and accompanying incomplete window 
sets; and 



Subject:  Cuen Building -rescind demolition   Meeting Date: April 15, 2019   
Page 3 of 4 

 there were other miscellaneous issues found throughout the structure. 
 
Ms. Rowe followed-up the visual inspection with an estimate of her services to modify 
previous architectural plans for rehabilitation to cover items discovered during the on-site 
visit.  A basic fee proposal of $10,850 was submitted to update the plans, which does not 
include several items that she would not be able to estimate until certain specialized 
inspections take place.  Staff anticipates that those extras could add an additional $3,500-
$4,000 to the cost of updating the plans.  
 
Subsequent to the submittal of the fee proposal, staff had a discussion with Ms. Rowe to 
determine an estimate for the rehabilitation of the approximately 1,000 square foot 
structure.  It is estimated that that cost will run approximately $250-$300 per square foot, 
meaning the cost for rehabilitation of the Cuen Building is likely between $260,850 to 
$314,850.   
 
Discussion on viability of the project based on square footage, cost, and end use of the 
building is important.  Staff reached out to the bidders on the Kokopelli Demolition project 
and requested a quote for also demolishing the Cuen building.  At the March 4, 2019 
meeting, based on the information presented, Council voted to include the Cuen building 
as part of the demolition project.  
 
At the April 4, 2019 meeting Tom and Lynn Smith provided comments that they were 
interested in investing to save the Historic Cuen building.   Since that meeting the 
following has occurred. 
 

 Staff toured the Cuen building with the Smith Family 
 Staff held a meeting with the Smith family and Stephanie Rowe to discuss 

details of the potential restoration. 
 Staff and the Smith family reached out to schedule a meeting with the 

McFarland Foundation attorney. 
 Staff reviewed a timeline with the Smith family and discussed terms of the 

Bid Process. 

The bid documents are attached for Council review.   The bid documents will be updated 
after the April 15, 2019 meeting and published in the local paper beginning April 25, 2019. 
Sealed bids will be due on May 28, 2019.  Council award of bid is scheduled for June 3, 
2019.    

 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 
 
A no vote would mean the Town would proceed with the demolition of the Cuen building. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

A yes vote would mean that the Town Council rescinds the order to demolish and instructs 
staff to advertise for a public auction. 



Subject:  Cuen Building -rescind demolition   Meeting Date: April 15, 2019   
Page 4 of 4 

 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Demolishing was estimated to be greater than $10,000.  The cost of advertising as well 
as a time investment for staff to participate in the process to ensure the Council objectives 
are met.  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Bid Document 



 

 

Town of Florence 

 
 

News Release 
April 25, 2019 
 
For Immediate Release 
Contact: Lisa Garcia (520) 868-7552 
 
 
Town to Accept Bids for Cuen Building located at 145 N. Main Street, 
Florence, AZ 
 
The Town of Florence is auctioning the property located at 145 North Main Street 
(Assessor Parcel Number 200-49-0730).  Due to the unstable nature of the 
building, the Town of Florence will not hold an open house.  The building is 
approximately 1,320 square feet, with approximate dimensions of 31 feet by 
42.58 feet. The building is located at the southeast corner of Main Street and 11th 
Street. 
  
The building is considered an important part of the Florence Historic District.  The 
successful bidder must work with the Town of Florence, and particularly the 
Community Development Department and the Historic District Advisory 
Commission on the stabilization and renovation of the historic building located 
within the Town of Florence Historic District.   
 
The Town of Florence will issue deed restrictions with conveyance subject to 
Reverted on the subject parcel as follows (along with additional reversion terms 
deemed necessary by the Town Council): 
 

 Phase 1: The subject building must be stabilized within one year of 
the successful bidder taking title to the building. A one-time thirty-day 
extension to complete the stabilization may be granted by the Town. 
Extensions will be granted upon special circumstances authorized by the 
Town of Florence.  Stabilization, at a minimum, shall mean that the 
building is considered structurally safe and sound though not yet ready for 
occupancy; the building is generally weather-proofed; the pigeon 
infestation is adequately addressed; windows and doors on the building 
are exposed; and exterior walls and roof are repaired, surfaced and 
painted.   

 
 Phase 2: The complete renovation/rehabilitation of the subject 
building must be completed within two years of the successful bidder 



 

 

taking possesion of the building.  A one-time 60-day extension to complete 
the renovation/rehabilitation may be granted by the Town.  Extensions will 
be granted upon special circumstances authorized by the Town of 
Florence.  Renovation/rehabilitation shall mean that the subject structure 
is brought to a condition where the subject building could be occupied.  

 
If the deed restrictions are not met, the ownership of the building and all 
improvements to the building will revert to the Town of Florence. The Town 
Council may require additional deed restrictions it deems necessary in its sole 
discretion. 
 
The Town is accepting sealed bids from now until May 28, 2019, at 11:00 am.  
The minimum acceptable bid price is $5 (USD) due to the savings the Town 
receives by not demolishing the Cuen Building.  The award of the purchase may 
go to the highest and most responsible bidder as determined by the Town 
Council in its sole discretion and may be determined at the June 3, 2019 
Florence Town Council meeting.  
 
In the event that two or more bidders submit a high bid with identical dollar 
amount the Town of Florence shall determine which bidder shall be awarded the 
property by determination of the Town Council in its sole discretion.  The decision 
of the Town of Florence on who to award the property to shall be final. 
 
Anyone interested in bidding on the property can view the full bid package on the 
Town’s website at florenceaz.gov.  For questions about the process, please 
contact Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town Manager/Town Clerk, at (520) 868-7552. 



 

 

REQUEST FOR BIDS 
 
The Town of Florence will accept sealed bids at the office of the Town Clerk; 775 
North Main Street, Florence, Arizona until 11:00 a.m. MST on May 28, 2019, for 
the purchase of the commercial property located at 145 N. Main Street, Florence, 
Arizona.  The property, which is located within the Town of Florence Historic 
District, is known as the Cuen Building. The building is approximately 1,320 
square feet, with approximate dimensions of 31 feet by 42.58 feet. The building is 
located at the southeast corner of Main Street and 11th Street (Assessor Parcel 
Number 200-49-0730).  The minimum bid price accepted is $5; certified check for 
full purchase price is required, no alternative types of bids will be accepted (i.e. 
services or materials in place of cash). 
 
Bid envelops must be clearly marked on the outside lower right hand corner: 
 
Sealed Bid of (Submitter’s Name) 
Property Sale – APN 200-49-0730 
 
It is anticipated that bids will be considered at the Town Council meeting on June 
3, 2019.   The award of the property may go to the highest and most responsible 
bidder as determined by the Town Council in its sole discretion.  The Council 
reserves the right to reject any and all bids for any reason.  Anyone interested in 
bidding on this property may obtain a full bid package at the following location: 
 
Florence Town Hall 
Town Clerk’s Office 
775 N. Main Street 
Florence, Arizona 85132 
 
In the event that two or more bidders submit a high bid with identical dollar 
amount the Town of Florence shall determine which bidder shall be awarded the 
property by a determination of the Town Council in its sole discretion.  The 
decision of the Town of Florence on who to award the property to shall be final. 
 
Bids must be submitted on the Proposal Form provided in the bid package and 
must be accompanied by a cashier’s check payable to the Town of Florence, 
Arizona, for one hundred percent of the total bid amount.  
 
Bidder shall comply with all federal, state, and local nondiscrimination statutes in 
the operation, implementation and delivery of its bid, including state and federal 
civil rights and disabilities laws. 
 
Please note that, prior to the transfer of title, the Town of Florence will issue deed 
restrictions with conveyances subject to Reveter on the subject parcel as follows 
(along with additional revision terms deemed necessary the Town Council): 
 

 Phase 1: The subject building must be stabilized within one year of 
the successful bidder taking title to the building. A one-time thirty-day 
extension to complete the stabilization may be granted by the Town. 
Extensions will be granted upon special circumstances authorized by the 
Town of Florence. Stabilization, at a minimum shall mean that the building 
is considered structurally safe and sound though not yet occupiable; the 



 

 

building is generally weather-proofed; the pigeon infestation is adequately 
addressed; windows and doors on the building are exposed; and exterior 
walls are repaired, surfaced and painted.   

 
 Phase 2: The complete renovation/rehabilitation of the subject 
building must be completed within two years of the successful bidder 
taking possession of the building. A one-time 60-day extension to 
complete the renovation/rehabilitation may be granted by the Town.  
Extensions will be granted upon special circumstances authorized by the 
Town of Florence. Renovation/rehabilitation shall mean that the subject 
structure is brought to a condition where the subject building could be 
occupied.  

 
If the deed restrictions are not met, the ownership of the building and all 
improvements will revert to the Town of Florence. The Town Council may require 
additional deed restriction if deems necessary in its sold discretion.  
 
 
Published Florence Reminder April 25, 2019, May 2 and May 9, 2019.  



 

 

Town of Florence 
Property Sale 

Request for Bids 
 
The Town of Florence is offering a parcel of real property for sale by sealed bids.  
The commercial property located at 145 N. Main Street, Florence, Arizona.  The 
property, formally known as the Cuen Building, is located within the Town of 
Florence Historic District. The building is approximately 1,320 square feet, with 
approximate dimensions of 31 feet by 42.58 feet. The building is located at the 
southeast corner of Main Street and 11th Street. (Assessor Parcel Number 200-
49-0730).  
 
The property is offered for sale under the following conditions: 
 

1. The property is being sold where is, as is, without warranties, or title 
insurance. 

2. The Buyer is responsible for any and all escrow, title insurance, and other 
closing costs. 

3. The minimum acceptable purchase price is $5 (USD). 
4. Each bid shall contain a cashier’s check made payable to the Town of 

Florence in the full amount of the bid.  The Town will hold all checks, 
without cashing, until the Town Council has accepted a bid.  At that time, 
the check from the winning bidder will be cashed and the remaining 
checks will be returned to bidders.  

5. The Town will issue a Special Warranty Deed with Reverter deed to the 
successful bidder upon approval of the Town Council.  The Town will 
record the Special Warranty Deed with Reverter deed with the Pinal 
County Recorder’s Office. 
 

6. The Deed will have at a minimum the following deed restrictions: 
 

a. Phase 1: The subject building must be stabilized within one year of 
the successful bidder taking title to the building. A one-time thirty-
day extension to complete the stabilization may be granted by the 
Town. Extensions will be granted upon special circumstances 
authorized by the Town of Florence. Stabilization, at a minimum 
shall mean that the building is considered structurally safe and 
sound though not yet occupiable; the building is generally weather-
proofed; the pigeon infestation is adequately addressed; windows 
and doors on the building are exposed; and exterior walls are 
repaired, surfaced and painted.   
 

b. Phase 2: The complete renovation/rehabilitation of the subject 
building must be completed within two years of the successful 
bidder taking possession of the building. A one-time 60-day 
extension to complete the renovation/rehabilitation may be granted 
by the Town.  Extensions will be granted upon special 
circumstances authorized by the Town of Florence. 



 

 

Renovation/rehabilitation shall mean that the subject structure is 
brought to a condition where the subject building could be 
occupied.  

 
c. If the deed restrictions are not met, the ownership of the building 

and all improvements will revert to the Town of Florence. 
 

d. The Town Council may require additional deed restrictions it deems 
necessary in its sole discretion.  

 
7. The bid shall be on the form enclosed in this package. 

 
8. Each bid shall be in a sealed envelope with the envelope clearly marked:  

Sealed Sealed Bid of (Submitter’s Name) Property Sale – APN 200-49-
0730. 

 
9. All bids shall be received by the Town of Florence Clerk no later than 

11:00 a.m. MST on May 28, 2019.  At such time bids will be publicly 
opened and read aloud. Any bid received after this time will be returned 
unopened to bidder. 

 
10. The Town of Florence reserves the right to reject any and all bids or to 

waive any informality in the bidding process. 
 

11. In the event that two or more bidders submit a high bid with identical dollar 
amount the Town of Florence shall determine which bidder shall be 
awarded the property by determination of the Town Council in its sole 
discretion.  The decision of the Town of Florence on who to award the 
property to shall be final. 

 
12. The Town of Florence may also reject all bids if there is a tie in the low bid 

amount submitted.  



 

 

AUCTION BID FORM 
Property located at 145 N. Main Street 
 
 
In compliance with the Request for Bids, the undersigned bidder Agrees that the 
property being sold is “Where is, As is”, and will be conveyed by a Special 
Warranty Deed with reverter with restriction set out there in, the deed will contain 
no warranties whatsoever. 
 
Bidder declares that a cashier’s check made payable to the Town of Florence for 
the total bid amount is included in the bid.  
 
Therefore, I the undersigned, offer to pay the following to the Town of Florence, 
to purchase parcel identified as Pinal County Assessor Parcel No. 200-49-0730:   
 
$____________________ 

 
 

PERSONAL INFORMATION 
Name: 

Organization (if applicable): 

Physical Address: 

Mailing Address: 

City, State, Zip: 

Home Phone Number:    Cell Phone Number:   

Email Address:          
  

 :Signature:      Date                    

By submitting the bid, the bidder understands and accepts the deed restrictions 
and any other deed restrictions and reversionary restrictions required by the 
Town of Florence Town Council.  

 
 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
P O Box 2670 

775 N. Main Street 
Florence, AZ 85132 

520-868-7552 
www.florenceaz.gov 

Bidder No. 
 
 
 
 



 

 

 



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM

AGENDA ITEM 
 13a. 

MEETING DATE:  April 15, 2019  
 
DEPARTMENT:   Public Works 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Chris Salas, Public Works Director  
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   
 1st Reading  
Subject:  Resolution No. 1694-19 Dedication of ROW in Vista Hermosa         Meeting Date: April 15, 2019  
Page 1 of 2 
 

SUBJECT:  Resolution No. 1694-19: Dedication of Right-of-
Way in Vista Hermosa   

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

  Community Vitality        Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Motion to adopt Resolution No. 1694-19:  A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, ACCEPTING A PORTION OF THE 
STREETS WITHIN VISA HERMOSA COMMUNITY, ARIZONA BOULEVARD FROM 
THE TOWN’S WEST PROPERTY LINE TO THE INTERSECTION OF IOWA AVENUE, 
IOWA AVENUE FROM THE ARIZONA BOULEVARD INTERSECTION TO THE NORTH 
EDGE OF THE ROAD INTO THE TOWN OWN WATER FACILITY FOR PUBLIC 
ACCESS, CIRCULATION, ROADWAY AND PUBLIC UTILITY PURPOSES AND 
AUTHORIZING EXECUTION BY THE TOWN MANAGER OF SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS.  
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION:  
 
Vista Hermosa Home Owners Association completed all necessary repairs to bring the 
area streets to Town Standards.   The Public Works Department completed an onsite 
inspection and approved the standard of the streets.   
 
Vista Hermosa Home Owners Association held a Home Owners Election and received 
an adequate number of votes to request the Town take ownership of the streets.  The 
records indicate that 85% of the homeowners voted in favor of the Vista Hermosa Home 
Owners Association special ballot issue. 
 
The streets that the Town are accepting are the access points to the Town of Florence 
water tanks.   



Subject:  Resolution No. 1694-19 Dedication of ROW in Vista Hermosa         Meeting Date: April 15, 2019  
Page 2 of 2 
 

A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 
 
That Council has rejected Vista Hermosa’s request to have Town assume future 
responsibilities of roads outlined on map.  
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 
 
That Council accepts Vista Hermosa’s request to have Town assume future 
responsibilities of roads outlined on map.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Once the dedication is complete the Town will assume maintenance of the road.  
 
 ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution No. 1694-19 
Letter from Town Engineer 
Map 
Vista Hermosa Request 
Vista Hermosa Election Tally Sheet 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 1694-19 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, 
ARIZONA, ACCEPTING STREETS WITHIN VISA HERMOSA 
COMMUNITY, ARIZONA BOULEVARD FROM THE TOWN’S WEST 
PROPERTY LINE TO THE INTERSECTION OF IOWA AVENUE, IOWA 
AVENUE FROM THE ARIZONA BOULEVARD INTERSECTION TO THE 
NORTH EDGE OF THE ROAD INTO THE TOWN OWN WATER 
FACILITY FOR PUBLIC ACCESS, CIRCULATION, ROADWAY AND 
PUBLIC UTILITY PURPOSES AND AUTHORIZING EXECUTION BY 
THE TOWN MANAGER OF SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS.  

 
 BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence, Arizona, 
as follows: 
 

1. Accept the streets for public access, circulation, roadway and public utility 
purposes as described in Exhibit A. 

 
2. Authorize execution by the Town Manager of any documentation necessary 

to complete the acceptance of ownership of streets to the Town of Florence.  
 

 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence, 
Arizona, this 15th day of April 2019. 

 
 

  ______________________________ 
    Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST:  APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
___________________________  ______________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk    Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 
 

Vista Hermosa 
Easement Legal 
Project #180086 

Page 1 of 3 
NS 

 
 
 

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 

Exhibit “A” 
 

A portion of land within Vista Hermosa Unit I, replat of Casita Hermosa II Unit I, (Cabinet A, Slide 
128, P.C.R.), and located within Sections 13 & 24, Township 4 South, Range 9 East of the Gila and Salt 
River Meridian, Pinal County, Arizona;  
 
More particularly described as follows: 
 
COMMENCING at a General Land Office Brass Cap marking the Southwest corner of Section 13, from 
which a General Land Office Brass Cap Marking the South quarter corner of Section 13 bears North 
88°48’41” East a distance of 2633.19 feet, Thence North 88°48’41” East along the South line of the 
Southwest quarter of Section 13, a distance of 337.17 feet to THE POINT OF BEGINNING; 

 

Thence North 21°27’39” West, a distance of 37.78 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence North 03°42’03” West, a distance of 97.89 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence North 24°05’58” East, a distance of 79.79 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence North 32°03’58” East, a distance of 70.87 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence North 11°13’49” East, a distance of 60.17 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence North 00°28’55” West, a distance of 183.72 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence North 86°02’51” East, a distance of 37.77 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence South 48°49’56” East, a distance of 30.33 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence South 85°47’20” East, a distance of 81.90 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence South 04°32’14” West, a distance of 27.75 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence North 88°24’16” West, a distance of 81.13 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence South 44°15’02” West, a distance of 21.83 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence South 00°37’19” East, a distance of 110.81 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence South 14°01’13” West, a distance of 86.75 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence South 27°35’34” West, a distance of 139.94 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence South 02°27’37” East, a distance of 84.61 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence South 46°02’53” East, a distance of 21.51 feet to an angle point;  



 
 
 

Vista Hermosa 
Easement Legal 
Project #180086 

Page 2 of 3 
NS 

 
 
 

 
LEGAL DESCRIPTION 
Exhibit “A”(Continued) 

 
 
 

Thence North 89°08’28” East, a distance of 413.33 feet to an angle point; 
 

Thence South 12°25’43” East, a distance of 31.81 feet to an angle point;  
 

Thence South 89°05’21” West, a distance of 461.09 feet to THE POINT OF BEGINING; 
 
Comprising an area of 0.887 acres more or less.  
 











20QU
AL

IT
Y

EXPERIENCE E CELLENCE

X

1979

19

 EXHIBIT "B"
A PORTION OF LAND WITHIN VISTA HERMOSA UNIT 1, REPLAT OF CASITA
HERMOSA II UNIT I,(CABINET A, SLIDE 128, P.C.R.), AND LOCATED WITHIN
SECTIONS 13 & 24, TOWNSHIP 4 SOUTH, RANGE 9 EAST OF THE GILA AND

SALT RIVER MERIDIAN, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA.



EASEMENT
EXHIBIT

A PORTION OF LAND WITHIN VISTA HERMOSA UNIT 1, REPLAT OF

CASITA HERMOSA II UNIT I,(CABINET A, SLIDE 128, P.C.R.), AND

LOCATED WITHIN SECTIONS 13 & 24, TOWNSHIP 4 SOUTH, RANGE 9

EAST OF THE GILA AND SALT RIVER MERIDIAN, PINAL COUNTY,

ARIZONA.

20QUA
LI

TY

EXPERIENCE E CELLENCE

X

1979

19





 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
13b.  

MEETING DATE:  April 15, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Public Works 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Chris Salas, Public Work Director/Town 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   
Subject:  Resolution No. 1695-19 575 E. Ruggles Purchase  Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

Engineer 
 
SUBJECT:  Resolution No. 1695-19: Purchase of Property at 
525 E. Ruggles Street 

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 

Adoption of Resolution No. 1695-19:  A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, 
PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF CERTAIN LAND 
BELONGING TO DAVID MARTIN AND JANE GEAMPA, LOCATED AT 525 E. 
RUGGLES STREET, FLORENCE, ARIZONA, TO BE DEDICATED FOR EXCLUSIVE 
USE BY THE TOWN OF FLORENCE PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT AND OTHER 
MUNICIPAL PROJECTS AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
The Public Works Department requires additional land to grow operations. The lot is 
immediately adjacent to the Public Works yard.   The lot is all of Block 88 of the Town of 
Florence Townsite. The land will be used for a water barn.  The lot will be paid for from 
water and wastewater enterprise funds and added as a Capital Improvement Project. 
 
Additional Terms of the Agreement include the following:  
 

 The seller waived representation. 
 Buyer and Seller agree there shall be no earnest monies. 
 The Buyer will not provide proof of funds for seller review. 
 The contract is contingent upon the simultaneous close of escrow of the 

following property: 



Subject:  Resolution No. 1695-19 575 E. Ruggles Purchase  Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

o 525 E. Ruggles Street, Florence, Arizona.  Parcel # 200-47-057, 
Legal Description: Florence Townsite: All of Block 88. 

o 575 E. Ruggles Street, Florence, Arizona.  Parcel # 200-47-058, 
Legal Description All of Block 89.  

 Buyer and Seller agree to close of Escrow before May 16, 2019 
 Seller agrees to fill out and provide the vacant lot/lot SPDS for buyer to 

review, within five days or less of contract acceptance.  
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

The Town of Florence would not purchase the property. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

The Town of Florence would purchase the property and add a Capital Improvement 
Project to the 2019-20 budget for a Water Barn.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The fiscal impact for the purchase of the property is not to exceed $34,000 from Water 
Enterprise Funds.  The Town agreed to three percent real estate cost. Council will 
approve the Capital Improvement Project as part of the 2019-2020 Fiscal Year Budget. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Resolution No. 1695-19 
Purchase Documents 



Resolution No. 1695-19 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, 
ARIZONA, APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF CERTAIN LAND 
BELONGING TO DAVID MARTIN AND JANE GEAMPA, LOCATED 
AT 525 E. RUGGLES STREET, FLORENCE, ARIZONA, TO BE 
DEDICATED FOR EXCLUSIVE USE BY THE TOWN OF FLORENCE 
PUBLIC WORKS RELATED OPERATIONS AND OTHER MUNICIPAL 
USES AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 
 

 WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence, Arizona, have 
determined that the Town is in need of additional land to be used for Public Works related 
operations and other municipal purposes; and 

 WHEREAS, David Martin and Jane Geampa have agreed to sell Parcel Number 
200-47-057, located at 525 E. Ruggles Street, Florence, Arizona, which is adjacent to the 
Town of Florence Public Works Department; and 

 WHEREAS, based upon the contract documents for the sale of the property, the 
purchase is in the best interest of the Town of Florence.    

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Town Manager is hereby 
authorized to execute any and all documents necessary to complete the purchase of said 
property described in Exhibit “A” for the purchase price in an amount not to exceed 
$34,000.  

 IT IS HEREBY FURTHER RESOLVED that said land is to be dedicated for the 
exclusive use of the Town of Florence for Public Works related to operations and other 
municipal uses.  

 FINALLY, IT IS HEREBY DETERMINED by the Mayor and Council  the immediate 
operation of the provisions of this Resolution is necessary for the preservation of the 
public peace, health and safety, particularly to immediately close on the sale of the real 
property necessary for the real property necessary for the Town’s public works 
operations, and an emergency is hereby declared to exist, and this resolution will be in 
full force and effect from and after its passage by the Mayor and Common Council of the 
Town and it is hereby excepted from the referendum provisions of the constitution and 
laws of the state of Arizona.  

 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of 
Florence, Arizona, this ____ day of _____, 2019.  

       ________________________________  
       Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________  ________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk    Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 
 



EXHIBIT “A” 

 

Property located at 525 E. Ruggles Street, Florence, Arizona 85132.  Parcel Number 
200-47-0570. Legal Description:  All of Block 88 of Florence Town Site.  







































































PA
RK

W
AR

NE
R

SI
LV

ER

RUGGLES

6TH

CE
NT

ER

FOREMAN
Str e e ts

Major Road
Local
Parcel Boundary

/
0 100 20050

Feet
Date  Cre ate d: 4/8/2019vc Date  Modified: 4/8/2019

APN 200-47-0570
525 E Ruggle s St

This map is cre ated for re fe r e nce purpose s only and is to
be use d at your ow n risk.  The Tow n of Flore nce make s
no w ar ranty as to the  accuracy or comple te ne ss of the
information contained in this map and assume s no
liability for any e r rors or omissions contained the r ein, nor
for any dire ct, indire ct, or conseque ntial damage s Which
may be cause d by its use .  It is the  use r’s re sponsibility to
ve rify all information contained he re in.

525 E Ruggles St



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
 13c. 

MEETING DATE:  April 15, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Public Works 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Chris Salas, Public Work Director/Town 
Engineer 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  
nd
Subject:  575 E. Ruggles Purchase   Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

 
SUBJECT:  Resolution No. 1696-19: Purchase of Property 

 2  Reading 
 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 

Adoption of Resolution No. 1696-19:  A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, 
PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF CERTAIN LANDS 
BELONGING TO DARRELL PETERSON, LOCATED AT 575 E. RUGGLES STREET, 
FLORENCE, ARIZONA, TO BE DEDICATED FOR EXCLUSIVE USE BY THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE PUBLIC WORKS DEPARTMENT AND OTHER MUNICIPAL PROJECTS 
AND DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
The Public Works Department requires additional land to grow operations. The lot is 
immediately adjacent to the Public Works yard.   The lot is all of Block 89 of the Florence 
Townsite. The land will be used for a recycling station as well as additional water and 
wastewater storage needs.  The lot will be paid for from sanitation, water and wastewater 
enterprise funds and added as a capital improvement project.   
 
Additional Terms of the agreement include the following:  
 

 The seller waived representation. 
 Buyer and Seller agree there shall be no earnest monies. 
 The Buyer will not provide proof of funds for seller review. 
 The contract is contingent upon the simultaneous close of escrow of the 

following property: 



Subject:  575 E. Ruggles Purchase   Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

o 525 E. Ruggles Street, Florence, Arizona.  Parcel # 200-47-057, 
Legal Description: Florence Townsite: All of Block 88. 

o 575 E. Ruggles Street, Florence, Arizona.  Parcel # 200-47-058, 
Legal Description All of Block 89.  

 Buyer and Seller agree to close of Escrow before May 16, 2019 
 Seller agrees to fill out and provide the vacant lot/lot SPDS for buyer to 

review, within 5 days or less of contract acceptance.  
 
RAD trash and recycling containers that can be seen from Main Street will be moved from 
Heritage Park to this site.  Town will advertise the site as a place for the citizens to dispose 
of waste.  
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

The Town of Florence would not purchase the property. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

The Town of Florence would purchase the property and add a Capital Improvement 
Project to the 2019-20 budget.    
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The fiscal impact for the purchase of the property is not to exceed $22,000 from the 
Enterprise Funds, equally divided between sanitation, water, and wastewater funds.   The 
Town agreed to three percent real estate cost. Council will approve the Capital 
Improvement Project as part of the 2019-2020 Fiscal Year Budget. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Resolution No. 1696-19 
Purchase Documents 



Resolution No. 1696-19  

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, 
ARIZONA, APPROVING THE PURCHASE OF CERTAIN LANDS 
BELONGING TO DARRELL PETERSON, LOCATED AT 525 E. 
RUGGLES ROAD, FLORENCE, ARIZONA, TO BE DEDICATED FOR 
EXCLUSIVE USE BY THE TOWN OF FLORENCE PUBLIC WORKS 
RELATED OPERATION AND OTHER MUNICIPAL USES AND 
DECLARING AN EMERGENCY. 

 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence have determined that 
the Town is in need of additional land to be used for Public Works related operations and 
other municipal purposes; and 

 WHEREAS, Darrell Peterson has agreed to sell Parcel Number 200-47-0580, 
located at 575 E. Ruggles Road, Florence, Arizona, which are adjacent to the Town of 
Florence Public Works Department; and 

 WHEREAS, based upon the contract documents for the sales of the property the 
purchase is in the best interest of the Town of Florence.    

 NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Town Manager is hereby 
authorized to execute any and all documents necessary to complete the purchase of said 
property described in Exhibit “A” for the purchase price in an amount not to exceed 
$24,000.  

 IT IS HEREBY FURTHER RESOLVED that said land is to be dedicated for the 
exclusive use of the Town of Florence for Public Works and other municipal uses.  

 FINALLY, IT IS HEREBY DETERMINED by the Mayor and Council  the immediate 
operation of the provisions of this Resolution is necessary for the preservation of the 
public peace, health and safety, particularly to immediately close on the sale of the real 
property necessary for the real property necessary for the Town’s public works 
operations, and an emergency is hereby declared to exist, and this resolution will be in 
full force and effect from and after its passage by the Mayor and Common Council of the 
Town and it is hereby excepted from the referendum provisions of the constitution and 
laws of the state of Arizona.  

 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of 
Florence, Arizona, this ____ day of _____, 2019.  

       ________________________________  
       Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
_____________________________  ________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk    Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 



EXHIBIT A 
 

Property located at 575 E. Ruggles Road, Florence, Arizona 85132.  Parcel Number 
200-47-0580.  Legal description:  All of Block 89 of Florence Townsite, Map Page 1.  

 





































































8TH

3RD

KI
NG

6TH

W
AR

NE
R

RUGGLES

SI
LV

ER

CE
NT

ER

FOREMAN
Str e e ts

Major Road
Local
Parcel Boundary

/
0 100 20050

Feet
Date  Cre ate d: 4/8/2019vc Date  Modified: 4/8/2019

APN 200-47-0580
575 E Ruggle s St

This map is cre ated for re fe r e nce purpose s only and is to
be use d at your ow n risk.  The Tow n of Flore nce make s
no w ar ranty as to the  accuracy or comple te ne ss of the
information contained in this map and assume s no
liability for any e r rors or omissions contained the r ein, nor
for any dire ct, indire ct, or conseque ntial damage s Which
may be cause d by its use .  It is the  use r’s re sponsibility to
ve rify all information contained he re in.

575 E Ruggles St



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM 
13d. 

MEETING DATE:  April 15, 2019  
 
DEPARTMENT:  One Stop Shop 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Lisa Garcia/James Allen/John Kemp 
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  
Subject:   Presentation 2012 IBC Codes                                                            Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

SUBJECT:  Resolution No. 1693-19: Adoption of the 2012 
International Building Codes and Declaring Said Codes a Public 
Record 

 2nd Reading 
  Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality        Economic Prosperity   Leadership and Governance     
 Partnership and Relationships         Transportation and Infrastructure 
 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Adoption of Resolution No. 1693-19:   A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, 
PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, DECLARING AS A PUBLIC RECORD CERTAIN TECHNICAL 
CODE DOCUMENTS FILED WITH THE TOWN CLERK AND ENTITLED “2012 
INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL EXISTING BUILDING CODE”, 
“2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL FUEL GAS CODE”, “2012 
INTERNATIONAL MECHANICAL CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE”, “2012 
INTERNATIONAL PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE”,   “2012 INTERNATIONAL 
RESIDENTIAL CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL SWIMMING POOL AND SPA CODE”, “2012 
INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE” “2011 NATIONAL ELECTRIC CODE”, 
AND THE 2009 “ACCESSIBLE AND USABLE BUILDINGS & FACILITIES CODE” (Lisa 
Garcia) 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
Building Codes are a set of rules that detail the minimum acceptable level of safety for 
erected Structures. The main purpose of the codes is to protect public health, safety and 
general welfare as it relates to construction and occupancy of building and structures. 
Once adopted the code becomes the formal regulation of the Town and is considered 
standard building practice. 
 
At the recommendation of the International Code Council (ICC), an association of building 
professionals which establish building and construction standards, the Town of Florence 
is taking steps toward updating and implementing 2012 International Building Codes to 
improve Town building standards. The International Codes (I-Codes) provide minimum 
building safeguards for commercial, residential, and institutional structures benefiting 



Subject:   Presentation 2012 IBC Codes                                                            Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

public safety and creating a building standard across the country without jurisdictional 
limitations. The I - Codes have been adopted in all fifty states and the District of Columbia; 
these codes are utilized at the local, state, and Federal level and have become the 
accepted practice in building construction. 
 
ICC Building Codes are updated every 3 years and can have significant impact on how 
future development is regulated within a Town or City. 
 
The Town of Florence has spent the past 18 months dedicated to: 
 Crafting necessary amendments to the 2012 ICC 
 Ensuring that our amendments are user and customer friendly with regard to 

understanding and life safety specific information and regulations 
 Cleaning up deficiencies and ambiguities in the 2006 ICC by way of removing 

sections that were no longer needed due to changes in the new Code 
 Adding language specifically applicable to the community we live in 
 Attempting to standardize requirements, as much as possible, to properly 

implement a "One Stop Shop" that will make it easier for the public and the building 
trades to work in this area, without compromising life safety 

 Come up with a product that would be understandable, enforceable, and life 
safety oriented while taking into consideration our customers' needs 
 

The attached document is for informational purposes only and includes a list of significant 
changes between the 2006 and 2012 International Codes. 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 
 
A no vote would mean that the Town of Florence will not proceed at this time with adopting the 
2012 Codes.  
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 
 
A yes vote would mean that that Town of Florence has adopted the 2012 Technical Codes by 
reference and may move forward in the adoption process. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
If the codes are successfully update the Town will need to advertise the adoption ordinance as 
well as codify the Exhibit of the Resolution into the Code of Ordinances. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
Resolution No. 1693-19 
Exhibit A 
Code Handout (changes from 2016 to 2012) 
PowerPoint  



RESOLUTION NO. 1693-19 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, 
DECLARING AS A PUBLIC RECORD CERTAIN TECHNICAL CODE 
DOCUMENTS FILED WITH THE TOWN CLERK AND ENTITLED “2012 
INTERNATIONAL BUILDING CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL EXISTING 
BUILDING CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL FIRE CODE”, “2012 
INTERNATIONAL FUEL GAS CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL MECHANICAL 
CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL PLUMBING CODE”, “2012 INTERNATIONAL 
PROPERTY MAINTENANCE CODE”,   “2012 INTERNATIONAL RESIDENTIAL 
CODE”,   , “2012 INTERNATIONAL SWIMMING POOL AND SPA CODE”, “2012 
INTERNATIONAL ENERGY CONSERVATION CODE” “2011 NATIONAL 
ELECTRIC CODE”, AND THE 2009 “ACCESSIBLE AND USABLE BUILDINGS & 
FACILITIES CODE”  

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and Council of the Town 

of Florence, Arizona, that certain documents entitled “2012 International Building Code”, 
“2012 International Performance Code”, “2012 International Existing Building Code”, “2012 
International Fire Code”, “2012 International Fuel Gas Code”, “2012 International 
Mechanical Code”, “2012 International Plumbing Code”,  “2012 International Property 
Maintenance Code”, “2012 International Residential Code”, “2012 International Swimming 
Pool and Spa Code”, “2012 International Energy Conservation Code” “2011 National 
Electric Code”, and the “2009 Accessible and Usable Buildings and Facilities Code”,   one 
copy of which are on file in the office of the Town Clerk, are hereby declared to be public 
records, and said copies are ordered to remain on file with the Town Clerk. 

 
NOW THEREFORE BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED by the Mayor and Council of 

the Town of Florence, Arizona, that certain documents Titled Technical Codes, attached 
as “Exhibit A”, one copy of which are on file in the office of the Town Clerk, are hereby 
declared to be public records, and said copy is ordered to remain on file with the Town 
Clerk and will be codified in the Code of Ordinance.  

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence, 

Arizona, this ______ day of ________ 2019. 
 
 
 

 

Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST: APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 
 
 
 

  

Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 



 

Technical Codes    Page 1 of 37 
 

 

Exhibit A  
TOWN OF FLORENCE  

CODE OF ORDINANCES 
TECHNICAL CODES 

 

§ 150.300 CODES ADOPTED  

 
A.  The Following publications are adopted by reference. 

 
1. Accessible and Usable Buildings and Facilities ICC A117.1, 2009 Edition 

Standards  
2. International Building Code, 2012 Edition, with Appendix C & I; 
3. International Energy Conservation Code, 2012 Edition is voluntary; 
4. International Existing Building Code, 2012 Edition; 
5. International Fire Code, 2012 Edition, with Appendix B, C, D, E, F, G, H & I 
6. International Fuel Gas Code, 2012 Edition; 
7. International Mechanical Code, 2012 Edition; 
8. International Plumbing Code, 2012 Edition 
9. International Property Maintenance Code, 2012 Edition; 
10. International Residential Code, 2012 Edition, with Appendix G, H & P; 
11. International Swimming Pool and Spa Code, 2012 Edition; 
12. National Electrical Code, 2011 Edition; 

 
B. Addendums and alternatives to the Technical Codes shall be as follows:  
 
1. Accessible and Usable Buildings and Facilities ICC A117.1, 2009 Edition;  

 
a) Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the ”name of the 

jurisdiction.” 
 

2. International Building Codes, 2012 Edition shall be as follows: 
 
a) Section (A) 101.1 Title. shall be amended by inserting the jurisdictional name of 

Town of Florence. 
 

b) Section 101.2.1 Appendices.  The following appendices shall adopted as part of 
this code by the Town of Florence: Appendices C and I, as added. 
 

c) Section 101.4.3 Plumbing.  Amend by deleting the last sentence of the 
paragraph. 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 2 of 37 
 

d) Section 105.2 Work exempt from a permit.  Building, amend items 1 and 2 to 
read as follows: 
 
i. One-story detached accessory structures used as tool and storage sheds, play 

houses and similar uses, provided the floor area is not greater than 200 
square feet. 
 

ii. Fences not over 7 feet at the highest point to allow for decorative fence 
column or post features such as light fixtures, post caps, etc., the main fence 
height between the columns or posts shall be a maximum 6 feet high.   (Tab in 
as originally set up) 

 
e) Section 105.5 Expiration.  Amend to read, “Expiration of permit, extension.” 

Amend to read as follows:   Every permit issued shall become invalid unless 
substantial work, as determined by the Building Official, and authorized by such 
permit is commenced and required inspections are requested by the permittee 
and approved by the Building Official within 180 days after its issuance, or if 
more than 180 days elapses between approval of required inspections.  The 
Building Official shall be authorized to grant one or more extensions of time for a 
period not to exceed 180 days.  All requests for extensions shall be in writing.  As 
determined by the Building Official, a grace period of 30 days after expiration 
may be granted.  A reinstatement fee will be assessed after the 30-day grace 
period based on ½ of the original permit fee.  A permit shall not be reinstated if 
permit has been expired more than 180 days.   A new application shall be 
submitted and new full permit fee shall be paid based on the current fee schedule 
adopted by the Town. 
 
i. Section 109.4 Work commencing before permit issuance.  Amend by 

adding a sentence at the end of paragraph to read as follows:  This fee, as 
determined by the Building Official, shall be no greater than to two times the 
amount of the permit fee based on the current fee schedule adopted by the 
Town. 

 
f) Section 109.6 Refunds.  Amend by adding Subsection 109.6.1 Refund Policy, 

to read as follows:  The Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding 
of a fee paid hereunder which was erroneously paid or collected. The Building 
Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of not more than 80 percent of 
the plan review fee paid when an application for a permit for which a plan review 
fee has been paid is withdrawn or cancelled before any examination time has 
been expended.  Plan review fees shall not be refunded once the examination of 
plans has started.  Refunds shall be requested by written application and filed by 
the original permittee not later than 30 days after the date of fee payment. 

 



 

Technical Codes    Page 3 of 37 
 

The Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of not more than 80 
percent of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a permit 
issued in accordance with this code.  
 

g) Section 109.7 Re-inspection fees. New Subsection added to read as follows:  
 
Re-inspection fees, as determined by the Building Official, may be assessed for 
each inspection or re-inspection when such portion of work, for which an 
inspection is called, has not completed or when corrections called for are not 
made.  This section is not to be interpreted as requiring fees for the first time an 
inspection is rejected due to failure to comply with the requirements of the code, 
but as a means of controlling the practice of calling for inspections before the job 
is ready for such inspection(s) or re-inspection(s). 
 
A re-inspection fee may be assessed when the inspection record card is not 
posted or otherwise available on the work site, the approved plans are not readily 
available to the Inspector, for failure to provide access on the date for which 
inspection is requested, or for work performed deviating from approved permitted 
plans. In instances where re-inspection fees have been accessed, no additional 
inspection(s) shall be scheduled until the required fees have been paid in 
accordance with the fee policy established by the Building Official.  
 

h) Section 111.3 Temporary occupancy.  Amend to read as follows: If the 
Building Official finds that no substantial hazard will result from occupancy of any 
building or portion thereof before the same is completed or before all required on-
site and off-site improvements are completed, a Temporary Certificate of 
Occupancy (TCO) may be issued for the use of a portion or portions of a building 
or structure prior to the completion of the entire building or structure.  The TCO 
will be issued for a finite period of time, but in no event for more than sixty (60) 
calendar days.  The TCO may be renewed if satisfactory progress has been 
made toward completion of outstanding items.  The length of any renewal period 
will be determined at the sole discretion of the Building Official based on the 
amount of work remaining, but the extension shall not exceed sixty (60) 
additional days.  If the TCO and any extensions expire without completion of all 
outstanding items, the matter will be referred to Code Compliance for 
Enforcement.  Upon satisfaction of the outstanding items on the TCO, a 
Certificate of Occupancy will be issued. 
 

i) Section 111.4 Revocation.  Amend by adding Subsection 111.4.1 Unoccupied 
or Vacant structure to read as follows: 
 
i. The Building Official is authorized to, in writing, suspend or revoke a 

certificate of occupancy when a tenant space, building or structure has been 
determined to be vacant or unoccupied for a period of 24 months or 



 

Technical Codes    Page 4 of 37 
 

occupied and utilized outside the use or occupancy of current occupancy 
classification group. A new certificate of Occupancy shall be required and 
the tenant space, building or structure must meet all current ADA 
accessibility, building and fire codes as adopted, prior to reoccupying.  

 
ii. The Building Official is authorized to, in writing, suspend or revoke a 

certificate of occupancy when a tenant space, building or structure has been 
determined to be vacant, abandoned or unoccupied with any or all utilities 
disconnected for a period of 24 months. A new certificate of Occupancy 
shall be required and the tenant space, building or structure must meet all 
current ADA accessibility, building and fire codes as adopted, prior to 
reoccupying.  

 
j) Section 113 Board of Appeal. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: In 

order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by 
the Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical 
codes, there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall 
have the right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals 
pursuant to section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 
 

 
k) Section 202 Definitions Amend by adding the following definitions as 

follows: 
 
ABANDONED. A building that is no longer used or occupied by its owner or 
other legally permitted occupant. Evidence of building being abandoned includes 
any two of the following: lack of visible activity or use; overgrown or dead 
vegetation; accumulation of trash, junk or debris; absence of furnishings; 
evidence of criminal mischief of criminal trespass; evidence of dilapidation, 
decay, damage, deterioration; nonpayment or disconnection of utilities. 
 
VACANT. A building that is no longer used or occupied by its owner or other 
legally permitted occupant 
 

l) Section 310.5 Residential Group R-3. Amend by revising the last item of the list 
of R-3 occupancies to read as follows:  Congregate living facilities with 5 or fewer 
persons.  Where these facilities occur in a single family home, shall be permitted 
to comply with the International Residential Code. 
 

m) Section 310.5.1 Care facilities within a dwelling.  Amend by deleting the text 
“provide an automatic sprinkler system is installed in accordance with Section 
909.3.1.3 or with Section P2904 of the International Residential Code. 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 5 of 37 
 

n) Chapter 9, Fire Protection, is deleted in its entirety and in its place and stead 
the Town of Florence will use the 2012 International Fire Code, Chapter 9, Fire 
Protection Section and adopted Chapter 9 Code amendments.    

 
o) Table 1004.1.2 Maximum Floor Area Allowances per Occupant.  Amend by 

deleting, “Exercise rooms, 50 gross” and replacing with, “Exercise rooms with 
fixed equipment, 50 gross” and “Exercise rooms without fixed equipment, 15 
gross”. 
 

p) Section 1008.1.9.3 Locks and latches. Amend Sub item 2.2 of item 2 to read 
as follows: A readily visible durable sign is posted on the egress side on or 
adjacent to the door stating: THIS DOOR IS TO REMAIN UNLOCKED WHEN 
BUILDING IS OCCUPIED, or THIS DOOR MUST REMAIN UNLOCKED 
DURING BUSINESS HOURS. The sign shall be in letters 1 inch (25.4 mm) high 
on a contrasting background. 
 

q) Section 1704.2.1 Special Inspector qualifications.  Amend to read as follows: 
The registered design professional in responsible charge and engineers of record 
involved in the design of the project are permitted to act as the approved agency 
and their personnel are permitted to act as the special inspector for the work 
designed by them. 
 

r) Section 2304.11.6 Termite protection.  Amend by adding new paragraphs after 
the last sentence as follows: Within the perimeter of the foundation of any 
building which requires a building permit, the base course of all fill which is used 
to support a concrete slab shall be treated against termite infestation. The soil 
treatment shall be applied by a duly licensed applicator in accordance with the 
rules and regulations of the Arizona Pest Control Commission.  Termite retardant 
chemicals shall be applied prior to placing the concrete. If the soil has been 
treated and the fill is disturbed prior to pouring the slab, or if the concrete is not 
poured within the time limit specified for the chemical used, the soil must be 
retreated according to the same standards. If a concrete slab has been pour prior 
to pre-treatment, the site must be treated in accordance with the rules and 
regulations references herein above. Certification of such soil treatment shall be 
furnished to the building official and shall include the name of the applicator, 
state license number, chemical used, time and location and length of warranty.  
Exception: Buildings accessory to Group R. Division 3 and buildings with floors 
and walls built of metal, masonry, concrete or other non-wood product.  
 

s) Section 2902 [P] Table 2902.1 Minimum Number of Required Plumbing 
Fixtures.  Amend by adding footnote (h) as follows: Within individual Group B or 
M occupancy tenant suites ADA accessible bottled water dispenser may 
substitute for an ADA accessible drinking fountain when the occupant load is 50 
or less.  



 

Technical Codes    Page 6 of 37 
 

 
3. International Energy Conservation Code, 2012 Edition,  
 

a) Section C101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 
jurisdiction. 
 

b) Section C101.4  Applicability. Add the following sentence.  All references to 
mandatory shall be referred to as recommended.  
 

c) Section C104.2 Required approvals. Deleted in its entirety. 
 

d) Section C104.3 Final inspection. Deleted in its entirety. 
 

e) Section C104.4 Re-inspection. Deleted in its entirety. 
 

f) Section C109 Board of Appeals. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: In 
order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by the 
Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical codes, 
there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the 
right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to 
section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 
 

g) Section C407.2 Mandatory Requirements. Deleted in its entirety. 
 

h) Section R101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 
jurisdiction. 
 

i) Section R101.4  Applicability. Add the following sentence.  All references to 
mandatory shall be referred to as recommended 

 
j) Section R104.2 Required approvals. Deleted in its entirety. 

 
k) Section R104.3 Final inspection. Deleted in its entirety. 

 
l) Section R104.4 Re-inspection. Deleted in its entirety 

 

m) Section R405.2 Mandatory Requirements. Deleted in its entirety. 
 

 
4.  International Existing Building Code, 2012 Edition  
  

a) Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 
jurisdiction. 



 

Technical Codes    Page 7 of 37 
 

 
b) Section 112 Board of Appeals. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: In 

order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by the 
Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical codes, 
there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the 
right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to 
section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 

 
5.  International Fire Code, 2012 Edition 
 

a) Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 
jurisdiction. 
 

b) Section 101.2.1 Appendices. The following appendices are adopted as part of 
this code by the Town of Florence: Appendices B, C, D, E, F, G, H,  and I as added. 
 

c) Section [A] 102.6 Historic buildings.  [A] Section 102.6 Historic buildings. 
Amend by adding the words “and the currently adopted Fire Protection Plan and 
Fire Code Amendments.” 
 

d) Section [A] 105 Permits.  [A] Section 105 Permits, Section 105.1.1,  Amend by 
adding Subsection  
 

e) Section [A] 105.1.4 Permits required, to read as follows:   It shall be unlawful for 
any person, firm or corporation to use a building or premises or engage in any 
activities for which a permit is determined to be required by the Code Officials 
without having first obtained such permit from the Community Development  
Department.  
 

f) Section [A] 105.4 Construction documents. Add new Sub-section [A] 105.4.7 
Construction Documents to read as follows: Shall be provided in an approved 
electronic file format (PDF) upon request by the Fire Code Official.     
 

g) Section [A] 105.7.17 Limited Access Gates. Add New section as follows: A 
construction permit is required to install or alter all gates, which obstruct a fire 
apparatus access road and shall be approved by the Fire Code Official.   
 

h) Section (A) 108 Board of Appeals. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: 
In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by 
the Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical 
codes, there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall 
have the right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals 
pursuant to section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 

 



 

Technical Codes    Page 8 of 37 
 

 
i) Section [A] 113.3 Work commencing before permit issuance. Delete in its 

entirety and replace as follows: Any person who commences any work, activity or 
operation regulated by this code before obtaining the necessary permits shall be 
liable for two times the cost of the normal assessed permit fees. 
 

j) Section 202.  GENERAL DEFINITIONS amend by adding the following 
definitions as follows: 
 
ABANDONED. A building that is no longer used or occupied by its owner or other 
legally permitted occupant. Evidence of building being abandoned includes any 
two of the following: lack of visible activity or use; overgrown or dead vegetation; 
accumulation of trash, junk or debris; absence of furnishings; evidence of criminal 
mischief of criminal trespass; evidence of dilapidation, decay, damage, 
deterioration; nonpayment or disconnection of utilities. 
 
AIRBORNE LANTERNS. A device or any similar device designed to carry an open 
flame such as a small candle or fuel cell composed of flammable material as an 
airborne light. When lit, the flame heats the air inside the lantern lowering its 
density and causing the lantern to rise into the air. 
 
ALL WEATHER SURFACE. An all-weather surfaces (AW) is a road surface 
graded to drain standing water and engineered to bear the imposed loads of fire 
apparatus. The minimum surface shall be made up of materials compacted to 90% 
over an approved base. Alternate methods may be approved when designed and 
sealed by a professional engineer and approved by the Town Engineering 
Department and Fire Code Official.   
      
COMMERCIAL OCCUPANCY. A Commercial Occupancy is any building that falls 
under the International Building Code (IBC) occupancy classification. 
CROWD MANAGER: A person responsible for defining his/her establishment’s 
emergency plan for evacuation. He or she is also responsible for ensuring that the 
employees properly understand their roles in crowd management is assisting 
directing the crowd in an orderly manner for evacuation. 
 
FIRE PROTECTION PLAN.  Fire/life safety mitigation measures that involve a 
combination of fire prevention procedures provided in designated historic buildings 
and structures and shall be provided in accordance of the Fire Code Official.  
 
GRADE. Grade is the degree of inclination of a slope, road, or other surface 
approved by the Engineering Department. (See slope).    
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 9 of 37 
 

HARD SURFACE. Hard Surface is a drive surface of concrete, asphalt, or pavers 
designed to support vehicles in excess of 85,000 pounds GVW under any weather 
condition. 
 
HOSE LAY. Hose Lay is the extension of a hand-held fire hose as it is extended 
around the perimeter of the structure.  
 
PREEMPTION DEVICE. A listed and approved electronic device that receives a 
signal compatible with transmitters on emergency vehicles and that is used to 
automatically open or close fire apparatus access gates and all traffic control 
devices. 
 
REPAIR. Repair of any fire protection equipment is a “like for like” replacement of 
a component. The component replaced must be from the same manufacturer and 
be the same model and part number.  
 
REPLACEMENT. Replacement of any fire protection system component must be 
by the same manufacturer, the same model and part number. Replacement of a 
component by a different manufacturer, model or part number due to obsolescence 
is considered an upgrade.  
 
SECURITY GATE. Any manual or electronically operated gate that limits or 
restricts public access to or from a property. 
 
STANDBY PERSONNEL. Qualified fire service personnel, approved by the Fire 
Chief. When utilized, the number required shall be as directed by the Fire Chief. 
Charges for utilization shall be calculated by the Town approved fee schedule. 
 
TURN-A-ROUND. A turn-a-round is required for emergency vehicles when the 
structure is more than 200 feet from the road. This can be accomplished with a 
circle drive when designed and sealed by a professional engineer and approved 
by the Town Engineering Department and Fire Code Official.  
 
WIRELESS PROTECTION SYSTEM. A system or a part of a system that can 
transmit and receive signals without the aid of interconnection wiring. It can consist 
of either a wireless control unit or a wireless repeater.  
 
VACANT. A building that is no longer used or occupied by its owner or other legally 
permitted occupant 
 

k) Section 307.2.1 Open Burning, Recreational, Fires and Portable Outdoor 
Fireplaces:  Authorization. Delete in its entirety and replace to read as flows: No 
fire shall be kindled or any weeds or debris burned on any premises, street, alley 
vacant lot or agricultural land within the Town limits without first obtaining a permit 



 

Technical Codes    Page 10 of 37 
 

from the Pinal County Department of Air Pollution Control followed by issuance of 
a fire department Open Burning permit pursuant to IFC Section 105.6.30. Permits 
shall incorporate such terms and conditions which will reasonably safeguard public 
safety and property. Outdoor fires shall not be built, ignited or maintained in or 
upon hazardous fire areas under the following conditions:  

 
i. When high winds are blowing. 
ii. When a person age 18 or over is not present at all times to watch and tend 

fire. 
iii. When public announcement is made that open burning is prohibited. 
iv. When restricted by the fire code official. 

 
l) Section 308.1.2.1 Open Flames: Airborne Lanterns. Add new sub section as 

follows: The lighting and the release of airborne lanterns shall be prohibited. 
 
m) Section 308.1.4 Open Flame: Open Flame Cooking Devices. Amend to read as 

follows: Charcoal burners, chimneys, barbecues fixed or portable, and other open-
flame cooking devices shall not be operated on combustible balconies or within 10 
feet of combustible construction.  Exceptions: 1. One- and two- family 
dwellings. 2. Where buildings, balconies, and decks are protected by an automatic 
sprinkler system.  3. Deleted in its entirety. 

 
n) Section 308.3.3 Open Flames by adding new subsection titled Audience 

control. The audience shall be at least 30 feet away from the closest projection of 
an open flame device. Audience control shall be established by use of a physical 
barrier which can be easily moved or removed in the event of an emergency and 
shall remain in place throughout the entire performance.  
 

o) Section 308.3.4 Open Flames by adding new subsection titled Attendant. 
Performances shall be constantly attended by a person knowledgeable in the use 
of a fire extinguisher at the rate of at least 1 attendant for every 2 active devices. 
Attendants shall remain at the performance until all the fire has been extinguished.  
 

p) Section 308.3.5 Open Flames by adding new subsection titled Fire 
Extinguishers. Adequate fire extinguishing equipment including but not limited to 
buckets of water, water soaked rags, water extinguishers, charged hose lines, shall 
be readily available for use during the performance. Portable fire extinguishers 
shall be provided at a minimum of one 20BC extinguisher for every four 
simultaneous devices.  
 

q) Section 308.3.6 Open Flames by adding new subsection titled Clearance 
from Combustibles. A 25-foot clearance from all combustibles shall be 
maintained in all directions. 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 11 of 37 
 

r) Section 311.2.2 Fire Protection. Section 311 shall be amended to delete 
Exceptions 1 and 2 under Section 311.2.2. 
 

s) Section 319 by adding a new section titled Heat Producing Appliances. 
 

t)  Section 319.1 Heat Producing Appliances General by adding a new sub 
section titled General. Heating appliances shall be installed and maintained in 
accordance with their listing and the Building, Electrical, and Mechanical codes. 
Clearance from combustible material shall be maintained as set forth in the 
Building and Mechanical codes and the product listing.  
 

u) Section 319.2 1 Heat Producing Appliances General by adding a new sub 
section titled Clothes Dryers. Commercial grade clothes dryers shall be 
frequently cleaned to maintain the lint trap, exhaust vents, mechanical and heating 
components free from excessive accumulations of lint.  
 
EXCEPTION: Clothes dryers within private dwelling units of Group R occupancies. 

 
v) Section 401.1. Emergency Scope. Shall be amended by deleting the exception 

in its entirety. 
 

w) Section 403.3 Planning and Preparedness: Crowd Managers. Shall be 
amended and shall read as follows: crowd managers shall be provided for all public 
assembly occupancies or events with an occupant load of 250 or more and outdoor 
events with 1000 or more people. The minimum number of crowd managers shall 
be established at a ratio of one crowd manager to every 250 persons. 
 

x) Section 501 Fire Service Features: General.  Sub-Section 501.3 Construction 
Documents. Shall be amended to read as follows: Construction documents for 
proposed fire apparatus access, location of fire lanes, means of egress, shop 
drawings for fire protection systems, hydraulic calculations for fire hydrants and 
suppression systems, shall be submitted to the Town of Florence, Community 
Department, for review and approval prior to construction.  
 

y) Section 503 Fire Apparatus Access Roads. Subsection 503.1 Where required, 
shall be deleted in its entirety and replaced with subsection 503.1 as follows: Fire 
apparatus access roads shall be provided and maintained in accordance with 
Subsections 503.1.1 through 503.1.3 and Appendix D. 
 

z) Section 503.1.4 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Temporary Fire Department 
Access, Shall be added new to read as follows: Temporary Fire Department 
access shall comply with Fire Department requirements. No combustible 
construction on any project may proceed until such time as the water supply, 



 

Technical Codes    Page 12 of 37 
 

proper signage and temporary access road have been approved by the Fire Code 
Official. 
 

aa) Section 503.2.5 Fire Apparatus Access Roads. Dead ends. Shall be amended 
to read as follows: Dead-end Fire Apparatus Access Roads in excess of 150 feet 
or non-fire sprinklered structures and 300 feet for fully sprinklered structures in 
length shall be provided with an approved area for turning around fire apparatus.  
 

bb) Section 503.2.7.1  Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Grand. Shall be added new   
and read as follows: The grade of the fire apparatus access road shall be within 
the limits established by the Fire Code Official based upon the Fire Department’s 
apparatus.  
 

cc) Section 503.3 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Marking. Shall be amended to 
read as follows: Every fire Apparatus Access Roadway required under the 
authority of this section shall be posted with signs readable from either direction of 
travel and vertically installed at points not more than eighty (80) feet on center 
along the length of the required fire apparatus access roadway. In lieu of signs the 
curb can be painted red and marked “NO PARKING FIRE LANE” in four (4) inch 
white block letters on the vertical face of the curb and spaced eighty (80) feet on 
center. Only Fire Apparatus Access Roadways required under the authority of this 
section or as approved by the Fire Code Official may be posted or identified as 
such. Unauthorized use of signs shall be removed. 
 

dd) Section 503.3.1 Fire Apparatus Access Roads:  Marking: Maintenance  shall 
be added new to read as follows: The person(s) in possession of the premises on 
and into which A Fire Apparatus Access Roadway is required shall be solely 
responsible for the maintenance of such roadways and all required signs. The 
person(s) in possession of the premises shall be responsible to ensure that Fire 
Apparatus Roadways are clear at all times. Annual compliance inspections shall 
be conducted by the Fire Code Official. 

 

ee) Section 503.6.1.1 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows: The gates shall be designed so that the access 
roadway or turning radius shall not be obstructed by the operation of the gate. 
Minimum set back from the public streets shall be a distance determined by the 
Town Engineer and allow the emergency vehicle the ability to safely operate the 
lock box or panel. 
 

ff) Section 503.6.1.2 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows:  Access controls shall be exterior to the gate and 
located for activation by the vehicle operator without dismounting from the vehicle. 



 

Technical Codes    Page 13 of 37 
 

The height of the lock box/control panel shall be sixty-six (66) inches, measured 
from the finished grade line of the street.  
 

gg) Section 503.6.1.3 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows: The lock box, padlock or key switch, must be an 
approved model utilized by the Florence Fire Department.  
 

hh) Section 503.6.1.4 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows: Traffic Preemption opening device shall be on all 
motorized gates. Gates across fire apparatus access roads at gated community 
main entrances and where required by the Fire Code Official shall be electric and 
shall be provided with approved preemption controls, a Knox key switch and a 
manual release. Opticom, 3M, Model 722 receiver (no coding model) or compatible 
shall be used. Manual or electric gates at location other than the main entrance to 
gated communities shall be equipped with a Knox key switch and manual release 
or a Knox lock as applicable.  
 

ii) Section 503.6.1.5 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows: Clear width of the roadway shall be minimum of 
twenty (20) feet clear width on all entrances. Exit roadways shall be a minimum of 
sixteen (16) feet clear width or larger on all exits. Unless otherwise approved by 
the Fire Code Official. 
 

jj) Section 503.6.1.6 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows:  Gates must open to a clear width of twenty (20) 
feet within twenty (20) seconds of activation and remain in the open position until 
closed by operation of the electrical control device. 
 

kk) Section 503.6.1.7 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows: The control pedestal must be identified with a 
minimum six (6) inch by Ten (10) inch sign with red letters on a white background. 
This sign must be securely fastened to the pedestal and legible from the 
approaching vehicle. EMERGENCY FIRE DEPARTMENT ACCESS.   
 

ll) Section 503.6.1.8 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows:  Battery back-up for all motorized gates is required, 
unless the gate opens in the event of a power failure. 
 

mm) Section 503.6.1.9 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall 
be added new to read as follows: Secondary “Exit Only” gates shall be set up for 
Fire Department emergency access. Exit only gates, which are not motorized, shall 
be installed per Town of Florence Fire Department Standard Detail.  
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 14 of 37 
 

nn) Section 503.6.1.10 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows: Operation at the primary gate(s) shall be by pre-
emption device and key switch.  
 

oo) Section 503.7 Fire Apparatus Access Roads: Manual Security Gates: Shall be 
added new to read as follows: An approved dual padlock locking system shall be 
required on all manual gates installed across a primary and secondary fire 
apparatus access road(s). An approved Fire Department pad lock shall be installed 
on one side and the owner/operator pad lock on the other side.  
 

pp) Section 505.1 Address Identification. Amend to read as follows: New and 
existing buildings shall have approved address numbers, building numbers or 
approved building identification placed in a position that is plainly legible and visible 
from the street or road fronting the property. Address numbers shall be installed in 
accordance with the Fire Departments Premise Identification 2012 Fire Code 
Interpretations & Regulations. 
 

qq) Section 505.1.1  Premises Identification, Interior Room Numbers. Shall be 
added new to read as follows: All buildings shall have an approved room and suite 
numbers identification placed in positions that are plainly legible and visible. 
Numbers shall contrast with their background; interior suite and room numbers 
shall be Arabic numeral or alphabet letters. Interior room and suite numbers shall 
be a minimum of 1.25 (1 ¼) inches high with a brush stroke width of 0.25 (1/4) 
inches. 
 

rr) Section 505.3 1  Premises Identification, Address Directory. Shall be added 
new to read as follows:  An approved address directory shall be installed at 
properties containing one of the following: 1. More than one (1) principal building. 
2. Buildings with unit identification numbers. 3. When in the opinion of the Fire 
Code Official, emergency response may be delayed due to physical layout of the 
complex. 
 

ss) Section 505.3.1 1 Premises Identification, Specifications. Shall be added new 
to read as follows: Drawings and/or samples shall be submitted to the Fire Code 
Official for review and approval for all required address directories.  
 

tt) Section 505.3.2 1 Premises Identification, Protection. Shall be added new to 
read as follows: The address directory is to be suitably constructed to be installed 
outdoors. The graphics shall be protected from vandalism and weather by a clear 
polycarbonate cover. The cover shall be a minimum of 1/8” thick and sealed to 
protect the graphics from weather damage.  
 

uu) Section 505.3.3 1 Premises Identification,  Illumination. Shall be added new to 
read as follows: The address directory is to be illuminated internally by a white 



 

Technical Codes    Page 15 of 37 
 

light. The light shall be sufficient to illuminate the entire site plan with even light. 
The address directory is to be illuminated from dusk to dawn. The illumination can 
be turned on and off by an automatic timer or photo cell.   
 

vv) Section 505.3.4 1 Premises Identification, Installation requirements. Shall be 
added new to read as follows:  The address directory is to be installed a minimum 
of thirty-six (36) inches above the finished grade. Larger sizes of address 
directories can be mounted no lower than twenty-four (24) inches when approved 
by the Fire Code Official. The support post or stanchions are to be set in concrete.  
 

ww) Section 505.3.6 1 Premises Identification, Setback requirements. Shall 
be added new to read as follows: The address directory shall be installed on the 
occupant’s property. A scaled plan shall be submitted showing the proposed 
location of the address directory, streets, drive aisles, any gate controls and traffic 
islands. 
 

xx) Section  506, Key Boxes, Amend Subsection 506.1 Where required. to read as 
follows: The Florence Fire Department is authorized to require a key box to be 
installed when a property within the Town of Florence is protected by an automatic 
fire alarm system or a fire sprinkler system, where access to or within a structure 
is restricted because of secured openings or where immediate access is necessary 
for life saving or firefighting purposes. 
 
i) The first key box shall be installed at the main entrance of the structure. 

Additional key boxes may be required based on the size, layout, and 
location of fire sprinkler riser room 

ii) The key box shall be installed between 4'-0" to 6'-0" above finished grade. 
The key box shall be immediately visible to fire personnel from the 
emergency apparatus. Posts, fences, vehicles, vegetation, trash, storage 
and other materials shall not be placed or kept near the key boxes in a 
manner that would prevent the key boxes from being immediately 
recognizable.  

 
yy) Section 507.1.1, Fire Protection Water Supplies, Hydrant location. Amend by 

adding new Subsections to read as followings:  A fire hydrant shall be located 
within 100 feet of the fire department connection (FDC). The route is to be 
measured as the fire hose would be laid out and shall be approved by the Fire 
Plans Examiner.  
 

zz) Section 507.2.3, Fire Protection Water Supplies, Water Supply. Amend by 
adding new Subsections to read as followings: Fire Sprinkler water supply shall be 
a separate connection to public water supply and shall not serve domestic water 
service supply lines or fire hydrants. Exception: Detached one and two-family 
dwellings and their accessory structures. 



 

Technical Codes    Page 16 of 37 
 

 
aaa) Section 507.2.4, Fire Protection Water Supplies, Operation of Valves. 

Amend by adding new Subsections to read as followings: Operation of fire sprinkler 
control valves, fire hydrants or street control valves shall be allowed only by 
properly authorized personnel. 
 

bbb) Section 507.3 Fire flow. Deleted in its entirety and replaced to read as 
follows:  Operation of Valves.  Requirements for buildings or portions of buildings 
and facilities shall be determined by an approved method and in accordance with 
Appendix B as amended. An approved independent third-party individual or firm 
shall conduct all required fire flow test prior to vertical construction.  
 

ccc) Section 507.3.1, Fire Flow Verification. Amend by adding new 
Subsections to read as followings: All new buildings or structures shall provide fire 
flow verification according to the requirements in Appendix B as amended. 
Verification shall be conducted by an approved separate third party certifying all 
the required fire flow data per NFPA. 25. All verification documentation shall be 
submitted to the Fire Code Official and Engineering Department. 
 

ddd) Section 507.5.1.2, Fire Flow Verification. Public Fire Hydrant Color. 
Amend by adding new Subsections to read as followings: All fire hydrants shall 
have above ground barrels painted with a prime coat plus two coats of OSHA 
Yellow, as specified by the Town Engineering Department.  
 

eee) Section 507.5.1.3, Fire Flow, Hydrant Reflective Markers. Amend by 
adding new Subsections to read as followings: All fire hydrants and Fire 
Department Connections shall be clearly identified by installation of reflective blue 
markers as specified by the Town Engineering Department.  
 

fff) Section 507.5.1.4, Fire Flow Fire, Protection Water Supply. Amend by adding 
new Subsections to read as followings:.The water system is required to be looped 
with a minimum of two separate connections under the following conditions:  
 
i) Dead end water line exceeds 100’ for 6” lines or 400’ for 8” lines.  
ii) Water lines serving a building over 52,000 sq. ft. (40,000 sq. ft. when used 

for any amount of high-piled storage).  
iii) Water lines serving a building over two stories.  
iv) Water lines serving more than one commercial building.  
v) Water lines serving over 30 single-family residential units.  
vi) Water lines serving a Group “H” occupancy.  
vii) Where two water connections are required, they shall be placed a distance 

apart equal to not less than determined by the Engineer. Where two water 
connections are required, they shall be made to separate water lines where 
possible. 



 

Technical Codes    Page 17 of 37 
 

 
ggg) Section 507.5.2.1 Required Installations. Amended by adding a new 

subsection to read:  Fire hydrants installed as a result of any order or permit shall 
be spaced so that short lose lines can be employed and so there are sufficient 
number of fire hydrants within reasonable distance to obtain the required fire flow 
as determined using Appendix B.  In other than single family residential areas, 
hydrants shall be spaced so that they are not more than 300 feet apart.  For single-
family residential areas, hydrants shall be spaced so that they are not more than 
500 feet apart from any structure.  Hydrant spacing and hose lay requirements 
may be modified by the Fire Code Official when all structures are protected with 
automatic fire sprinkler systems in accordance with Subsections 903.3.1.1, 
903.3.1.2 or 903.3.1.3.  The Fire Department shall obtain the approval of the 
Engineering Department on submitted plans and specifications. 
 

hhh) Subsection 507.5.2.1 Public Fire Hydrants. Amended by adding a new 
subsection to read: All public fire hydrants must be flushed and maintained 
annually in accordance with the American Water Works Association, Manual of 
Water Supply Practices, Installation Field Testing and Maintenance of Fire 
hydrants, AWWA M17. Selected hydrants, as determined by the Utilities Director, 
shall be tested to determine Available Fire Flow according to test procedures 
outlined in the American Water Works Association Manual of Water Supply 
Practices, Distribution System Requirements for Fire Protection, AWWA M31. 
 

iii) Subsection 507.5.2.2 Fire Hydrants. Amended by adding a new subsection to 
read: All fire hydrants shall be dry barrel as defined by AWWA M17 and specified 
by the Town of Florence Public Works/Engineering Department. Fire Hydrants 
used in commercial applications shall have two (2) – 2 ½ inch outlet and one (1) – 
4 ½ inch outlet. Fire Hydrants used in residential (R-3) applications shall have one 
(1) – 2 ½ inch outlet and one (1) – 4 ½ inch outlet.  
 

jjj) Subsection 507.5.2.3 Out of Service Hydrants. Amended by adding a new 
subsection to read: Any hydrant that is out of service shall have an out of service 
ring located on the 4-inch supply and shall remain in place until the hydrant is 
operational and approved by the Fire Chief.  
 

kkk) Section 507.5.3 Private fire service mains and water tanks. Shall delete 
in its entirety and replaced by adding Item 1 to read as follows: All private fire 
hydrants (those not on the Town of Florence water system and located on private 
property) must be inspected annually and after each operation; flushed and 
maintained annually in accordance with the American Water Works Association, 
Manual of Water Supply Practices, Installation Field Testing and Maintenance of 
Fire hydrants, AWWA M17. Selected hydrants, as determined by the Fire Code 
Official, shall be flow tested to determine Available Fire Flow according to test 



 

Technical Codes    Page 18 of 37 
 

procedures outlined in NFPA 25. Request for testing must be submitted to the Fire 
Official and Town Engineer within 48 hours.  
 

lll) Section 507.5 Amend by adding Subsection 507.5.7 Separate water supply, to 
read as follows:  Water supply for sprinkler systems shall not be combined with the 
domestic water supply.  
 

mmm) Section 901.1 Fire Protection Systems, Scope.  New paragraph added 
to read as follows:  Wherever the words “Building Official or Fire Official” appear in 
sections 901 through 912 they shall be understood to mean that either the Building 
Official or Fire Code Official shall be the authority having jurisdiction.   
 

nnn) Section 901.2 Fire Protection Systems, Construction Documents.  
Amend by adding the following after the last sentence:  Plans for Fire Sprinkler 
Systems, complete plans and hydraulic calculations for fire sprinkler systems 
installations shall be submitted for review and approval prior to beginning 
installation, modification or alteration. Plans shall be drawn to an indicated scale, 
on sheets of uniform size and shall show, as a minimum the data required by NFPA 
13. Water supply data for hydraulic calculations shall be based on the available 
water supply as determined by flow test information less a 10 % safety factor. An 
additional copy of these plans shall be submitted in an electronic format suitable 
to the Fire Department. 
 

ooo) Section 901.2 Construction Documents,  Amend by adding new 
Subsections 901.2.2,  to read as follows: Plan Certification for Fire Alarms and 
Occupant Notification. All fire alarm and occupant notification system plans shall 
be designed by a professional registrant in accordance with the Arizona Board of 
Technical Registration. Fire alarm installation shop drawings shall bear a review 
certification of a minimum NICET Level III in Fire Alarm. 
 

ppp) Section 901.2 Construction Documents,  Amend by adding new 
Subsections 901.2.3, to read as follows: Plan Certifications for Fire Sprinkler 
Systems. All fire sprinkler system plans shall be designed by a professional 
registrant in accordance with the Arizona Board of Technical Registration. Fire 
sprinkler installation shop drawings shall bear a review certification of a minimum 
NICET Level III in Fire Sprinklers.  
 

qqq) Section 901.2 Construction Documents,  Amend by adding new 
Subsections 901.2.5 to read as follows: On-Site Plans. Plans and specifications 
shall be submitted to the Fire Department for review and approval prior to 
construction. One set of Fire Department approved plans shall be on the job site 
for each inspection. 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 19 of 37 
 

rrr) Section 901.4.6 Pump and Riser Room Size. Amend by adding the following 
after the last sentence:  At the time of construction, a dedicated interior fire pump 
and automatic sprinkler system riser room shall be provided with adequate space 
for all equipment necessary for the installation, as defined by the manufacturer, 
with sufficient working space around the stationary equipment. Access shall be 
provided through direct exterior access side hinged door(s) with a minimum 32-
inch clear width and a minimum height of 80 inches. 
 

sss) Section 901.6 Inspection, testing and maintenance.  Amend by adding 
Subsection 901.6.3.1 to read as follows: Each fire protection system installation, 
modification, or inspection job shall receive “direct supervision” from a person 
possessing the following necessary approvals:   
 

ttt) Section 901.6 Inspection, testing and maintenance.  Amend by adding 
Subsection 901.6.3.2 to read as follows: For Fire Alarm installation, modification, 
or inspections one or more of the following: 1. National Institute of Certification in 
Engineering Technology (NICET) fire sprinkler level II; or 2. Successful completion 
of Local Exam; or 3. Other certification acceptable to the Fire Code Official. 
 

uuu) Section 901.6 Inspection, testing and maintenance.  Amend by adding 
Subsection 901.6.3.3 read as follows: For fire sprinkler system and underground 
fire line installation, modification, or inspections one or both of the following 1. 
National Institute of Certification in Engineering Technology (NICET) fire sprinkler 
level II; or 2. Successful completion of Local Exam; or 3. Other certification 
acceptable to the Fire Code Official.  
 

vvv) Section 901.6 Inspection, testing and maintenance.  Amend by adding 
Subsections 901.6.3.4 to read as follows: Special hazard fire system installation, 
modification or inspection one or more of the following: 1. National Institute of 
Certification in Engineering Technology (NICET) special hazards suppression 
systems level II; or 2. Successful completion of Local Exam; 3. Other certification 
acceptable to the Fire Code Official. 
 

www) Section 903.2 Where required.  Add Exceptions 1 and 2 as follows: 1. 
Spaces or areas in telecommunications buildings, not exceeding 600 square feet 
in floor area and not intended for maintenance purposes, used exclusively for 
telecommunication equipment, associated electrical power distribution equipment, 
batteries and standby engines, provided those spaces or areas are equipped 
throughout with an automatic smoke detection system in accordance with Section 
907.2 and are separated from the remainder of the building by less than 1-hour fire 
barriers constructed in accordance with Section 707 or not less than 2-hour 
horizontal assemblies constructed in accordance with Section 711, or both.  2. 
Detached accessory use structures such as gazebos, pergolas, ramadas, 
guardhouses, restroom buildings at golf courses, parks and similar uses. 



 

Technical Codes    Page 20 of 37 
 

 
xxx) Section 903.2.1.1(1) Group A-1, Amend Condition 1, to read as follows: 

The fire area exceeds 5,000 square feet. 
 

yyy) Section 903.2.1.2(1) Group A-2, Amend Condition 1, to read as follows: 
The fire area exceeds 2,500 square feet. 
 

zzz) Section 903.2.1.3(1) Group A-3, Amend Condition 1, to read as follows: 
The fire area exceeds 5,000 square feet. 
 

aaaa) Section 903.2.1.4(1) Group A-4, Amend Condition 1, to read as follows: 
The fire area exceeds 5,000 square feet.  
 

bbbb) Section 903.2.3 (1) Group E, Amend Condition 1, to read as follows: The 
fire area exceeds zero (0) square feet. 
 

cccc) Section 903.2.4 (1) Group F-1, Amend Condition 1, to read as follows: The 
fire area exceeds 5,000 square feet. 
 

dddd) Section 903.2.4 (3) Group F-1, Amend Condition 3, to read as follows:  The 
combined area of all Group F-1 fire areas on all floors, including any mezzanines, 
exceeding 5,000 square feet. 
 

eeee) Section 903.2.4.1 Group F-1, Woodworking operations. Amend to read 
as follows: An automatic sprinkler system shall be provided throughout all Group 
F-1 occupancy fire areas that contain woodworking operations in excess of zero 
(0) square feet in area which generate finely divided combustible waste or use 
finely divided combustible materials. 
 

ffff) Section. 903.2.6 Group I, Amend by deleting Exceptions 1, 2, 3 and 4, in their 
entirety and adding the following Condition 1:  Group I fire areas exceed zero (0) 
square feet. 
 

gggg) Section 903.2.7 (1) Group M, Amend Condition 1, to read as follows: A 
Group M fire area exceeds 5,000 square feet. 
 

hhhh) Section 903.2.7 (3) Group M, Amend Condition 3, to read as follows:  The 
combined area of all Group M fire areas on all floors, including any mezzanines 
that exceeds 5,000 square feet. 
 

iiii) Section 903.2.8 Group R.  Shall add new subsection 903.2.8.3 to read as 
follows:  Where the combined fire area of all floors including basement exceeds 
zero (0) square feet an automatic sprinkler system shall be installed in accordance 
with Subsection 903.3.1.1 



 

Technical Codes    Page 21 of 37 
 

 
jjjj) Section 903.2.8.1 Automatic sprinkler systems. Add Exception 1, to read as 

follows: A supervising station is not required for automatic sprinkler systems 
protecting one- and two-family dwellings and dwellings classified as Group R-3, 
congregate living facilities with 5 or fewer persons.  
 

kkkk) Section 903.2.9 (1) Group S-1, Amend Condition 1, to read as follows: A 
Group S-1 fire area exceeds zero (0) square feet. 
 

llll) Section 903.2.9 (3) Group S-1, Amend Condition 3, to read as follows: The 
combined area of all Group S-1 fire areas on all floors, including any mezzanines 
exceeds zero (0) square feet. 
 

mmmm) Section 903.2.9.1 (1) Repair garages. Amend Items 1, 2 & 4, to read as 
follows:1. Buildings no more than one story above grade plane, with a fire area 
containing a repair garage exceeding zero (0) square feet. 2. Buildings having two 
or more stories above grade plane, including basements, with a fire area 
containing a repair garage exceeding zero (0) square feet. 4. A Group S-1, fire 
area used for the repair of commercial trucks or buses where the fire area exceeds 
zero (0) square feet. 
 

nnnn) Section 903.2.9.2 Bulk storage of tires. Amend to read as follows: 
Buildings and structures where the area for storage of tires exceeds zero (0) cubic 
feet shall be equipped throughout with an automatic sprinkler system in 
accordance with Subsection 903.3.1.1.   
 

oooo) Section 903.2.10(1) Group S-2 Enclosed parking garages. Amend Item 
1. to read as follows: Where the fire area of the enclosed parking garage exceeds 
5000 square feet. 
 

pppp) Section 903.4.1. Monitoring, Amend to read as follows: Signals. Alarm, 
supervisory and trouble signals shall be distinctly different and shall be 
automatically transmitted to an Underwriters Laboratory listed or Factory Mutual 
approved central station, remote supervising station, or proprietary supervising 
station as defined in NFPA 72. As an alternative, when approved by the Fire Code 
Official, such signals shall sound an audible signal at a constantly attended 
location. 
 

qqqq) Section 904 Alternative automatic fire extinguishing systems. Shall 
add Subsection 904.11.6.4 Additions, Alterations, or Repairs to read as 
follows: Existing automatic fire extinguishing systems shall be upgraded to an 
NFPA approved fire-extinguishing system, installed throughout all portions of any 
commercial cooking system when there are additions, alterations, or repairs made 



 

Technical Codes    Page 22 of 37 
 

when an existing non-compliant system can no longer be serviced and maintained 
in a certified operational condition. 
 

rrrr) Section 905 Standpipe Systems.  Add new Subsection 905.3.9 Hose 
connections for access challenges, to read as follows:  Buildings exceeding 
10,000 square feet (929 m2) in area per story, and not otherwise required to be 
equipped with a standpipe system by section 905.3 of the 2012 IFC, shall be 
equipped with class I manual hose connections (2-1/2” NST) for fire department 
use as directed by the Fire Code Official.  
 

ssss) Section 907 Fire Alarm and Detection Systems. Add new Subsection 
907.1.3.1 Fire Alarm Control Panel Location, to read as follows: The Fire Alarm 
Control Panel shall be installed in the automatic sprinkler system riser room or a 
system controlling fire alarm annunciation panel shall be installed in the automatic 
sprinkler system riser room. When an annunciation panel is present in the 
automatic sprinkler system riser room, a map indicating the location of the main 
fire alarm control panel shall be present. 
 

tttt) Section 907.2.2 Group B, Exception, amend Exception by adding the following 
at the end of the last sentence: Automatic Fire Sprinkler System shall be installed 
where the fire area exceeds 5000 square feet. 
 

uuuu) Section 907.2.11.2  Amend by adding new Subsection 907.2.11.2.1 
Group R-3 Child care - Special Systems, to read as follows:  A child care facility 
that provides care for 6 to 10 children of any age for less than 24 hours when the 
rooms where such children are cared for are located on the level of exit discharge 
and each of these child care rooms has an exit door directly to the exterior, shall 
be classified as Group R-3. At least one smoke detector shall be located within this 
child care area and provided with third party monitoring. 
 

vvvv) Section 907.5.2.3 amend by adding new Subsection 907.5.2.3.5 Interior 
Tenant Notification to read as follows: Interior Tenant Notification shall be 
provided when monitoring of the fire sprinkler system is provided. Group R 
occupancies are exempt from this requirement.  Shell Buildings: 1 (one) horn 
strobe shall be installed and operational within the interior space prior to final. 
When demising walls are present, 1 (one) horn-strobe shall be installed for each 
space. Multistory buildings shall require a minimum of 1 (one) horn-strobe per 
level. Tenant Improvements (Shell build-outs): 1 (one) horn-strobe shall be 
provided for each individual tenant. When a common area is provided serving 
multiple tenants, a minimum of 1 (one) horn-strobe in the common area shall be 
provided. These requirements may be increased based on occupancy type or at 
the discretion of the Fire Code Official. 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 23 of 37 
 

wwww) Section 912.2 Amend by adding new Subsection 912.2.3 Remote Fire 
Department Connections, to read as follows:   Remote fire department 
connections shall be located within four (4) feet to eight (8) feet of the curb line of 
an access road or public street, or as otherwise specified. The fire department 
connection line shall be a wet line with the check valve at the hose connection 
above grade. 
 

xxxx) Section 912.3 Amend by adding new Subsection 912.3.4 Fire Hose 
Threads and Fittings. to read as follows: Fire hose threads and fittings used in 
connection with automatic sprinkler systems shall be National Standard Thread.  
 

yyyy) Section 1103.8 Fire Safety Requirements For Existing Buildings 
Amend by adding new Subsection 1103.8.4 Records and Maintenance, to read 
as follows: The landlord or owner of any rental property shall inspect all smoke 
detection devices as required under NFPA 72 annually and a record of all 
inspections and maintenance activities shall be kept by the landlord or owner and 
available for annual inspection upon request by the Fire Code Official. See fire 
department Interpretation and Applications Manual. 
 

zzzz) Section 2308.3  Motor Fuel – Dispensing Facilities and Garages, 
Amend by adding new Subsection 2308.3.2 Vehicle impact protection, to read 
as follows:  Vehicle impact protection for CNG gas storage containers, pumps and 
dispensers shall be provided in accordance with Section 2306.4. 
 

aaaaa) Section 3312.1 Fire Safety During Construction, When required. 
Amend to read as follows: An approved water supply for fire protection, shall be 
made available before combustible material arrives on the site. At least one fire 
hydrant either temporary or permanent shall be within 500 feet of any combustible 
materials. The developer/contractor is responsible for ensuring that the water 
supply is available at all times. When the work is complete, developer/contractor 
shall coordinate with the Utilities Department to make sure that the fire hydrants 
are active and the valves are open. 
 

bbbbb) Section 3504.2.6 Welding and other Hot Work, Fire Extinguisher. 
Amend to read as the following: A minimum of one portable fire extinguisher 
complying with Section 906 and with a minimum 2-A:20-B:C rating shall be readily 
accessible within 30 feet of the location where hot work is performed and shall be 
accessible without climbing stairs or ladders. 
 

ccccc) 5003.4 Hazardous Materials General Provisions, Material safety data 
sheets. Amend by adding new Subsection 5003.4.1 Electronic Filing to read as 
the following:  There is hereby authorized to establish procedures for the electronic 
submittal of hazardous materials information. The format shall be determined by 
the Fire Code Official. 



 

Technical Codes    Page 24 of 37 
 

 
ddddd) Section 5308.1 Scope. Carbon Dioxide used for beverage dispensing 

systems, whether stored as a liquid or gas, shall be required to obtain all necessary 
permits for all new and existing systems installed.  
 

eeeee) Section 5308 Compressed gas systems utilizing carbon dioxide by 
adding a new 5308.2 Permits. The following permits are required: 
 

fffff) Section 5308 Compressed gas systems utilizing carbon dioxide by 
adding a new 5308.2.1 Operational Permit. An Operational Permit is required to 
store, use or handle a previously approved compressed gas system utilizing 
carbon dioxide. A permit application and a Compressed Gases Permit Checklist 
are to be completed and submitted to Community Development. 
 

ggggg) Section 5308 Compressed gas systems utilizing carbon dioxide by 
adding a new 5308.2.2 Construction Permit. A construction permit is required 
to install, repair damage to, abandon, remove, place temporarily out of service, 
close or substantially modify a compressed gas system utilizing carbon dioxide 
whether new or existing. A permit application, floor plan, data sheets, Compressed 
Gases Permit Checklist, and HMIS statement are to be completed and submitted 
to the Community Development. 
 

hhhhh) Section 5704.2.13.1.4 Flammable and Combustible Liquids. Tanks 
abandoned in place.  Delete in its entirety and replace it with the following: 
 

iiiii) Section 5704.2.13.1.4 Flammable and Combustible Liquids. Tanks 
abandoned in place. Shall be prohibited within the entire Town of Florence. 
 

jjjjj) Section 5706.2.5.2 Flammable and Combustible Liquids. Tanks for gravity 
discharge.  Delete in its entirety and replaced with the following: 
 

kkkkk) Section 5706.2.5.2 Flammable and Combustible Liquids. Tanks for 
gravity discharge. Tanks with a connection in the bottom or the end for gravity-
dispensing of flammable or combustible liquids are prohibited. 
 

lllll) Appendix D Fire Apparatus Access Roads. D103.1.1 Shall amend by adding 
the following after the last sentence:  96-Foot Diameter Cul-De-Sac. Amended as 
follows: The minimum turning radius shall be 35 feet inside and 55 feet outside 
face of curb.  

 
6.  International Fuel Gas Code, 2012 Edition 

a. Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 
jurisdiction. 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 25 of 37 
 

b. Section 102.8  Referenced codes and standards. Amend by adding the 
following at the end of the paragraph: See also International Building Code, 2012 
Edition, Section 101.4 Referenced codes. 
 

c. Section 106.5.1 Approval of construction documents.  Amend the first 
sentence to read as follows: When the Building Official issues a permit where 
construction documents are required, the construction documents shall be 
approved in writing or by stamp.  
 

d. Section [A] 106.5.3  Expiration and Section [A]106.5.4 Extensions shall be 
combined to a new 106.5.3 titled Expiration.  Amend to read, “Expiration of 
permit, extension.” Amend to read as follows:   Every permit issued shall become 
invalid unless substantial work, as determined by the Building Official, and 
authorized by such permit is commenced and required inspections are requested 
by the permittee and approved by the Building Official within 180 days after its 
issuance, or if more than 180 days elapses between approval of required 
inspections.  The Building Official shall be authorized to grant one or more 
extensions of time for a period not to exceed 180 days.  All requests for extensions 
shall be in writing.  As determined by the Building Official, a grace period of 30 
days after expiration may be granted.  A reinstatement fee will be assessed after 
the 30-day grace period based on ½ of the original permit fee.  A permit shall not 
be reinstated if permit has been expired more than 180 days.   A new application 
shall be submitted and new full permit fee shall be paid based on the current fee 
schedule adopted by the Town. 
 

e. Section 106.6.2 Fees.  Insert the Town of Florence Fee Schedule.  
 

f. Section 106.6.3 Fee Refunds. By amending subsection to read as follows: The 
Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of a fee paid hereunder 
which was erroneously paid or collected. The Building Official shall be permitted 
to authorize refunding of not more than 80 percent of the plan review fee paid when 
an application for a permit for which a plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn 
or cancelled before any examination time has been expended.  Plan review fees 
shall not be refunded once the examination of plans has started.  Refunds shall be 
requested by written application and filed by the original permittee not later than 
30 days after the date of fee payment. 
 
The Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of not more than 80 
percent of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a permit issued 
in accordance with this code.  
 

g. Section 109 Means of Appeal. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: In 
order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by the 
Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical codes, 



 

Technical Codes    Page 26 of 37 
 

there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the 
right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to 
section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 
 

h. Section 302.4 Amend by inserting the words “six inches.” 
 

i. Section 303.3 Prohibited locations.  Add new Subsection 303.3.1 Liquefied 
petroleum gas appliances to read as follows: LPG appliances shall not be 
installed in an attic, pit or other location that would cause a ponding or retention of 
gas. 
 

j. Section 404.12 Minimum burial depth. Revised to read as follows: Underground 
piping systems shall be installed a minimum depth of 12 inches (305 mm) below 
grade for metal piping and 18 inches (457 mm) for plastic piping. 
 

k. Section 404.12.1 Individual outside appliances. Deleted in its entirety. 
 

l. Section 406.4 Test pressure measurement. Amend to read as follows and 
Subsections 406.4.1 and 406.4.2 shall be deleted in their entirety. This inspection 
shall be made after all piping authorized by the permit has been installed and prior 
to concealment. An additional inspection is required after all portions thereof which 
are to be covered or concealed are so concealed and before any fixtures or 
appliances have been attached thereto. This inspection shall include an air, Co2 
or nitrogen pressure test, at which time the gas piping shall stand a pressure of not 
less than ten (10) pounds per square inch (68.9 kPa) guage pressure, or at the 
discretion of the Administrative Authority, the piping and valves may be tested at 
a pressure of at least six (6) inches (152.4 mm) of mercury measured with a 
manometer or slope gauge. Test pressures shall be held for a length of time 
satisfactory to the Administrative Authority, but in no case for less than fifteen (15) 
minutes, with no perceptible drop in pressure. For welded piping, and piping 
carrying gas at pressures in excess of fourteen (14) inches (0.4 m) water column 
pressure, the test pressure shall not be less than sixty (60) pounds per square inch 
(413.4 kPa) and shall be continued for a length of time satisfactory to the 
Administrative Authority, but in no case for less than thirty (30) minutes. These 
tests shall be made using air, Co2, or nitrogen pressure only and shall be made in 
the presence of the Administrative Authority. All necessary apparatus for 
conducting tests shall be furnished by the permit holder. 
 

m. Section 602.2 Cooling.  Add a new subsection to read as follows; In addition to 
the requirements of Section 602.2, cooling facilities shall be supplied capable of 
maintaining a temperature of not greater than 80 degrees.  
 

n. Section 602.3 Heat supply.  Amend by adding the following in the inserts: 
“September” to “May” 



 

Technical Codes    Page 27 of 37 
 

 
o. Section 602.3 Cooling.  Add new subsection 602.3.1 to read as follows; In 

addition to the requirements of Section 602.3, cooling facilities shall be supplied 
capable of maintaining a temperature of not greater than 80 degrees. 
 

p. Section 602.4. Amend by adding the following in the insert: “September” to “May” 
 
7. International Mechanical Code, 2012 Edition 
 

a. Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 
jurisdiction. 
 

b. Section 106.4.3 and 106.4.4 shall be combined to a new 106.4.3 titled 
Expiration.  Amend to read, “Expiration of permit, extension.” Amend to read 
as follows:   Every permit issued shall become invalid unless substantial work, as 
determined by the Building Official, and authorized by such permit is commenced 
and required inspections are requested by the permittee and approved by the 
Building Official within 180 days after its issuance, or if more than 180 days elapses 
between approval of required inspections.  The Building Official shall be authorized 
to grant one or more extensions of time for a period not to exceed 180 days.  All 
requests for extensions shall be in writing.  As determined by the Building Official, 
a grace period of 30 days after expiration may be granted.  A reinstatement fee will 
be assessed after the 30-day grace period based on ½ of the original permit fee.  
A permit shall not be reinstated if permit has been expired more than 180 days.   A 
new application shall be submitted and new full permit fee shall be paid based on 
the current fee schedule adopted by the Town. 
 

c. Section 106.4.9 Refunds. By adding a new subsection to read as follows:  The 
Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of a fee paid hereunder 
which was erroneously paid or collected. The Building Official shall be permitted 
to authorize refunding of not more than 80 percent of the plan review fee paid when 
an application for a permit for which a plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn 
or cancelled before any examination time has been expended.  Plan review fees 
shall not be refunded once the examination of plans has started.  Refunds shall be 
requested by written application and filed by the original permittee not later than 
30 days after the date of fee payment. 
 
The Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of not more than 80 
percent of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a permit issued 
in accordance with this code.  
 

d. Section 106.5.2 Fees. Amend by placing the following in the insert at the end: 
“Town of Florence Fee Schedule.” 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 28 of 37 
 

e. Section 108.4 Violation Penalties. Deleted in its entirety. Refer to International 
Building Code 2012 Edition Section 114.4.  
 

f. Section 108.5 Stop work orders. Deleted in its entirety. Refer to International 
Building Code 2012 Edition Section 115. 
 

t) Section 109 MEANS OF APPEAL. Deleted in its entirety and replace with the 
following: Amend to read as follows: In order to hear and decide appeals of 
orders, decisions, determinations made by the Code Official(s) relative to the 
application and interpretation of the technical codes, there shall be and is hereby 
created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the right to appeal a decision of 
the Code Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to section 150.301 of the 
Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 
 

g. Section 304.11 Guards.  Amend by adding an exception at the end of the 
subsection as follows; Exception:  The requirement of this subsection shall not 
apply to one and two-family dwellings. 
 

h. Section 306.5.1 Sloped Roofs.  Amend by adding an exception at the end of the 
subsection as follows; Exception: The requirements of this subsection shall not 
apply to one and two-family dwellings. 
 

i. Section 309.1 Space Heating Systems.  Amend by adding the words “and 
cooling” after Heating so the title reads Section 309.1 Heating and Cooling 
Systems. 
 

j. Section 309.1 Heating and Cooling Systems.  Add the following sentence to the 
end of the subsection; “Such spaces shall also be provided with a cooling system 
capable of maintaining a maximum indoor temperature of 80EF. (62EC.) at a point 
3’ above the floor.” 

 
8. International Plumbing Code, 2012 Edition 

 
a. Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 

jurisdiction. 
 

b. Section 102.8 Referenced codes and standards. Amend by adding the following 
at the end of the paragraph. See also International Building Code 2012 edition, 
section 101.4 Referenced codes. 
 

c. Section 106.5.1 Approval of construction documents. Amend the first sentence 
to read as follows: When the Building Official issues a permit where construction 
documents are required, the construction documents shall be approved in writing 
or by stamp.  



 

Technical Codes    Page 29 of 37 
 

 
d. Section 106.5.3 and 106.5.4  shall be combined to a new 106.5.3 titled 

Expiration.  Amend to read, “Expiration of permit, extension.” Amend to read 
as follows:   Every permit issued shall become invalid unless substantial work, as 
determined by the Building Official, and authorized by such permit is commenced 
and required inspections are requested by the permittee and approved by the 
Building Official within 180 days after its issuance, or if more than 180 days elapses 
between approval of required inspections.  The Building Official shall be authorized 
to grant one or more extensions of time for a period not to exceed 180 days.  All 
requests for extensions shall be in writing.  As determined by the Building Official, 
a grace period of 30 days after expiration may be granted.  A reinstatement fee will 
be assessed after the 30-day grace period based on ½ of the original permit fee.  
A permit shall not be reinstated if permit has been expired more than 180 days.   A 
new application shall be submitted and new full permit fee shall be paid based on 
the current fee schedule adopted by the Town. 
 

e. Section 106.6.3 Fee Refunds. By amending subsection to read as follows: The 
Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of a fee paid hereunder 
which was erroneously paid or collected. The Building Official shall be permitted 
to authorize refunding of not more than 80 percent of the plan review fee paid when 
an application for a permit for which a plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn 
or cancelled before any examination time has been expended.  Plan review fees 
shall not be refunded once the examination of plans has started.  Refunds shall be 
requested by written application and filed by the original permittee not later than 
30 days after the date of fee payment. 
 
The Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of not more than 80 
percent of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a permit issued 
in accordance with this code.  
 

f. Section 109 Means of Appeal. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: In 
order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by the 
Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical codes, 
there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the 
right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to 
section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 
 

g. Section 410.3 Substitution. The last sentence of the section shall be revised to 
read as follows: In other occupancies, where drinking fountains are required, 
bottled water dispensers or water coolers shall be permitted to be substituted. 
 

h. Section 903.1 Roof extension. Amended by inserting the number 6 as the 
number of inches and 152 as the number of mm. 

 



 

Technical Codes    Page 30 of 37 
 

9. International Property Maintenance Code, 2012 Edition 
a. Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 

jurisdiction. 
 

b. Section [A] 111 Means of Appeal. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: In 
order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by the 
Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical codes, 
there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the 
right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to 
section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 

 
10.  International Residential Code, 2012 Edition 

a. Section R101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 
jurisdiction. 
 

b. Section R102.5 Appendices. The following appendices are adopted as part of 
this code by the Town of Florence: Appendices G, H, and P, as added.  
 

c. Section R105.5 Expiration.  Amend to read, “Expiration of permit, extension.” 
Amend to read as follows:   Every permit issued shall become invalid unless 
substantial work, as determined by the Building Official, and authorized by such 
permit is commenced and required inspections are requested by the permittee and 
approved by the Building Official within 180 days after its issuance, or if more than 
180 days elapses between approval of required inspections.  The Building Official 
shall be authorized to grant one or more extensions of time for a period not to 
exceed 180 days.  All requests for extensions shall be in writing.  As determined 
by the Building Official, a grace period of 30 days after expiration may be granted.  
A reinstatement fee will be assessed after the 30-day grace period based on ½ of 
the original permit fee.  A permit shall not be reinstated if permit has been expired 
more than 180 days.   A new application shall be submitted and new full permit fee 
shall be paid based on the current fee schedule adopted by the Town. 
 

d. Section R108.5 Refunds. Amend by adding Subsection R108.5.1 Refund 
Policy, to read as follows: The Building Official shall be permitted to authorize 
refunding of a fee paid hereunder which was erroneously paid or collected. The 
Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of not more than 80 
percent of the plan review fee paid when an application for a permit for which a 
plan review fee has been paid is withdrawn or cancelled before any examination 
time has been expended.  Plan review fees shall not be refunded once the 
examination of plans has started.  Refunds shall be requested by written 
application and filed by the original permittee not later than 30 days after the date 
of fee payment. 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 31 of 37 
 

The Building Official shall be permitted to authorize refunding of not more than 80 
percent of the permit fee paid when no work has been done under a permit issued 
in accordance with this code.  
 

e. Section R108.6 Work commencing before permit issuance. New sentence 
added to the end of the paragraph to read as follows: This fee, as determined by 
the Building Official, shall be no greater than to two times the amount of the permit 
fee based on the current fee schedule adopted by the Town. 
 

f. Section R108.7 Re-inspection fees.  New Subsection added to read as follows:  
A re-inspection fee, as determined by the Building Official, may be assessed for 
each inspection or re-inspection when such portion of work for which inspection is 
called is not complete or when corrections called for are not made. This section is 
not to be interpreted as requiring re-inspection fees the first time a job is rejected 
for failure to comply with the requirements of this code, but as controlling the 
practice of calling for inspections before the job is ready for such inspection or re-
inspection.  
 
Re-inspection fees may be assessed when the inspection permit card is not posted 
or otherwise available on the work site, the approved plans are not readily available 
to the inspector, for failure to provide access on the date for which inspection is 
requested, or for deviating from plans requiring the approval of the Building Official. 
In instances where re-inspection fees have been accessed, no additional 
inspection(s) of the work will be performed until the required fees have been paid 
in accordance with the re-inspection fee policy established by the Building Official. 
 

g. Section R111.4 Utility Company Agreement.  Inspection of service equipment 
and related apparatus will be required prior to re-connection of electric power or 
gas service for all buildings that have been vacant more than six months. 
 

h. Section R112 Board of Appeals.  Delete in its entirety and replace to read as 
follows: Amend to read as follows: In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, 
decisions, determinations made by the Code Official(s) relative to the application 
and interpretation of the technical codes, there shall be and is hereby created a 
Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the right to appeal a decision of the Code 
Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to section 150.301 of the Town of 
Florence Code of Ordinances. 
 

i. Section R113.1 Unlawful Acts.  Amended to read as follows:  It shall be unlawful 
for any person, firm or corporation to erect, construct, alter, extend, repair, move, 
remove, demolish, or occupy any building, structure, or equipment regulated by 
this code or any code referenced herein, or cause, or allow same to be done, in 
conflict with or in violation of any of the provisions of this code. 
 



 

Technical Codes    Page 32 of 37 
 

j. Section R115 UNSAFE STRUCTURES AND EQUIPMENT., New Section and 
Subsections added to read as follows:  Subsection R115.1 Conditions. 
Structures or existing equipment that are or hereafter become unsafe, insanitary 
or deficient because of inadequate means of egress facilities, inadequate light and 
ventilation, or which constitute a fire hazard, or are otherwise dangerous to human 
life or the public welfare, or that involve illegal or improper occupancy or 
inadequate maintenance, shall be deemed an unsafe condition. Unsafe structures 
shall be taken down and removed or made safe, as the Building Official deems 
necessary and as provided for in this section.  A vacant structure that is not 
secured against entry shall be deemed unsafe. 
 

k. Section R115.2 Record. The Building Official shall cause a record to be filed on 
an unsafe condition. The report shall state the occupancy of the structure and the 
nature of the unsafe condition.  
 

l. Section R115.3 Notice. If an unsafe condition is found the Building Official shall 
serve on the owner, agent or person in control of the structure, a written notice that 
describes the condition deemed unsafe and specifies the required repairs or 
improvements to be made to abate the unsafe condition, or that requires the 
unsafe structure to be demolished within a stipulated time. Such notice shall 
require the person thus notified to declare immediately to the Building Official 
acceptance or rejection of the terms of the order. 
 

m. Section R115.4 Method of service. Such notice shall be deemed properly served 
if a copy thereof is (a) delivered to the owner personally; (b) sent by certified or 
registered mail addressed to the Owner at the last known address with the return 
receipt requested; or (c) delivered in any other manner as prescribed by local law. 
If the certified or registered letter is returned showing that the letter was not 
delivered, a copy thereof shall be posted in a conspicuous place in or about the 
structure affected by such notice. Service of such notice in the foregoing manner 
upon the Owner’s Agent or upon the person responsible for the structure shall 
constitute service of notice upon the Owner. 
 

n. Section R115.5 Restoration. The structure or equipment determined to be unsafe 
by the Building Official is permitted to be restored to a safe condition. To the extent 
that repairs, alterations or additions are made or a change of occupancy occurs 
during the restoration of the structure, such repairs, alterations, additions or 
change of occupancy shall comply with the requirements of R105.2.2. 
 

o. Table R301.2 (1) Climatic and Geographic Design Criteria. Insert the following: 
Ground Snow Load - None 
Wind speed - 90 mph, Exposure C, 3 second gust 
Topographic effects - No 
Seismic Design Category - B 



 

Technical Codes    Page 33 of 37 
 

Weathering - Negligible 
Frost Line Depth - 12”  
Termite - Moderate to Heavy 
Winter Design Temperature - 32 degrees F 
Ice Barrier Underlayment Required - No 
Flood Hazards - Per Town of Florence Town Manager 
Air Freezing Index - 0 
Mean Annual Temperature - 69.9 
 

p. Section R302.1  Exterior Walls.  Add exceptions# 6-9, as follows: 
 
6. “In Legal Non-conforming RV parks with privately owned lots, that were 
existing at the time of this code adoption, replacement dwelling units, (Park 
Model type), are permitted to maintain their prior existing fire separation distance, 
subject to compliance with other city codes, but in no case shall fire separation 
distance be less than 1 foot with unlimited protected openings, and a 4 inch 
maximum eave projection past the exterior wall facing the lot line. 

 
7. “In Legal Non-conforming RV parks with privately owned lots, that were 
existing at the time of this code adoption, new dwelling units, (Park Model type), 
are permitted to be located with a fire separation distance less than 5 feet, 
subject to compliance with other city codes, but in no case shall fire separation 
distance be less than 3 foot with unlimited protected openings, and a 4 inch 
maximum eave projection past the exterior wall facing the lot line. 

8. “In Legal Non-conforming RV parks with privately owned lots, that were 
existing at the time of this code adoption, construction of new habitable and non-
habitable structures including patio covers, carports, awnings and storage sheds, 
are permitted to be located with a fire separation distance less than 5 feet, 
subject to compliance with other city codes, but in no case shall fire separation 
distance be less than 3 foot with unlimited protected openings, and no 
projections past the exterior wall facing the lot line. 

9. “In Legal Non-conforming RV parks with privately owned lots, that were 
existing at the time of this code adoption, legal non-conforming structure’s such 
as habitable and non-habitable additions, patio covers, carports, awnings and 
storage sheds, are permitted to maintain their prior existing fire separation 
distance less than 5 feet, subject to compliance with other city codes, but in no 
case shall fire separation distance be less than 2 foot with unlimited protected 
openings, and no projections past the exterior wall facing the lot line. 

 
q. Table R302.1 (1) Exterior Walls.  Amend in the column for Fire Resistance 

Rating, first row, after the words “both sides” add “or designed per the prescriptive 
requirements of Section 721 of the 2012 International Building Code. 



 

Technical Codes    Page 34 of 37 
 

 
r. Table R302.1 (2) Exterior Walls-Dwelling with Fire Sprinklers.  Delete section 

in its entirety. 
 

s. Section R302.2 Townhouses. Exception as follows: 
At the first sentence delete 1 hour and change to 2 hours 

 
At the end of first sentence, add the following “or as designed per Section 721 of 
the 2012 International Building Code.” 

 
At the last sentence add. “The common wall may be reduced to 1 hour when 
provided with a fire sprinkler system per P2904.” 
 

t. Section R302.3 Two Family Dwellings.  Amend by adding after the words 
“UL263” in the first sentence, “or designed per Section 721 of the 2012 
International Building Code.” 
 

u. Section R303.4. Delete in its entirety. 
 

v. Section R303.9 Required Heating.  Amend to read as follows: by revising the title 
to read “Required Heating and Cooling” and by adding the following sentence to 
the end of the subsection: “Every dwelling unit and guest room shall be provided 
with cooling facilities capable of maintaining a room temperature of not more than 
80E F. (62EC.) at a point 3 feet above the floor in all habitable rooms under the 
average local climate conditions.” 
 

w. Section R309.5 Fire Sprinklers. Delete in its entirety. 
 

x. Section R313 Automatic Fire Sprinkler Systems.  Delete in its entirety. Refer to 
ARS 9-807.  
 

y. Section R315.3 Where required in existing dwellings.  Amend to read as 
follows: Where alterations, repairs or additions requiring a permit occur in existing 
dwellings that have attached garages or in existing dwellings within which fuel-fired 
appliances exist, carbon monoxide alarms shall be provided in accordance with 
section R315.1. Exception: Work involving the exterior surfaces of dwellings, such 
as the replacement of roofing or siding, or the addition or replacement of windows 
or doors, or the addition of a porch or deck, are exempt from the requirements of 
this section. 
 

z. Section 901.6.1 Automatic sprinkler systems. Exception 1, Amend to read as 
follows: A supervising station is not required for automatic sprinkler systems 
protecting one and two family dwellings and dwellings classified as Group R-3, 
congregate living facilities with 5 or fewer persons. 



 

Technical Codes    Page 35 of 37 
 

 
10.  International Residential Code, 2012 Edition, Chapter 11, ENERGY 

EFFICIENCY, shall be amended as follows: 
 
a. Section N1101.15 (401.2) Compliance.  Amended by adding the following: 

Amended by adding the following subsections (1) All references to mandatory in 
this code shall be referred to as recommended.  (2) Field verification inspection 
shall be the responsibility of the owner/building.  
 

b. Section N1103.2.2.1 (R403.2.2.1) Sealed air handler.  Deleted in its entirety. 
 

c. Section M1307 APPLIANCE INSTALLATION. Add new Subsection M1307.7 
Liquefied petroleum gas appliances to read as follows: LPG appliances shall 
not be installed in an attic, pit or other location that would cause a ponding or 
retention of gas. 
 

d. Section G2406.2.1 (303.3.1) Liquefied Petroleum Gas Appliances.  Add new 
Subsection to read as follows: LPG appliances shall not be installed in an attic, pit 
or other location that would cause a ponding or retention of gas. 
 

e. Section G2407.6.1 (304.6.1) Two-Permanent-Openings Method.  Amended by 
adding the following after the first paragraph: For LPG appliances, any duct serving 
the lower opening shall be at floor level and slope to the outdoors without traps or 
pockets. 
 

f. Section G2415.12 (404.12) Minimum Burial Depth. Amend by adding the word 
“metallic” after Underground, and after the word grade, add “plastic piping shall be 
installed at a minimum depth of 18 inches below grade.”  Delete “except” as 
provided for in Section G2415.12.1.” 
 

g. Section G2415.12.1 Individual Outside Appliances.  Delete in its entirety. 
 

h. Section G2415.17 (404.17) Plastic pipe.  Deleted in its entirety and revised to 
read as follows: The Installation of plastic pipe shall comply with Sections 
G2415.17.1 through G2415.17.3. 
 

i. Section G2417.4 (406.4) Test pressure measurement.  Deleted in its entirety 
and revised to read as follows: This inspection shall be made after all piping 
authorized by the permit has been installed and prior to concealment. An additional 
inspection is required after all portions thereof which are to be covered or 
concealed are so concealed and before any fixtures or appliances have been 
attached thereto. This inspection shall include an air, Co2 or nitrogen pressure 
test, at which time the gas piping shall stand a pressure of not less than ten (10) 
pounds per square inch (68.9 kPa) guage pressure, or at the discretion of the 



 

Technical Codes    Page 36 of 37 
 

Administrative Authority, the piping and valves may be tested at a pressure of at 
least six (6) inches (152.4 mm) of mercury measured with a manometer or slope 
gauge. Test pressures shall be held for a length of time satisfactory to the 
Administrative Authority, but in no case for less than fifteen (15) minutes, with no 
perceptible drop in pressure. For welded piping, and piping carrying gas at 
pressures in excess of fourteen (14) inches (0.4 m) water column pressure, the 
test pressure shall not be less than sixty (60) pounds per square inch (413.4 kPa) 
and shall be continued for a length of time satisfactory to the Administrative 
Authority, but in no case for less than thirty (30) minutes. These tests shall be made 
using air, Co2, or nitrogen pressure only and shall be made in the presence of the 
Administrative Authority. All necessary apparatus for conducting tests shall be 
furnished by the permit holder. 
 

j. Section P2603.5.1 Sewer Depth. Insert 12” (inch) inside both bracket locations. 
 

k. Section P2801.5 Required pan. Amend to read as follows: Where a storage tank-
type water heater or a hot water storage tank is installed in an attic or furred space 
where water leakage from the tank will cause damage, the tank shall be installed 
in a galvanized steel pan having a material thickness of not less than 0.0236 inch 
(0.6010 mm) (No. 24 gage), or other pans approved for such use. Listed pans shall 
comply with CSA LC3. 
 

l. Section P2904.1 General. Amend by adding “When installed” at the beginning of 
the first sentence. 
 

m. Section P2904.1.1 Required Sprinkler Locations. Amend by adding “When 
installed” at the beginning of the sentence. 

 
11. International Swimming Pool and Spa Code, 2012 Edition  

 
a. Section 101.1 Title. Insert the words “Town of Florence” as the name of the 

jurisdiction. 
b. Section 108 Means of Appeal. Delete in its entirety and replace as follows: In 

order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by 
the Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical 
codes, there shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall 
have the right to appeal a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals 
pursuant to section 150.301 of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 

 
12. National Electrical Code, 2011 Edition 

 
a. Article 230 Services. New section 230.11 Performance Testing, added to read 

as follows: All service entry equipment and associated equipment rated 1000 
amps or more, or as otherwise required by the servicing utility company, or 



 

Technical Codes    Page 37 of 37 
 

registered design professional shall be performance tested (high potential testing) 
when first installed on site.  The test shall be conducted in accordance with 
instructions that shall be provided with the equipment.  A written record of the test 
shall be made and shall be submitted to the authority having jurisdiction. 
 

b. Article 210 Branch Circuits.  Amend Section 210.11 © Dwelling Units by adding 
an item 4 to read: 

 
c. Article 690 Solar Photovoltaic (PV) Systems. New subsections added to read 

as follows: 690.12 Rapid Shutdown of PV Systems on Buildings.  PV system 
circuits installed on or in buildings shall include a rapid shutdown function that 
controls specific conductors in accordance with 690.12(1) through (5) as follows: 

 
(1) Requirements for controlled conductors shall apply only to PV system 

conductors of more than 1.5 m (5 ft) in length inside a building, or more than 
3 m (10 ft) from a PV array. 
 

(2) Controlled conductors shall be limited to not more than 30 volts and 240 volt-
amperes within 10 seconds of rapid shutdown initiation. 
 

(3) Voltage and power shall be measured between any two conductors and 
between any conductor and ground. 
 

(4) The rapid shutdown initiation methods shall be labeled in accordance with 
690.56(C). 
 

(5) Equipment that performs the rapid shutdown shall be listed and identified.  
690.56 Identification of Power Sources. 
 
(C) Facilities with Rapid Shutdown. Buildings or structures with both utility 
service and a PV system, complying with 690.12, shall have a permanent 
plaque or directory including the following wording: PHOTOVOLTAIC 
SYSTEM EQUIPPED WITH RAPID SHUTDOWN. The plaque or directory 
shall be reflective, with all letters capitalized and having a minimum height of 
9.5 mm (3/8” in.), in white on red background.  

  



People Helping People Build a Safer World™

2012 International Codes®
New Codes for a Changing World

ORDER YOUR CODES TODAY!
1-800-786-4452  |  www.iccsafe.org/2012icodes scroll for more changes 

New Editions Coming  
Spring–Summer 2011
2012 International Building Code

2012 International Residential Code

2012 International Fire Code

2012 International Energy Conservation Code

2012 International Plumbing Code

2012 International Mechanical Code

2012 International Fuel Gas Code

2012 International Private Sewage Disposal Code

2012 International Existing Building Code

2012 International Property Maintenance Code

2012 International Wildland-Urban Interface Code

2012 International Zoning Code

2012 ICC Performance Code for Buildings and Facilities

New I-Codes Coming Spring 2012
2012 International Green Construction Code

2012 International Swimming Pool and Spa Code

What’s New in the 2012 I-Codes? 
Key changes include:

2012 IBC®

Nonstructural
• All definitions are included in Chapter 2.
•  Classifications for a variety of health-care related 

facilities have been clarified.
•  Covered- and open-mall provisions revised to fully 

address the construction of open malls.
•  Clarified provisions for incidental-use rooms and spaces.
•  Modified provisions addressing exterior wall projections.
•  Reformatted requirements for protection of vertical 

openings through floors.
•  Automatic sprinkler systems required where furniture 

and mattresses are manufactured or stored.
•  Increased capacity for stairways and other egress 

components in buildings with sprinklers and an 
emergency communication system.

•  Clarification of when unenclosed stairways can be used 
as a part of the means of egress system, including how 
travel distance is measured.

•  In three- and four-exit buildings, some exits are now 
permitted to serve a portion of a story rather than an 
entire story.

Structural
•  Wind design requirements extensively revised.
•  Wind load maps are now based on ultimate design wind 

speeds.
•  New terminology for wind speeds.
•  Updated seismic ground motion maps.
•  The term “occupancy category” changed to “risk 

category.”
•  Special inspection requirements for structural steel 

and masonry construction are now based on referenced 
standards.

•  Penetration firestop and fire-resistant joint systems 
in high-rise buildings and in Risk Category III or IV 
structures require special inspection.

•  Modifications to the seismic provisions of ACI 318 
Appendix D.



ORDER YOUR CODES TODAY!
1-800-786-4452  |  www.iccsafe.org/2012icodes

11-04655

2012 IRC®

• New Seismic Design Categories maps.
• Wind design including new maps.
• Exterior wall clearances to lot lines.
• Wireless smoke alarms. 
• Prescriptive roof connections to resist wind uplift forces. 
•  Required clearance between townhouse separation walls 

and roof penetrations.
•  Prescriptive requirements for isolated masonry pier 

foundations.
•  Gypsum board under non fire-resistance rated floor 

assemblies.
•  Wall bracing provisions including a new simplified 

method.
• Prescriptive design of whole-house ventilation systems.
• Gray water recycling systems.

2012 IFC®

•  Complete reformatting into eight different parts that 
correlate to a specific area of regulation.

•  New requirements for: photovoltalic solar cells on 
roofs; mass notification fire alarm systems in large 
stadiums; portable fire extinguishers in Group A, B, 
and E occupancies; sub-atmospheric gas systems; and 
automated LP-Gas cylinder exchange cabinets.

•  Revised definitions for health, day and ambulatory care 
occupancies.

•  Clarified automatic sprinkler protection requirements for 
upholstered furniture.

• Revised requirements for specific dry cleaning plants.

2012 IECC®

•  A comprehensive set of changes includes measures 
to improve the thermal envelope, HVAC systems and 
electrical systems of residential buildings up to three 
stories in height. 

•  Commercial enhancements include required energy 
savings for windows, doors and skylights; thermal 
envelope efficiency; and increased efficiencies for 
installed HVAC equipment.

2012 IPC®

•  All plumbing products and materials are now required to 
be listed by a third party certification agency.

 •   Requirements for the design of a Siphonic Roof Drainage 
System have been added.

•  Gray water recycling requirements have moved to the 
body of the code in a new Chapter 13.

•  “Hydro-mechanical” and “Gravity” are the new terms for 
the two general types of grease interceptors.

•  Air admittance valves complying with standard ASSE 
1049 are now allowed for venting chemical waste 
systems.

•  The length of a combination waste and vent system is 
now unlimited.

• The Single Stack Vent System method has been added.
•  The code expands on suitable materials for pressurized 

sewage discharge applications and ratings.

2012 IMC®

•  New and existing mechanical systems must be 
maintained in accordance with ASHRAE/ACCA/ANSI 
Standard 180.

•  Parking garage exhaust now defined as environmental 
air.

•  Includes specifications for grease reservoirs in 
commercial cooking exhaust duct systems.

• Includes requirements for underground grease ducts.
•  Requires any combustible material in a return air plenum 

to be listed and labeled to verify compliance with ASTM 
E-84 or UL 723.

• Air dispersion systems are now allowed.
• New requirements for evaporative coolers.

2012 IFGC®

•  All piping, tubing and fittings in a fuel gas system must 
bear the manufacturer’s identification.

•  Clarification that gypsum board requires reduced 
clearances to combustibles the same as any other 
combustible material.

•  Requirement of flashback arrestors and check valves in 
fuel gas systems used with oxygen.



Town of Florence

April 15, 2019 Council Meeting



 The One Stop Shop team has been actively 
working towards adoption of the 2012 
Technical Codes for 18 months.
Council held a Work Session on  January 29, 
2018 to review the 2012 Codes.
Staff is recommending the adoption of the 
2012 Technical Codes with an effective date of 
July 1, 2019. 



Resolution No.  1693-19.
Adopts the Technical Codes by reference
One copy in Clerk’s Office
Electronic copy on Town website
Adopts the amendments and modification by 
reference in Exhibit “A”
Recommend approval on April 15, 2019. 



Ordinance No. 674-19 
Adopts the Codes by Reference
Codifies the Code to include all amendments to 
the Technical Codes
Adoption recommended for May 6, 2019
Effective day July 1, 2019
Must be advertised after adoption and posted in 
three locations.



Ordinance No. 675-19
 Each Technical Code has an appeal section with 
independent appeal requirements.
The amendments strikes appeal section and refers 
to Section 150.301 of the Town Code.
Suggested amendment include
Decision rendered in writing
Special Meetings held when necessary
¾ vote to overturn Code Official decision



Accessible and Usable Buildings and Facilities ICC A117.1, 2009 
Edition Standards 
 International Building Code, 2012 Edition, with Appendix C & I;
 International Energy Conservation Code, 2012 Edition is voluntary;
 International Existing Building Code, 2012 Edition;
 International Fire Code, 2012 Edition, with Appendix B, C, D, E, F, G, H 

& I
 International Fuel Gas Code, 2012 Edition;
 International Mechanical Code, 2012 Edition;



 International Plumbing Code, 2012 Edition

 International Property Maintenance Code, 2012 Edition;

 International Residential Code, 2012 Edition, with Appendix G, H & P;

 International Swimming Pool and Spa Code, 2012 Edition;

National Electrical Code, 2011 Edition;



Town of Florence

April 15, 2019 Council Meeting



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM 
13e. 

MEETING DATE:  April 15, 2019  
 
DEPARTMENT:  One Stop Shop 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Lisa Garcia/James Allen/John Kemp 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   
Subject:   Ordinance adopting 2012 Codes     Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 1 of 3 

 
SUBJECT:  Ordinance No. 674-19: Adoption of the 2012 
International Building Codes. 

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
  Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality        Economic Prosperity   Leadership and Governance     
 Partnership and Relationships         Transportation and Infrastructure 
 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
First Reading of Ordinance No.  674-19:  AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, 
PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, ADOPTING THE FOLLOWING PUBLICATIONS WITH 
APPENDICES AND TOWN OF FLORENCE AMENDMENTS AS LISTED HEREIN ARE 
ADOPTED BY REFERENCE. REGULATING AND GOVERNING THE CONDITIONS AND 
MAINTENANCE OF ALL PROPERTY, BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES; BY PROVIDING 
THE STANDARDS FOR SUPPLIED UTILITIES AND FACILITIES AND OTHER PHYSICAL 
THINGS AND CONDITIONS ESSENTIAL TO ENSURE THAT STRUCTURES ARE SAFE, 
SANITARY AND FIT FOR OCCUPATION AND USE; AND CONDEMNATION OF BUILDINGS 
AND STRUCTURES UNFIT FOR HUMAN OCCUPANCY AND USE AND DEMOLITION OF 
SUCH STRUCTURES IN THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA; PROVIDING FOR THE 
ISSUANCE OF PERMITS AND COLLECTION OF FEES THEREFORE; REPEALING 
SECTION 150.300 OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES AND ALL 
OTHER ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF LAWS IN CONFLICT THEREWITH.    
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
Building Codes are a set of rules that detail the minimum acceptable level of safety for 
erected Structures. The main purpose of the codes is to protect public health, safety and 
general welfare as it relates to construction and occupancy of building and structures. 
Once adopted the code becomes the formal regulation of the Town and is considered 
standard building practice. 
 
At the recommendation of the International Code Council (ICC), an association of building 
professionals which establish building and construction standards, the Town of Florence 
is taking steps toward updating and implementing 2012 International Building Codes in 



Subject:   Ordinance adopting 2012 Codes     Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 2 of 3 

an effort to improve Town building standards. The International Codes (I-Codes) provide 
minimum building safeguards for commercial, residential, and institutional structures 
benefiting public safety and creating a building standard across the country without 
jurisdictional limitations. The I - Codes have been adopted in all fifty states and the District 
of Columbia; these codes are utilized at the local, state, and Federal level and have 
become the accepted practice in building construction. 
 
ICC Building Codes are updated every 3 years and can have significant impact on how 
future development is regulated within a Town or City. 
 
The Town of Florence has spent the past 18 months dedicated to: 
 Crafting necessary amendments to the 2012 ICC 
 Ensuring that our amendments are user and customer friendly with regard to 

understanding and life safety specific information and regulations 
 Cleaning up deficiencies and ambiguities in the 2006 ICC by way of removing 

sections that were no longer needed due to changes in the new Code 
 Adding language specifically applicable to the community we live in 
 Attempting to standardize requirements, as much as possible, to properly 

implement a "One Stop Shop" that will make it easier for the general public and the 
building trades to work in this area, without compromising life safety 

 Come up with a product that would be understandable, enforceable, and life 
safety oriented while taking into consideration our customers' needs 
 

 Purpose for the adoption of the 2012 ICC 
o Our present code (2006 ICC) is 10 years old 3 code cycles have past 
o The 2012 ICC addresses new technology in the construction industry 
o Our present ISO Rating assumes code updates every 6 years 

 
The attached document is for informational purposes only and includes a list of significant 
changes between the 2006 and 2012 International Codes. 
 
Attached is the general tabular outline detailing the more significant changes that occurred 
from the 2006 I Codes to the 2012 I Codes.  
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 
 
A no vote would mean that the Town of Florence will not proceed at this time with adopting the 
2012 Codes.  
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 
 
A yes vote would mean that that Town of Florence has adopted the 2012 Technical Codes and 
they will be effective on July 1, 2019. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
If the codes are successfully update the Town will need to advertise the adoption ordinance as 
well as codify the Exhibit of the Resolution into the Code of Ordinances. 
 



Subject:   Ordinance adopting 2012 Codes     Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 3 of 3 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Ordinance No. 674-19 
 



ORDINANCE NO.  674-19 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA ADOPTING THE 
FOLLOWING PUBLICATIONS WITH APPENDICES AND TOWN OF FLORENCE 
AMENDMENTS AS LISTED HEREIN ARE ADOPTED BY REFERENCE; 
REGULATING AND GOVERNING THE CONDITIONS AND MAINTENANCE OF ALL 
PROPERTY, BUILDINGS AND STRUCTURES; BY PROVIDING THE STANDARDS 
FOR SUPPLIED UTILITIES AND FACILITIES AND OTHER PHYSICAL THINGS AND 
CONDITIONS ESSENTIAL TO ENSURE THAT STRUCTURES ARE SAFE, SANITARY 
AND FIT FOR OCCUPATION AND USE; AND CONDEMNATION OF BUILDINGS AND 
STRUCTURES UNFIT FOR HUMAN OCCUPANCY AND USE AND DEMOLITION OF 
SUCH STRUCTURES IN THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA; PROVIDING FOR 
THE ISSUANCE OF PERMITS AND COLLECTION OF FEES THEREFOR; 
REPEALING SECTION 150.300 OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES AND ALL OTHER ORDINANCES OR PARTS OF LAWS IN CONFLICT 
THEREWITH; AND PROVIDING FOR AN EFFECTIVE DATE OF JULY 1, 2019.. 
 

WHEREAS, the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of Florence (the “Town”) 
support the ongoing evaluation and assessment of the Technical Codes and the 
occasional adoption of new codes that are in the best interest of the Town; and 

 
WHEREAS, Technical Codes are provided for the purpose of protecting the public 

health, safety and welfare of the residents and visitors of Florence; and 
 
WHEREAS, a certain document entitled " Technical Code Updates", including all 

Appendices, one paper copy and one electronic copy on the Town’s website which is on 
file in the Office of the Town Clerk, of the Town of Florence, which document was made 
a public record by Resolution No 1693-19, is hereby referred to, adopted and made a part 
hereof as if fully set forth in this Ordinance; and 

 
WHEREAS,  the Technical Code updates as adopted by Resolution No. 1693-19 

are regulating and governing the conditions and maintenance of all property, buildings 
and structures; by providing the standards for supplied utilities and facilities and other 
physical things and conditions essential to ensure that structures are safe, sanitary and 
fit for occupation and use; and condemnation of buildings and structures unfit for human 
occupancy and use and demolition of such structures in the Town of Florence, Arizona; 
providing for the issuance of permits and collection of fees therefor; and all the 
regulations, provisions, penalties, conditions and terms of said codes; and   

 
WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the Town to amend the Town off Florence 

Code of Ordinances, as provided herein, to support the adoption of the Technical Codes 
with all Appendices as set forth in Exhibit “A” attached to Resolution No. 1693-19. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of 

Florence, Arizona, as follows: 



Section 1.  Should there be any conflicting provision of the Technical Codes with 
any other Codes and regulations adopted by the Town of Florence, the more restrictive 
code requirement shall take precedence. 

 
Section 2.  That Title XV Land Usage of the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances 

is hereby amended with the following amendments to Section 150.300 Codes Adopted of 
the of Technical Codes with addendums, appendices, and alternatives as included and 
on file at the Clerk’s Office and online electronically per Resolution No. 1693-19, Exhibit 
“A”, and as codified in the Town Code of Ordinances.   
The following publications are adopted by reference: 
 

TECHNICAL CODES 
§ 150.300 CODES ADOPTED 

 
A. International Building Code, 2012 Edition, with Appendix B, C & I; 
B. International Residential Code, 2012 Edition, with Appendix G, H & P; 
C. International Mechanical Code, 2012 Edition; 
D. International Plumbing Code, 2012 Edition; 
E. International Property Maintenance Code, 2012 Edition; 
F. International Fuel Gas Code, 2012 Edition; 
G. International Energy Conservation Code, 2006 Edition; 

International Energy Conservation Code, 2012 Edition is voluntary; 
H. International Existing Building Code, 2012 Edition; 
I. International Swimming Pool and Spa Code, 2012 Edition; 
J. National Electrical Code, 2011 Edition; 
K. Accessible and Usable Buildings and Facilities ICC A117.1, 2009 Edition 

Standards; 
L. 2015 ADA  
M. International Fire Code, 2012 Edition, with Appendix A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H & I 

 
Section 4.  That if any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this 

legislation is, for any reason held to be unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the 
validity of the remaining portions of this ordinance.  The Town of Florence, Arizona hereby 
declares that it would have passed this law, and each section, subsection, clause or 
phrase thereof, irrespective of the fact that any one or more sections, subsections, 
sentences, clauses and phrases be declared unconstitutional. 

 
Section 5. That nothing in this legislation or in the Technical Codes hereby adopted 

shall be construed to affect any suit or proceeding impending in any court, or any rights 
acquired, or liability incurred, or any cause or causes of action acquired or existing, under 
any act or ordinance hereby repealed as cited in section 3 of this law; nor shall any just 
or legal right or remedy of any character be lost, impaired or affected by this legislation. 



Section 6. That the town of Florence, Arizona is hereby ordered and directed to 
cause this legislation to be published on the Town’s website as and as  and is hereby 
codified in the Town Code. 

 
Section 7. That this law and the rules, regulations, provisions, requirements, orders 

and matters established and adopted hereby shall take effect and be in full force and 
effect July 1, 2019. 

 
Section 8. Criminal Penalty: Among other penalties that may apply, including 

revocation or suspension of a license (when applicable), any person who violates any 
provision of this article, whether or not the act is specifically stated as being unlawful, 
shall be guilty of a class 3 misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished as 
provided in Section 10.99 of the Town Code.  

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence, 

Arizona, on this 6th day of May 2019. 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk    Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 



 

 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
13f.   

MEETING DATE:  April 15, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Administration 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk 
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
Subject:  Ordinance No. 675-19 Appeal Board Update Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 1 of 2 

SUBJECT:  Ordinance No. 675-19: Appeal Board Update  
 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Ordinance No. 675-19: First reading of AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, 
PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF FLORENCE CODE OF 
ORDINANCES BY MODIFYING SECTION 150.301; TITLED BOARD OF APPEALS; BY 
INSERTING NEW TEXT AS UNDERLINED AND DELETING TEXT BY STRIKETHROUGH.  
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
With the adoption of the 2012 Codes, staff has removed the appeal section of each code 
and replaced the language with the following:  
 
Appeal section of the Technical Codes will be deleted in its entirety and replace as follows: 
In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions, determinations made by the 
Code Official(s) relative to the application and interpretation of the technical codes, there 
shall be and is hereby created a Board of Appeals.  A person shall have the right to appeal 
a decision of the Code Official to the Board of Appeals pursuant to Section 150.301 of 
the Town of Florence Code of Ordinances. 
 
Staff is suggesting the following additions and or amendments Section 150.301:  
 
301(B) 6 is added to read as follows:  
 

1. The Board shall render all decisions and findings in writing to the appellant with a 
duplicate copy to the Building Official and Fire Code Official.  



 

Subject:  Ordinance No. 675-19 Appeal Board Update Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 2 of 2 

 
130(C) 2 and 3 are amended to read as follows: 

  
1. The Board shall hold one regular meeting a month hold Special Meetings when 

business is pending before the Board, unless otherwise directed by the Chairman.  
Special Board meetings may be called by the Building Official, Fire Code Official, 
Chairman, or two members of the Board. 
 

2. Quorum.  Three members of the Board shall constitute a quorum.  The affirmative 
vote of the majority of members present shall be required for the passage of 
general business any matters before the Board.  In order to reverse the decision 
or modify, order, or determination of the Building Official or Fire Code Official a 
two-thirds affirmative vote of the voting members of the Appeals Board is required.  

 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

A no vote would be that the code would remain unchanged. 
 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

The Town Code would be codified to include the changes as listed in the background 
section.  
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None  
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Ordinance No. 675-19  



Ordinance No. 675-19 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL 
COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE CODE OF ORDINANCES BY MODIFYING 
SECTION 150.301; TITLED BOARD OF APPEALS; BY 
INSERTING NEW TEXT AS UNDERLINED AND DELETING 
TEXT BY STRIKETHROUGH.  
 

 BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Town Council of the Town of Florence, 
Arizona, as follows: 

 Section 150.301, Board of Appeals. 

(A) CREATION, MEMBERSHIP, PURPOSE, FILING DEADLINE. 
 

1. In order to hear and decide appeals of orders, decisions or determinations made 
by the Building Official, or Fire Code Official, relative to the application and 
interpretation of the Town’s adopted technical codes, there shall be and is hereby 
created a Board of Appeals (the “Board”).  The Board shall consist of five voting 
members, who are qualified by experience and training to pass upon matters 
pertaining to building construction, who are qualified by experience and training to 
pass on matters pertaining to hazards of fire, explosions, hazardous conditions or 
fire protections systems and the Town’s adopted technical codes.  Members shall 
not be employees of the Town of Florence. Members may include persons who 
reside outside the boundaries of the Town of Florence.  The Building Official and 
Fire Code Official shall be ex officio members of the Board and shall act as 
secretary to the Board, but they shall have no vote upon any matter before the 
Board. 
 

2. The Board is appointed by the Town Council and shall hold office at the pleasure 
of the Town Council.  The Board shall adopt rules of procedure for conducting its 
business.  
 

3. An application for appeal by an aggrieved person shall be based on a claim that 
the true intent of the relevant technical code or the rules legally adopted by the 
Town have been incorrectly interpreted, the provisions of the code do not fully 
apply, an equally good or better form of construction is proposed, or an equivalent 
method of protection or safety is proposed.  The Board shall provide a means by 
which aggrieved persons, after having proceeded through the administrative 
appeal process, may have a method by which to appeal said decision or 
regulations.  
 

4. The Administrative Appeal is the start of the appeal process to the Town’s adopted 
technical codes.  It is a weekly, no fee, informal procedure in which the applicant 
and Building Official and/or Fire Code Official meet to resolve the item under 
consideration.  



 
5. Appeals to the Administrative Appeal process or Board of Appeals are to be made 

within twenty (20) calendar days from receiving such notice of a final decision by 
the Building Official or Fire Code Official, on the form provided by the Building 
Official.  
 

(B) POWERS. 
 

1. The Board my approve the use of alternate materials or methods of construction; 
provided the alternate is for the purpose intended and the equivalent of that 
prescribed in the Town’s adopted technical codes in suitability, strength, 
effectiveness, fire-resistance, durability, safety, and sanitation.  
 

2. The Board on request or on its own motion, may provide reasonable  interpretation 
of the technical provisions of the adopted technical codes in special cases when it 
appears that the provisions of the code are inadequate and do not cover the point 
in question.  “Technical provisions” shall mean all provisions except the 
administrative provisions. 
 

3. Any person directly affected by a decision of the Building Official or Fire Code 
Official applying to the technical provisions of the adopted technical codes or to an 
alternate material or method of construction may request to appear before the 
Board. 
 

4. The Board shall have no authority to waive requirements of the technical codes. 
 

5. Any person directly affected by a decision of the Building Official or Fire Code 
Official or a notice or order issued under the technical codes shall have the right 
to appeal to the Board of Appeals, provided that a written application to appeal is 
filed in the Office of the Town Clerk within twenty (20) days after the decision, 
notice, or order was served.  Application for appeal shall be based on a claim that: 
the true intent of the relevant technical code or the rules legally adopted by the 
Town have been incorrectly interpreted, the provisions of the code do not fully 
apply, an equally good or better form of construction is proposed, or an equivalent 
method of protection or safety is proposed. The Board shall have no authority to 
waive the requirements of the technical codes.  
 

6. The Board shall render all decisions and findings in writing to the appellant with a 
duplicate copy to the Building Official and Fire Code Official.  
 

7. The Board may recommend new legislation to the Town Council, provided such is 
consistent therewith. 

(C) MEETINGS. 

1. General.  Upon receipt, in proper form, of the notice of appeal, the Board shall 
proceed to hold a public hearing upon the appeal at which all persons whose 



property is directly affected, and the general public shall be given an opportunity 
to be heard. 
 
The Town Council will receive and file all minutes of the Board in a public meeting.  
The Board’s minutes will include all Board proceedings, showing the vote of each 
member and all actions taken shall be kept.  Records of its examination, minutes, 
and other official actions shall be filed in the office of the Town Clerk and shall be 
open to public inspection except as otherwise specifically provided by law. 
 

2. The Board shall hold one regular meeting a month hold Special Meetings when 
business is pending before the Board, unless otherwise directed by the Chairman.  
Special Board meetings may be called by the Building Official, Fire Code Official, 
Chairman, or two members of the Board. 
 

3. Quorum.  Three members of the Board shall constitute a quorum.  The affirmative 
vote of the majority of members present shall be required for the passage of 
general business any matters before the Board.  In order to reverse the decision 
or modify, order, or determination of the Building Official or Fire Code Official a 
two-thirds affirmative vote of the voting members of the Appeals Board is required.  
 

4. Staying of Proceedings.  An appeal stays all proceedings in the matter appealed 
from, unless the Building Official or Fire Code Official certifies to the Board that, in 
his/her opinion by the facts stated in the certificate, there is reasonable cause that 
a stay could cause a hazard or is otherwise dangerous to human life or the public 
welfare.  Upon such certification, proceedings shall not be stayed, except by a 
restraining order granted by a Court of Record on application and notice to the 
Building Official and Fire Code Official.  
 

(D) APPOINTMENT. 

1. General. The Board shall consist of five members appointed by the Town Council.  
Members may be made up of qualified persons serving on Town boards or 
commissions or that may be otherwise qualified through their profession. Members 
may include persons who reside outside the boundaries of the Town of Florence.  
Those persons who are currently Board members shall continue to hold their 
positions pursuant to the terms and conditions of this chapter.  
 

2. Officers.  The Board shall elect a Chairman and Vice-Chairman from among its 
members, neither of whom shall be an ex officio member.  The Chairman (or the 
acting Chairman in the Chairman’s absence or disqualification) shall have the 
power to administer oaths and take evidence. 
 

3. Membership of Board. The Board of Appeals shall consist of five members who 
are qualified by experience and training to pass on matters pertaining to building 
construction and property maintenance and who are not employees of the Town 



of Florence.  The Building Official and Fire Code Official shall be ex-officio 
members but shall not vote on any matters before the Board.  
 

4. Term.  The term of office of a member shall be staggered and overlapping four 
years.   The Chairman and Vice-Chairman shall serve for a one-year period or until 
their successors are elected.  

(E) ADMINISTRATIVE APPEAL.  Whenever an applicant wishes to appeal the decision 
of the Building Official or Fire Code Official because of code interpretation, unreasonable 
hardship, special circumstances/conditions that are not self-imposed, or other acceptable 
reasons prior to the issuance of a final Certificate of Occupancy, such no fee appeal may 
be made to be heard by the Building Official or Fire Code Official as follows: 

1. The applicant shall file a written appeal fully describing the situation, on or before 
12:00 p.m.  Friday of each week. The application shall bear the name, address, 
and signature of the applicant, along with a description of the matter in sufficient 
detail to provide reasonable notice to the Building Official or Fire Code Official of 
the issues to be presented.   
 

2. The appeal will be heard at a regular time to be specified by the Building Official. 
 

3. The Building Official or Fire Code Official may use a nonvoting hearing committee 
consisting of such staff or other technical persons as she/he deems appropriate. 
 

4. If an appeal is disapproved, the applicant shall comply with the final decision of the 
Building Official or Fire Code Official or make application and pay the applicable 
fee to appear before the Board of Appeals.  Such application shall be made within 
twenty (20) days after the Building Official’s, or Fire Code Official’s final decision. 
 

(F)  BOARD CALENDAR.   The Board shall decide on any matter within twenty (20) 
calendar days after the date of the hearing thereon and such decisions shall be final. 

(G) COURT REVIEW.  Any person aggrieved by a decision of the Board may at any time 
within thirty (30) days after the Board’s decision file an appeal with the Pinal County 
Superior Court by the various methods of procedure as set forth by the applicable State 
Statues.  

(H) REAPPLICATION.  In the event that an appeal is denied or technically denied by the 
Board, the Board shall reserve the right to refuse to consider another appeal on the same 
subject matter under like circumstances within one year from the date of hearing of the 
previous appeal.  

(I) EXECUTIVE SESSIONS.  Executive Sessions of the Board of Appeals may be held 
for only those reasons and pursuant to those conditions authorized by State Law, 
including the Town’s adopted technical codes.  No executive sessions may be held for 
the purpose of taking any final action or making any final decision. 



(J) FINANCIAL.  The Board of Appeals shall not incur debts nor make any purchases or 
enter into any contracts binding the Town. 

(K) CONFLICT OF INTEREST.  Any member of this Board of Appeals who has a conflict 
of interest in any matter brought before this Board of Appeals, shall make known such 
interest in the minutes of the Board of Appeals and shall refrain from voting upon or 
otherwise participating in any manner in such matter.  The existence of conflict of interest 
shall be determined by reference to the State Law and Town Codes. 

(L) FEES. An Application to appear before the Board shall be accompanied by the 
necessary documents along with the prescribed nonrefundable application fee. 

If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this ordinance or 
any part of these amendments to the Town Code adopted herein   is for any reason held 
to be invalid or unconstitutional by the decisions of any court of competent jurisdiction, 
such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence, 

Arizona, on the ____ day of May 2019. 
 
 

___________________________ 
 Tara Walter, Mayor 

 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
 

 
__________________________           
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk    Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 
 



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
13g.  

MEETING DATE:  April 15, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Administration 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:   Lisa Garcia, Deputy Town 
Manager/Town Clerk 
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  
nd
Subject:  Ordinance No. 673-19 Regulation of Mobile Food Units Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 1 of 3 

SUBJECT:  Ordinance No. 673-19: Regulation of Mobile Food 
Units 

 2  Reading 
 Other 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnerships and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
First reading of Ordinance No. 673-19: AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCE, 
ARIZONA, TITLE XI  BUSINESS REGULATIONS, BY ADOPTING A NEW CHAPTER 
111 RELATING TO THE REGULATION OF MOBILE FOOD UNITS; ESTABLISHING A 
PURPOSE; SETTING FORTH DEFINITIONS; PROVIDING FOR PERMIT 
REQUIREMENTS; ESTABLISHING OPERATIONAL REQUIREMENTS; SETTING 
FORTH VIOLATIONS; ESTABLISHING PENALTIES; AND SETTING FORTH AN 
EFFECTIVE DATE.  
 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
In 2018 House Bill (HB) B2371 established a statewide food and health safety licensing 
standards for mobile food vending operations, intended specifically for food trucks.  Of 
interest to cities and towns are the provisions of the new law that standardize the local 
regulation of food truck operations, including provisions related to use of public parking 
spaces, required fire and safety inspections, operations on private property and required 
spacing distances from existing bricks-and-mortar restaurants, among others.  
 
The sponsor of this legislation, Representative Kevin Payne (R-Peoria), asserted the 
necessity for uniformity across the state due to the recent growth and popularity of the 
industry and operations that extend beyond jurisdictional boundaries of many 



Subject:  Ordinance No. 673-19 Regulation of Mobile Food Units Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 2 of 3 

communities, where the industry claims there has been inconsistent enforcement of local 
codes and ordinances.  
 
The League convened a small group of attorneys to draft a model ordinance to comply 
with the legislation and provide for consistent regulation the industry is seeking. The 
League included suggestions from the National League of Cities and other city codes 
from across the country, feedback from the National Food Truck Association, and met 
with local food truck vendors to discuss the draft ordinance and incorporate their 
feedback.  
 
Vendors expressed these provisions are the most important to their industry to have 
standardized and adopting these will most likely avoid further state regulation and 
preemption in this area.  
 
Below are some highlights of the model ordinance:  
 
Parking  
The ordinance excludes parking in Town-owned lots unless a vendor has permission from 
the city or town. Vendors are limited to use one space on a Town-owned lot and must 
request permission to use more parking spaces.  
 
Time limits on use of legal parking spaces is limited to no more than six (6) hours in a 24-
hour period unless other restrictions apply.  Vendors are prohibited from establishing an 
exclusive right to park at a particular street location.  
 
Parking on private property will require proof of permission from the property owner and 
there is an option included to establish a 96-hour time limit with exceptions.  
 
Operational Requirements  
This section contains the provisions that are most important to the industry to have 
standardized among all cities and towns, including requirements for fire inspections, utility 
hookups, site management, trash removal, noise, and parking and location restrictions, 
among others.  
 
Fire and Safety Inspections  
Arizona Fire Marshall’s Association has approved the standard inspection protocol for 
food trucks.  
 
Fees  
The fee amounts are the same as the amount for an annual business license, $50 per 
year. 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

A No vote would mean that the Town of Florence would not be in compliant with House 
Bill B2371 which established a statewide food and health safety licensing standards for 
mobile food vending operations, intended specifically for food trucks. 



Subject:  Ordinance No. 673-19 Regulation of Mobile Food Units Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 3 of 3 

 
A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

A Yes vote would mean that the Town of Florence is compliant with House Bill B2371 
which established a statewide food and health safety licensing standards for mobile food 
vending operations, intended specifically for food trucks. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
None 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Ordinance No. 673-19 
 



ORDINANCE NO. 673-19 
 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, 
ARIZONA, AMENDING THE CODE OF ORDINANCE, ARIZONA, TITLE 
XI BUSINESS REGULATIONS, BY ADOPTING A NEW CHAPTER 111 
RELATING TO THE REGULATION OF MOBILE FOOD UNITS; 
ESTABLISHING A PURPOSE; SETTING FORTH DEFINITIONS; 
PROVIDING FOR PERMIT REQUIREMENTS; ESTABLISHING 
OPERATIONAL REQUIREMENTS; SETTING FORTH VIOLATIONS; 
ESTABLISHING PENALTIES; AND SETTING FORTH AN EFFECTIVE 
DATE.  

 
WHEREAS, the Town is authorized to enact and enforce regulations and zoning 

codes regulating to mobile food units or mobile food vendors that are not otherwise 
prohibited by law; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Town is authorized to regulate mobile food vendors pursuant to 
applicable law, including Arizona Revised Statutes Sections 9-485, 9-485.01, 9-485.02, 
and 36-1761; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town recognizes that mobile food vendors create opportunities 

for economic development and can provide affordable, food [and goods] at a variety of 
locations and events; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town seeks to protect public health, safety and welfare through a 

reasonable regulatory program of mobile food vendors that includes safety standards and 
parking regulations; and 
 

WHEREAS, with these regulations, the Town ensures that mobile food vendors 
comply with applicable law, including building, health, and sanitation codes, as applicable; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the Town seeks to minimize potential traffic safety threats by mobile 

food vendors who may impede the free flow of traffic, distract vehicle operators from 
observing traffic regulations, obstruct the view of pedestrians and vehicle operators, and 
encourage pedestrians who wish to inquire about services to cross the street in an unsafe 
and illegal manner.  

 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of 

Florence, Arizona, as follows:  



Section I. In General.  
The Code of Ordinances in Florence, Arizona, Article XI, Chapter 111, is hereby amended 
by adding a new Chapter 111, Mobile Food Vendors to read as follows:  
 
Chapter 111 
Sec. 111.01 Purpose  
Sec. 111.02 Definitions  
Sec. 111.03 Compliance with State Licensing Requirements  
Sec. 111.04 Licensing Requirements  
Sec. 111.05 Operational Requirements  
Sec. 111.06 Violations; Suspension; Revocation  
Sec. 111.07 Fines; Penalties  
  
 
Sec. 111.01 Purpose.  
 
This article is adopted to protect the health, safety and welfare of the community of the 
Town of Florence (“Town”) by enacting reasonable regulation for mobile food vendors, 
their employees, agents, lessees or independent contractors by requiring compliance with 
minimum standards for safety and security.  
 
Sec. 111.02 Definitions.  
 
The below words and phrases, wherever used in this article shall be construed as defined 
in this section unless, clearly from the context, a different meaning is intended.  Words 
used in the present tense include the future tense, words in the plural number include the 
singular number, and words in the singular number include the plural number.  
 

A. “Applicant” means the person who applies for a license pursuant to this article. 
 

B. “Controlling person” means a natural person who either (A) has a ten percent 
(10%) or greater interest in the ownership or earnings of the mobile merchant 
business, or (B) is any of the following:  
 
1. An officer, director, or any stockholder who owns ten percent (10%) or more, 

of a corporation licensee/applicant;  
 

2. A general partner of a limited partnership licensee/applicant or partner of a 
non-limited partnership licensee/applicant;  

 
3. An officer, president, member or secretary of a limited liability 

company/corporation licensee/applicant; or  
 
4. The sole proprietor of a sole proprietorship licensee/applicant.  

 
C. “Designated agent” means the person designated by the licensee/applicant to 

receive notices from the Town pursuant to this article.  



D. “Legal parking space”:  
 
1.  Means an area designated for vehicle parking in the Town right-of-way that 

may be paved or unpaved and may be delineated by road surface markings. 
  

2.  Does not include a parking space in a parking lot on property owned by the 
Town.  

 
E. “Permittee” means the person who applied for a permittee pursuant to this article 

and in whose name such permittee was issued by the Town pursuant to this article. 
 

F. "Mobile food unit" means a food establishment that is licensed by this state, that is 
readily movable and that dispenses food or beverages for immediate service and 
consumption and other incidental retail items from any vehicle as defined in 
Arizona Revised Statutes Section 28-101.  
 

G. "Mobile food vendor" means any person who owns, controls, manages or leases 
a mobile food unit or contracts with a person to prepare foods and vend from, drive 
or operate a mobile food unit.  
 

H. “Mobile merchant” means any person who sells any type of tangible personal 
property, including, but not limited to, food and drink, at or adjacent to the person’s 
mobile sales unit in which such tangible personal property is carried. This definition 
shall not include any person working or acting for a person holding a mobile 
merchant permit issued in accordance with this section.  
 

I. “Mobile sales unit” means any vehicle used for carrying tangible personal property 
for sale at or adjacent to the vehicle in which such tangible personal property is 
carried.  
 

J. Person” means an individual, partnership, corporation, association or any other 
entity of whatever kind or nature.  
 

K. “Right-of-way” means an area of land owned or controlled by the Town and is used 
for street or highway purposes.  
 

L. “Semi-permanent structure” means equipment, or any dining area, including, but 
not limited to, tables, chairs, booths, bar stools, benches, and standup counters.  

 
Sec. 111.03 Compliance with State Licensing Requirements.  
 

A. It shall be unlawful for any person to operate a mobile food unit or act as a mobile 
food vendor without having first obtained a valid license from the State of Arizona 
Department of Health Services, pursuant to A.R.S. § 36-1761.  
 

 
 



Sec. 111.04 Permit Requirements.  
 

A. It shall be unlawful for a person to operate a mobile food unit at any location within 
the Town without obtaining a permit from the Town Clerk in accordance with the 
Town Code. The mobile food vendor shall comply with the requirements of this 
article.  

 
B. A permit issued, pursuant to this article, including a renewal of a permit, is valid 

from the date of issuance through December 31st of that year if the mobile food 
vendor is in compliance with this article. The permit is nontransferable. 

  
Sec. 111.05 Operational Requirements.  
 

A. It is unlawful for any person to operate a mobile food unit that does not meet the 
requirements in this section. 
 

B. Fire Safety and Inspection.  A mobile food vendor must ensure that all mobile food 
unit comply with the version of the International Fire Code in effect at the time when 
the permit is issued, state law, and the Town Code relating to fire and explosion 
safety standards.  
 

C. A mobile food unit) shall be inspected by the Town’s Fire Department, or the mobile 
food vendor shall provide evidence that the mobile food unit passed a fire 
inspection by another city or town fire department in this state within the preceding 
twelve (12) months.  
 

D. Refuse, Trash and Litter Maintenance. A mobile food unit shall:  
 

1. Provide a minimum of one fifteen (15) gallon trash receptacle within fifteen 
(15) feet of each individual mobile food unit for customers and employees; 
 

2. Maintain an area around the mobile unit clear of litter, garbage, rubble and 
debris; and  

 
3. Transport the trash from the area of operation to an authorized waste disposal 

location.  
 

E. Noise Restrictions. 
  
1. A mobile food vendor shall not use, play, or caused to be used or played any 

amplifier, loudspeaker, microphone, amplified music, or any other amplified 
instrument or device used for the production of sound in a vending area when 
the motor vehicle or mobile food unit from which mobile food vendor is vending 
is stationary or mobile upon any right-of-way, park or other public place.  For 
the purposes of this subsection, the factors for determining whether a sound 
is amplified include, but are not limited to, the following:  
 



i. The proximity of the sound to sleeping facilities, whether residential or 
commercial; 
 

ii. The land use, nature, and zoning of the area from which the sound 
emanates and the area where it is received or perceived;  
 

iii. The time of day or night when the sound occurs; it shall be presumed that 
any amplified noise between 10:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. is disturbing to the 
public in violation of this section;  
 

iv. The duration of the sound; and  
 

v. Whether the sound is recurrent, intermittent, or constant.  
 
F. Security.  
 

1. The mobile food unit and the surrounding vending area shall be maintained in a 
safe and clean manner at all times.  
 

2. A mobile food unit shall have adequate lighting to ensure customer safety in the 
vending area.  Lighting shall be directed downwards and away from rights-of-way 
and adjacent properties.  

 
3. The mobile food unit and its customers shall not obstruct the movement of 

pedestrians or other vehicles using the sidewalk, street, alley, or other public right-
of-way.  

 
G. Insurance.  
 

1. If a mobile food vendor attends an event sponsored by the Town or operates on 
public property, including rights-of-way or property owned or controlled by the 
Town, the mobile food vendor shall obtain insurance policy naming the Town as 
an additional insured in amounts and coverage terms as required by the Town and 
in accordance with the requirements of A.R.S. Title 9, Chapter 4, Article 7.2.  
 

2. The insurance company issuing the policy shall be authorized to issue commercial 
liability policies in Arizona by the Arizona Department of Insurance.  
 

3. The policy shall designate by manufacturer’s serial or identification number all 
mobile food units for which coverage is granted.  

 
4. The policy shall insure the person named in the policy and any other person using 

the mobile food vendor, with the express or implied permission of the named 
insured, against any liability arising out of the ownership, maintenance or use of 
the mobile food unit in Arizona.  
 

5. Additional terms for insurance coverage may be required by the Town.  



 
H. Location. A mobile food vendor shall operate a mobile food unit only in Downtown 

Commercial, Highway Business Commercial, Tourist Commercial, Professional 
Office, Public/Institutional, Neighborhood Business, Neighborhood Office, Light 
Industrial Heavy Industrial zoning districts in accordance with the Town Zoning Code 
and subject to the following limitations and conditions:  

 
1. Residential Area. A mobile food vendor shall not operate in an area zoned for 

residential use or within two hundred fifty feet (250’) of an area zoned for residential 
use, except:  
 
a. A mobile food vendor selling only ice cream may operate on public rights-of-

way in areas zoned for residential use; or  
 

b. Subject to applicable laws and the Town Code, a mobile food vendor may 
operate on private property in a residential area if the mobile food vendor 
obtains a separate agreement with the property owner to operate a mobile 
food unit for a maximum of six (6) hours within a twenty-four (24) hour period 
on the private property.  

 
2. Town-Owned Property. A mobile food vendor shall only operate in a legal parking 

space.  If the mobile food vendor desires to operate on Town property other than 
a legal parking space in a right-of-way, the mobile food vendor shall obtain from 
the Town:  
 
a. A separate licensing for use, services contract, or similar agreement, which will 

be entered into at the Town’s sole discretion and applicable law; or  
 

b. A special event permit or similar permission in accordance with the Town Code.  
 

3. Private Property: A mobile food vendor shall obtain written permission to use any 
private property where a mobile food unit is operating and shall provide proof of 
such written permission on demand by the Town.   

 
4. Notwithstanding the permission of a person owning or having lawful control of 

private real property, a mobile food unit shall not remain in one location on private 
property for longer than ninety-six (96) consecutive hours, unless the Town grants 
permission for a permitted event greater than four (4) days.  “One location” within 
this subsection means a location within a parcel of land and includes movements 
from different parked positions within the same parcel.  
 

I. Parking. A mobile food unit shall comply with this subsection and applicable law as it 
pertains to parking, unless parking is governed by a separate subsection in this article 
1.  A mobile food unit shall only operate in a legal parking space. 
 
2. A mobile food unit, including any semi-permanent structure used or associated 

with the mobile food unit, may use no more than one (1) legal parking space, 



unless the mobile food vendor has a separate agreement with the Town to use 
additional legal parking spaces or parking spaces on Town property other than 
right-of-way.  
 

3. No mobile food unit exceeding twenty-four (24) feet may park diagonally in a 
diagonal parking space or park in any manner that occupies more than one (1) 
diagonal parking space.  

 
4. No mobile food unit shall operate with the serving window facing street traffic. 
 
5. A mobile food unit shall abide by all parking regulations, including posted time 

limits.  If there are no other time restrictions on the use of a legal parking space, a 
mobile food unit shall not occupy a legal parking space for more than six (6) hours 
in a twenty-four (24) hour period. “Occupy” within this subsection means within one 
hundred (100) feet of the place in which the mobile food unit was initially parked.  
 

6. A mobile food unit shall not occupy a legal parking space with insufficient parking 
capacity as prescribed by Town Zoning Code and applicable law, and includes 
occupying a legal parking space that reduces the number of available parking 
spaces surrounding the area which is required for the principal use or uses of the 
property associated with the parking spaces as set forth in A.R.S. Title 9, Chapter 
4, Article 7.2.  

 
7. A mobile food vendor shall not claim or attempt to establish any exclusive right to 

park at a particular street location, unless the parking space is part of a permitted 
event.  

 
J. Signs. A mobile food vendor shall comply with the Town Sign Code, pursuant to Town 

Code.  
 
Sec. 111.06 Violations; Suspension; Revocation.  
 
A. It is a violation of this article for any person to provide false information on any permit 

application.  
 

B. It is a violation of this article for a person to operate a mobile food unit that fails to 
meet all the requirements in this article.  

 
C. It is a violation of this article for a mobile food vendor to fail to display the permit or 

other required documents, including proof of insurance or fire inspection, to a law 
enforcement officer or Town inspector on demand.  

 
D. The Town shall give written notice of a violation to the permittee or designated agent 

that may result in the suspension or revocation of the permit. The notice shall include 
a description of the violation, the statutory or code reference, how the permittee can 
comply with the requirements, a description of the process whereby a hearing may be 
requested, the time limit for requesting a hearing, and a warning that failure to timely 



request a hearing may result in suspension or revocation of the permit. The notice 
shall be served on the permittee or designated agent by either personal service or 
registered/certified mail. Service of the notice shall be deemed complete upon mailing 
to, or personal service on, the permittee or designated agent.  

 
E. The permittee or designated agent receiving a notice under this section may request 

a hearing, pursuant to Chapter 110.40. If the permittee fails to comply with the 
requirements of this article by the date provided in the notice, the Town may suspend 
or revoke the permit, as provided in this section.  

 
F. In addition to any penalties set forth in this article, a permittee shall be suspended if, 

during the term of the permit, the permittee or a controlling person has violated any of 
the provisions of this article. During the suspension period, the permittee shall not 
operate any mobile food unit associated with the suspended permit. If a fine is 
associated with the violation that is the basis for suspension, the suspension may 
continue beyond the period set forth in this subsection until such time as the permittee 
pays the fine. The penalty for a suspension of a permit shall be:  

 
1. For the first suspension of a permit during a twelve-month period, the permit shall 

be suspended up to fourteen (14) calendar days in addition to other penalties and 
fines. 
 

2. For the second suspension of a permit during a twelve-month period, the permit 
shall be suspended to a minimum of fifteen (15) calendar days up to a maximum 
of thirty (30) calendar days in addition to penalties and fines.  
 

3. For the third suspension of a permit during a twelve-month period, the permit shall 
be revoked.  

 
G. In addition to a revocation for a third suspension as set forth above, the Town may 

revoke a permit issued pursuant to this article if the Town determines that:  
 

1. A mobile food unit associated with the suspended permit was operated in the Town 
during the suspension period; 
 

2. A permittee or designated agent or controlling person, following the issuance of a 
permit, is convicted of any offense listed in Sec. 111.04(F)(7);  
 

3. The permittee or designated agent operated, or attempted to operate a mobile food 
unit without a permit;  
 

4. The Town previously issued three (3) or more notices of suspension or violation 
within a six (6) month period;  
 

5. The permittee or controlling person has not complied with a provision of this article 
or has failed to provide information as required by this article;  
 



6. The application fee, permit fee, or any transaction privilege tax has not been paid; 
or  
 

7. The permittee fails to pay outstanding fines or resolve any violations.   
 

8. If a permit is revoked pursuant to this section, the permit and its controlling 
person(s) may not apply for a permit under this article for a period of one (1) year 
from the date of revocation.  

 
Sec. 111.07 Fines; Penalties.  
 
A. Each day any violation of any provision of this article shall continue it shall constitute 

a separate offense.  
 

B. Criminal Penalty: Among other penalties that may apply, including revocation or 
suspension of a permit (when applicable), any person who violates any provision of 
this article, whether or not the act is specifically stated as being unlawful, shall be 
guilty of a class 3 misdemeanor and upon conviction shall be punished as provided in 
Section 10.99 of the Town Code.  

 
Section II. Providing for Repeal of Conflicting Ordinances.  
 

All ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this 
Ordinance or any part of the Code adopted herein by reference, are hereby repealed.  
 
Section III. Recitals.  

 
The recitals above are fully incorporated in this Ordinance by reference.  

 
Section IV. Effective Date.  

 
The effective date of this Ordinance shall be thirty (30) days following adoption by 

the Town Council.  
 

Section V. Preservation of Rights and Duties.  
 
This Ordinance does not affect the rights and duties that matured, penalties that were 
incurred, or proceedings that were begun before the effective date of this Ordinance.  
Section VI. Providing for Severability.  
 
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase or portion of this Ordinance or any 
part of the Code adopted herein by reference, is for any reason held to be invalid or 
unconstitutional by the decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, such decision shall 
not affect the validity of the remaining portions thereof.  
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence, 
Arizona, on this 6th day of May 2019. 



 
 
       ________________________________ 
       Tara Walter, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM:  
 
 
________________________________  ________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk    Clifford L. Mattice, Town Attorney 
 
 
 



 

 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
13h.  

MEETING DATE:         April 15, 2019 
 
DEPARTMENT:           Community Development 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Larry Harmer 
                                     Community Development Director 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  
Subject:  Redevelopment Plan Update 2019        Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 1 of 3 

 
SUBJECT:                   Florence Redevelopment Plan Update

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

STRATEGIC PLAN REFERENCE:  

 Community Vitality       Economic Prosperity    Leadership and Governance    

 Partnership and Relationships       Transportation and Infrastructure 

 Statutory      None 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Approval of the Professional Services Agreement with PLAN/et Communities LLC, to 
update the Town of Florence Redevelopment Plan Update 2019, in an amount not to 
exceed $113,115. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
In December 2018, the Town issued a Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for consulting 
services for an update to the 2009 Redevelopment Plan as prescribe by recent State 
Legislation that requires an update every ten (10) years (§36.1471).  A mandatory pre-
submittal meeting was held on January 10, 2019.  At that meeting, emphasis was 
placed on reducing the overall volume of the Plan and developing realistic 
implementation strategies relatable to the Town as opposed to generic or overly 
generalized ideas. Responses were submitted on February 1, 2019. 
 
As noted in the 2009 Redevelopment Plan Update: “The Town of Florence 
Redevelopment Plan Update renovates the 1998 Downtown Redevelopment Plan by 
developing a vision and implementation plan as the framework for redeveloping 
Downtown Florence and restoring its vibrancy and sense of place. Additionally, this 
update will provide the foundation for revitalization as it relates to the elimination of slum 
and blight in both the commercial and residential development throughout the downtown 
area in accordance with Arizona Revised Statutes (ARS) § 36-1471.”  The 2019 update 
will continue this effort. 
 



 

Subject:  Redevelopment Plan Update 2019        Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 2 of 3 

The Town received two Statements of Qualifications (SOQ) and interviewed both 
teams.  PLAT/et emerged as the most qualified for this project and was asked to submit 
a proposal for the plan.  Their project team consists of PLAN/et (project lead), AECOM 
(planning, engineering and land use economist), Motley Design Group (historic 
preservation), WSP (land use/urban design), and Gammage & Burnham (legal). The 
proposal includes a complete scope of work, budget and timeline.  Town staff is 
recommending moving forward with the complete scope of work outlined in the attached 
in an amount not to exceed $113,115.  
 
The Scope of Work for the Redevelopment Plan Update 2019 project includes: 
 

 Visioning 
 Document Outline and Format 
 Base Mapping 
 Background and History 
 Redevelopment Planning, Land Use and Zoning 
 Community Facilities and Service Conditions 
 Socio-economic Conditions 
 Economic Base Indicators 
 Vision, Goals and Objectives Drafting 
 Redevelopment Plan Products (as outlined in State Statutes) 
 Historic Preservation 
 Cost of Development 
 Transportation and Circulation 
 Economic Development 
 Redevelopment Plan Implementation 
 Legal Reviews 
 Redevelopment Plan Public Participation Program 
 Project Completion 

 
The Redevelopment Plan update, along with the Parks and Recreation Comprehensive 
Plan, the Regional Transportation Plan and the Active Transportation Plan (all currently 
underway) will become a component of the upcoming update to the Town’s current 
2020 General Plan, which is also required to be updated every ten (10) years by statute.  
The Request for Qualifications (RFQ) for the 2030 General Plan is anticipated to be 
release prior to the end of FY 2018-2019. 
 
A VOTE OF NO WOULD MEAN: 

The Town would not move forward with the Town of Florence Redevelopment Plan 
Update 2019, a component of the General Plan update.  Town staff would need to 
recommend another option to the Town Council to generate this component of the 
General Plan update. 
 
 
 



 

Subject:  Redevelopment Plan Update 2019        Meeting Date:  April 15, 2019 
Page 3 of 3 

A VOTE OF YES WOULD MEAN: 

The Town would move forward with the Town of Florence Redevelopment Plan Update 
2019, a component of the General Plan update. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The Redevelopment Plan Update 2019 cost of $113,115. will be funded through 
budgeted funds from FY 2018-2019 and FY 2019-2020.  $350,000 was budgeted this 
fiscal year and another $300,000 proposed in the next fiscal year for comprehensive 
planning projects; the Parks and Recreation Comprehensive Plan and Site-Specific 
Plans ($241,969.) and the General Plan update.  While the Redevelopment Plan 
Update, an element of the General Plan, was not anticipated as an independent project, 
staff believes that it can be completed within the total budget estimate. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Professional Services Agreement 



TOWN OF FLORENCE 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CONTRACT 

 
THIS PROFESSIONAL SERVICES CONTRACT (“Contract”), is made and entered into as of 
April 15, 2019 (“Effective Date”), and is by and between the Town of Florence, a municipal 
corporation of the State of Arizona (“Town”), and PLAN-et Communities LLC (“Consultant”). 
The Town and the Consultant may be referred to in the Contract collectively as the “parties” and 
each individually as a “party”. 
 

RECITALS 
 
 WHEREAS, the Town desires to contract for Consultant services as specified in 
Appendix “A” (“Scope of Work” or “Services”);  
 
 WHEREAS, Consultant is duly qualified to perform the requested Services; 
 
 WHEREAS, Consultant has agreed to perform the Services as set forth in Appendix 
“A” attached hereto and incorporated herein; 
 
 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and obligations set forth 
herein, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which the 
parties acknowledge, the parties hereto agree as follows: 
 

AGREEMENTS 
 
1.0 DESCRIPTION, ACCEPTANCE, DOCUMENTATION 
 
Consultant shall act under the authority and approval of the Contract Administrator for the Town, 
further named herein, to provide the professional services required by this Contract. 
 

1.1 Service Description.  The Consultant shall provide the requested services as set 
forth in Appendix “A” (the “Services”).  This Contract includes this agreement, including any 
attachments, as agreed to by the parties to implement the Services. 
 

1.2 Acceptance and Documentation.   
 
  1.2.1 Each deliverable shall be reviewed and approved by the Town Manager 
or his designee to determine acceptable completion. 

 
  1.2.2. The Town shall provide all necessary information to the Consultant for 
timely completion of the tasks specified in item 1.1 above. 
 

1.2.3 All documents, including but not limited to, data compilations, studies,  
and/or reports, which are prepared in the performance of this Contract are to be and remain the 
property of the Town and are to be delivered to the Town Manager before final payment is made 
to the Consultant. 

 



2 
 

2.0 FEES, CATEGORIES OF SERVICE AND PAYMENTS 
 

2.1 Fees.  Consultant will be paid within 30 days of the receipt of an itemized invoice.  
Monthly payment may be made to Consultant on the basis of a progress report prepared and 
submitted by Consultant for the Services completed through the last day of the proceeding 
calendar month and for the production of the deliverables as spelled out in Appendix “A”. 
Contract pricing shall be consistent with the Master Contract, Appendix “A” and shall not 
exceed $113,115. 
 

2.2 Categories of Service.  Services means in response to Task Orders, including 
Appendix “A”, that may be mutually agreed upon and issued periodically by Town, Consultant 
shall furnish all necessary work which will be defined and further described as to specific project 
requirements in each Task Order.  

 
2.3 Payment Approval.  Amounts set forth in Section 1.1, 2.1 and 2.2 represent the 

entire amounts payable under this Contract and shall be paid upon the submission of monthly 
invoices to and approved by the Town.   
 

2.4 Business License.  Consultant will purchase and maintain a business license with 
the Town of Florence.   
 
3.0 SCHEDULE AND TERMINATION 
 

3.1 Project Schedule.  The Consultant shall perform the Scope of Work in 
accordance with the schedule attached as Appendix “A”. 
 

3.2 Termination. 
 

3.2.1 Termination for Cause:  Town may also terminate this Contract with 
seven (7) days’ prior written notice for cause in the event of any default by the Consultant, or if 
the Consultant fails to comply with any industry standards and customary practices terms and 
conditions of this Contract. Unsatisfactory performance as judged by Industry standards and 
customary practices, and failure to provide Town, upon request, with adequate assurances of 
future performance shall all be causes allowing Town to terminate this Contract for cause.  In 
the event of termination for cause, Town shall not be liable to Consultant for any amount, and 
Consultant shall be liable to Town for any and all damages sustained by reason of the default 
which gave rise to the termination. 
 

3.2.2 Termination for Convenience.  The Parties reserve the right to terminate 
this Contract with or without cause upon 30 days’ prior written notice.  In the event the Town 
terminates this Contract pursuant to this Section 3.2.2, then in that event the Town agrees to 
pay for the work performed prior to the date of termination. Town may terminate this Contract, or 
any part thereof for its sole convenience, at any time without penalty or recourse.  
 

3.2.3 Termination for Violation of Law.  In the event Consultant is in violation of 
any Federal, State, County or Town law, regulation or ordinance, the Town may terminate this 
Contract immediately upon giving notice to the Consultant. 
 
 

3.3 Funds Appropriation.  If the Town Council does not appropriate funds to continue 
this Contract and pay for charges hereunder, the Town may terminate this Contract at the end 



3 
 

of the current fiscal period.  The Town agrees to give written notice pursuant to Section 4.13 of 
termination to the Consultant at least thirty (30) days prior to the end of its current fiscal period 
and will pay to the Consultant all approved charges incurred through the end of such period. 
 

3.4 Terms.  The term of this Contract shall be from the Effective Date through 
satisfactory completion of the Services and acceptance of the Services by the Town. Time is of 
the essence to the terms of this Contract. 

 
4.0 GENERAL TERMS 

 
4.1 Entire Contract.  This Contract constitutes the entire understanding of the parties 

and supersedes all previous representations, written or oral, with respect to the Services 
specified herein.  This Contract may not be modified or amended except by a written document, 
signed by authorized representatives of each party. 

 
4.2 Arizona Law.  This Contract shall be governed and interpreted according to the 

laws of the State of Arizona, without reference to choice of law or conflicts of laws principles 
thereof.  
 

4.3 Modifications.  Any amendment, modification or variation from the terms of this 
Contract shall be in writing and shall be effective only after approval of all parties signing the 
original Contract. 
 

4.4 Assignment.  Services covered by this Contract shall not be assigned or sublet in 
whole or in part without the prior written consent of the Town Manager. The Town 
acknowledges the sub-consultant(s) listed in Appendix “A” and consents to the use of that 
sub-consultant. 
 

4.5 Successors and Assigns.  This Contract shall extend to and be binding upon 
Consultant, its successors and assigns, including any individual, company, partnership or other 
entity with or into which Consultant shall merge, consolidate or be liquidated, or any person, 
corporation, partnership or other entity to which Consultant shall sell its assets. 
 

4.6 Contract Administrator.  The Contract Administrator for the Town shall be the 
Town Manager or designee.  The Contract Administrator shall oversee the execution of this 
Contract, assist the Consultant in accessing the organization, audit billings, and approve 
payments.  The Consultant shall channel reports and special requests through the Contract 
Administrator. 
 

4.7 Records and Audit Rights.   
 

4.7.1 Consultant’s records (hard copy, as well as computer readable data), and 
any other supporting evidence deemed necessary by the Town  to substantiate charges and 
claims related to this Contract shall be open to inspection and subject to audit and/or 
reproduction by Town ’s authorized representative to the extent necessary to adequately permit 
evaluation and verification of cost of the Service, and any invoices, change orders, payments or 
claims submitted by the Consultant or any of his payees pursuant to the execution of the 
Contract.  The Town’s authorized representative shall be afforded access, at reasonable times 
and places, to all of the Consultant’s records and personnel pursuant to the provisions of this 
section throughout the term of this Contract and for a period of three years after last or final 
payment. 



4 
 

 
4.7.2 Consultant shall require all subconsultants, insurance agents, and 

material suppliers to comply with the provisions of this section by insertion of the requirements 
hereof in a written agreement between Consultant and such subconsultants, insurance agents, 
and material suppliers.   
 

4.7.3 If an audit in accordance with this section, discloses overcharges, of any 
nature, by the Consultant to the Town in excess of one percent (1%) of the monthly billings, the 
actual cost of the Town’s audit shall be reimbursed to the Town by the Consultant.  Any 
adjustments and/or payments which must be made as a result of any such audit or inspection of 
the Consultant’s invoices and/or records shall be made within a reasonable amount of time, not 
to exceed thirty (30) days from presentation of Town’s findings to Consultant. 
 

4.8 Attorneys’ Fees.  In the event either party brings any action for any relief, 
declaratory or otherwise, arising out of this Contract, or on account of any breach or default 
hereof, the prevailing party shall be entitled to receive from the other party reasonable attorneys’ 
fees and reasonable costs and expenses, determined by the court sitting without a jury, which 
shall be deemed to have accrued on the commencement of such action and shall be 
enforceable whether or not such action is prosecuted to judgment. 
 

4.9 Ineligible Bidder.  The preparer of specifications is not eligible to submit a bid or 
proposal on the solicitation for which they prepared the specification, nor is the preparer eligible 
to supply any product to a bidder or Consultant on the solicitation for which they prepared the 
specification. 
 

4.10 Independent Consultant. 
 

4.10.1 The Services Consultant provides under the terms of this Contract to the 
Town are that of an Independent Consultant, not an employee, or agent of the Town.  The Town 
will report the value paid for these Services each year to the Internal Revenue Service (I.R.S.) 
using Form 1099. 
 

4.10.2 Town shall not withhold income tax as a deduction from contractual 
payments.  As a result of this, Consultant may be subject to I.R.S. provisions for payment of 
estimated income tax.  Consultant is responsible for consulting the local I.R.S. office for current 
information on estimated tax requirements. 
 

4.11 Conflict of Interest.  The Town may cancel any Contract or agreement, without 
penalty or obligation, if any person significantly involved in initiating, negotiating, securing, 
drafting or creating the Contract on behalf of the Town’s departments or agencies is, at any time 
while the Contract or any extension of the Contract is in effect, an employee of any other party 
to the Contract in any capacity or a consultant to any other party to the Contract with respect to 
the subject matter of the Contract.  The cancellation shall be effective when written notice from 
the Town is received by all other parties to the Contract, unless the notice specifies a later time 
(A.R.S. § 38-511).  

 
  



5 
 

4.12 Compliance with Federal and State Laws. 
 

4.12.1 The Consultant understands and acknowledges the applicability to it of 
the American with Disabilities Act, the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 and the 
Drug Free Workplace Act of 1989.  

 
4.12.2 Under the provisions of A. R. S. § 41-4401, Consultant hereby warrants to 

the Town that the Consultant and each of its subconsultants will comply with, and are 
contractually obligated to comply with, all Federal Immigration laws and regulations that relate to 
their employees and A. R. S. § 23-214 (A) (hereinafter “Consultant Immigration Warranty”). 

 
4.12.3 A breach of the Consultant Immigration Warranty shall constitute a 

material breach of this Contract and shall subject the Consultant to penalties up to and including 
termination of this Contract at the sole discretion of the Town. 
 

4.12.4 The Town retains the legal right to inspect the papers of any Consultant 
or subconsultant’s employee who works on this Contract to ensure that the Consultant or 
subconsultant is complying with the Consultant Immigration Warranty.  Consultant agrees to 
assist the Town in regard to any such inspections. 
 

4.12.5 The Town may, at is sole discretion, conduct random verification of the 
employment records of the Consultant and any subconsultants to ensure compliance with 
Consultant’s Immigration Warranty.  Consultant agrees to assist the Town in regard to any 
random verification performed. 
 

4.12.6 Neither the Consultant nor any subconsultant shall be deemed to have 
materially breached the Consultant Immigration Warranty if the Consultant or subconsultant 
establishes that it has complied with the employment verification provisions prescribed by 
section 274A and 274B of the Federal Immigration and Nationality Act and the E-Verify 
requirements prescribed by A. R. S. § 23-214, Subsection A. 
 

4.12.7 “Services” are defined as furnishing labor, time or effort in the State of 
Arizona by a Consultant or subconsultant.  Services include construction or maintenance of any 
structure, building or transportation facility or improvement to real property. 
 

4.12.8 The provisions of this Section 4.12 must be included in any contract the 
Consultant enters into with any and all of its subconsultants who provide Services under this 
Contract or any subcontract.  
 

4.13 Notices.  All notices or demands required to be given pursuant to the terms of 
this Contract shall be given to the other party in writing, delivered by hand or registered or 
certified mail, at the addresses set forth below, or to such other address as the parties may 
substitute by written notice given in the manner prescribed in this paragraph. 
 
 
  



6 
 

In the case of Consultant: PLAN-et Communities LLC  
    4200 N. Central Avenue 

Phoenix, AZ 85012 
    Attn: Leslie Dornfeld, FAICP, CSBA 
 
In the case of Town:  Town of Florence 
    775 N. Main Street 
    P.O. Box 2670 
    Florence, AZ 85132 
    Attn:  Town Manager 
 
Notices shall be deemed received on date delivered, if delivered by hand, or on the delivery 
date indicated on receipt if delivered by certified or registered mail. 
 

4.14 Force Majeure.  Neither party shall be responsible for delays or failures in 
performance resulting from acts beyond their control.  Such acts shall include, but not be limited 
to, acts of God, riots, acts of war, epidemics, governmental regulations imposed after the fact, 
fire, communication line failures, power failures, or earthquakes. 
 

4.15 Taxes.  Consultant shall be solely responsible for any and all tax obligations 
which may result out of the Consultant’s performance of this Contract.  The Town shall have no 
obligation to pay any amounts for taxes, of any type, incurred by the Consultant. 
 

4.16 Advertising.  No advertising or publicity concerning the Town using the 
Consultant’s Services shall be undertaken without prior written approval of such advertising or 
publicity by the Town Contract Administrator. Written approval is required until such time as the 
project is complete or any adjudication of claims relating to the Services provided herein is 
complete, whichever occurs later. 

 
4.17 Counterparts.  This Contract may be executed in one or more counterparts, and 

each originally executed duplicate counterpart of this Contract shall be deemed to possess the 
full force and effect of the original. 

 
4.18 Captions.  The captions used in this Contract are solely for the convenience of 

the parties, do not constitute a part of this Contract and are not to be used to construe or 
interpret this Contract. 

 
4.19 Subconsultants.  During the performance of the Contract, the Consultant may 

engage such additional subconsultants as may be required for the timely completion of this 
Contract.  The addition of any subconsultants shall be subject to the prior approval of the Town.  
In the event of subcontracting, the sole responsibility for fulfillment of all terms and conditions of 
this Contract rests with the Consultant. The Town acknowledges the sub-consultant(s) listed in 
Appendix “A” (if any) and consents to the use of that sub-consultant. 
 

4.20 Indemnification.   
 

4.20.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant, its successors, assigns 
and guarantors, shall indemnify, defend, hold harmless the Town of Florence, its Mayor, Council 
members, agents, representatives, officers, directors, officials and employees from and against 
all allegations, demands, proceedings, suits, actions, claims, damages, losses, expenses, 
including but not limited to damages for personal injury or personal property damage, attorney 



7 
 

fees, court costs, and the cost of appellate proceedings, and all claim adjusting and handling 
expense, but only to the extent caused by negligent or intentional actions, acts, errors, mistakes 
or omissions of the Consultant in the performance of this Contract, including but not limited to, 
any subconsultant or anyone directly or indirectly employed by any of them or anyone for whose 
acts any of them may be liable and any injury or damages claimed by any of Consultant’s and 
subconsultant’s employees.  

 
 

4.20.2 Insurance provisions set forth in this Contract are separate and 
independent from the indemnity provisions of this section and shall not be construed in any way 
to limit the scope and magnitude of the indemnity provisions.  The indemnity provisions of this 
Contract shall not be construed in any way to limit the scope and magnitude and applicability of 
the insurance provisions. 
 

4.21 Changes in the Services. 
 

4.21.1 The Town may at any time, as the need arises, order changes within the 
scope of the work without invalidating the Contract.  If such changes increase or decrease the 
amount due under the Contract documents, or in the time required for performance of the work, 
an equitable adjustment shall be authorized by written Change Order. 

 
4.21.2 The Town will execute a formal Change Order based on detailed written 

quotations from the Consultant for work related changes and/or a time of completion variance.  
All Change Orders are subject to the prior written approval by the Town Manager. 

 
4.21.3 Contract Change Orders are subject to the Rules and Procedures within 

the Town’s Procurement Code. 
 

4.22 RESERVED 
 
4.23 Alternative Dispute Resolution.  If a dispute arises between the parties relating to 

this Contract, the parties agree to use the following procedure prior to either party pursuing 
other available remedies: 

 
4.23.1 A meeting shall be held promptly between the parties, attended by 

individuals with decision-making authority regarding the dispute, to attempt in good faith to 
negotiate a resolution of the dispute. 

 
4.23.2 If, within 30 days after such meeting, the parties have not succeeded in 

negotiating a resolution of the dispute, they will jointly appoint a mutually acceptable neutral 
person not affiliated with either of the parties (the “neutral”), seeking assistance in such regard 
if they have been unable to agree upon such appointment within 40 days from the initial 
meeting.  The fees of the neutral shall be shared equally by the parties. 

 
4.23.3 In consultation with the neutral, the parties will select or devise an 

alternative dispute resolution procedure (“ADR”) by which they will attempt to resolve the 
dispute, and a time and place for the ADR to be held, with the neutral making the decision as to 
the procedure, and/or place and time if the parties have been unable to agree on any of such 
matters within 20 days after initial consultation with the neutral. 

 



8 
 

4.23.4. The parties agree to participate in good faith in the ADR to its conclusion 
as designated by the neutral.  If the parties are not successful in resolving the dispute through 
the ADR, then the parties may agree to submit the matter to binding arbitration or a private 
adjudicator, or either party may seek an adjudicated resolution through the appropriate court. 
 
 4.24 Town Provided Information and Services. The Town shall furnish the Consultant 
available studies, reports and other data pertinent to the Consultant's Services; obtain or 
authorize the Consultant to obtain or provide additional reports and data as required; furnish to 
the Consultant services of others required for the performance of the Consultant's Services 
hereunder, and the Consultant shall be entitled to use and rely upon all such information and 
services provided by the Town  or others in performing the Consultant's Services under this 
Contract. 
 
 4.25 Estimates and Projections. In providing opinions of cost, financial analyses, 
economic feasibility projections, and schedules for potential projects, the Consultant has no 
control over cost or price of labor and material; unknown or latent conditions of existing 
equipment or structures that may affect operation and maintenance costs; competitive bidding 
procedures and market conditions; time or quality of performance of third parties; quality, type, 
management, or direction of operating personnel; and other economic and operational factors 
that may materially affect the ultimate project cost or schedule. Therefore, the Consultant makes 
no warranty that the Town’s actual project costs, financial aspects, economic feasibility, or 
schedules will not vary from the Consultant’s opinions, analyses, projections, or estimates. 
 
 4.26 Access. The Town shall arrange for access to and make all provisions for the 
Consultant to enter upon public and private property as required for the Consultant to perform 
Services hereunder. 
 
 4.27 Third Parties. The services to be performed by the Consultant are intended solely 
for the benefit of the Town. No person or entity not a signatory to this Contract shall be entitled 
to rely on the Consultant's performance of its Services hereunder, and no right to assert a claim 
against the Consultant by assignment of indemnity rights or otherwise shall accrue to a third 
party as a result of this Contract or the performance of the Consultant's Services hereunder. 
 
 4.28 Prohibited Boycott.  Pursuant to A.R.S. 35-393.01, the Consultant, by execution 
of this Contract, certifies that it is not currently engaged in, and agrees for the duration of this 
Contract to not engage in, a boycott of Israel. 
 
5.0 INSURANCE 
 

5.1. General.  Consultant agrees to comply with applicable Town ordinances and 
state and federal laws and regulations.  Without limiting any obligations or liabilities of 
Consultant, Consultant shall purchase and maintain, at its own expense, hereinafter stipulated 
minimum insurance with insurance companies duly licensed by the State of Arizona (admitted 
insurer) with an AM Best, Inc. rating of B ++ 6 or above or an equivalent qualified unlicensed 
insurer by the State of Arizona (non-admitted insurer) with policies and forms satisfactory to 
Town of Florence. Failure to maintain insurance as specified may result in termination of this 
Contract at Town of Florence’s option.  The Consultant is primarily responsible for the risk 
management if its Services under this Contract, including but not limited to obtaining and 
maintaining the required insurance and establishing and maintaining a reasonable risk control 
and safety program. Town reserves the right to amend the requirements herein at any time 
during the Contract.  The Consultant shall require any and all subconsultants to maintain 



9 
 

insurance as required herein naming the Town and Consultant as “Additional Insured” on all 
insurance policies, except Worker’s Compensation and Errors & Omissions, and this shall be 
reflected on the Certificate of Insurance.  The Consultant’s insurance coverage shall be primary 
insurance with respect to all available sources.  Coverage provided by the Consultant shall not 
be limited to the liability assumed under the Indemnification provision of this Contract. To the 
extent permitted by law, Consultant waives all rights of subrogation or similar rights against 
Town, its Mayor, councilmembers, officials, representatives, agents, and employees.  All 
insurance policies, except Workers’ Compensation and Errors & Omissions, required by this 
Contract, and self-insured retention or deductible portions, shall name, to the fullest extent 
permitted by law for claims arising out of performance of this Contract, Town of Florence, its 
Mayor and councilmembers, agents, representatives, officers, officials and employees as 
Additional Insureds.  The Town reserves the right to require complete copies of all insurance 
policies and endorsements required by this Contract at any time. Failure to maintain the 
insurance policies as required by this Contract, or to provide evidence of renewal, is a material 
breach of this Contract.  
 

5.2 No Representation of Coverage Adequacy.  By requiring insurance herein, Town 
of Florence does not represent that coverage and limits will be adequate to protect Consultant.  
Town of Florence reserves the right to review any and all of the insurance policies and/or 
endorsements cited in this Contract, but has no obligation to do so.  Failure to demand such 
evidence of full compliance with the insurance requirements set forth in this Contract or failure 
to identify any insurance deficiency shall not relieve Consultant from, nor be construed or 
deemed a waiver of, its obligation to maintain the required insurance at all times during the 
performance of this Contract. 
 

5.3 Coverage Term.  All insurance required herein shall be maintained in full force 
and effect until all work or Services required to be performed under the terms of this Contract is 
satisfactorily performed, completed and formally accepted by the Town of Florence, unless 
specified otherwise in this Contract. 

 
5.4 Policy Deductibles and or Self Insured Retentions.  The policies set forth in these 

requirements may provide coverage which contain deductibles or self-insured retention 
amounts.  Such deductibles or self-insured retention shall not be applicable with respect to the 
policy limits provided to Town of Florence.  Consultant shall be solely responsible for any such 
deductible or self-insured retention amount.  Town of Florence, at its option, may require 
Consultant to secure payment of such deductible or self-insured retention by a surety bond or 
irrevocable and unconditional Letter of Credit. 

 
5.5 Use of Subconsultants.  If any work under this Contract is subcontracted in any 

way, Consultant shall execute written agreement with subconsultant containing the same 
Indemnification Clause and Insurance Requirements set forth herein protecting Town of 
Florence and Consultant.  Consultant shall be responsible for executing the agreement with 
Subconsultant and obtaining Certificates of Insurance verifying the insurance requirements. 

 
5.6 Evidence of Insurance.  Prior to commencing any work or Services under this 

Contract, Consultant shall furnish Town of Florence with Certificate(s) of Insurance, or formal 
endorsements as required by this Contract, issued by Consultant’s insurer(s) as evidence that 
policies are placed with acceptable insurers as specified herein and provide the required 
coverage’s, conditions, and limits of coverage and that such coverage and provisions are in full 
force and effect. 

 



10 
 

5.7 Required Coverage. 
 
5.7.1 Commercial General Liability.  Consultant shall maintain “occurrence” 

form Commercial General Liability insurance with a limit of not less than $1,000,000 for each 
occurrence, $2,000,000 Products and Completed Operations Annual Aggregate, and 
$2,000,000 General Aggregate Limit.  The policy shall cover liability arising from premises, 
operations, independent Consultants, products-completed operations, personal injury and 
advertising injury.  Coverage under the policy will be at least as broad as Insurance limited to, 
separation of insureds clause.  If any Excess insurance is utilized to fulfill the requirements of 
this paragraph, such Excess insurance shall be “follow form” equal or broader to coverage 
scope then underlying. 
 

5.7.2 Worker’s Compensation Insurance.  Consultant shall maintain Worker’s 
Compensation insurance to cover obligations imposed by federal and state statutes having 
jurisdiction of Consultant’s employees engaged in the performance of work or Services under 
this Contract and shall also maintain Employer’s Liability Insurance of not less than $100,000 for 
each accident, $100,000 disease for each employee and $250,000 disease policy limit. 

 
5.7.3 Commercial Auto Coverage.  Auto Liability limits of not less than 

$1,000,000 each accident, combined Bodily Injury and Property Damage Liability insurance. 
Certificate to reflect coverage for “Any Auto” or “All Owned, Scheduled, Hired and Non-Owned”.  

 
5.7.4 Errors & Omissions Liability.  Coverage Amount: $1,000,000 per 

occurrence/aggregate, unless higher coverage limits are required under the Master Contract 
Documents, in which case such higher limits shall apply.  
 
6.0 SEVERABILITY AND AUTHORITY 
 

6.1 Severability.  If any term or provision of this Contract shall be found to be illegal 
or unenforceable, then notwithstanding such illegality or unenforceability, this Contract shall 
remain in full force and effect and such term or provision shall be deemed to be deleted. 

 
6.2 Authority.  Each party hereby warrants and represents that it has full power and 

authority to enter into and perform this Contract, and that the person signing on behalf of each 
has been properly authorized and empowered to enter this Contract.  Each party further 
acknowledges that it has read this Contract, understands it, and agrees to be bound by it. 
  



11 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Town of Florence by its Mayor has hereunto subscribed his/her 
name this 15th day of April, 2019. 
 
 
TOWN OF FLORENCE 
 
 
By:        By:        
 
       Name:        
 
       Its:        
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
By: PLAN*et Communities    By:      
      Consultant  
       Name:   Leslie Dornfeld   
 
       Its:  Principal / Owner    
 
 
 
Approved as Form: 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
Clifford L. Mattice, Florence Town Attorney 
  



12 
 

Appendix “A” 
Scope of Work/Services 



TOWN OF FLORENCE REDEVELOPMENT PLAN
PROPOSED FEE

Title PM Planner Designer
Lead

Designer Economist
Civil
Lead GIS Tech Historic

Resource Dornfeld Van Horn Zamora Hester Kaplan Stone Graham
TASK $165 $75 $155 $185 $200 $175 $95 $180 Direct Total

Task o Documentation of Downtown Conditions 4 8 4 4 4 4 4 $4,840
Task 1 Kickoff/Initial Project Visioning 4 4 4 4 4 $3,440
Task 2 Technical Report Outline and Format 4 4 2 $1,640
Task 3 Base Mapping 60 20 20 $11,100
Task 4 Background and History 5 30 8 $4,515
Task 5 Redevelopment Planning Land Use/Zoning

a. Windshield survey/walking tour 15 15 11 8 $6,745
b. Existing Conditions Buildout 4 4 3 $2,000
c. Future conditions buildout 10 4 8 $3,990
d. Land use concepts 30 11 5 10 4 $10,155

Task 6 Community Facilities Services/Conditions
a. Inventory of Existing Facilities from city maps 4 8 $1,460
b. Update Inventory/remap/final maps 4 24 2 $3,340
c. Department meeting 8 4 $2,120
d. Infrastructure strategies 8 $1,400

Task 7 Socio Economic Conditions
a. Demographics 12 3 $1,500
b. County comparisons 12 3 $1,500

Task 8 Economic Base Indicators
Employment/Employers 6 $1,200
Labor Force Assessment/Needs 8 $1,600

Task 9 Vision Goals/Objectives Drafting
Survey 5 8 $1,425
Analysis/update/draft 15 7 8 $4,440

Task 10 Redevelopment Plan Products
Draft layout/Final Layout 2 5 $705
Moving/updating existing plan components 3 25 $2,370

Task 11 Historic Preservation
Identify/articulate key HP issues/approaches 16 $2,880

Task 12 Cost of Development 12 $2,400
Task 13 Transportation and circulation 10 8 8 $4,530
Task 14 Economic Development

a.
Economic Development opportunities and 
challenges based on vision 4 7 $2,060

b. Final Economic Development Strategies 4 7 $2,060
Task 15 Redevelopment Plan Implementation 8 8 $2,920
Task 16 Legal (1 final plan review) $2,000 $2,000
Task 17 Public Participation

3 public Meetings (includes prep and printing) 24 24 24 8 8 $1,500 $13,900
News articles (3 total) 5 $825
One Day of Focus Groups (includes prep) 12 12 6 $3,960
1 commission/1 council meeting 16 5 $4,095
Total Hours 154 223 97 43 74 70 32 74
Total Fee $25,410 $16,725 $15,035 $7,955 $14,800 $12,250 $3,040 $13,320 $3,500 $113,115

3/11/2019


	April 15, 2019 Agenda
	Page 2
	Page 3
	Page 4
	Page 5

	6. PRESENTATIONS
	6a. Women's Club Presentation
	6b. Acceptance of CAFR and ELR

	7. MRCFD1
	7a. MRCFD No. 1 Audit

	9. MRCFD2
	9a. MARCF No. 2 Audit

	11. CONSENT
	11a.  Arbor Day Proclamation
	11b.  Sims Mackin, LTD Cathy Bowman
	11c.  Withdrawal of Jennings Strouss Chris Kramer
	11d. March 4, 2019 Council Minutes
	11d. March 11, 2019 Council Minutes
	11d. March 18,  2019 Council MiInutes
	11d. March 25, 2019 Council MInutes

	11e 1. February 14, 2019 ACC Minutes
	11e 2. February 27, 2019 Florence Youth Commission Minutes
	11e 3. February 27, 2019 HDAC Minutes


	12. UNFINISHED BUSINESS
	12a. Ordinance No. 667-19 Sign Code
	12b. Ordinance No. 668-19 Parking
	12c. Cuen Building Rescind Demolition

	13. NEW BUSINESS
	13a. Resolution No. 1694-19 Dedication of ROW in Vista Hermosa
	13b. Resolution No. 1695-19 525 E. Ruggles Street
	13c. Reoslution No. 1696-19 575 E. Ruggles Street
	13d. Resolution No. 1693-19 2012 ICC Code Adoption
	13e. Ordinance No. 674-19 2012 ICC Code Adoption
	13f. Ordinance No. 675-19 Board of Appeals
	13g. Ordinance No. 673-19 Food Truck
	13h. Planet Proessional Svcs Agmt




